(Translations of the three Inscriptions
on the Cover.)

1. Arabic.

‘“ These are our works which prove
what we have done;

‘Look, therefore, at our works
when we are gone.”’

2. Turkish.

«His genius cast its shadow o’er the world,
And in brief time he much achieved and
wrought:
The Age’s Sun was he, and aging suns
Cast lengthy shadows, though their time be

short.”
(Kemal Paskd-zadd.)

3. Persian.

*¢ When we are dead, seek for our
resting-place
Not In the earth, but in the
hearts of men.’’
(Jaldlu ’d-Din Rimf{.)
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TRANSLATOR'S PREFACE.

The aim of this book is a comparatively humble one, and
even of this aim, now that it is completed, I fear that it
may have fallen short. It was originally undertaken, not
because I had made or intended to make any special study
of Tabaristin, but in the search for fresh materials for the
second volume of the Literary History of Persia on which
I am still engaged. We are still far from having arrived at
a point where, supplied with ample materials, and certain
that no important ascertainable fact has eluded our know-
jedge, we can venture to dogmatise or generalise on the
intellectual life and spiritual development of the Persians.
Often the student of Persian must wait for months ere he
can consult even the most important and indispensable
histories, such as the Fdmiu °t-Tawdrikh of Rashidu’d-Din
Fadlu'llih, or the Ta'rikh-i-Fahdngushdy of °Atd Malik-i-
Juwayn{; and, while thus waiting, he will take such oppor-
tunities as may happen to present themselves of acquainting
himself with the contents of those little-read local and special
histories of which some are to be found in every large col-
lection of Muhammadan manuscripts, and which constantly
supply details, wanting in the larger general histories, of
considerable value for illustrative purposes.

Much has been done, especially by the Russians, towards
supplying full materials for a history of the Caspian provinces
of Persia, Gildn and Madzandarin. Between the years 1850
and 1858 Dorn published a whole series of works on this
subject: first his Geschichte Tabaristan’s und der Serbedare
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nach Chondemir; then four volumes of texts, of which the
first was Sayyid Dhahiru’d-Din al-Mar‘ashi’s History of Ta-
baristin, Ruyin and Mdzandardn, composed about A.D. 1476;
the second, “Ali b. Shamsu’d-Din’s History of Gildn, known
as the 7@rikh-i-Khdni, which is' a continuation of the last-
mentioned work to A.D. 1514; then Ibnuw’l-Fattdh al-Fimani’s
History of Gilan (from A.D. 1517—1628); and lastly a volume
of extracts from the writings of twenty-two Arabic and Persian
authors who have incidentally treated of matters connected
with these provinces. Another most valuable work which I
have constantly consulted during the preparation of this
volume is Melgunof’s Das sidliche Ufer des Kaspischen
Meeres, oder die Nordprovinzen Persiens (Leipzig, 1868).
Even for the dialect of Mdzandardn more has probably
been done than for any other local idiom of Persia, notably
by the two Russian scholars mentioned above.

Separated from the rest of Persia by the lofty barrier of
the Elburz Mountains, culminating in the great cone of
Damdwand (Dunbdwand), the Caspian provinces have always
possessed, to a certain extent, a history and character apart.
Long after the Sdsinian dynasty had fallen and the rést of
Persia had -been subdued by the Arabs, ‘the Ispahbads
continued to strike their Pahlawi coinage and maintain the
religion of Zoroaster in the mountains and forests of Tabar-
istdn; and their struggles against the Arabs were only ended
about A.D. 838 by the capture and cruel execution of the
gallant Mdzydr, the son of Qdrin, the son of Wandd-Hurmuz.
Twenty-five years later was established the Shf‘ite rule of
the Zaydi Sayyids, which lasted till A.D. 928; and these
were followed by the noble house of Ziydr, of whom Shamsu’l-
Ma%li Qdbis was especially conspicuous for his literary
eminence. Even after the disastrous Mongol invasion, repre-
sentatives of the ancient aristocracy of Tabaristin continued
to wield a more or less considerable power.
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Of this strange and interesting country the clearest and
most ineffaceable recollection must remain in the mind of
every traveller who has.visited it.”I merely traversed it in
about a week on my homeward journey from Persia in the
autumn of 1888, yet of no part of that journey do I preserve
a more vivid impression; the first entry, from the great
stony plain of “Irdg-i-“Ajami into the lower hills at Agh,
with its rippling streams and almost English hedge-rows;
the long winding climb to the eastern shoulder of the mighty
Damawand; the deep cafions of the Lar; the Alpine beauties
of René; the gradual descent, through rock-walled valleys,
into virgin forests, bright with the red blossoms of the wild
pomegranate, and carpeted with ferns and mosses; the slug-
gish streams and stagnant pools of the coast-ward fenlands;
ancient Amul, with its long slender bridge; Barfurdish and
the swampy rice-fields of Shaykh Tabars{, memorable in the
history of the Babi religion; and the sandy downs towards
the Casptan Sea.

Of this land the author of this book, Muhammad b. al-
Hasan b. Isfandiydr — generally known, for the sake of
brevity, as Ibn Isfandiydr —, is the earliest systematic
historian whose work has come down to us. Of his life we
know practically nothing save what he himself tells us at
the beginning of his work (pp. 3—4 ¢nfra), while the few
written sources from which, as he informs us, he derived
his material — notably the Bdwand-nime and the “Ugid
of Abuw’l-Hasan Muhammad al-Yazdddf — appear also to be
lost. Dorn (Sekir-eddin’s Geschichte von Tabaristan u.s.w.,
p- 6) gives. A.D. 1216 as the date at which he composed
his history, that is to say, 260 years before Dhahiru’d-Din,
who, as Dorn points out, made such free use of his materials.
Were this use so free (which it is not) as to amount to
complete plagiarism (a thing by no means unknown in Persian
literature), it might render the publication of Ibn Isfandiydr’s



X1

book in the original a work of supererogation; but even
then, I venture to think, an abridged English translation like
the present might have its uses. If it does nothing else, it
may save other students of Persian the trouble of reading
the original, or the disappointment of seeking from the book
more than it contains. ’

The best translation, however, cannot take the place of a
good text, and the publication of a complete and carefully
collated text can alone be regarded as a final and definitive
piece of work; since even if the translator could be certain
that he had in every case fully apprehended the author’s
meaning, this assurance could not be shared by others to
whom the original was inaccessible. This objection applies
with still greater force to an abridged or condensed trans-
lation like the present, since the process of condensation is
sure to be unevenly applied, according to the personal bias
and proclivities of the translator. To me, for instance, all
that throws fresh light on the literary history or intimate
life of Persia is of extreme value; while the wars of rival -
princes and governors, when arising, so far as can be judged,
from mere personal ambition, and not from conflicting ideals
of nationality or religion, are comparatively unimportant,
because unconnected with any essential antithesis. All that
concerns Mdzyar, for example, is to me of supreme interest,
because he stands for the old Persian national and religious
ideal; while the internecine struggles which mark the decline
of the Seljuq power, and in which I can discern no under-
lying principle, appear merely as wearisome enumerations
of irrelevant details. Yet to another, who regarded Persian
history from a different point of view, the military or the
political, for instance, the very matters over which I have
passed so lightly might seem all-important.

I need say little more in this Preface. Profiting by the
' liberality of the India Office Library, which stands in such
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noble contrast to the retrograde and obscurantist policy of
several of the most important libraries in this country, 1
have been able to read through a comparatively rare work
which cannot be ignored by the student of Persian history.
As I read, I endeavoured to abstract from it, primarily for
my own use, all that seemed to me of interest or importance.
This abstract I had at first no intention of publishing; but
the foundation by the liberality of the late Mrs Jane Gibb
of the “E. J. W. Gibb Memorial”, intended not only to
perpetuate the memory of her son’s rare scholarship and
single-hearted devotion to learning, but to carry on such
work as he loved and promote such aims as he so steadily
pursued, created, almost for fhe fitst time in this country,
facilities for the publication of works dealing with the history
of Western and Central Asia actually in excess, for the time
being, of the supply of such works. Under these circum-
stances, with the approval of the other Trustees of the
Memorial, I decided to revise for the Press this abstract
originally prepared only for my own personal use. In the work
of revision I have received the most generous and invaluable
help from Mr A. G. Ellis of the British Museum, whose
knowledge of Muhammadan literature and bibliography sur-
passes, so far as I can judge, that of any other living
European scholar. Notwithstanding his onerous duties and
scanty leisure, he has read almost every sheet of the book
before it was printed off; and to him I am indebted not
only for the numerous foot-notes followed by his initials,
and the observations on pp. 271—280, but also for the
correction of many errors which would otherwise have
marred these pages. I desire to avail myself of this oppor-
tunity of expressing my gratitude for this and numerous
other obligations under which he has laid me.

With the Index (the most important part of such a book
as this) I have taken considerable pains; and with its help
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it will, I think be easy for any Persian scholar to find any
passage which "he may wish to consult, not only in the
India Office Codex which forms the basis of my work, but
in any other manuscript which he may have at his disposal.
Certain names occur so often that, without a more profound
knowledge of the history of Tabaristin than I possess, it is
often difficult to determine questions of identity. Hence, in
all doubtful cases, I have placed in brackets after the name
a Roman number indicating the century of the Christian
era in which the person referred to appears to have flourished.

EDWARD G. BROWNE,
May 10, 1905.
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AUTHOR’S PREFACE.

After the customary doxology, the author, Muhammed b.
al-Hasan b. Isfandiydr, states that, on returning from Baghdad
to ‘Irdq in the year A. H. 606 (= A.D. 1209—1210), he was
overwhelmed with grief at the news of the murder of Rustam
b. Ardashir b. Hasan b. Rustam, the ruler of Tabaristdn, on
the 21st of Shawwdl in that year (April 1, A. D. 1210), on
which he exclaims:

©
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For two months (f. 34) he remained in Ray, welghed
down with sorrow, and finding his only consolation in the
perusal of books. One day he found in the library of the
College founded by the Shdhinshdh Rustam b. Shahriydr a
few quires on the history of Gdwbdra, and thereupon re-
membered that the late king Husimu’d-Dawla Ardashir had
repeatedly enquired of him whether he had ever come across
any mention of a king of Tabaristdn called Gdwbdra in
Arabic or Persian books (f. 34), to which he was obliged to
reply that he had not, and that he knew of no history of
Tabaristdn save the Bdwand-ndma, a work filled with fables
and popular legends compiled for the king Husdmu’d-Dawla
Shahriydr b. Qdrin. On examining these quires, he found
them to contain the ‘Ugidu sikr wa gald’idu durar of Abu’l-
Hasan Muhammad Yazddd{, a work wherein the author sought
rather to display his mastery over the Arabic language than
to impart information to the reader. This he translated into
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Persian, adding to it some account of king Husdmu’d-Dawla
Ardashir and his illustrious ancestors, and, encouraged by
some of his literary friends, he was preparing to make a
fair copy of his rough draft when he received a letter from
his father warning him of his approaching end. Thereupon
he at once started (f. 46) with a single servant for his home,
without saying good bye to any one, and by the morning
of the following day reached the castle of Ustiniwand’,
where he was set upon and robbed by brigands. He ulti-
mately, however, reached his father, and remained for a
while at Amul in Mdzandardn, whence, after a short time,
he journeyed to Khwdrazm (f. 5a), at that time a most
flourishing and populous city, where he remained for five
years. One day he found in a bookseller’s shop there a
volume containing ten separate treatises, one of which was
a translation from Hindf into Arabic ( g0 (o0u 3f) made
for a native of Sind named °Ald b. Said by a certain D4’id
of Yazd in the year A.H. 197 (= A.D. 812—813), while
another was a translation from Pahlaw{ into Arabic, made
by the celebrated ‘Abdu’lidh ibnu’l-Mugqaffa® (+ circ. A.D.
760), of the answer returned to Jasnafshdh, Prince of Taba-
ristdn, by Tansar of Pdrs, the chiefl kerbad (xoule Og9) of
Ardashir Bdbakdn, the founder of the Sdsinian dynasty.
These also the author used for the compilation of his work,

which he constructed on the following plan (f. 5é):
Section I. On the first foundation of the kingdom of Ta-

baristdn,
Ch. 1. Translation of the above-mentioned tract of
ibnu’l-Mugqaffa®.

Ch. 11. First settlement of Tabaristdn and its cities.

Ch. 11. Virtues and marvels of Tabaristdn.
Ch. 1v. Its princes, nobles, doctors, hermits, writers,

' See M. Barbier de Meynard's Dict. de la Perse, p. 33.
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physicians, astronomers, philosophers, poets and
notable men.
Section [II. History of the rise and continuance of the
dynasties of Washmgir and Buwayh in Tabaristdn.
Section III. How Tabaristdn passed from Nushfrwdn b.
Mindchihr b. Qébts, the last prince of the House of
Washmgir, to the kings of the Houses of Ghazna and
Seljiq.
Section IV. From the beginning of the second ascendancy
of the House of Bdwand to their decline and fall.

Section I, ch. 1.

This section opens with a short biography (ff. 56—64) of
Ibnuw’l-Muqaffa’. His proper name, says the author, was
‘Abdu’lldh, and his father Dddawayh (D4dd’é) was a Magian
by religion, and one of the fiscal agents of the Arab govern-
ment in Firs. Being accused of embezzlement, he was tortured
so that his skin was shrivelled and contracted (fagaffaas), for
which reason he received the sobriguet of al-Mugaffa®, “the
Shrivelled”. His son °‘Abdu’lldh, better known as Ibnwl-
Mugqaffa’, was converted to Islim by ‘Ali b. Is4 (f. 6a), the
primary cause of his conversion being the impression pro-
duced on him by the seventh and following verses of Sira
LxXVIII of the Qur'dn, which he heard a child reciting aloud.
He was on terms of intimate friendship with Khalil b. Ahmad
al-Furhud{ . A certain man of learning was asked his opinion
concerning them. He replied, “Khalil’s understanding exceeds
his learning, while Ibnu’l-Muqaffa®s learning exceeds his
understanding”. One day Ibnu’l-Muqaffa®, while passing by
a fire-temple, recited this verse:

&2 3 Er
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1 See de Slane’s translation of Ibn Khallikdn, Vol. I, p. 493—498, espe-
cially the last paragraph on p. 495.
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When this was reported to the Caliph he said, “He is
not yet a good Muslim,” and ordered him to be cast alive
into an oven. It is related by al-Jahidh! in his Kizdbu °I-
Baydn wa’t-Tabyin that when Ibnu’l-Muqaffa® was handed
over to the tormentor (Ugw «s=lo), he said to him, “Thou
hast money and wealth; if thou wilt pay into the Exchequer
the sum demanded from me, I will return you double or
treble the amount, and will never divulge the matter, for
thou knowest me faithful in the guarding of secrets.” The
tormentor, moved by coveteousness, paid the money and
saved him from death and torture. It is also related [appa-
rently by al-Jahidh] that a certain Hadshim, gaoler to Yusuf
‘Umar [ath-Thaqafi], used to keep a register of all the
prisoners who had died in prison, and submit it to Yusuf.
‘Abdwv’lldh b. Abf Burda [b.] Abi Musi al-Ash‘ari, being in
prison, offered this man a thousand dirkams to include his
name in this list (f. 64), and so effect his release. This was
done, but the Amir, on receiving the report, said, “Bring
his corpselbefore me.” So the gaoler, being afraid, went
back to the prison and smothered him with a cushion, so
that his device cost him both his money and his life 2.

[Here follows the translation of Itnu’l-Mugaffa®s version
of Tansar’'s letter to Fasnasf, the king of Tabaristdn. As
this portion of the work has been published and translated,
with excellent notes and comments, by the late Professor Fames
Darmesteter (Journal Asiatique for 1894, series IX, vol. iii,
pp. 185—250 and §02—5§55), 2 is omitted in this abstract.
That this document rests on an authentic basis seems to be
beyond doubt. See Darmesteter, loc. cit., pp. 185—192.]

! Abd “‘Uthmén “Amr b. Bahr al-Jshidh of Basra was a prolific and learned
writer, and died in A.H. 255 = A.D. 869. For a list of his works, see
Carl Brockelmann's Gesch. d. Arab. Litt., Vol. 1, pp. 152—153. For MSS.
of the Xitdbu *l-Baydn wa’t-Tabyin preserved in the Constantinople librairies,
see the 7. R. 4. S. for Jan. 1901, p. 172. It was printed in Cairo in A. H. 1313.

2 [Cf. 1bn Khallikin, de Slane’s translation, Vol. IV, pp. 441—442. A. G. E]
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(F. 206). The kingdom of Tabaristdn remained in the hands
of Jasnasf’s descendants until the time of Piriz (+ A.D.
484), but when the Turks invaded Khurdsdn and the confines
of Tabaristan in the reign of his son Qubdd (Kawddh, A.
D. 488—531), it was decided in Council that Kayis (maf) ',
the King’s eldest son, should be appointed ruler of that
province. So matters remained till the glorious reign of
Nushirwdn, concerning whom Jdbir b. “Abdi’llih al-Ansdri
questioned the Prophet of God, saying, “How hath God dealt
with Kisrd and Caesar?” The Prophet answered, “I asked my
brother Gabriel this same question, and he said, ‘1 was
desirous to ask God concerning this matter, when behold,
a voice came from God’s Throne, saying, “I would not
torment in hell-fire kings who made my lands flourishing
and my servants prosperous.”’” The Umayyad Caliphs (f.
21a), on the other hand, though they professed Isldm, are
universally condemned for their tyranny and injustice.

One of the early Persian converts to Islam, in answer to
the enquiries of the Prophet’s companions as to which was
the greatest and best of their kings, named Ardashir Biba-
kdn, in proof of whose wisdom and clemency he related the
following anecdote. Once, in a year of drought, the people
petitioned him for help. Thereupon he issued this procla-
mation: “When rain is scarce, the rain-clouds of the King
are generous; therefore distribute amongst them what they
have lost.” Nushirwdn (A.D. 531—578) imitated him in
maintaining good practices and suppressing evil innovations,
and was especially opposed to the promotion of persons
of mean origin to positions of trust, as is shewn by the fol-
lowing anecdote 2.

t See Noldeke’s Gesch. d. Sasaniden, pp. 147, n. 1, and 436a.

2 Cf. p. 608 of Zotenberg's ed. and transl. of ath-Tha4libi’s Histoire des
Rois des Perses (Paris, 1900). Cf. also Darmesteter in the Fourmal Asiatique

for 1894 (Series 1X, Vol. iii), p. §19. An Arabic version of the story is
given in Vol. ii of the Majdni’l-Adab, pp. 208—209.



Anecdote.

King Nushirwdn, being once in need of money for a
campaign, instructed his minister to raise the sum required
by a loan from the merchants and capitalists. The minister
accordingly consulted one of the chief merchants, who at
once offered himself to pay the money into the Royal
Treasury, asking in return that his only son, a man of re-
markable intelligence, in whose education he had for thirty
years spared no pains, might be admitted to the govern-
ment service (f. 224), and given a suitable rank and title. When
this proposal was submitted to the king, he replied, “When
the children of the base-born are educated, they seek high
offices, obtaining which they seek to abase the noble and
the well-born, and to humble the great and mighty; but I
will protect the honour of the noble from being shared by
base and evil men.” The merchant, on hearing this answer,
was deeply disappointed, but entreated the minister at least
to accept the money, and to honour him by being his guest
at a banquet. To this the minister consented, and on the
morrow was entertained at an epoch-making banquet (i &

Ko Ef"ﬁu jo5).  When evening approached (g Jalf Ll
—0¥l), wine was brought in, and they sat down to drink. A
lamp-stand was set down before the minister, and, at a
sign from the merchant, a trained cat ran in, lifted up this
lamp-stand in its two paws, and placed it on its head, where
it held it. The minister at once perceived that the mer-
chant’s object in this exhibition was to say by implication,
“If I can so train and educate a cat, which has no rational
soul (f. 224), how can it be supposed that I should fail in
the case of my own son, who is endowed with so many
natural talents?” Thereupon the minister secretly ordered
one of his companions to go and fetch a mouse and shew
it to the cat. As soon as the cat saw it, it dropped the lamp
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and rushed towards the mouse; the lamp-oil was upset,
some of it on the clothes and hair of the guests. The mer-
chant, overcome with shame, would have retired to his
private appartments, but the minister summoned him and
said, “I have no doubt as to your son’s capacity or training,
but at the first promotion which he gets, he will make such
disturbance as did this cat at the sight of the mouse.” It
has been said:
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and again:
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Though Sdmiri’s Calf (f. 232) was of gold, it was only a calf.
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Here follows a further dissertation on the impossibility of
“making a silk purse out of a sow’s ear”, concluding with
the verse:
S eSO Sl e

Anecdote.

It is related that one day “Abdv’l-Malik b. Qurayb al-Asma*,
seeing the poet al-Attdb{ in the presence of Fadl b. Rabi,
reproached him for wearing such shabby clothes; whereupon
the other retorted that a delight in fine apparel was only
for women, and that a man was exalted by greatness of
heart and high resolve, a silent tongue and an unselfish
spirit (f. 236).

3 2y .0 - G -7 W IO
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Man is not ennobled by wealth:
(Sx el o Ml MR S e S S

Here follow short and rather irrelevant anecdotes of sundry
Siff saints, viz. Hdtim “the deaf” (al-Asamm), Bdyazid of
Bistdm and Abi Said Khwir (f. 244), followed by reflections
on Divine Providence and human effort, and the depravity
and rebelliousness natural to man when his affairs prosper.

ey B (oo® (S Kl 5 Mbubb)_f, bo yoamed
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‘Amir b. “Abd Qays used to say (f. 244) that though all
wordly wealth should depart from him he would be fearful,

because of three verses in the Qur’dn (xi, 8; xxxv, 2; and
%, 107). More traditions on the Divine Providence follow; e. g.:

,’ E 9o oo -0 ’0
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Here follow anecdotes of Sufyén~i-Thawri and Mailik Dinar,
two famous Sdfi saints (f. 254), and of Abd “Abd{’r-Rahmdn
Ziydd b. An‘am al-Ifriqi. The latter was in earlier life a
fellow-student of Abu Ja‘far al-Mansir, afterwards second
Caliph of the House of “Abbds. One day Manstr invited
him to a meal at his lodging. The meal was of the sim-
plest: there was no meat, no sweets, not even dates. Man-
sur, on learning from his maid-servant that even dates were
lacking, sighed and recited Qur’dn vii, 126. Long afterwards,
when he had become Caliph, Ziydd again stood before him.
“O Abu °‘Abdi’r-Rahmdn!” said the Caliph, I have heard
that thou hast advantaged the Umayyads.” “Yes,” replied
Ziyid, “they reaped advantage from me.” “And how was
their rule?” enquired the Caliph, “and what thinkest thou
of mine?” “Of their rule,” replied Ziyid, “I saw this, that
thou didst take me to thy house and give me to eat with
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out meat, and recite the verse, /¢ may be that your Lord
will destroy your foe, and will make you succeed him in the
earth’ God hath destroyed thine enemy and made thee
Caliph (f. 265): see what thou wilt do, and be not of those
referred to in the verse (Quridn xcvi, 6) ‘Verily man waxeth
insolent, because he seeth himself abound in riches” Know
that the Devil hath no more potent weapon than tempting
man to sin to-day and to repent to-morrow.”

Anecdote.

It is related on the authority of Abi Hamza ath-Thumaili!®
that the [fourth] Imdm C°Ali b. al-Husayn Zaynu’l—‘Albidin
said to him: “One day I came forth from al-Madina, and
while I stood in thought, leaning against this wall, a man
clad in two white garments, one over the other, accosted
me, saying, ‘O Alf son of al-Husayn! I see thee sorrowful:
if it be on account of this world’s provision, God is guarantee
therefor.” ‘No,” I replied, ‘my sorrow is not for this.” “Then,’
said he, ‘dost thou grieve for the future life? For that is
God’s promise, which He is able to fulfil.” ‘No,” I replied;
‘it is not for this, for I know that what thou sayest is true.’
“Then,” said he, ‘since thou grievest neither for this world
nor the next, for what dost thou grieve? ‘I grieve,” said I,
‘for the mischief wrought by fools, and the contempt I suffer
at their hands.” Than the man laughed in my face and said,
‘O °Ali son of al-Husayn! Didst thou ever see one who
trusted in God and was disappointed?’ ‘No,” I replied. ‘Didst
thou ever,” he replied, ‘see anyone who sought anything
from God which He did not vouchsafe to him?" ‘No,” I
replied. And straightway the man vanished from my eyes.”

! [i.e. Thébit b. Ab{ Safiyya Dindr (d. A. H. 150). Cf. Najéshi (ed. Bom-
Lay, A. H. 1317), p. 83; Tusf’s Fikrist, p. 71; Astaribidi’s Mankaju’l-magdl
(Persian ed. of A. H. 1307), p. 74; Muntaha’l-magd! Tihrin, A. H. 1302),
p. 343. The text has a/-Yamdni by mistake for ath-Thumdli. A.G.E.].
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Anecdote.

It is related by Husayn b. Hamza, from Abd Hamza!, from
Sa‘d %, from Abd Ja“far Muhammad b. °Ali, generally known
as [the fifth Im4m, Muhammad] Baqir (all Jyw, §I sl Cin =1,
that ‘Umar b. ‘Abdi{’l-°Aziz during the time of his Caliphate
(A.D. 717—720) visited al-Madina, and caused proclamation
to be made there that anyone who had suffered wrong at
the hands of the Umayyads should present himself before
him and receive compensation, so far as was possible. The
Imdm Bdqir presented himself, and al-Muzdhim (u=>15)),
‘Umar’s client, notified the fact to his master, who bade
him enter, and forthwith fell to weeping. When the Imdm
entered he found ‘Umar in tears (f. 26z2), and enquired as
to the cause of his sorrow. Being informed, he turned to
‘Umar and said:
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Anecdote.

Ali, seeing “Ammadr b. Ydésir sad and sorrowful one day,
consoled him in the following words:
O3 B Sy, It B 5 S Je F ) R L UGS
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! [i.e. Husayn b. Hamza al-Laythf, grandson, by a daughter, of Abu
Hamza. Cf. Najishi, p. 40; Mankes, p. 112; Muntahd, p. 119. The text has
Hasan b. Hamza, but the only Hasan b. Hamza recorded in the Shi‘a books
of “Rijdl” died in A. H. 358. A.G.E.).

2 [Either Sa’d b. Tarff al-Handbali (Najéshi, p. 127; Fikrist, p. 152;
Mankaj, p. 159; Muntahd, p. 144), or Sa'd b. Sa‘d b. al-Ahwas al-AshCrf
(Najésh{, p. 1273 Fikrist, p. 151; Muntakd, p. 144), both of whom received
traditions from the Imim Abu Ja‘far. A.G.E.].
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The following admonition is also ascribed to “Ali:
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Anecdote.

One day Hasan of Basra was passing by a group of people
who were speaking ill of Hajjdj b. Yisuf. He said to them:
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“] heard,” adds the author, “from a certain pious man
in the city of Khwdrazm, that the Children of Israel made
complaint before one of their prophets, saying, ‘Say unto
God, “What have we done that Thou hast set over us one
who knoweth Thee not, and hast afflicted us at the hands
of a people who do not confess Thy Lordship, seeing that
we confess Thee and magnify Thee?”’ But God revealed
to the prophet the following message to them: ‘Verily when

those who know Me rebel against me, I set over them one
who knoweth Me not.””
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Section I, ck. 11.

First settlement of the kingdom of Tabaristdn
and its cities.

Farshwadgar?! is bounded by Adharbayjén, Ahér, Tabar-
istdn, Gildn, Daylam, Ray, Qumis, Ddmghdn and Gurgdn,
and was first so defined by Mindchihr Shdh. As regards its
etymology, some say that it means “Live safe and sound”

(sl Ll :J.,.: ' > ib), but certain natives of Tabar-

istdn assert that farsk means “plain” (kdmin), wdd “high-
lands” (k#histdn), and gar “sea”, and that the name therefore
signifies “land of mountain, plain and sea’; this interpretation,
however, is modern. Older authorities say that gar (jar)
means mountainous land susceptible of cultivation, where
thickets and trees are found, Far-skdk (or Gar-shdk) being
an ancient title of the descendants of Siukhrd, the meaning
of which is “King of the mountains”!. The name Maidzan-
dardn is more recent. Its king was killed by Rustam the
son of Zdl. It was originally called “Miz-andarin”, because
Muz was the name of a mountain on the confines of Gfldn
extending as far as Ldr, Qasrdn and Jdjarm; and since this
territory was “within [the mountains of] Mdz”, it received
this name. But as for what belongs to Tabaristdn, from
Dindr-jiri on the east to a village called Maldt, beyond
Husam on the west?, they say that in ancient days it was
all jungle and forest, lagoon and fen, mountain and sea

! This, as pointed out by Darmesteter (/oc. cit., p. 507, n. 3 ad cal.) is
a corruption of the ancient Pataskkhwdr, a name properly applied to the
chain of mountains which separates Tabaristdn from Irdq.

2 So al-Birin{ says (Chronology of Ancient Nations, Sachau’s transl., p.
107): “The Persians call the first man Gaydmarth, with the surname Gir-
shdhy i.e. ‘King of the Mountain’...” See also Justi’s Jranisches Namenbuck,
p. 111, 5.2, Gardah,

Cf. Dorn’s ed. of Dhahfru’d-Din, p. 19 where the substance of this pas-
sage is reproduced.
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(f. 27a), and that until the time of Jamshid it was ix_1 the
possession of the demons. He conquered them, and bade
them level the mountains with the plains, fill up the lakes,
drain the fens into the sea, open up the country, and dis-
tribute the rivers and streams. He also caused castles to
be made and duly provisioned for the highlanders, and

brought water from the mountains to the plains; and so
they held Tabaristin for a hundred years or more. There-
after he brought craftsmen and artificers into that province,
assigning land to each, and giving the wise and prudent
authority over the others. The oldest settlement is Larijdn,
where, in the village of Waraka (& o BN) !, Feridin was

born; which happened in this wise. When Dahdk the Arab
(3t =) hewed Jamshfd in pieces, the family and descend-
ants of that unfortunate king fled away and hid themselves
wherever they could, and the mother of Feridin and her
attendants took refuge in the above-mentioned village, which
is at the foot of Mount Damdwand. On the birth of Feri-
dan, they migrated to the more fertile Jildb (or Chalib:
Dhahiri’d-Din, p. 11, M), where pasture is abundant and
the people live by cattle-farming. When Feridun was seven
years old, he used to fix a guiding-rope in the noses of the
cattle and ride them? so that one would say that heaven
was reflected on earth, and that a second “Sun” (i. e. Feri-
dun) was arising from “the Bull” (the Sign of Taurus).
Later, the other youths had recourse to him for protection
and guidance, and he, mounted on a cow (f. 274), used to go
forth with them to the chase. After a time they migrated
towards Lafur ()J,d i Dhahir, p. 12, )j.J) to the village of
Médwjakih (ssX>sbo; Dhakir, yXorsl), and were joined by the

\ Dhahkir’d-Din, p. 11, where the name stands u')), or L;)"
3 Jbid., p. 13.
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people of Ummidwdr-kih and Kuh-i-Q4rin, who made for
the young prince the famous cow-headed mace. As his
fame waxed greater, the number of his followers increased,
until he felt himself strong enough to invade ‘Irdq. On
reaching Isfahin he was joined by the blacksmith Kdwa,
and, acting in conjunction with him, took Dahdk captive.

35 pinf ot 32 s A s
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Having brought the fallen tyrant to his native village for
one night, he conveyed him on the following day to the
summit of Mount Damdwand, where he left him, bound and
helpless, in a cave or pit which is still pointed out. Then,
having established his authority over the Seven Climes, he
took up his abode in Tammisha, where the ruins of his
Palace are still apparent at a place called Bd-nasrdn (,}pai ) |,
also the domes and cupolas of his bath, and the remains
of the moat which he caused to be dug from the mountain
to the sea. These, the author remarks, he had often seen
and examined. Firdawsi says:
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This forest is also called in the books Biska-i-Ndrwan (“the
Forest of wild Pomegranates”), and the river Bdwul (now
Bédbul) waters the country to this day. When Karshdsf went
to China, he sent the Emperor of that kingdom, bound with
golden chains and accompanied by eighty other princes, in the
custody of Nariman to Feridin, who was then in Tammisha.

The Foundation of Sarf.

Sdri was founded in ancient times by Tis the son of N-
dhar, at a place called Tusin to this day. In the time of

! Dhahirw’d-Din, p. 13.
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Kay-Khusraw (f. 284), Fariburz, fearing the king’s wrath
because of some fault which he had committed, fled thither
and took refuge with the family of Nudhar, till Rustam
came with a great army and carried him before Kay-Khusraw,
who forgave him. The site of a castle built by him is still
visible at a place called Liman Din ()50 L.J,;J)'. Sarf itself
was ordered to be built in the time of the Great Farrukhan,
king of Tabaristin, by B4v, one of his nobles, on the site
of the village of Awhar (), which was chosen because of
its high position, abundant streams, and pleasant surround-
ings. The inhabitants, however, bribed Bdv to leave them in
peace and choose another site, where Sdri actually stands.
The king, on becoming aware of his disobedience, cast him
into bondage, and caused him to be hanged at the place
called in consequence of this Bdv-dvijdn (0._5;:; ob), while
with the money taken as a bribe he built a village called
Dindr-Kafshin ( pass )U.go). The Mosque of Sdri was built
in the reign of Hérinu’r-Rashid by the Amir Yahyd b.
Yahyd, and completed by Mdzydr b. Qdrin. The four-
doored dome (o )L€> Juif) which stands opposite to the
Palace of Bivanddn was included by the late king Ardashir
in his private garden. It was originally built by Minuchihr
Shih, but fell into dilapidation in the time of the Ispahbad
Khurshid Gdvbin. It was then repaired 2, and is now so strong
that it is impossible to detach a single brick from the fabric.

The Foundation of Raydn.

Its first foundation was in the time of Feridin (f. 284).
When his sons Tir and Salm slew their brother fraj, he
left a daughter in the district of Lafur at Mawjakuh. Feri-

1 See Dorn’s Dhakiru *d-Din, p. 29.
2 Dhakiry p. 30.
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din was then at a very advanced age, and his eyebrows
drooped so that they had to be bound up. His earnest
prayer was that he might live to see the death of his fa-
vourite son TIraj avenged, and he gave the daughter of Traj
in marriage to one of his nephews. When a child was born
to her, it was shewn to the aged Feridin, who said, “Mdnad
chihr-ash bi-chihr-i-lraj” (“His face resembles the face of
Traj”) !, so he was called Manuchihr; and, as is set forth
in the verse and prose Skdhndmas of Firdawsi and Mu’ayyidi,
he avenged his grandfather Iraj ere Feridin departed from
this world. Here are cited the well-known verses of Firdawsi:
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Thereafter Pashang, the son of Afrdsiydb came with a
great army to Dahistin to avenge the death of Salm. Mi-
nichihr, king at Istakhr in Fdrs? ordered Qdrin [the son
of] Gdwa, his brother Qubdd, and Arish of Ray to oppose
his advance. Afrdsiydb, having been worsted several times
by the Persians, had recourse to a kind of treacherous
stratagem of which, as Arab writers assert, he was the in-
ventor. He wrote to Qdrin saying, “I have received your
letter and have taken note of your professions of loyalty *
towards me. When I take the kingdom of Persia, I promise,
as God is my witness, to hand it over to you.” Afrdsiydb
then arranged that the messenger who bore this letter should
fall into the hands of a Persian noble who was in the con-
fidence of Minuchihr and ill-disposed towards Qdrin. This
noble (f. 29a), having read the letter, at once reported the
matter to Mintdchihr, who, entirely deceived by Afrdsiydb’s

! This is a fair sample of the etymologies which the Persians are so ready
to invent.
2 See Dorn’s Diakir, p. 14.

3 Dhakiry p. 15.
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cunning ruse (for Qdrin was perfectly loyal and meditated
no treachery), ordered Qérin to be brought before him, and
made over the command of the army to Arish. As soon as
Qdrin was thus removed, Afrisiydb attacked the Persians and
drove them back on ‘Irdq. Then at length Mindchihr per-
ceived that he had been duped, and reinstated Qarin in
his command. Qdrin advanced to Ray with his army. Afrd-
siydb pitched his camp wawilghy C¥oo & LsT, and daily
gained some advantage over Minuchihr, who ordered the
Castle of Tabarak to be constructed, and there, a year
later, after many serious defeats, he was obliged to take
refuge. At that date the city stood over against the spot
afterwards occupied by the Cupola of Fakhru’d-Dawla (A
N 52 dliigi), which place they now call! in Ray Diz-
i-Rashkdn, and it remained thus till the time of the Day-
lamites of the House of Buwayh, ,and,” adds the author,
“in the house of the $dhib Ibn “Abbdd I have seen a
mound like a hill [which marks its site].” Mindchihr came
from Tabarak to the city, fortified the walls, and abode
there six months, when he was compelled to flee and escape
by way of Ldrijdn to Tabaristdn, while Afrdsiydb made the
wide world narrow to him as the eye of a needle:
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Afrdsiydb pursued him into’ Tabaristin until he reached
the limits of Rdydn, a village called Mdnahar (5l There,
in one face of the mountain, is a great cavern, to the end
of which no man hath ever penetrated, and in it Minuchihr
concealed his treasures and stores. In the time of Hasan
b. Yahyd al-‘Alawi ?, called kickak (“the Little”), this cave

was entered, and much wealth found there. Afrdsiydb alighted
at a village called Khusraw-dbdd near Amul (f. 294), which

! Dhahir, p. 16. 2 Dhakir, p. 17.
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village still existed in the time of Washmgir (A. D. 935—967)
the son of Ziydr, the father of Qdbis. Above this village
was a tree called Shdti-mdzi-bun (.5 (s 3W), beneath
which Afrdsiydb pitched his tent for twelve years, and
during all this time Mintchihr had need of nothing which
is imported from foreign countries except pepper, in place
of which they used to eat a herb ! called kalij ((;;\,,K), in order
that their bodies might be able to resist the moisture of
the climate. Finally Afrdsiyib concluded peace with Mi-
nichihr (since he could not capture him) on the understanding
that he should surrender to him one bowshot’s width of
territory. Arish thereupon shot an arrow from there to
Merv, a statement recorded in many Persian and Arabic
books, both verse and prose?; which some say that he
achieved by virtue of some talisman or charm. This is one
of the two shots in which the Persians glory, the other
being the shot wherewith, in the reign of Kisrd (Anushir-
win), Wahriz slew the king of the Abyssinians® From the
conclusion of this war dates the prosperity of Rdydn, and
the depopulation of this region (? Tabarak), for King Ming-
chihr thereafter established himself in Tabaristdn.

Foundation of Amul4

There were two brothers from the country of Daylam,
one named Ashtdd (f. 30z), the other Yazddn, who, because
they had slain one of the nobles of Daylam with an arrow
(e,fux.,), were obliged, with their families, to flee from their

country. They settled near Amul, where the one founded

! Dhahir, p. 18,

2 See, for instance, my edition of Dawlatshdh, pp. 60—61.

3 This story is so well known that I omit the meagre version here given.
See Noldeke’s Gesch. d. Sasaniden, p. 233 and #. R.A.S. for April, 1900,
P. 229—230.

¢ Dhahir, p. 22.
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the village of Yazddndbidd and the other the hamlet of
Ashtdd, both of which exist to this day. Ashtid had a
very beautiful daughter. The great king of that time was
named Firdz, and had his capital at Balkh. One night he
dreamed of this maiden, and on awaking cried !:
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In vain did the king strive to expel her image from his
mind:
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Love so wasted his frame that:

Gats ppdnal sosy ond Ly o) G o S
He then reflected within himself that the concealment of
this secret was injuring his health (f. 304):
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and finally submits a very rhetorical statement of his
condition to the chief Mubad (f. 312)2, who is greatly vexed
and perturbed, declaring the king to be the victim of
demoniacal possession, reproaching him for his unreasonable
passion, and advising him to have recourse to a physician
(f. 318). The king endeavoured for a few days longer to
get the better of his passion, and then, in accordance with
the proverb, “Man eagerly desires that which is forbidden
him,” and the verses:

\ Dkhakir, p. 23.
2 This is much simplified and abbreviated in Dékakir, p. 23.
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he summoned his ministers and issued orders to all the
Wardens of his Marches (marzubdns) to seek for the original
of that vision. For some time their efforts met with no
success, and the king’s melancholy increased, until at length
he entreated one of his relatives named Mihr Firiz to un-
dertake the quest, promising him a rich reward ! if he should
be successful (f. 322). Mihr Firiz declared that he would
leave no stone unturned in his endeavour to find the king’s
desire:
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He then questioned the soldiers as to what regions they
had left unexplored, and they replied that they had tra-
versed the East and the West, all Persia and Arabia, save
only Tabaristin. So on that very day Mihr Firdz set out
from Balkh for Tabaristdn, followed by a caravan of provi-
sions for the journey and costly presents, until he came to
Tasdn (.luwb oW ), whence, aided by the governor, he
pursued his search, grudging no expenditure, for rather
more than a year, but met with no success. At length, ac-
companied by a few followers, he set off to explore the
country lying towards the sea-coast. One day, near Ahlam
(~9), his horse was drowned while he was fording a stream,
and he himself with difficulty reached the further shore.
Unable to return, he plunged into the forest, when at length
he came upon a clear and beautiful stream, which he followed
up till he reached the fountain which was its source. ? There,
to his amazement, he saw a girl whose appearance exactly

V Dhahir, p. 24. 2 Dkakiry p. 25.
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corresponded with her whom the king had seen in his
vision. He said to himself, “If she be a jinniyya, 1 will
kill her (f. 328), but if she be a human being, it is she
whom I seek.” So he drew his sword and advanced towards
the fountain. The girl looked up at him and said, “O youth,
who art thou, and what is thy name, and what dost thou
here? For I wonder to see such an one as thyself in this
place.” Mihr Firiz replied, “I am a human being. Tell
“I too,” replied
the girl, “am of the human race; my home is in this place;
and 1 have two fathers, to wit my father and his brother,
and likewise a mother and many brothers.” The girl, on

’

me, now, of thy condition and family.’

Mihr Firdiz’s request, consented to take him to her home,
and, on reaching it, informed her mother of his arrival.
Her mother received him with the utmost respect and
courtesy, and sent her youngest son to summon her hus-
band and his brothers, who came with all speed, and, after
the fashion of Daylam, entertained him for three days
without questioning him as to his business or condition.
When, after this period, they enquired as to who he was
and what had brought him to the country, he informed
them that he was one of the nobles of the King, and had
come thither for solitude and the chase, and described his
separation from his companions, the loss of his horse, and
his meeting with the girl. “Know,” he concluded, “that I
am not one of whom you need be ashamed, or who has
need of your wealth or possessions. If you see fit, then give
me this girl in marriage.” ¢Thine appearance,” said the
father and mother,” sufficiently indicates thy nobility !, and
thy courtesy thy virtue (f. 334); how then should we not
desire thee as a son-in-law?” Then they related to him
their history, and how they had been compelled to flee from

v Dhahir, p. 26.
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their country, and added that they could promise nothing
till they had consulted their elder brother. To him, ac-
cordingly, they went in company, and he received them
with every honour, saying:
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On hearing the propose of Mihr-Firiz he readily agreed
to it, and Mihr Firdz at once sent off a messenger for the
presents and supplies which he had left at Tusdn, informing
the governor that he had fulfilled his quest, and bidding
him notify the fact to the King. While one of the girl’s
brothers took this message, another sought out Mihr Firiz’s
missing retainers. The King rejoiced greatly at the news,
despatched valuable gifts, and ordered general illuminations
and festivities (f. 336). When the actual greatness of Mihr-
Firiz became apparent to Ashtadd and Yazddn, they were
overwhelmed with confusion, especially when he related to
them the dream, and declared to them that it was not to
himself, but to his master the king, that the girl was to be
given in marriage. Then they sent off the girl in all haste
to the Court, and when the king saw her, he at once
recognized in her the original of his vision, and his love
for her increased day by day. One day he asked her!,
“Why is it that the women of your country have such
beautiful eyes, such fragrant mouths, and such soft skins?”’
She replied in her own language [of Tabaristdn] 2:
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The King applauded her answer and bade her crave a
boon. She asked that a city might be built at Pdy-i-Dasht,

! Dhahiry p. 27.

2 For variants, cf. Dkakir, loc. cit,, 1. 3—s5.
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her native place, situated above the river Hirhiz (), and

called after her name. Engineers and surveyors were at once
sent thither to prosecute the work, and that same year a
son was born to her named Khusraw. She desired the king
to send her thither for change of air, because the climate
of Balkh did not agree with her. They told her that the
engineers had been unable to bring the water of the river
Hirhiz to the spot which she had indicated as the site of
the city, so she ordered that its name should still remain
Pdy-i-Dasht !'; and there the signs of these buildings are
apparent to this day (f. 344). They called the place which
the girl had chosen Skaristdna-marz. The projected city
was then transferred to the present site, called Axta’na-sam’y,
but at first named Mdsa (x3k), now the site of the Great
Mosque [of Amul], wherein was formerly a fountain which
drew its water from the Mountain of Wandd-ummid, and
which was still running in the time of al-Yazdddi (see p.
3 supra). And when they had brought the water thither,
they built the city-wall of baked bricks, so thick that three
horseman could ride abreast along the top of it, and dug
round about it a moat 33 cubits (u-::.)i) in depth, and a bow-
shot across; and in the wall they made four Gates, called
respectively “of Jurjan”, “of Gildn”, “of the Mountain”,
and “of the Sea”. The area of the city was 400 jaribs of
land. The Palace of the king’s wife, Amula, stood where
the “Street of the Washermen” (U!))-U’ sxzreS) now is, and
behind the “Cloth-sellers’ Market”; and her Tomb (x=-0)
was in the same place. In the reign of Ardashir excavations
were made here to a depth of two spears’ lengths, and the
sepulchre and surrounding buildings were disclosed. When
the King’s son Khusraw succeeded to the throne, he greatly
enlarged Amul, and made it his capital and residence, sur-

\ Dhakir, p. 28.
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rounding the original wall with another of clay. The space
between the two walls they called (ya3,, and what lay beyond

the outer wall \.,vfo;, “which terms,” says the author, “occur
frequently in old title-deeds”. The meaning of the name

Amul in their tongue is U‘.‘a)@T, both of these words meaning
(f. 346) “death”, the sense here being “May death never
touch thee!” (olw . > ).\” ' 15). It is related that when the
Ispahbad Mdzydr b. Qdrin destroyed the walls of Amul’,
they found on the top of the Gate of Gurgdn a green
casket (sxSpma; Dhahir, p. 28, ssSyimy, explained by Viillers
as a cervical vertebra) sealed with tin (zd%). The super-
intendent ordered it to be broken open, whereupon a small
copper tablet bearing an inscription in the Austaj character?
fell out. One who had skill in this character was summoned
to read it, which, having mastered its contents, he could
scarcerly be induced to do. On it was written, “The good
construct and the wicked destroy; whosoever destroys this
shall not survive the year.” And it was even so; for ere
the end of the year Mdzyidr was taken captive and executed
at Surra-man-ra’a (A. H. 224 = A. D. 839). The Great
Mosque of Amul was built in the time of Hdrtinu’r-Rash{d,
in A.H. 177 (= A.D. 793—4), by Ibrdhim b. “‘Uthmadn [b.]
Nahik 3. He could not at first buy the whole site required,
until the grandfather of Abv’l-Hasan b. Hérdn al-Fagik, who
was named Anbdrak, was converted to Islim and changed
his name to Mubdrak, whereupon he sold his house for this
purpose, and others who possessed land in this quarter fol-
lowed his example. When the Mosque was finished, they
desired to ascertain the direction of the ¢ébla, but it rained
unceasingly for forty nights and days, and they were obliged

! See Tabarf (ed. de Goeje), Ser. iii, Vol. ii, p. 1275.

2 See Fikrist, p. 13 of text and p. 8 of the notes. Cf. Mas‘ddi’s Kitdbu
¢-Tanbik wdl-Iskrif (ed. de Goeje), p. 107.

3 See Tabari, Ser. iii, pp. 651—706.
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to have recourse to conjecture. The cost of the land occupied
by the Mosque was 8032 dindrs, its length was 93 yards
(U;-.)F), its dome or roof (Jyw), ten yards in length, contained
300,640 tiles (rmsd), and the cost of construction was 47,340
dindrs. In the time of Firiz-Shdh, the original founder of
the city, a ditch or moat was made from the frontier of
Gurgdn and Miqdn, on the seashore, and traces of this
moat, called “Firiz-kanda” (“the Moat of Firiz”) are still
visible in many places in Tabaristdn, a fact on which al-
Yazdddi has greatly insisted in his book. At the time of
the foundation of Amul (f. 354}, a certain man possessed
one jarib of land, which he refused to sell, lest his sons
should forfeit the position of land-owners and sink to that
of serfs. He appealed to the King, who admitted that he
was right, and ordered him to receive an abundant payment
for his little property.

Turicha (x=5). The name of the place was originally
Turdn-char (= UF)JJ). In the time of Farrukhdn the Great
a treaty was concluded with the Turks whereby it was
agreed that, in consideration of the payment of a tribute,
they should abstain from invading Tabaristin. Two years
later, having fortified the passes, the Persians refused to pay
the tribute, and King Farrukhdn retired to Firdz-ibdd, near
Lafir, and there entrenched himself. The Turks invaded
Tabaristdn, but Farrukhdn fell upon them suddenly at night
and slew them all. Tirdn-char marks the site of this
massacre.

Mdmtir (mbels). This place was visited by the Imdm
Hasan b. “Alf in the Caliphate of “Umar, he being accom-
panied by an army of Arabs under Mdlik Ashtar an-Nakha‘{ ',
and because of the excellence of the site and its natural
advantages, especially its good water and sweet-voiced birds ,

1 See Balddhuri’s Futih, ed. de Goeje, pp. 164 and 228,
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he said: by sk PN ::.o.:, and the last.-#vords of this sen-
tence, Md wa tir, became corrupted into Mamtir . When
Muhammad b. Khédlid was governor of the province (f. 354)
he constructed there a market and other buildings, to which,
in A.H. 160 (= A.D. 776—7) Mdzyir b. Qdrin added a
Mosque.

Other important cities of Tabaristdn
beyond Tammi{sha.

Gurgdn was founded by Gurgin son of Mildd % It was
always the capital of the marzubdns of Tabaristdn, and has
a circuit of about four parasangs. Gurgin’s ass-herds (kkar-
bandagdn) used to graze their beasts about Astardbdd, which
town sprung up to meet their needs and took its name
from their mules (astar). The whole land, from Dindr-jdy °
to Maldt (which is the extreme limit of Tabaristdn in that
direction), and from Ray and Qumis to the seashore, was
well cultivated and thickly populated, and there were 28
cities within the district of Tammisha, each with its mos-
ques, oratories, markets, judges, and men of learning, as
follows:

In the Plain. (1) Amul, (2) Séri, (3) Mdmtir, (4) Rdbast,

(5) Arazm (B. Ararm), (6) Turicha, (7) Muthla (skw),
(8) Mihrawdn, (9) Machir{ (B. Bijiri), (10) Ahlam, (11)
Jalus (B. Sdlis), (12) dlpda (B. dadlindy), (13) Tis (or
Qubsibah, or B. Mahastiya), (14) Tammisha, (15) Gurgédn.
In the Mountains. (16) Kaldr*, (17) Raydn*, (18) Namdr,
(19) Kajuya %, (20) Wima (sess), (21) Shalanba, (22) Wabdid
(B. Wamadd), (23) Abkhama (ws5), (24) Sdrmdm, (25)

! The modern Bérfurdish. Cf, Dkakir, p. 8o.

2 Cf. Dhakir, p. 22.

3 Dkahiry p. 21, has “Dinér-jiri, which is the eastern limit of all Tabarist4n.”
¢ B. enumerates these three places in the preceding class.
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Farim, (26) Hazdr-garf!, (27) Damdwand, (28) Ldrijin.
The revenues of Tabaristdn in the time of the Tahirids
(b W Ngsy, i.e. A.D. 820—872) amounted to 6,003,000
dirhams, according to the following detail:

Sdri as far as Tammisha: 1,300,000 dir.
Méamtir and Turicha: 370,000
Amul: 1,400,000
Falis(B. Salas)-Riydn : 300,000 - 900,000 = 1,200,000
Rdn-Hdal (. 36a): 360,000
Damdwand (B. Dunbdwand): 1,200,000
TOTAL: 5,830,000 » 2

The farms (CL,,AQ) of Tabaristdn were divided into three
classes, and they produced in the time of the T4hirids
7,000,900 dirhams, as follows:?

sl mads
(g Oz gl 5 aiads & Kgale Goall 300,0004ir.
[B. oliio] oo [B. sl olf] podisy st Lipall 1,000,300 ,
(g w0 wly 80
cxiadl o bo 8l s g ol e 1,300,000 ,*
[B. Jylo 5 se 5 o] O gal 5 5s8" 5 laal wdn 1,500,000
cdolo &UQSL, 5 Sb A Oue o KO s (;_E 1,000,000 ,
l};OUo o eolakme 3 f}*‘b 1,000,000 ,
TOTAL: 6,100,300 ,

1 QOver this and under (23), which stands immediately above it in the
MS., the name Umydr-kih (zg,f )ngos) is written in red.

2 As this falls short of the total given above by 173,000 dirkams, it would
appear that something has been omitted from the details.

3 The text of what follows I print in the original, as I do not altogether
understand it, leaving the sums mentioned (which are plainly written out in
full, not in numbers or in the difficult siydg generally used in financial state-
ments) in our numerals, as before. Here again it will be observed that some
error has crept in, for these sums fall short of the total of mentioned by 900,600
dirhams.

+ B. has only “500,000".
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The total income from all the farms, land-taxes and im-
posts of Tabaristin beyond Tammisha in the time of the
T&hirids amounted to 13,300,000 dirkams.
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Section I, ch. 111.

On the virtues and wonders of Tabaristdn (f. 36a).

In ancient times Tabaristin was always the refuge and
stronghold of the old kings and nobles, because of its na-
tural strength, its independence of other countries for the
necessaries of life (f. 3664), and its fertility. Its only disad-
vantage, in short, is the moisture of its climate and the
excessive rainfall, which result from its proximity to the sea.

Anecdote.

It was related by the Q4di Abu “Abdi’r-Rahmdn Muham-
mad b. al-Hasan b. “Abdv’l-Hamid al-Lamrdsaki (_Ku!dff)
to Abu’l-Hasan “Ali b. Muhammad al-Yazdddi, on the autho-
rity of his father, who had it from men of ancient time,
that there lived in the neighbourhood of Lamrdsak a man
named Shahr-Khwdstin the son of Zardastin (i Llulss i
b5 ¢y possessed of great wealth in personal and landed
property and cattle, aged, experienced, and surrounded by
numerous sons, cousins and kinsmen, all loyally attached to
him. When Farrukhdn, the great Ispahbad, had completed
the construction of Sdr{ and the great Dyke, all the people,
save Shahr-Khwdstdn, offered him their congratulations and
eulogies. The Ispahbad was vexed at this omission (f. 372),
and despatched two horsemen to bring Shahr-Khwistdn be-

! B, has “13,000 and 330,000.”
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fore him. When they arrived, he was holding a great ban-
quet, at which all the local nobles and gentry were present.
Ordering the two messengers to be hospitably entertained,
he packed in sacks samples of all the products of Tabar-
istdn, garments of wool, silk, linen and cotton, bread-stuffs
of all sorts, sweetmeats, apples, cereals, water-cresses, fresh
and salted game, birds, fruits, wines, fragrant herbs, flowers,
and the like, and, furnished with these, set off for Sdri,
where he arrived at day-break. By chance the Ispahbad
was giving a great banquet, at which he was presiding,
seated on a high throne, whence, after pronouncing a
khutba after the fashion of kings, he addressed the people
as follows. “O men of Tabaristin, know that ye were a people
dwelling apart in a corner of the world, of whom no fame
was spread abroad, and to whose country none were at-
tracted. Ye dwelt in jungles with the wild beasts and
beasts of prey, ignorant of the enjoyments of life, the ways
of men, soft raiment, good horses and agreeable perfumes.
It was I who introduced you to nobler aims and a richer
and more desirable life; who built for you fine cities which
attracted travellers and merchants from afar, so that rare
and precious merchandises flowed into your country, and
ye became notable and famous in the world, and your
cities celebrated for their wealth and splendour. For all
this I deserve your thanks.” Then all those present, except
Shahr-Khwdstdn, rose up and applauded. The Ispahbad,
observing with displeasure Shahr-Khwdstdn’s silence (f. 376),
cried to him, “What ails thee that thou art tongueless as
a fish and soulless as a serpent ?” Said the other, “If per-
mission be accorded me, I will speak;” and, on receiving
permission, he produced and opened the ten sacks which
he had brought with him, and displayed their contents.
Then he spoke as follows: “May the Ispahbad-Ispahbadédn
live long! O assembly, we were in this land men indepen-
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dent of imports from other countries, contented with what
sufficed for our needs, and enjoying ample ease and luxury.
None hindered us, nor envied us, nor contended with us,
nor coveted our country, nor was cognizant of its secrets.
We had need of no one; we had houses, corn-lands and
hunting-grounds within the Great Dyke, and every two pa-
rasangs was stationed a head-man, captain or squire, whom
all man readily obeyed. Now this Prince hath made all
strangers and foreigners to know us and our land, and hath
caused them to flock hither and settle here, and ere long
they will pick a quarrel with us, strive to take our land,
and drive forth our children as wanderers and exiles.”
Then the Ispahbad and the people perceived that he spoke
truly, and asked what should now be done, to which he
replied, “The thing is done, and there is now no averting
it. Had you consulted with me sooner, I would have shewn
you a way. Please God that by the Prince’s good fortune
no harm may result.”

The virtue, beauty, health and excellence of the women
of Tabaristdn have been already mentioned (f. 382) in con-
nection with the narrative of the building of Amul by
Firiz-shdh. ‘Abdu’r-Rahmdn Khirzdd! says in his Book of
Routes and Provinces ($Jully JILudl L) that physicians
and sages have agreed that the two healthiest and most
charming countries are Tabaristin and Samarqand. Of the
latter, Husayn (wa=) b. Mundhir ar-Raqqdshi said:

CSLBW il 190y likeW 550 g o gl § sluldl LK
while of the former Buzurjmihr said, in reply to a question
from Nushirwdn, “Its name is 7Terabd (‘joy’) and Bustén
(‘garden’).” “Abdu’lldh b. Qutayba (A. has xi3 in error for

4

x5) said that it ought to be called Zabdaristin (with o, for

1 [Probably Ibn Khurdidhbih. See de Goeje's ed. of his X" itdb’l-masdlik, pp.
171—172, where ar-Raqqésh{’s remark above cited is given in substance. A.G. E.].
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b as the first letter), for it was as though it had been
pruned with axes (fabar). “As for its plains, its mountains,
its seas and its swamps,” runs another saying, “its mountains
are a stronghold and refuge for its kings, its swamps are a
treasury for its people, its seas are a hunting ground for
them, and its plains are a paradise.” (Here follows an
Arabic poem of seven couplets in its praise). In it are no
noxious reptiles or hurtful beasts, like the snakes of Sistin
and India, the scorpions of Nisibin, Kdshdn, Jdshk and
Mugdn, the locusts of “Askar, the tarantulas and fleas of
Ardabil, the beasts of prey of Arabia, or the crocodiles of
Egypt; nor plagues like the alopecia of Basra, or the
drought of Syria, or the excessive heat of ‘Umdn, Shirdz
and Ahwdz. In short, all men agree that there is no country
so delectable as a residence; there are abundant fruits, fire-
wood, spices, mountains, plains, sulphur-mines (f. 385), sul-
phate of iron (zi)-), antimony (&Z)::), gold and silver-mines ',
and all sorts of fabrics for clothing. Of its products in his
time al-Yazddd{ thus speaks:
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1 Melgunof, Das siidliche Ufer des Kaspischen Meeres, p. 24.
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In illustration of this last statement, that poverty is un-
known amongst the natives of Tabaristin, the author relates
how a certain man of that province,- settled at Mecca,
boasted of this fact. The people of Mecca, anxious to dis-
prove his assertion, hunted high and low till at length
they found a beggar who said he was from the parish of
H4dzima-Kdy in Amul in Tabaristin. Him they confronted
with the man who had uttered this boast (f. 396). “What,”
said the latter, “do they call a skirt {ddman) in your town?”
“Ddman,” replied the other. “And a pocket (jayd)?”’ con-
tinued he. “¥ayd,” answered the beggar. “You are a liar,”
said the other, “and no true-born Tabar{, for in Amul they
call a skirt Junbur (u) and a pocket gurfvun (or giryin,
cp¥)” The man then admitted that he had been born at
Ray and only taken to Amul in childhood by his father
and mother.

The taxes and imposts of Tabaristdn are light, and es-
pecially was this the case under the rulé of the House of
Biwand, while the water is abundant, good, and freely ac-
cessible to all. The satraps, governors and Ispahbads of
Tabaristdn have always enjoyed a great influence, and Kis-
rds and Caliphs alike have sought their advice and counsel.
Their doctors, scribes, physicians, astronomers and poets
also include many famous names, and, from the time of
Feridin and Minuchihr, who have been already mentioned,
many great and notable men have sought refuge there.
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Thus when Rustam-i-Z4l was hurled into the sea of Qulzum
(the Caspian) by Akwidn Div, he came ashore in Tabaristin,
and was hospitably entertained by the inhabitants. His son
Suhrdib sought him through Turdn, Trdn, India and Riim,
and at length found him in Riydn, at a place called Likash
(U~Ks)), where the fatal fight took place between them, in
which Suhridb was slain. Rustam intended to carry his coffin
back to Zdbulistan, but, owing to the heat, he deposited
it at Sdrf, at the place called Qasr-i-Tus, where, it is said,
it was eventually buried (f. 395). So too Dird, fleeing before
Alexander, took refuge in Tabaristdn, and sent a message
to the invader, saying, “I grant that you have conquered
the Seven Climes, but what will you do with Farshwédjar?”
The author adds that in A.H. 611 (= A.D. 1214—1215)
the Castle known as Diz-i-Ddrd (,The Fortress of Darius”)
was still standing near the sea (40 daoji sdag oo by 20 55).
Again in the time of Khusraw Parwiz (A.D. 590—627) his
uncle Gustahm (Bistdm), because the King had cut off his
brother Bind#’¢’s hands and feet, fled from his Government
of Khurdsin and took refuge in Tabaristdin, and was only
slain at length by treachery on the part of Bahrdim Chu-
bina’s sister Gurdiya, who was instigated thereunto by the
King. Again in Sdsdnian times a king named Salydn (k)
took refuge in Tabaristin, and built himself a residence at
the place called Kiya-Salydn (.JubwsS), the meaning of £iya
(%) in the Tabari dialect being “house”. This building
was still standing in the author’s time, A.H. 613 (= A.D.
1216—1217).

The Wonders of Tabaristdn.

Mount Damdwand. “Ali b. Zayn al-Kdtib, in his work
entitled Firdawsu *l-Hikmat ', says that the ascent is made

1 Probably the work of this title by Abu °l-Hasan “Alf of Ray, mentioned
by Hijf Khalifa, N°. gors.
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from the village of Ask in two days. It is a conical peak,
and is covered with snow, save for a space of thirty jaribs
at the summit, which is free from snow both in summer and
winter, and is covered with sand (? ashes) into which the
feet sink. At and about the summit are thirty craters and
fissures, whence issue forth smoke, sulphurous fumes, and
strange rumbling noises, whereby men know that there is
fire within the mountain. No animal can live on it, be-
cause of the violent winds which blow about it, and it is
said that the Philosopher’s stone of the Alchemists (wa
LusS le9l) is to be found there (f. 402). Al-Yazdddf relates
that in the time of Qdbus Shamsu’l-Ma‘dli (A. D. g76—1012)
there was a youth called the son of Amir Kd (§ juef cuy) who
found this “Red Sulphur” (&1 ) there, and with it
made gold, until this matter became known to the King.
In Mount Damdwand, it is said, Solomon imprisoned Sakhr,
the jinni who stole his ring, praying God to torment him
there till the Resurrection; and this tradition is vouched
for on the authority of “Alf b. Abi Tilib. But the stories
told concerning Bivarasp (. ¢. Azhidahdka, or Dahdk), which
were enquired into by the Caliph ‘Abdu’lldh al-M4’mun, and
[what happened] in the reigns of Hurmuzd and Khusraw
Parwiz, the Sdsdnian kings, and the story of Mus4d b. Is4
as-Sarwi, which are related in the Book of Piriz-Mihrjdn,
and other similar legends!) are here omitted as incredible
and unauthenticated. In the books of the Herdeds and
Magians it is related that Nushirwdn the Just sent a trusty
messenger to Sakhr the jinni, who, when the messenger
came and saluted him, enquired who had sent him. On
learning that it was Nushirwdn, he rose to his feet, prayed,
and gave three things to the messenger in a sealed packet,

! The text here, which 1 do not understand, has: s &‘J}-Mf ujf,b »
t&ﬂm.” '8;>
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bidding him deliver them to the King, and entreat him in
return to effect the release of the giver. These three things
were three drugs, one to keep off old age, one to quicken
digestion, and one an aphrodisiac. When' these confections
were brought to Nushirwdn, he said, “I have no need of
them, for old age is the ornament of man, and a source
of dignity and honour: would that I were already old!
Sexual desire, again, is only necessary for the continuance
of the humarn race: whatever exceeds this is evil, not good.
And artificial aids to digestion are only needful to him
who eats too much; to the temperate man, who only eats to
maintain his strength, they are useless and even pernicious
(f. 406). Over and above all this, these drugs may not pos-
sess the properties alleged, and may have been given me
for my destruction.” Then he ordered the drug which was
supposed to be a cure for old age to be given to a dog,
and its head swelled up till it was as large as a cow’s, until
it died in great agony, and was secretly buried by Ni-
shirwdn’s order.

Anecdote.

There was once a king called Mdhiya-sar, whose head
was abnormally small, and devoid of hair. He therefore
always wore a turban, summer and winter, night and day,
so that no one could see his head. Some say that he was a
Jew named Sham®in (Simon) b. Khuddd4d, others that he was a
Magian named Bdli the son of Farrukh-Adin. His mother, Riz
the daughter of Khurshid, was a cunning witch and sorceress,
incomparable in her time in the arts of Magic. They dwelt
in a place four parasangs from Amul, called now Asi-Viska
and his palace was in a village which still exists and is
called Vilir (). Between the villages of Kilankir (),K...Lo’ )
and Shir-dbdd is a great forest, thick and high, which is
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still called Mdhiya-sari Diz, and near it is a deep moat or
dyké filled with water covered with duck-weed (ke )

into which anything which falls disappears for ever, while
no boat can cross it, and any animal falling into it does
but drown the quicker the more it struggles. On that side
where the north wind blows there is an open space, where
grow daffodils the like of which in fragrance can be nowhere
found; while in the village of Vilir is a certain species of
fig (A0 pms ).,_$'S), superior to those of Hulwan. Now this

king Mdhiya-sar was a wicked and unprincipled tyrant, of
whom his subjects stood in terror, and he had accumulated
vast wealth which he had buried under various buildings.
When ‘Abdu’lldh b. Mahmid b. Nibh Abu’l-“Abbds was go-
vernor of Tabaristin, an old man a hundred years of age
came before him from that district, and gave him certain
indications as to the site of these buried treasures. Abu’l-
“Abbds accordingly sent skilled and trusted man to excavate
(f. 412), and in these excavations they expended much
money, but whenever they came on traces of treasure a
landslip always occurred, killing several and nullifying their
labours, so that at last they were forced to abandon their
attempts.

Anecdote.

One of the Kisrds sent a confidential messenger to Mahiya-
sar ordering him to present himself at his court, under pain
of incurring the Royal displeasure, Mdhiya-sar had prepared
a talisman which kept all the frogs and other reptiles (culi
sUf) quiet during the day, but at night they made so much
noise that the whole heaven and earth seemed to be in
commotion. When at night-time Kisrd’s ambassador heard
this fearful riot (?L’.:“) &), he was dazed with wonder
and fear, and asked what was the matter. They replied,
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“The king’s watchmen by night.” “And where,” enquired
he, “are they by day?” “By day,” they answered, “they
rest.” When the ambassador returned and related this to
Kisrd, they told him that he must have been dreaming.

In the History of the Barmecides (sSalp 'z\g)ti) it is said
that this Mdhiya-sar originally owned the “Barmecide Ring”
(g s54Kif) which afterwards belonged to the Umayyad
Caliph ‘Abdu’l-Malik b. Marwdn (A.D. 685—705); but this
story, as well as many others referring to Mdhiya-sar which
are given by al-Yazdddi, is discredited by the author on
chronological grounds.

Anecdote.

Near Ummfdwdr Kuh is a well called Chdk-i-Vijan
(? “Bizhan’s Well”) which no one has been able to fathom,
though loads of rope have been brought thither, knotted
together, and let down into it (f. 414). When a stone is
thrown into it, the noise of its falling is heard for a long
time until at last it ceases. During summer a cool breeze
continually blows from this well, and round about it are
trees, and thence they carry logs and planks to Amul!,
because of the fragrant scent of this wood. And one who
sits on this wood in summer feels a coolness, and on these

trees always sit birds of the kind called saggd (i)

Near Ruydn is a well-known village called Sa‘ld-4bid,
where every child born in the summer dies in infancy, so
that it has become customary for women who are with
child and expect to be delivered during the summer months
to quit the place and go elsewhere.

Near Kaldr ()bb’) there is a village called Dilam (As), and

! The text has: ¢ g LS‘T )" JJG )y‘«.-.! 3 gt &5 I conjecture the

meaning of these two words, with which I have never met elsewhere.
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no one who is born there survives his twentieth year.

Near Natil ((JoU) is a village called Manddr (j3Nie), where
over an area of 60 jaribs when rice is sown so much water
wells up from the ground that it suffices for all that rice-
field without need of further irrigation, and at the time of
reaping it all disappears. In the same district is another
village called Nigdristin, on the summit of a hill, and in it
is a rock, surrounded for five parasangs by plain and jungle,
as far as Amul; and from this rock five streams of clear
water issue forth, which are more abundant in proportion
as the summer is hotter, while in winter they cease altogether.

Near Amul grows a herb called Gunduya Zima (s3055
2453), the properties of which are thus described:
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A peculiarity of the town of Jdlis (Shalds) is that it makes
people’s skins white, so that if an Indian or Kdbulf girl
remains there for one year, she becomes fair as a Greek
or Slav.

In Wanddd-Hurmuzd Kidh there is a place (f. 424) into
which, when there is a year of drought, the people throw
triturated onions, whereupon rain at once falls, but the
person who has pounded the onions dies within the year.

In Ummid-wir Kih grows a herb called G#r-tir (p or
5 ), and if anyone picks it smiling, or weeping, or
speaking well, or playing, and gives it to another to eat,
that other, so long as the herb is in his stomach, behaves
in the same way as did the gatherer while he was picking it.

Near Tabaristdn is a place called Pdnira-Kih (3503 or
S U}ql.‘.g), where, in the time of al-Yazdidi, there was a
dyke called Firiz-Kiah, and adjoining this was another
mountain whereon grew a poisonous herb.
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Near Ridbdr hyacinths grow, and on Wand4dd-Hurmuzd-
Kiéh grow sweet rushes (73, as at Mecca, which they
call Mushkwdsh ( ilyKine) L.

In Siyih-rdd, near Jamand, in the village of Danak,
there is a whirlpool or eddy called Kanzgirddb, where
Alexander the Great buried the vast treasures which he
had amassed. Many later kings and rulers have sought to
recover them, but have always failed. Mdkdn the son of
Kdki was the last ‘to try, and he spent vast sums of money
in removing the water, till at length he reached a point
where signs of treasure, bricks and traces of buildings, were
visible. “Tomorrow,” said they, “we shall finish our task;”
but that night the water again broke in and concealed all,
while Mdkdn dreamed that a voice cried to him, “Weary
not thyself in vain, for it was not laid up for thee.” And
thereafter no further attempt was made. Every twenty-five
years there is a year of scarcity, and the price of corn
goes up.

Anecdote of the Dragon and Sdm-i-Narimdn.

The poet of Tabaristdn ? says:
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There once appeared in Shahriydr-Kuh a dragon fifty
thousand cubits (gesz) in length, and in that region, as far
as the sea-coast, no animal dared pass through plain or
mountain for fear of it (f. 426), so that they abandoned
that district, whereupon it advanced as far as Sdri. Then
the inhabitants besought Sdm to help them, and he came
forth, saw it from afar, and said, “With these weapons I

' I do not understand the following words: g UT )" CSYA) ULL.".‘" DY
Nsbae .
3 Probably Abuw’l-“Amr, mentioned by the same title or f. 45a (p. 47 infra).
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can do nothing.” By the time he had prepared suitable
weapons, the dragon had avanced to Aldrash near the sea-
shore, and he came upon it at a place called Giw-Kaldda
(o) ). The dragon, on seeing Sdm, rushed upon him.

Sdm smote it on the head with his mace, so that it fell
asunder, and the dragon uttered so fearful a cry that all
Sdim’s companions fell to the ground in terror. It then
strove to encircle Sdm with its tail, but he sprang back
forty paces. It continued to move for three days and then
died, and to this day no grass will grow on this spot, as
is well known. .

Section I, ck. 1V.

Account of the kings, nobles, doctors, saintly
and famous men, scribes, physicians, phi-
losophers and poets of Tabaristdn.

1. Mdzydy. — He was one of the most capable princes
who ever reigned. One day his trainer (yai,) was riding
one of his favourite horses. “Do you detect any fault in
this horse?” enquired Mdzydr. “It is one of the finest to
be found in all the world,” answered the trainer; “what is
wrong with it?” ¢There is no marrow in its shoulder-blades;”
answered Mdzydr. He then ordered the horse to be killed,
and they found it was even as he had said.

On another occasion he was informed that a certain
horse-breader in Tukhdristin had in his stud a horse valued
at 100,000 dirkams. He at once despatched several experts
in horseflesh to buy it for him. When they reached their
destination, the owner would only allow them to look at
the horse and not to ride it. It appeared to be a beautiful
animal, well-proportioned, graceful and strong. They wrote
to Mdzydr for instructions. He replied (f. 43a): “Assuredly
the owner would not impose such a condition unless he
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was aware of some blemish in the animal. Before buying
it, you must make it a condition that you shall be allowed
to lassoo it. If, when the lassoo falls round its neck, it
pricks up its ears, looks sharply down between its fore-feet,
and draws its tail inwards, then buy it; but if it strains its
neck against the noose, throws out its sides, and lays back
its ears, then refuse to buy it.” When they tried the ex-
periment, it happened even as he had said, and they rejected
it accordingly.

After his death the Caliph put “Ali b. Zayn in his place
in the Foreign Office (Lidl ly20), but the despatches written
by him were less rich in meaning than those penned by
Midzyir. They asked him why this was so. He replied:
“He wrote in his own language; I translate into Arabic.”
Mdzydr’s cunning and generosity, as well as his capture and
execution at Surra-man-ra’a, will be mentioned in their
proper place.

2. Alanddy ' the son of Sukhrd, King of Tabaristin. In
strength and courage he was reckoned the equal of Rustam.
One night he rode forty parasangs after a stag, and at the
end swam a river in flood, and slew the quarry.
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3. Wanddd Hurmuzd the son of Alanddy, also celebrated
for his courage. His doughty deeds, and how he slew Fa-
risha and “the Devil of Fardn” (Silim of Far®in or Far-
ghdn) 3, will be told in its proper place. When Hérinu’r-
Rashid reached Ray, he sent [his son] al-Ma’min to be
laid in his lap, and he bestowed on al-Ma’min villages
whereof the revenues amounted to 1,600,000 dirkams. When
he slew Fardsha, he gave to the Ispahbad Sharwin, “King

! See Melgunof's Sidlicke Ufer des Kaspischen Meeres, p. 52.
3 See Melgunof, p. 50 ad cale.
8 Dhahir, pp. 156, 158—159.
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of the Mountains” !, who came to help him, one third
(Ko o) of the spoils; and when, after the death of Fa-
rasha, Hdrinu’r-Rashid came to Ray, Wanddid Hurmuzd
went out to meet him (f. 436). When the Caliph’s eyes
lighted upon him, he began to upbraid, reproach and fier-
cely threaten him, whereupon Wanddd said, “I do not un-
derstand Arabic, but I perceive that the Commander of the
Faithful is incensed against me, and is upbraiding me in
unkind words. Why did he not speak thus when I was in
my own highlands? Now that, unconstrained and of my
own free will, I come before him loyally and obediently, it
ill befits his greatness to address in such terms his guest and
his faithful servant.” Hérdin, when this was interpreted to
him, admitted that he was in the right, increased his rank,
and ordered a cushion to be brought that he might be
seated. When the cushion was brought, Wanddd, instead
of sitting down on it, placed it on his head, saying, ‘A
cushion from the Commander of the Faithful is an honour;
it is better placed on the head.” When he rose up to de-
part, Hdrin ordered the cushion to be sent with him.
Another day, while he was sitting with Hdrun, the uncle
of the latter entered the room. All those present rose up,
except Wanddd. This displeased the Caliph and those with
him. Immediately afterwards Yazid b. Murthad arrived and
did obeisance. Wanddd immediately rose up and paid
homage to him. Everyone smiled, and Hérun said, “My
uncle is my own flesh and blood, while this gan is the
least of my servants. Whence that uncalled for rudeness,
and this unnecessary politeness?” Wanddd Hurmuzd an-
swered, “I did not recognize your uncle, and why should I
rise up for one whom I do not know? But this is a brave
and capable man, therefore I paid him a tribute of respect.

! Concerning this title, see Melgunof, op. cit., p. 49.
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When thou didst send him to my kingdom, he was encamped
against me for a whole year, and every morning he set his
army in battle-array in a different fashion. And I had there
(f. 44a) a knight who was his equal in courage and valour,
whom I sent out against him on the day of battle; but in
less time than it takes one to draw a sword from its stab-
bard, I saw my champion’s head fall before him. Next day
I myself went out to meet him. He struck me such a blow
with his sword as I had never before experienced. Before
such a man, though he be my enemy, I willingly rise up.”
The Caliph was pleased at his speech, and thereafter pro-
moted Ydzfd b. Murthad to high rank.

In the palace of Harinu’r-Rashid, in the house of Umm
Ja®far, there was a tame monkey, which was treated with
the utmost respect. It used to be girt with a sword and
girdle, and had assigned to its service thirty men, who
rode with it when it went forth. Everyone who came to
pay his respect at the court was required to kiss its hand
and pay hommage to it; and it was of such evil nature
that, in the words of the author:

One day Yazid b. Murthad went, after taking leave of
the Caliph, to the house of Umm Ja‘far to bid farewell to
her. They brought the ape before him and bade him kiss
its hand. He drew his sword and cut it in two, and turned
back in anger. Hirinu’r-Rashid, being informed, summoned
him and asked him what had impelled him to this action.
He replied, “O Commander of the Faithful! Shall I serve
apes after having served Caliphs? No, by God, never!’ So
the Caliph forgave him. Muslim b. al-Walid says in a
threnody which he composed on him:
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4. Khurshid the son of Ddzamihr'. A prince of Khurdsin
once came to pay his respects to him with many gifts and
offerings, and a lodging was assigned to him near the Is-
pahbad. He asked for dishes and trays whereon to arrange
the presents (f. 446). They brought from the Ispahbad’s
plate-room five hundred silver trays. The Khurdsdn{ de-
manded more. They sent to Farrukhdn’s daughter, the chief
wife of the Ispahbad, and obtained from her five hundred
more. The Ispahbad then received the presents from Khu-
rdsin on these thousand trays, and in return sent to the
prince two thousand trays filled with presents of the pro-
duce of Tabaristdn, together with 100,000 dirkams.

On another occasion a man brought to him as a present
a cup set with jewels and shaped like a cock, the two eyes
of which were formed by two large red rubies of great
value. The Ispahbad accepted it, and rewarded the donor.
Some time afterwards it was reported to him that the donor
was boasting that he had rendered to the Ispahbad an un-
paralleled service. Thereupon the latter invited five hundred
guests, including the donor of the cup, to a wine-party, and
before each of them was set a cup shaped like it, but far
better. The donor of the original cup apprehended the
rebuke, apologized, and received back his gift together with
twice its value in money.

5. The Ispahbad Pddhisbdén® He used daily to feed six
hundred man in three detachments, 200 in the morning,
200 at noon, and 200 at evening. ‘Abdu’lldh Fadlawayh
as-Sarwi had fled from Muhammed Yazid and sought refuge
with him. He made him an allowance of 200,000 dirkams
for “bread-money”, and continued it to his sons after he died.

! Melgunof, p. 50, ad cale. Coins of both these kings are extant. See,
besides the references given by Melgunof, Vol. v of the Collections Scienti-
Jfiques de IInstitut des Langues Orientales Vivantes, p. 123.

2 Melgunof, pp. 50—§1; Néldeke's Saseniden, p. 151, n. 2 ad cal.
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SAYYIDS OF THE HOUSE OF THE PROPHET WHO RULED
IN TABARISTAN.

1. Hasan b. Zayd b. Isma‘il (called Fdlibu’l-kijdra, “the
Stone-lifter”, because of his strength) b. al-Hasan b. Zayd
b. al-Hasan b. ‘Alf b. Ab{ T4lib. He was born and grew up
at al-Madfna, and was peerless in his time for courage, cunning
and determination, as is strongly emphasized by [Ibn] Tabdtabd
al-“Alaw{ in his book ‘called Ansdbu Ashrdfl-Amsdr (“Pedi-
grees of the Nobles of the Lands”). The cause of his in-
surrection and occupation of Tabaristin (f. 45a) will be
mentioned in due course. One day when he had been bled
Abv’l-‘Amr the poet of Tabaristdn (‘_gj,b )_cL;’a) came before
him and recited this verse:
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For those two couplets the poet received ten thousend

dirhams 2. )

2. Mukammad 6. Zayd ad-Dd‘t ila °l-Hagq, brother of the
above. Volumes might be filled with his praises. Sayyid
Imim-i-Mufid Abd Tilib relates that he had a learned se-
cretary called Abu’l-Qdsim al-Kdtib al-Balkh{, noted for his
eloquence and excellence, who used to say that this Prince
so far excelled all others for whom he had acted as secretary
that, to use his own expression, “I could have imagined
that it was Muhammad the Prophet of God dictating one
of his revelations.” ‘Abdv’l-“Aziz al-Ijli ®) composed in his
honour a gagsida in which occurs the following verse:

v Dhahir, p. 282,
3 See Dhakir, p. 282, where, at the beginning of the second éay, M

stands for eL:w-S{ .

3 Dkahkir, p. 296.
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and received a gift of 30,000 dirkams. When Bakr b.
‘Abdu’l-‘Aziz al-Ijli, one of the great captains of that
time, came before him at Amul, he alighted from his horse
to do him honour, and Muhammad b. Zayd presented him
with a million dirkams contained in a hundred bags, besides
weapons and other presents. Every year he used to send a
thousand ! gold dindrs to the shrines of “Alf, al-Hasan, al-
Husayn, and other illustrious members of his family; and
when the Caliph al-Mutawakkil (A.D. 847—861) destroyed
the tombs of the Imdms, he was the first who repaired them.

Anecdote.

One day he was sitting at the Pension Office (Diwdn-i-
“Atd) and distributing pay to the troops. They brought be-
fore him a certain man, of whom he enquired to what
tribe he belonged. *°‘Abdu’sh-Shams,” replied the man. *To
what family?” asked Muhammad b. Zayd. The man was
silent. “Art thou then of the children of Mu‘dwiya?” he
continued (f. 454). The man answered in the affirmative.
“By which sont” he further demanded. Again the man was
silent. “Art thou then a son of Yazid?” he asked. ¢Yes,”
answered the other. “O lad,” said the D&%, “didst thou not
perceive that thou should’st not be with the descendants
of AbiG Tdlib?” Instantly the Sayyids there present drew
their swords to slay him; but the D& cried out at them,
saying: “Musab b. az-Zubayr was one day sitting distri-
buting money when the herald announced a son of “Umar
b. Jurmiz. ‘O Amir,” they exclaimed, ‘this son of Jurmiz
is fearful and afraid because his father slew Zubayr.’ ‘He is

1 B. has “thirty thousand”.
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a man of great courage,’ replied Mus®b, ‘since he has risked
being slain in retaliation for my father’s death. Bid him
approach, and take his gift, and depart in peace.” Then he
gave him his journey-money and a horse, and sent trusty
attendants with him to ‘Irdq, lest he should be slain on
the way by the descendants of Abd T4lib, and dismissed him.”

3. Hasan b. “Alt b. Hasan b. “Ali b. “Amr b. “Ali as-Sajjdd b.
Husayn b. “Ali b. Abi Talib, with the title of an-Ndsiri’l-
Kabiy, and the kunya of Abi Muhammad. His virtue,
learning, asceticism, and piety, and the results of his gene-
rosity, are still apparent in Gilin and Daylam, where also
his way and doctrine command acceptance. His tomb, the
College and Library which he founded, and the endow-
ments bestowed by him, are still flourishing in Amul, while
his grave is accounted holy, and visited by many pilgrims.
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He had four sons, Mukammad (from whom he derived
his kunya of Abi Muhammad) who died young, ‘Al ash-
Shdir (“the Poet”), Ahmad Abi’l-Husayn, and Fa'far Abi’l-
Qdsim. Three of these left issue, and their descendants
reigned for a long while in Gilin and Daylam. The genea-
logy of each will be set forth in the (f. 46a) Kitdb-i-Ansdb.
Ahmad b. an-Ndsir was of the Imdmi sect, and of his sons
Abd Jafar Muhammad, called Sdkibu’l-Qalansuwa (“the
Wearer of the Persian hat”) dwelt in Daylaman, and Abd
Muhammad al-Hasan, called an-Nagib, in Baghdad. Of the
sons of ‘Alf as-Shd‘ir were Abud “‘Abdi’llih Muhammad al-
Utrdsh (G, bY), and Abi ‘Alf Muhammad b Ali ash-Shd‘ir,
who held a distinguished position at Baghdad. The following
verses are by him:
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He was a man of many accomplishments, and has written
much poetry, and he was for a long while in the companion-
ship of the Imdm al-Hasan b. Ali al-“Askari (the Eleventh
Imdm of the “Sect of the Twelve”, who died A.H. 260),
from whom he received instruction. Amongst his disciples
were Ibnu’l-Mahdi al-Mdmtiri and Abu’l-‘Ald as-Sarwi, of
whose accomplishments ath-Tha‘dlibi has spoken in the
Yatimatwd-Dahr '. The following is a specimen of his po-
wers of repartee:
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4. Sayyid Abuwl-Husayn al-Mi’ayyad Bi’lla/z ‘Adudu’d-
Dawla and Sayyid Abi Tdlib Yakyd an-Ndtig b7l-Hagq,
the sons of al-Husayn b. Hdrin b. al-Husayn b. Muhammad
b. al-Qasim b. al-Husayn b. Zayd b. al-Imdm as-Sibt al-
Hasan b. “Ali b. Abi Télib. It is said that not one of the
Prophet’s descendants who endeavoured by arms to claim
his rights was more richly endowed with all the qualities
requisite in an Imdm than these two brothers. Sayyid Abu
’l-Husayn carried on his propaganda in Daylamdn, and all
Gil and Daylam responded to it. His treatise on the Ex-
cellence of “Ali b. Abi Tilib is so eloquent and so well-
reasoned that it might almost be described as a miracle.
Of his other writings the best known are the Kitdbuw't-
Tajrid, the Kitdbuw’sh-Shark, the Kitdbw'l-Bulgha, the Kitd-
bw’t-Tabsira and the Kitdbi’l-Ifdda, all of which are still

t See the Damascus ed. of that work, Vol. iii, p. 278—282, where some
account is given both of al-Utrish, and of Abuw’l-Ald as-Sarwi.
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in the hands of the Imdms (f. 466) and are eagerly studied
by their disciples. The titles of his other less known works
are omitted. His poems form a bulky volume. The following
verses are his:
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His early studies were pursued in Baghdad, first with
Sayyid Abu’l-“Abbds, and then with the Qddi’l-qudét “‘Abdu’l-
Jabbdr al-Hamaddni. One night, when every one was asleep,
he came to the house of the latter and awakened him to
ask him a question on theology. “Did you come only for
this?” enquired the Qddi. “Yes,” he answered, “I thought
that I might perchance die to-night, being in doubt as to
a matter of religious doctrine.”” In his time Ibn Sukkara'
wrote the following qa.;z’a’a against the descendants of “Al{:
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Sayyid Abw’l-Husayn answered in the following verses:
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t Called al-Hishimf, a descendant of Alf b. al-Mahdi b. Abi Ja*far al-
Mansdr al-“Abbési. See de Slane’s translation of Ibn Khallikdn, Vol—tif:

pp. 115—118.
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Ibnu’l-Khayr the Ndsibf? answered this in a long gasida
containing this verse:
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The Qadi Abuw’l-Qdsim °Ali b. Muhammad at-Tandkhi,

author of the Kitdbu’l-Faraj bada ’sh-Shiddat (f. 47a) replied
to this in the folIowing poem:
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? Ndgibi is a term of reproach applied by the Shf‘ites (or Rdfidisy to their
opponents.
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When Sayyid Abu’l-Husayn had occupied Daylamin and
established himself therein, men of learning came from all
parts of the world to profit by his conversation, so that he
even sent a message to the Qddrl-quddt Abdw’l-Jabbdr
bidding him swear allegiance to him. The Hdkim al-Jaysham!
in his book entitled /&% l-Absdr relates that he died on
Sunday, the day of “Arafa [i.e. the gth of Dhu’l-Hijja], A.
H. 421 (= Dec. 8, A.D. 1030), aged seventy years and

V Or Yathim, Futhaym, Faytham, etc. See H. Kk., N°. 4133, where a
book named i/é’w’l-Absir is mentioned by Abd Sa¥d al-Hasan b. Muham-
mad al-Chashmi (or ©Foshemi”), who is perhaps identical with the author
here mentioned.
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odd, and that he was buried on the Monday, the Jdwl-
Adka (10th of Dhu’l-Hijja) in his home at Lankd, where his
tomb is still visible. His doctrine is still (f. 474) followed
by the people of that region, and the Ustunddr Kay Kd’is
and his descendants, and the people of Daylam generally.

5. Sayyid an-Nitig-b°l-Haqq Abi Tdlib Yahyd b. al-
Husayn at-T&ir bi-ta’yidilléh was ten years older than his
brother Sayyid Mu‘ayyad bi’lldh, and was famous alike for
his wisdom and his virtues. The father of these two bro-
thers was of the Imdmf sect, as were they also originally.
This Sayyid received instruction first from Sayyid Abu’l-
‘Abbds, then from the great Imdmi{ teacher Shaykh Abu
‘Abdi’lldh; and imparted it to “Abdu’l-Jabbir Qdds’l-qudat;
and amongst the Zaydis there was no more learned seeker
after truth. He taught for several years in the College in
Gurgdn, where his lectures were much frequented by the
learned. Later he went to Daylamdn, and when his brother
died, allegiance was sworn to him. When he became Imdm,
Abu’l-Faraj “Ali b. al-Husayn wrote to him:
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On his son, who died young, the Sayyid composed the
following threnody:
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Sayyid Abu ’I‘alxb Yahya was born in A.H. 340 (= A.
D. g51—2), and died in A. H. 422 (= A.D. 1031), aged
82, less than a year after his brother. Of his philosophical
works the best known are the Kitddu °t-Takrir, the Com-
mentary on the Kitdbw’l-Mujzi, and the Kitdbi’d-Dimd‘a
(f. 48a).

6. As-Sayyz'du’l-]mdmu’l-Faqilzu’l—‘A’lz'mu’l—Mutakallz'mu’sh-
Shdir al-Hasan b. Hamsza al-“Alawi. His tomb is opposite
the College of Zaynu’ sh-Sharaf. King Ardashir was induced
to repair and renovate it by Sayyid Imdm Bahd’u’d-Din al-
Hasan b. Mahdi al-Mdmtiri. He was for many years in
religious retirement at the shrine of the Imdm “Al{ b. Musd
ar-Ridd at Mash-had, in praise of which town he composed
the following gasida:
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He was commonly called Sayyid Abw’l-Qdsim; and it is
related that “the Great Ndsir” (a8 pol), that most accom-
plished and eloquent scholar, used to say, “Were it lawful
to repeat the verses of anyone in one’s prayers, it would
assuredly be the verses of Abu’l-Qdsim!”

7. As-Sayyid Shamsu Ali Rastlfliéh. He was a dervish,
skilled in the traditions, and of ascetic and devout life. His
tomb still stands outside the Gate, in the ‘Awdmma-kiy

quarter ((syS aslys sd= sjlsj0 ;). Other learned Sayyids
(? descendants of the above) contemporary with the author
were: Sayyid Dhahiru’d-Din Nassdéa of Gurgdn, whose skill
in scholastic theology and jurisprudence are recognized by
all; Sayyid Ruknu’d-Din of Sdri; and his learned and vir-
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tuous brother Sayyid Sharafu’d-Din, whose tomb is in the
College of Sayyid Imdm Khatib, opposite Mashhad-i-Sar,
and who did much to check the Zaydf and propagate the
Imdmi{ doctrines in those districts.

8. As-Sayyidi’l-Imdm Abt Télib ath-Thd’ir. He was one
of five brothers, whose grandfather was called “Husayn the
Poet” (;elidl (yow=). His brother was “the Great Nasir”,
and his father was known as Muhammad al-Firis. Ndgir-i-
Kabir’s daughter had a servant named ‘Umayr, and after
the men of Gil and Daylam had taken Tabaristin from the
Sayyids, this servant also revolted, went to Gfldn, and gave
over all his master’s property to be plundered. The men of
"Gildn rallied round him and forsook the Sayyid, who ex-
pressed his feelings in the following verses:

©> - 0 e - U 6 o~ ~ o 23 ¢E . — -
”ﬁ‘iw W A d)j“ O A r_frni o 3 2

o O - * S0 0
. .

b T Gl B e 2 B

RULERS OF THE HOUSE OF BAWAND.

This section opens with a glowing panegyric on this
noble family, whose court is described, in very florid lan-
guage, as an ever-open refuge to the distressed and -the
unfortunate.

1. The Ispahbad “Al€wd-Dawla “Ali b. Shahriydr b. Qdrin.
His virtues, his doughty deeds, and how he secured the
kingdom to himself in spite of jealous brothers and kinsmen
will be mentioned subsequently. Amongst those who took
refuge at his court were the following. Shkirzdd', son of
Sultdin Mas‘d (III) of Ghazna, who for a while shared the
throne of Ghazna with Bahrdmshdh (his brother). When
he expressed a desire to perform the Pilgrimage to Mecca,

t See Lane-Poole’s Mukammadan Dynasties, pp. 289 and 290. He reigned
A.H. 508—509 (= A.D. 1114—1115).



59

the /spahbad arranged his journey and supplied all that he
needed day by day at every stage. After his return he
was enabled to proceed once more to Ghazna.

Sultin Mas*id b. Muhammad the Seljig, nephew of Sinjar,
twice took refuge with the /spakbad; first, when the Caliph
[al-Mustarshid] was assassinated [A.H. 529 = A.D. 1135]
he came thither with his son; secondly, when he quarrelled
with Tughril, he brought his women-folk thither, and placed

them in the hamlet of Aram (I')T) in the palace of the /s-
pakbad’s son Shah-i-Ghiz{ Rustam, while he himself received
help to enable him to return to ‘Iriq.

When Muhammad b. Malikshdh died, all his sons took
the oath of allegiance to Mahmid, and when he died they
fell to fighting with one another, and Tughril, being de-
feated, fled to his [the Zspakbad's] house. At the Pass
(Darband) of Kilfs he was stopped by “Alf b. Zarrin-Kamar,
and his two brothers Muhammad and Abud Shuji. He told
then that he was flying from pursuing foes, but they told
him that without the King’s permission he could not ad-
vance. When news of this was sent to Shdh-i-Ghazi Rustam,
he at once rode out as far as the village of Magstra, brought
in Tughril, and sent him to Sdri to his father the Ispakbad.

Khwiarazmshdh-i-Safd Muhammad had four sons, who, on
his death, fell to quarrelling, and two of them fled to the
Ispahbad, who heaped such favours upon them that men
still talk of his bounty.

The Amir “Abdi’r-Rapmdn Tugha-Turk (e));;Lﬂo) the Atdbek
came to his court from Ardabil with a number of his re-
tainers, and was hospitably entertained and then sent back
along the coast to his kingdom. ‘Imdd{ the poet, who was
the panegyrist of this Atdbek, speaks of him as follows:

OO ik sppm wni® 51 TOOhE £ S 2 Oue

1 MS. APy which must, I think, be wrong.
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The Amir of Hilla, the son of Sadaga “King of the
Arabs”, one of the most puissant, noble, generous and high-
minded princes of the world, accompanied by 200 of his
mounted retainers, took refuge with the /spakbad, who on
the first day of his arrival sent him a present consisting of
200 caparisoned horses, 300 coats and caps (35, L&), 100
girdles, swords, coats of mail, helmets, and suits of horse-
armour, and 10,000 gold dindrs. On another occasion Ba-
raka (a5 h the brother of the above-mentioned Amir, came
to beg the Ispakbad to intercede for him with the Caliph,
whom he had offended. The Ispakbad did so, obtained for
him a written pardon and assurance of safety, and supplied
him with money and other necessaries to take him back to
his kingdom.

When Qatfrmish ( jwsx%) rebelled against the Sultin, he
confided his brothers, children and women-folk to the /7s-
pakbad’s care; they received from him the utmost kindness
and attention, and, when it was safe, were sent back to
their home.

2. The Ispahbad Nusratwd-Din Rustam, son of the above.
He was, according to the author, the greatest ruler of Ta-
baristdn since the time of Feridin and Mindchihr, and the
greatest possessor of treasures since Khusraw Parwiz. His
power extended from Jdjarm, Gurgdn, Bistim and Ddmghdn
to Muqan. He was the first of this House to sit on a
throne at his receptions. Even in the author’s time there
remained forty castles filled with the gold and jewels and
other precious things which he had amassed. When Kay-
kd’us Ustunddr, with the approval of his chief judge, revolted
against him, he marched to Riydn to meet him, devastating
and setting fire to the whole country. On this the Ispahbad
Khurshid b. Abw’l-Qdsim Mdmtiri composed the following
verses in the dialect of Tabaristan !:

1 Variants: B. w3 before )4:905; C. oy for yZewe; B. L_; ROSH
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After the death of Sinjar, his nephew Sulaymdn Shih
fled from Mahmid Khdn, the successor of Sinjar and his
sister’s son, and took refuge with the Ispahbad Rustam
while he made preparations for attempting to recover “Irdq.
During the two months that he spent there, he and his
followers were entertained daily at tables set in the Mayddn-
i-Tdpdn, till he had collected 20,000 man of Gildn, Daylamin
and other parts of Tabaristin. The Ispakbad further sup-
plied him with the necessary arms, stores and munitions of
war, brought him to Ray, and set him on the throne. The
amirs of ‘Irdq and Adharbayjin gathered round him, and
Ray and Sdwa were surrendered to the /spakbad. When
Sultdin Mahmid Khdn learned his absence from Tabaristdn,
he marched thither with all Sinjar’s amirs. In two days
the Ispahbad hastened thither from Ray, and encamped at
the hamlet of Kuisdn at the foot of the Castle of Ab-Dara;
and one night gave permission to king Qdrin (O)B'ul.&o‘.,'g)
to attack the Turks with 400 ghuldms and 500 men of Bd-
wand. These penetrated to Sultdn Mahmud’s quarters, in-
flicting considerable losses on the Seljiq troops. Next day
Mahmudd sent his kinsman Mu’ayyid Ayi Aba to attack and
plunder Sari. The Ispakhbad sent his son Hasan Sharafu’l-
Mulik by way of Ldkash-i-Mihrawdn to lie in ambush for
the raiders, who fell into the ambush. A thousand Turks,
including a kinsman of Sultdn Mahmud, were taken captive,
while Mu’ayyid, with a few followers, succeeded in effecting

A. om. [iaS]; C. SAep; B CT:?’)”; A. om. [w;j,B. substitutes ¥;
C. )Lo for )L"- :
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his escape. The JIspakbad treated the prisoners kindly,
bestowed on them robes of honour, and sent them to
Mahmid Khdn with the following message: “Our people
are independent house-holders, and what they do is done
without our sanction.” Mahmid than sent one of his chief
nobles, “Aziz-i-Tughrd’f, to the Ispahbad, and it was agreed
that in consideration of the sum of 20,000 dindrs the Sultdn
should withdraw to Gurgdn, and that the Ispahbad should
pay over this sum to the tithe-collectors (mufassildn). When
Mahmud had retired to Gurgdn, the Ispahbad drove away
the collectors, bidding them say to their master, “We gave
up the money for [fear of] their maces”

Caold e g3 o EWR & ol 5 Qsp

The trouble which at this juncture broke out in Khurdsdn
prevented Sultin Mahmid from taking any further steps;
and he was nick-named in Tabaristdn “Mahmuid the Wheat-
crusher” (gandum-kib), because his soldiers, finding no bread,
used to cut and crush the ears of wheat which they found,
and eat them.

Rashidu’d-Din Watwit, the Court-poet and secretary of
Atsiz Khwdrazm-shdh, composed many gasidas in praise of
the Ispahbad, who in return used each year to send him
500 dindrs, a turban and coat (juédba), and a fully caparisoned
horse. He composed the following gagéida on the occasion
when the Ispahbad went to Ray and seated Sulaymdn
Shih on the throne:
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On another occasion, when the Ispahbad went to Ray,

set his own governor over it, and held it for a year and a
half, Rashid-i-Watwdt composed and sent to him the following

poem:
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The following verses are from a gagsida which the same

poet composed in honour of the Ispahbad when he took
the Castles of Mihrin and Man®ir-kih (55 ,yeis) from the

Assassins:
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The author says that, through many Arabic-writing poets
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have praised the House of Biwand, he has only cited Ra-
shid-i-Watwidt because he was the greatest and most famous
of their panegyrists, and because his own eulogies would be
discounted by reason of his connection with the Dynasty,
and the country over which it ruled.

One of the customs of the Ispahbad Rustam was that at
the close of a wine-bout he would give permission to his
boon-companions to take what they liked from his treasury.
On one such occasion his kinsman the Amir Sibiqu’d-Dawla
‘Ali Gilkhwdrdn, ‘Alf Rid4 the chamberlain (s Ja») and
his sons, As‘adu’d-Din Husayn “the madman” (diwdna), the
Nidhdim Muhammad and the Qiwdm Fardmarz went together,
when they rose up from drinking, to the treasury, but found
that all the money and jewels and most precious things
had been already taken, and that only some bundles (525,
of silk were left. So each of them took three bundles of
silk on their backs and twisted the contents of another
round their feet. Being thus heavily laden, certain wits
likened them to asses carrying bales of merchandise, and
Bdrbad-i-Jaridf, the Tabari poet, extemporized the following
couplet over them in the dialect of Tabaristin:

o K i B R e ol o s S 0

Another of the Ispahbad’s customs was that he would
not suffer poets to recite his praises in his presence, saying,
“They falsely ascribe to me deeds which I never performed,
and thereby I am put to shame.” At length a poet named
Mudhaffari came from Khurdsin and said, “I will praise

b

you for deeds that you have done,” and he than recited a

poem beginning:

R e e il s i e E ™
For each couplet he was rewarded with ten gold dindrs,
and he also received a horse, a coat (L3) and a hat (M),

5
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3. The Ispahbad Tdjwl-Mulik “Ali b. Marddwij.

He was sent by his father to Merv in the reign of Sin-
jar, who gave him his sister in marriage, and held him so
dear that he would not go forth from his palace until he
had first seen him. On his father’s death, he was made
ruler of the Castle of Jahina and the country round about
Tammisha (aisei ys5a). On the death of Sinjar, Sulaymdn
Shdh, who succeeded to the Seljiq throne, first took refuge
with him.

Marddw(j was one of the hardest and most expert riders
ever seen. He would sometimes, on mounting, put a gold
coin between each foot and the stirrup and gallop till mid-
day without letting either slip out. One day when he and
Sulaymdn Shih were encamped together at Gulpdyagan,
there was a wager between them, the former betting a
certain Arab horse, 4000 royal dJindrs, and 100 silken
garments, etc., against a favourite slave belonging to the
latter. Marddwij won the wager, but at once sent back the
slave-boy mounted on the Arab horse fully caparisoned,
and accompanied by two other slaves. The great poet An-
warf composed in his praise, besides other poems, the
gasida beginning:

In the service of Sultin Masd the Seljiq was a certain
champion called Sdbiq of Qazwin, whose fame had spread
throughout ‘Irdq, Arabia and Khurdsin. Him the Ispahbad
induced to enter his service, giving him Bistdm, Dimghdn
and Jdjarm in order that he might combat the Assassins.
This Sdbiq was very prodigal, and on one occasion he
wrote to the Ispahbad complaining that he lacked money
to pay his troops. The Ispahbad turned to his nobles and
said, “He is an ocean (in munifence): what adequate gift
can one confer on the ocean? Let 20,000 dindrs be now
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sent to him, and let an order be written that henceforth
all that he can conquer in those regions shall be his, together
with the fief-holds there.”

4. The Ispahbad “Ald“vWd-Dawla Hasan 6. Rustam b. “Ali.

He also was a man whose generosity and statesmanship
“had transcended perfection by several parasangs.” His only
fault was that he was too impetuous and self-confident, which
qualities brought disaster both on him and his subjects. Yet:

ETR v U g4

When Tl-Arslin Khwarazmshdh died (A. H. 568 — A.D.
1172), and his son Tukush wrested the throne of Khwdrazm
from his brother Sultin Shiah Mahmud, the latter with his
mother took refuge with the Ispahbad, who came to Tam-
misha to meet them, and sent forward his governors and
officers from Gildn and the districts of Ray with presents,
while in the plain of Ganjina, as far as Ispid Daristdn, for
a distance of a parasang, he caused such a feast to be spread
as no man ever saw before or since.

5. The Ispakbad Husémi’d-Dawla wa'd-Din Ardashir b.
Husayn'. He reigned for 35 years over Tabaristin. — Eu-
logy of his virtues and talents.

After the death of the Atibek Muhammad b. Tlduguz,
Sultdn Tughril (II) b. Arsldn, in consequence of a dispute
which arose between him and his brother Qizil Arsldn,
wrote from ‘Irdq:
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The Ispahbad, in response to this appeal, being encamped
at Dih-i-Fulil in Ldrijdn, sent out his amérs and nobles to

! Lower, “Hasan", which seems to be correct.

2 A.B. &,:)A
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Ray to meet the Seljiq king, and himself went forward to
Ldr, where, on meeting him, he alighted from his horse,
brought his royal guest to Fuldl, and there enthroned and
entertained him royally. Qizil Arsldn, hearing of this, sent
Izzu’d-Din Yahy4 to Ardashir to persuade him, by reminding
him of the favours which he had formerly received from
his father and brother, to arrest and bind Tughril and sur-
render him to his antagonist, promising the Ispahbad in
return for this service the rule of Ray, Sdwa, Qum, Kdshdn
and Qazwin, and full authority over Irdq and Adharbayjan.
The Ispahbad indignantly rejected the proposal that he
should betray his guest, and after a while sent Tughril to
Dimghdn and Bistdm, bidding his officers there supply all
his needs day by day until he reached his capital.

In A.H. 579 (= A.D. 1183—4) an ambassador named
Khujand (¢), with two companions, came from the Maharija
of India to the Ispahbad, stating that an “Alawi of the
Imadmi (Shf‘ite) sect had come to that country to endeavour
to persuade men to his views, and had prevailed in argument
against their doctors; whereupon the Maharija had despatched
a letter to “the just and upright king in Tabaristdn, who
is descended from the Kisrds (House of Sdsdn), and who
holds this doctrine” with an embassy of 40 persons, of
whom 38 had perished on the way. At the command of
the Ispahbad, the answer to this letter was written at great
length by Sayyid Bah#’w’d-Din al-Hasan b. al-Mahdi al-
Mdmtiri, who was living at this time. A long extract from
this letter, written in very florid Arabic, and celebrating
the praises of Tabaristdn and its ruler Ardashir, here fol-
lows. Indeed it seems to have been not so much a letter
as a tract, bearing the formal title Risdlat’l-Hunid fi
yjdbati da"wa dhawi ’l-°Anid (“the Epistle to the Indians in
reply to the pretensions of the obdurate”).

On one occasion Nuru’d-Din Sabbigh came to the Ispah-
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bad as an ambassador from Tukush b. Tl-Arsldn at Dawlat-
4bid near Sdri, (f. 565) and there he caused a pulpit to
be erected and preached a sermon, concluding with the
following verse:
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Indeed, says the author, there was never a more law-
abiding (;-:uu‘f) king than he. His capital was at Sari,
where dwelt his ministers, and where was situated their
diwdn, called the Diwdn-i-Wagl. Every year he used to
disburse in pensions more than 100,000 gold dindrs, and
every Friday, wherever he might be, he used to give 100
dindrs out of the palace treasury to the Minister of Justice
(SO )*n’), who used then to go to the public square
(mayddn) and distribute the money amongst the most de-
serving persons whom he found waiting there. Sayyids,
men of learning, poets and literary men used to flock to
his court with books, poems and prayers which they desired
to lay before him; and amongst the most distinguished men
who were his pensioners were Sayyid ‘Izzu’d-Din Yahyid,
the judges (sLw3) of Ray, and the Shaykhw’l-Islim Ruknu’d-Din
Jl=w (?), each of whom used to receive 700 dindrs, a fully
caparisoned horse, a turban and a cloak (jubba), Khwéja Imam
Faqih-i-Al-i-Muhammad Abu’l-Fadl Rdwandi, Sayyid Murtadd
Kdshdni, Afdalu’d-Din Mdhabdd{, the judges of Isfahdn, the
family of the poet Shafarwuh, and all the Sayyids of Qaz-
win, Abhar and the districts round Kharagdn. From Egypt,
Syria and Arabia also two or three thousand ‘Alawis used
to come yearly to pass the winter in Tabaristin, where
they received free entertainment, clothes and money for
their expenses. When the Ispahbad rode out, these ‘Alawfs
marched beside him in ranks, and whatever boon any one
of them craved was granted to him, the Ispahbad saying,
“In all the world these have no other door than this court;
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give them therefore what they need.” On one occasion he
gave a sum of 29,000 dindrs of Amul from his treasury to
enable poor ‘Alawis of both sexes to marry. Every year
at the season of the Pilgrimage, also, he used to disburse
the following sums:

For ‘“water-money” (Jwww ), 4000 dindrs; and his
standard was carried side by side with that of the Caliph,
while the standards of all the other kings and rulers of the
time followed behind.

For the Amiri’l-Hajj, or Leader of the Pilgrimage, 2000
dindrs and a fully caparisoned horse, in substitution for the
tax which they used to levy on the pilgrims; and a herald
used to proclaim. “All the pilgrims are the freed men of
the King of Mdzandardn.”

For the Shrine (maskkad) of Sdmarra, or Surrva man ra’a,
500 dindrs.

For the Shrine of ‘Abdw’l-‘Adhim in Ray, 200 dindrs.

For the Graves of Quraysh, 300 dindrs.

For the Shrines of the sons of the Imdm Hasan at Ma-
d&’in, 200 dindrs .

For the Shrine of “Ali b. Abi T4ilib, 2000 dindrs.

For the Shrine of Salmén the Persian at al-Mad#’in, 150
dindrs.

For the Shrine of Imdm Husayn at Kerbeld, 6000 dindrs.

For the Shrine of Abu’l-Hasan “Ali b. Msa al-B4qir (sic),
1000 dindrs 2.

For the Amirs of Mecca, 200 dindrs for turbans and
cloaks.

For the Shrine of the Kaba and the water-carriers
(L s S ;sa.u'), 1000 dindrs.

For the pigeons of Mecca, the produce of a village, mill
and hot bath.

t Inserted in B. 2 Omitted in B.
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For the poor of Mecca, 5 bales (%5,) of silk.
For al-Madina, 3000 dindrs.

For the Shrines of the Imims buried at al-Baqi®, 1000
dindrs.

For the poor of al-Madina, the value of 5 bales (2a3,)
of silk. These bales were sold in Baghdad, and the money
thus obtained was spent on linen (ubyS), which was divided
amongst the poor.

The most eminent of contemporary poets, Dhahiru’d-Din
Fdrydbi, has many gasidas in praise of this Ispahbad,
amongst them the following:
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After the poet had been for some time at the Ispahbad’s
court, and. had received at his hands many favours, he

asked and received permission to visit the Atdbek Qizil
Arsldn, son of the Atdbek Tlduguz, who was at that time
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in possession of ‘Irdq and Adharbayjin. There he composed
a gasida in which occurred the following verse:
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(f. 58a) Some of the servants of the Ispahbad Ardashir were
present when this poem was recited before Qizil Arslin, and
they sent a copy of it to their master, who thereupon sent
the poet 100 dindrs, a fully caparisoned horse, a necklace,
a cap and a coat.

NOBLES AND NOTABLES OF TABARISTAN.

1. ‘Abdw’lléh al-Husayn b. Sakl, known as Tdji Duwayr

G-

(90 L spalh). His yearly income was 200,000 dindrs.
One night at Amul some of the courtiers and boon-com-
panions of the Ispahbad came to visit him, and he bestowed
on them 500 silken garments, and wrote them a cheque for
20,000 dindrs:
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One day his master the Ispahbad Pidhisbdn went out
hunting, and was beset by a number of petitioners (UL[E:J;A),
of whom he asked, “whom do ye seek?” Being answered that
they sought the Ispahbad in order to lay their needs before
him, he said: “If ye seek the Ispahbad who is king and ruler,
and who has wealth, servants, retinue, pomp, glory and a merry
life (Usy> (fae), then it is Tdji Duwayr at Amul; but if
you seek that one who night and day is with his falcons,
his cheetahs and his dogs, then it is 1.”

2. Abi Ishdq Ibrdkim 6. al-Marzubdn constructed, out of
his own income, most of the roads and bridges of Tabaristdin
and Ruydn.

3. Muhammad 6. Misié 6. Hafs. The daily expenditure
of his kitchen at Amul was 1000 dindrs, and at his own
charges he sent 1000 pilgrims to Mecca, whom he fed so
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delicately during the journey thither that in the middle of
the desert they had fresh fish and cress from Tabaristan
to eat.

4. Abi Sddig Hérim b. “Ali al-Amuli visited Mecca in
this same fashion.

5. “Ali b. Hishdm al-z?fmuli visited Mecca in this same
way in the days of “Abdw’llah al-Ma’min, and every day
in the desert heralds proclaimed, “Come to the banquet of
the Amir!” And at his table men of note and persons of
no consequence alike sat down as his guests. Al-Ma’min
ordered that no one in Baghdad should sell him fire-wood
or cress, but he brought paper to burn instead of fire-wood,
and in place of cress he garnished his table with green silk
torn up into shreds.

6. Sakl b. al-Marzubdn possessed Larijdn. He constructed a
road through country which before his time was impracticable
both in summer and winter, by cutting and tunnelling the
mountains, making bridges, and building rest-houses; and made
this road the best and safest.

LEARNED MAN OF TABARISTAN.

1. Muhammad b. Farir dt-Tabari, the celebrated author
of the great History, the great Commentary, the Dhaylil-
Mudhayyal', and other works. All men of learning agree
that no nation has produced so great a scholar as him. It
is said that 400 riding-camels might daily be seen waiting
at the gate of his house in Baghdad, belonging to sons of
the caliphs, kings, ministers and amirs, besides some 30
mules, each watched by an Abyssinian groom, the owners
of all these having come thither to glean what they could
from Tabari’s incomparable learning.

1 See the Introduction to de Goeje’s monumental edition of Tabar(’s Azn-

nals, pp. xiii—xv. It is called here in our MS. M’, &—iv\” u..ab'i{.



75

2. Imdm-i-shakhid (“the Martyr”) Fakhri’l-Isldm “Abdu’l-
Wahid b. Isma‘tl Abi’l-Mahdsin, who is called “the second
Shifif”, and for whom the Nidhdmu’l-Mulk built a college
at Amul which still flourished in the author’s time. Of him

Abu’l-Ma%li of Juwayn said: ywls® slf udd ,f. He was
the author of many works on Jurisprudence, the Ascetic
Life, and other religious subjects, of which more than 40
volumes are in general circulation. His acuteness and dis-
cernment are illustrated by the following story, which also
explains how it happened that he incurred the resentment

of the Assassins (nedw so=>34) and perished by the daggers
of their fidd’is:
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! Qurian, iv, 156.
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3. The Qddil-quddt Abi’l-“Abbds ar-Riydni. He was Chief
Judge in the time of Shamsu’l-Ma‘4li Qdbis (A. H. 366—403
= A.D. g76—1012), and his descendants still exercise
judicial functions in Tabaristin. Many anecdotes are told
of him, of which the one here outlined is included amongst
the stories printed at the end of Forbes’ Persian Grammar
(London, 1869, pp. ¥a—", Story Lxxi).

RELIGIOUS LEADERS (IMAMS) OF TABARISTAN.

1. Ion Mahdi Mdmtiri. His grave at Mamtir had been
visited by the author.

2. Mukammad al-Yazdddi. His writings are so well known
as to need no mention.

3. lén Firak, the preacher of the Masjid-i-sdldr at Amul.
The pulpit which still stands there by the mikrdé was
erected for him. “I have heard,” says the author, “from my
master Ibréhim b. Muhammad Ndsihf, that the Sdhib [Isma‘il
b.] “Abbdd, prompted by fanaticism, arrested and imprisoned
him in a darkened house at Ray. Abu Ishiq of Isfard’in
the scholastic philosopher (mutakallim) used at this time to
go to the Sdhib and hold discussions with him every day.
One day while they were thus engaged in a garden, the
discussion turned on the ‘creation of actions’ (¥l (ils).

The S$Sihib stretched out his hand, picked an apple from a
tree, and said, ‘Is not this my act? (f. 59) ‘If it be thine act,’
replied Abu Ishdq, ‘restore it to the same place.” The Sdhib,
unable to reply to this, said, ‘Ask thy boon.” ‘My boon,’
said the other, ‘is [Ibn] Furak.” The $Sihib immediately
ordered his release; whereupon he came to Amul.”” There



77

he remained till the end of his life, and then the Sildr
built for him the Mosque still known as the Sdlir’s Mosque.
While in prison Ibn Fiurak composed two books on Scho-
lastic Philosophy (N pke). He is buried in the quarter of

‘Ali Kaldwa (sM5 Je alsi) abové the Dome of the Cross-
roads (sl gz S Wb )

4. The Qddil-qudit Abiwl-Qdsim al-Bayyd‘i. He was re-
markable for his knowledge in Jurisprudence, Scholastic
Philosophy, Poetry, Epistolary style and Philosophy. He
wrote, both in prose and verse, in Arabic, Persian and the
dialect of Tabaristdn.

5. The Great Master Abu’l-Faraj ‘Ali b. al-Husayn 6.
Hindi'. Though his ancestors came from Qum, he himself
was born and brought up in Tabaristin. His grave “is at
Astardbid, in a house which was his property. Of him al-
Bdkharzi says:

of B SIS 8 Jeaidt K
The following are the best-known and most widely read

of his works:
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Besides these he has written much on Philosophy, Medi-
cine and Philology, and his collected poems amount to
15,000 couplets, or even more, “pure as limpid water and

like unto lawful magic.” His Arabic treatises form five vo-

lumes in his writing.
ol (o by almic aiph Juo il T (ol piie S s
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t He died, according to A. KA., in A.H. 410 or 420 (A. D, 1019 or 1029).
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6. The Imdim “Abduw’l-Qddiy al-Furjdni, concerning whom
al-Bakharz{ says:.
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His grammatical works include the Fwmal and its com-
mentary, the commentary on the Iz';'d[z-i-cAz_z'udi , and the
Talkhis. Some of his poems are cited in the Dumya [ti’l-
Qasr of al-Bikharzi].

7. Abi Sa‘id Mudhaffar b. Ibrdhim. He was a learned
jurisconsult, and was for some time attached to the Sahib
[(Ismafl] b. “Abbdd, after whose death he sought the patron-
age of Abu Tdlib Hardn ath-Th#’ir al-‘Alawi, who bestowed
on him ample favours, and dismissed him to his home, but
he was unfortunately drowned in the Caspian Sea while
crossing to Aba.sgt’m These verses are his:
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Al-Bikharzi gives an account of him in the Dumyatu /-
Qasr, and cites these verses which occur in a gasida com-
posed by him in praise of Qdbis:
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Mention is also made of his son Abu’l-Majd and his bro-
ther Abu’l-Faraj al-Mudhaffar b. Isma‘il, the jurisconsult,
traditionist, anchorite and man of letters.

8. “Adi b. “Abdilldh; 9. Abi Sa‘d as-Saydaldni; 10. Abi
Hanifa Muhammad b. Muhammad al-Astardbddi Bdri*-i-
Furjdni
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11. Abw’l-*Alé al-Mikrawdni, lawyer, mathematician, poet,
jurisconsult, etc.

12. Muhammad b. Farir b. Rustam as-Sarwi, jurisconsult,
philosopher, traditionist, etc. He was a fervent Shi‘ite, and
was for a long while in attendance on the Eighth Imdm,
‘Ali b. Misd ar-Ridd. His most famous works are the Ki-
tdbw’l-Mustarshid and the Kitdbu ‘Khudhw’n-na®l (“Book of
‘Pluck off thy shoes’”).

13. Khwdja Imdm ‘Imdd Kujaj’, called Fagih-i-Al-i-
Mupammad, a learned, pious and ascetic man. The Amir
Ibn Darrdim?® detained him for a couple of years at Hilla.
The people of Baghdad and Kifa and the Shi‘ites of Arabia
sought him out to profit by his learning, and subscribed
yearly a sum of 1000 dindrs for his maintenance. Ibn Dar-
ram * married his daughter, and one of their descendants
was living at Hilla in the time of the author (who had
visited ‘him), and enjoyed the favour of the reigning Caliph
an-Ndsir li-din’lldh (A.H. 575—622 = A.D. 1180—1225),
by reason of his learning, virtue and nobility.

! The last hemistich is wanting in all the manuscripts.
2 This name occurs as 6\5‘( in A, z\s( in B, and z\s( in C. It also

occurs in Dawlatshéh, pp. 310—316 of my edition.
3 Or Warrém.
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WRITERS AND SCRIBES OF TABARISTAN.

1. “Ali b. Zayn was noted for his originality and elo-
quence. Amongst his works are the Firdawsw’l-Hikmat and
the Bajri’l-Fawdid. He was originally secretary to Mdzydr
(put to death A.H. 226 = A.D. 840—1), and afterwards
of the Caliph al-Mu‘tasim (d. A.H. 227 = A.D. 842).

2. “Abdw’lidh, known as lbni’¢-Tabari, came to Sdmarra
in great poverty in the Caliphate of al-Mutawakkil (A. H.
232—247 = A.D. 847—861), and, when in such dire straits
that he had to sell most of his clothing for food, was for-
tunate enough to attract the notice of the Caliph’s son al-
Mu’ayyad bi’lldh, and so attained to affluence and wealth.

(f. 614) SAINTS AND ANCHORITES.

1. Shaykh Abw’l-“Abbds Qassdd (“the Butcher”), whose fame
still endures, and whose tomb is still frequented.

2. Shaykh Abi Fa'far al-Handti. In his shrine is preserved
a Qur'dn said to have been written by ‘Alf’s son Muham-
mad called /énu’l- Hanafiyya, which has such virtue that any
person daring to swear falsely on it dies miserably within
the year.

3. Shaykh-i-Zdhid. His tomb is in the quarter called °Ali-
dbdd, by the Gate of Zinddna-kdy. Anyone who drinks
wine in this quarter and passes by his shrine inevitably

becomes an outcast from that quarter. (J=* OT Shoalst Y

Setl u)f;ﬁ.

4. Shaykh Abi Turdb. His tomb is still visible by the
Gate of the Mosque in the quarter of Darlabash (L,':.,J)o ;I.su-_).

5. Skaykh Abie Na‘im.

6. Qutb-i-Chdllesi. Sultan Sinjar wore his mantle (£kirga)
and visited his retreat, which still exists. Sinjar’s minister
Nasfre’d-Din Mubammad Bé Tawba hated and persecuted
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him, and was always trying to persuade his master that he
was a hypocrite and impostor. One day at Bistim they
brought the saint a melon. He laid his finger on it, saying,
“We have killed Muhammad-z-4- Tawbda (‘the Unrepentant’);”
and it so happened that at that very moment the minister
was put to death by Sinjar at Merv.

7. Qddi Hishdm. His tomb is close to that of Shams-i-
Al-i-Muhammad in the quarter of “Awdmma-kiy. The fol-
lowing extraordinary gasida ', written in a mixture of Arabic
and Persian, satirizing one of his contemporaries, is by him:
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V This gagida affords an excellent specimen of Persian macaronic verse, of
which the most ancient European specimen is, I believe, the Opus Merlini
Cocaii poetae Macaronicorum, first printed at Venice about 1521.

2 Variants in this line are: A.B. amx>; C. (yig3 w)ﬁ:,? 0= sam>;
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SAGES AND PHILOSOPHERS OF TABARISTAN.

1. Busurjmihr, the celebrated Prime Minister of Nushir-
win “the Just”, concerning whom Firdawsi relates many
anecdotes, as how he read the writing after he had become
blind. On the conquest of Persia by the Arabs, and the
fall of the Sdsinian dynasty, he fled to Tabaristin. When
asked, “Why did the kingdom of the House of Sdsin fall
when it contained such a man as thee?” he replied:

F b & ¥ B S 8 S sloh filetad 853

“Because they sought the help of small men in great mat-
ters, and so affairs came to what they did.” One day they
said to him “Come, let us discuss Fate and Predestination.”

1B. 30, C. . 2 B, slals. 3B, yeths C.oold> s
fas
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He answered, “What have I to do with such a discussion?
I behold an external appearance whence I deduce the un-
derlying reality: I see fools prosperous and wise men in
want, and I know that the ordering of results is not in
man’s hands.” A number of similar wise sayings of his are
reported, including the following: “Man is troubled at the
waning of his wealth, but not at the waning of his life.”
2. The Ispahbad Marzubdn 6. Rustam b. Shirwin Parim
(52); who wrote the book called Marzubdn-ndma, which
our author prefers to that of Kalila and Dimna', and also
a Diwdn of poetry in the Tabar{ dialect, known as the
Niki-ndma. In the same dialect Ibrdhim MuSini says:

JRCESE S VR JRVCA SPTEIIC. TR ST DRSS g e
Pl ol el e o

PHYSICIANS AND POETS OF TABARISTAN.

1. Abi’l-Faraj Rashid b. “Abdu’lléh, the physician of
Astargbad, flourished in the time of Qdbuds Shamsu’l-Ma®4l{
(A.H. 366—403 = A.D. g76—1012), and was peerless in
his time, not only in medical science, but in eloquence and
skill both in prose and verse. He is mentioned in the
Dumyati’l-Qasr of al-Bikharzi.

2. Sayyid Abwl-Fadl Ismail b. Muhammad al-Misawi of
Jurjédn, the author of the well-known medical Encyclopzdia
entitled Dhakhiva-i-Khwdrazmshihi, the Kitdb-i-Yddigdr, the
Kitibuw’l-Aghrdd, the Kitdb-i-Tibb-i-*Al#% and the translation
of Avicenna’s Qdnin.

1 See the Notice sur le Merzban Namek in Vol. ii of Schefer's Chresto-
mathie Persane (Paris, 1885), pp. 194—211, and pp. M—1A of the texts in
the same volume.

1A o

3 B. omits this line, which in C. is preceded by a blank space. C. P
crail.
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[ASTRONOMERS OF TABARISTAN.]!

1. Gushydr b. Lisdn al-Fili.

2. Awhadwd-Dahr ad-Ddnishi, who compiled a complete
set of astronomical tables (J29).

3. Bizist 6. Firtizdn, whose name al-Ma’miin arabicized
into Yahya b. Mansir, and who compiled the Zij-i-Ma’ mini >,

4. Ustdd °Ali Piriza, the panegyrist of “Adudu’d Dawla
Shahinshih Fandkhusraw. Hamaddn is said to have been
given to him in fief. The following verse in the Tabari dia-
lect is by him:

Popt LS ot oyl s e O e

One day both he and Mutanabbi were visiting ‘Adudu’d-
Dawla. He was bidden to sit down, while Mutanabbi was
left standing. Mutanabbi, vexed at this, spoke scornfully
of this “speechless (i.e. barbarous) poet”, but when the
meaning of some of his verses was explained to him by
‘Adudu’d-Dawla, he admitted their excellence, saying, “ Honour
is due to the meaning, which is, as it were, the spirit of
speech, not to the language [in which it is expressed)],
which is but as its material body.”

5. Diwdrwaz Mastamard (Sp0 sima o );;[,_w) The follow-
ing account is given of the manner in which this poet ob-
tained these titles. He came from Tabaristin to Baghdad
to visit the Shahinshih ‘Adudu’d-Dawla, and (according to
the proverb* st I s sa#8)) sought the assistance of

his compatriot “Alf Pirdza, who, however, fearful lest his

1 As some poets are included in this section also, it would appear that no
separate heading is required here, but that we should add “Astronomers”
after “Physicians” in the last heading.

2 B. here inserts the heading “Poets of Tabaristdn™.

3 C. O)D for 3)70, s> for ( &y, and ys53 for U’)*j'
4 Equivalent to “Birds of a feather flock together”.
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eloquence and wit might make him a dangerous rival in
that prince’s favour, made excuses for delay, hoping that
the new-comer would weary of waiting and return home.
After a while, however, Diwdrwaz formed some idea of the
truth; and, when ‘Adudu’d-Dawla was one day drinking in
a garden with some of his friends, he climbed over the
wall and approached him. Some of the attendants, thinking
him to be a robber or assassin, rushed upon him with
blows and cuffs. °Adudu’d-Dawla, hearing his cries, caused
him to be brought before him and questioned him, where-
upon he told his story, and how C°Ali Piriza had treated
him, after which he recited a g¢asida which he had com-
posed. “‘Adudu’d-Dawla, charmed with its grace and sweet-
ness, expressed a doubt as to whether he was really its
author, and, to prove him, bade him extemporize some
verses on a singing-girl clad in blue silk who happened to
be near. Thereupon he recited the following verses in the
Tabari dialect:

S 5 N C PP SO U W
foi s g o e B e b

s S 30 e (e
o=y 5 (emmwlo (54 (o>

oM = o= b S S
G N NP BV S WP S

‘Adudv’d-Dawla was delighted, and gave him gifts, and
caused his name to be inscribed in the register of his poets,
and he received the title of Diwdrwaz.

1 C, sk and r._pb; B. 50, 2 B. 0; 0}(—" %3 and Om-‘[bli

Ewmslos C. UT‘T)"' 3 B,y 555 C. (&9 or & and Agd oyl
ofi B saaglis.
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After the death of ‘Adudu’d-Dawla he came to Amul,
while Shamsu’l-Ma‘4li Qdbuis was still reigning over Tabar-
istdn. One day he had been drinking with his friends,
and, while returning home, passed the gate of the Shrine
of Nisir-i-Kabfr, whence the clergy and custodians, seeing
his state, came forth, seized him, beat him, and cast him
into prison. Thence he made his escape, came to Gurgdn,
and described his adventures in the following Tabari verses,
which he laid before Qd4bus, who honoured and rewarded

him, and gave him the title of Masta-mard:
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Section IT (f. 645).

The Houses of Washmgir and Buwayh.

Abu Ishaq Ibrahim b. Hildl as-Sdbi’s great history of the
Buwayhid Dynasty entitled Kizdbw’t-Tdj is praised. He and
the Sihib Isma®l b. “Abbdd are intended in the saying
“More eloquent than the two $dds” (3obafl 5. #f). How
Mv’ayyidu’d-Dawla, the brother and viceroy of ‘Adudu’d-
Dawla Fandkhusraw b. Ruknu’d-Dawla Hasan b. Buwayh
came with the Sahib to Tabaristdn, conquered its fortresses,
and drove out its ruler Qdbus, who for eighteen years after
lived in exile at Nishdpir, will be described in another
volume. Praise of “Adudu’d-Dawla, and of his noble encou-
ragement of all branches of learning and letters, which
were better represented in his time than in any other.
The author states that he had heard his father say that,
being curious to know the reason of this, he enquired of
Khusraw Shdh, the Magian astrologer of Shih Ghdz{ Rustam
b. ‘Ali, who said that it was because his reign fell in the
beginning of the cycle of Mercury. Amongst the most no-
table of these man of learning were Abu °Ali Fdris, the
Grammarian and lexicographer, who wrote the ]le_z'dh-i-cAdudi
and the medical work entitled Kdmilu’s-Sand‘at; Abv’l-Fadl
(f. 654) b. al-’Amid and his son Abu’l-Fath; the Sihib
himself; Abu’l-Qdsim “Abdu’l-*Aziz b. VYisuf; as-Sdbf Abu
Ishaq Ibrdhim; the poets Ibn Nubdta as-Sa‘di, Abu°t-Tayyib
al-Mutanabbi, Abu Bakr al-Khwdrazmi, and Ustdd “Al{ at-
Tabari. Of these it is related by the last but one that his
patron was in the habit of asking his poets to extemporize
verses on any object which happened to be placed before
him. On one occasion this happened to be rice-pudding
(% gdp): he invited the poets to extemporize on it, but,
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before they could do so, himself described it in the follow-
ing verses:
ot Glen edwe b Lghuoy (s jEmd abg

For 42 years “Adudu’d-Dawla resided at Baghdad, whence
he practically exercised sovereign sway over the Hijdz,
Yaman, Egypt, Syria, the two ‘Irdqs, Tabaristdn and all
the districts of Farshwidgar. Verses addressed to “Adudu’d-
Dawla by Bakhtiyir Mu‘izzu’d-Dawla:

o it S 5 ¥ (o i ke by g W
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Anecdotes of ‘Adudu’d-Dawla related in the Siyars’l-
Mulik (i. e. Siydsat-ndma) of the Nidhimu’l-Mulk al-Hasan
b. Ishaq, including that of the money entrusted by a poor
man to a fraudulent judge. — Verses on him by the Sihib:

i o el (B st Jie (gt O 38 oD ¥y
s gt o g gl i D el
Nidh b. Mansir “the king of Bukhdrd” (the Sdmdnid) sent
presents to him by al-‘Utbi when the latter went on the
Pilgrimage, amongst which were included 500 robes embroi-
dered with Nuh’s name. ‘Adudu’d-Dawla was incensed at

this, and, turning to ‘Utbi, said:
s Bl bide e Joba Iy g doye NS S
Sl 5 Y e

Account of the House of Washmgir b. Ziy4dr,
the kings of Gildn.

The title of Ispahbads is property applied to two diffe-
rent dynasties of Tabaristdn, the House of Bidwand of the
author’s own time, and the Qdrinwands, or House of Washm-
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gir, who governed Tabaristin for nearly 80 years after the
Talibi Sayyids. Anyone, says the author, who wishes to
appreciate the greatness and splendour of Qdbus b. Washm-
gir, called Abu’l-Hasan, should read what is said of him by
Abu Manstr ath-Tha%libi and al-“Utbi in their works.'
Abuv’l-Hasan °Ali b. Muhammad al-Yazddid{ made a com-
pilation of his sayings, which he entitled Qardinu Shamsi’l-
Matdli wa Kamdlu'l-Baligha, from which the author here
cites some 33 lines, praising especially the remarkable elo-
quence of Qdbis in the Arabic language, his courage and
skill in manly exercises, and his knowledge of Philosophy,
Astronomy and Astrology. An Arabic letter which he
wrote to his maternal uncle the Ispahbad Rustam b. Shar-
win Bdwand on the occasion of a quarrel which arose be-
tween them is next cited. (This fills rather more than a
page, and brings us to f. 674, 1. 18). Qabis also composed
in Arabic a treatise on the Astrolabe, and submitted it to
Abl Ishdq as-Sdbi, whose laudatory criticism is cited in
full (ff. 676, 1. 7—68a, 1. 4). Qdbus also maintained a re-
gular correspondence with the Sihib, of which the inter-
mediary was one of his chamberlains named “Abdu’s-Saldm. —
Anecdote to illustrate the virtue of Qdbus. — His servant
Ahmad Sa‘di, and his minister Abu’l-“’Abbds Ghadnimi, who
was never known to take a bribe, and who was in friendly
correspondence with Abd Nasr al-‘Utbi. — Specimens of
this correspondence.

Account of Kayus (f. 69a: uaS).

In the time of Qubdd the son of Pirdz (A.D. 488—s531)
the sovereignty of Tabaristin was in the family of Gush-
nasp-shdh (sLigims), and Kayus, “the man of the House of

1 i.¢. the Yatimatiw’d-Dakr (Damascus ed., vol. iii; pp. 288—290) and the
Rerikhi’l-Yamini (Cairo ed., vol. i, pp. 389—412, and vol. ii, pp. 1—26).
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Bdwand”, was sent thither by the king to help the repre-
sentative of this family to expel the Turks from Khurdsdn,
which was successfully accomplished. At that juncture ap-
peared the false prophet Mazdak the son of Ndmddrdn (sic,
for Bdmddddn), whose history is fully related in the Ni-
dhamu’l-Mulk’s Siyara’l-Mulik (i. e. Siydsat-ndma); by whose
influence Qubdd was ruined and deposed in favour of his
younger son Nushirwdn, who extirpated the heresiarch and
his followers. The Khiqin of the Turks, hearing of these
internal disturbances in Persia, advanced with his hosts to
the Oxus. Thereupon Nushirwin wrote to his brother
Kayus to inform him that he was collecting Persian and
Arab levies to oppose the Turks, and that Kayds must be
ready to join him in Khurdsin to punish the Khdqdn’s in-
solence (f. 694). Kayus at once collected his troops in Ta-
baristdn, marched on Khurdsdn, routed the Khdqdn, crossed
the Oxus, took much spoil from the Turks, and established
his kinsman Hushang as governor of Khwarazm. Thence he
proceeded to Ghaznin, appointing governors over the towns
as far as Nahrawdla (aly4i), and levying tribute on Turkistdn
and India, after which he returned to Tabaristin and de-
spatched one of his nobles to Ndshirwdn with the spoils of
victory, and a letter in which he wrote: “Thou art several
years younger than me, and knowest how without thy help
or aid I have defeated the Khiqdn and exacted tribute
from the Turks and Indians. It is not fitting that thou
shouldst wear the crown while I am a mere retainer: yield
up to me the throne and crown and treasures of our father,
that I, according to thy wish, may create a more ample
kingdom.” This request was promptly refused by Nushirwan
in a letter of which the text is given (f. 70a). Kayus there-
upon collected his army and marched from Tabaristin on
Mad#’in (Ctesiphon), but was defeated and imprisoned by
his brother, who, on his refusal to repent of his action and



94

promise amendment, caused him to be put to death, and
detained his son Shdpur a prisoner at Mad#’in until the
Khigdn of the Turks again invaded Khurdsin and Tabar-
istdn (f. 704). Nushirwan again marched against him, and
in the battle which ensued the tide of victory was turned
in favour of the Persians by a mysterious troop of two or
three thousand horsemen clad in green and with green
standards, who only on Nushirwin’s most urgent entreaty
consented to disclose their identity. It then appeared that,
in the reign of Qubdd’s father Piriz the son of Yazdigird
the son of Bahrdm Guir the son of Yazdigird “the Wicked”,
the lands beyond the Oxus and Balkh river were by treaty
committed to the care of Khushnuwdz (here )ir';m:?i, for
)"AM>) the king of the Hayitila (or Huns), afterwards
called Sighdniydn (f. 7:1a), who however, violated his pact
and ravaged the country until, when Piriz marched against
them, they treacherously attacked him, defeated his army,
took him and many of his nobles captive, and cut off his
head. Now he had left at Madd’in Sikhrd the son of Qdrin
the son of Sikhrd, one of the descendants of Kdwa (the
blacksmith who headed the revolt against Dahdk in favour
of Feridin) as his viceroy. This Sikhrd, on hearing of the
disaster, gathered an army and marched against Khushnu-
wdz, who, knowing that he could not resist him, restored
the captives and spoils he had taken and apologised for his
conduct, so that Sikhrd, without striking a blow, returned
victorious, and received from the mi#bads the title of /s-
pahbad. Now Piriz left three sons, Qubdd, Baldsh and J4-
mdsp, of whom the first fled to Khurdsin and implored the
Khaqdn’s help to recover the kingdom, which had been
given to the second, with the last-named to assist .and ad-
vise him. When Qubdd, assisted by the Kh4qdn, had ad-
vanced against his brothers as far as Ray, Baldsh died, and
Sikhrd proclaimed Qubdd king, and sent him a message
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asking him to send back his Turkish allies from Ray, and
to hasten himself to Mad4#’in, which he did. So Qubdd be-
came king of Persia, and Sikhrd grew in honour and favour
until envious slanderers traduced him to the king, and he,
being informed of this, fled with his nipe sons to Tabar-
istdn (f. 718). Suikhrd was treacherously slain, but his sons
fled to Badakhshdn, where they acquired territory and esta-
blished themselves. These and their retainers it was who,
hearing of Nushirwdn’s accession and favourable disposition
towards them, had afforded him such opportune assistance
against the Khdqdn’s troops. He, in gratitude for their ser-
vices, bade them choose such lands as they liked for a
possession to them and their children. Thereupon the eldest
of them, Zarmihr, chose Zaibulistin; and the youngest,
Qdrin, Wandd-ummid Kt¢h, Amul, Lufir and Farim, which
is called Kdh-i-Qdrin (*Mount Qdrin”"). The latter returned
with Nudshirwdn on his homeward march as far as Tabar-
istdn, and was there installed (f. 724) as Ispahbad. To the
author’s time the nobles of Lufir and Astaribdd, and the
people called Qdrinwands, represent the descendants of this
Qdrin; and the author promises to give at the end of his
book genealogical tables shewing the descent of the Bd-
wands, Qdrinwands, Surhdnwands, Ldrijan, Mar’zub;in, Us-
tunddr, Ddbuwdn, Kild’j, Waldsin, Sa‘idihd, Uldn-mihdn,
Amir Kd, and Kabid-jdma, and the reasons of their being
thus named. Thus was Tabaristin divided up between Qdrin
and the chiefs established in Tammisha in the time of Nu-
shirwdn, till he died, and was succeeded by his son Hur-
mazd, who reigned twelve years.

Successors of Kayis (f. 72a).

In the reign of Hurmuzd, Shdpir the son of Kayis died,
leaving a son named Bdw, who accompanied Khusraw Par-
wiz in his campaign against the Greeks, and distinguished
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himself in the war with Bahrdm Chibina, receiving in re-
ward for these services Istakhr, Adharbdyjin, Irdq and
Tabaristdn as his government. He extended his territories
to the north-east so as to include Khurdsdn, Khwdrazm and
all Turkistdn as far as the Desert of the Tdtdrs. Shirdya
the parricide on his accession destroyed Baw’s house at
Ctesiphon (Madd#’in), plundered his possessions, degraded
him, and interned him at Istakhr. But Shirdya’s ill-gained
power soon ceased with his early death, and he was suc-
ceeded by Queen Azarmi{ Dukht, of whom the Prophet
said “Woe to that people over which women reign!”

(iL»;'.ff L-érﬂ; a.::}S 3.:;) At this epoch the Prophet was at

al-Madina. The nobles of Persia (f. 726) counselled Azarmf
Dukht to summon Biw to the Court and place him in
command of the army, but he declined to debase himself,
as he considered, by serving a woman, and retired to wor-
ship in the Fire-temple. Then followed the disastrous reign
of Yazdigird the son of Shahriydr, the last S4sdnian king,
when the Caliph ‘Umar sent Sad b. Abi Waqqds (whose
skill with the bow is still proverbial amongst the Arabs,

. -o o - oF . . . .
in the phrase Oww Ls.e)i) against the Persians, till he in-

flicted on them and their general Rustam-i-Farrukhzdd the
crushing defeat of Qddisiyya, as is described in full in the
Shdhndma and other histories. Then Yazdigird summoned
Biw from Istakhr, restored to him his fiefs, estates and
possessions, and retained him in his service, while Tabar-
istdn, neglected by its lawful lord, fell into the hands of
Gédw-bdra.

The Descendants of Jdmdsp and the Story
of Gdw-bdra (f. 724).

When, on the death of Baldsh, Qubdd, the father of N-
shirwdn, succeeded to the throne, Jdmdsp, the youngest of
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the three brothers, fled to Armenia, whence, from Darband,
he attacked and subdued the countries of the Khazars and
Sclavs (Mdw). In these lands he married and settled. Of
the sons whom he begat, one was Narsi, the lord of Dar-
band, who on his death left behind him a son named
Firdz, beautiful as Joseph and brave as Rustam, who en-
larged his father’s dominions as far as Gildn, from one of
the noble families of which country he chose a wife, who
bore him a son named Gilinshdh. To him in turn was
born a son named Gil, who, as the astrologers predicted
(f. 734), became a mighty king, and brought under his rule
all Gilin and Daylam. He then turned his attention to
Tabaristdn, whither he proceeded on foot, driving before
him two Gildn{ cows. At this time the Sisdnian governor
of Tabaristin was Adhar-valdsh, and into his service Gil
insinuated himself. About this time the Turks, taking ad-
vantage of the difficulties which the Arabs were causing to
the Persian Empire, attacked Tabaristdn, and Gil, or “Gdw-
bdra” as he was now called, greatly distinguished himself in
repelling them. After this Gil obtained from Adhar-valdsh
permission to return home to see his family; but when he
returned it was at the head of an army of several thousand
men of Gildn and Daylam. Adhar-valdsh, greatly alarmed,
despatched tidings of this to Yazdigird the king of Persia,
who, advised by the Miubads, ordered him to relinquish his
government to this descendant of Jdmasp and scion of the
Royal House. Thereupon Gil sent to Yazdigird suitable
presents and offerings (f. 736), and received in return the
title of Gil-gilin Farshwddgar-shdh. Some time afterwards
Adhar-valdsh was killed by a fall from his horse at polo,
and all his possessions passed to Gil: and this happened in
the 35th year of the New Era which the Persians had
lately inaugurated. Gfil made his capital in Gilin, but from
thence to Gurgidn filled the land with lofty castles and other
7
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buildings. Fifteen years after his accession to power he
died, and was buried in Gilin. He left two sons, Ddbiya
and Pddhdspdn, of whom the former, a severe and cruel
ruler, succeeded his father on the throne of Gildn, while
the latter reigned over Ruydn.

Account of the reign of Bdw in Tabaristan
(f. 738).

When Yazdigird, routed by the armies of Islim, fled to
Ray, Bidw, who was with him, sought and obtained per-
mission to go by way of Tabaristin to Kisdn, there to
visit a Fire-temple which his grandfather Kayis has founded,
promising to rejoin his sovereign in Gurgdn. His absence,
however, was somewhat prolonged, and he was still in these
lands when he received news of Yazdigird’s death at the
hands of the traitor Mdh&’i-i-Siirf. (Here 5 couplets of the
Shdhndma are cited). Bdw thereupon shaved his head and
retired into religious seclusion in the Fire-temple of Kusdn,
while the Turks (f. 744) ravaged all Khurdsin and Tabar-
istdn, and the Arabs, led by the Imdm Hasan b. °Alj,
‘Abdvw’lldh b. ‘Umar b. al-Khattdb, Hudhayfa of Yaman,
Qutham b. al-‘Abbds, and M4lik b. Ashtar an-Nakha®f ad-
vanced to Amul, where the traces of their encampment are
still visible in the place called Malika-dasht. The people
of Tabaristdn, driven to despair by these calamities, agreed
to elect and obey one ruler in whom they should all feel
confidence, and unanimously chose Biw, who was ultimately
induced to accept this responsibility, on condition that they
gave him absolute power, even to life and death, over them.
So he expelled the invaders from the country and reigned
for fifteen years, till one day Bashdr, the mother of [Adhar-]
valdsh, struck him on the back with a brick and slew
him, and herself reigned for eight years. Bdw left a little
son named Suhrdb, whose aged mother carried him off
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safely and hid him in the house of a gardener near Sirf,
where he remained unmolested during these eight years.
At the end of this period some of the servants of Kuld
Khurzdd Khusraw Ispah{ (Lo spui> Oy e Y,5) saw the
lad, questioned the gardener as to his origin, and finally
extracted the truth. They then carried off the lad to Kuld,
when the people gathered round him, and, joined by the
men of Mount Qdrin, made a sudden raid on Panjd-hazdr
¢ )[;QLsxfg), captured and slew Valdsh, massacred as many
of his partisans as they could, and crowned Suhrdb king at
Parim. Then they built for him a palace, hot bath and
mayddn above the village of Talpir, which lies at the foot
of the castle of Kiz, and these buildings were afterwards
enlarged by the Ispahbad Sharwin (f. 744), and were still
visible when the author (who had himself seen them) wrote,
no one of the various rulers {*Alaw{ Sayyids, descendants
of Gidw-bira, Daylamites of the House of Buwayh, and sons
of Washmgir) who had successively held possession of this
district having thought fit to destroy them, though the
‘Abbiésid troops wrought great devastation.

History of the House of Dibtdya after the
death of Bdw (f. 744).

When Dabiya died, he left a son, who, under the style
and title of Dhu’l-Mandqib Farrukhdn-i-Buzurg, subjugated
Tabaristin even as far as Nfshdpir (in Khurdsdn), reduced
the people to his allegiance, and, by building and cultivation,
raised the country to a condition of prosperity which it
had never before enjoyed, and repeatedly repelled the
coveteous Turkish raiders. Then the Daylamites revolted
against him, and compelled him to flee to Amul, where, in
a castle then called Firdz-Khusra, but now Firtz-dbdd,
distant two parasangs from that city (f. 754), he fortified
himself. The Daylamites besieged him, and hoped to starve
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out him and his garrison, but he ordered his people to
knead clay into the shape of loaves of bread and set these
loaves on the walls in sight of the besiegers, who, thinking
them to be bread, and despairing of being able to reduce
so well provisioned a place, withdrew to Daylam, whereupon
Farrukhidn emerged from his fortress and followed them, con-
structing in the way which led to their country dykes, ditches
and canals which rendered the road impassable to horsemen.

Invasion of Tabaristdn by Masqala b. Hu-
bayra ash-Shaybdnf (f. 75a).

It was now the Caliphate of “Alf b. Abf Télib. A tribe
called the Band Nidjiya reverted to Christianity. “Alf attacked
and crushed them, and sold their women and children by
auction as slaves to the Musulmdns. Masqala b. Hubayra
ash-Shaybini bought them for 100,000 dirkams and set
them free; but being unable to pay more than 30,000 Jir-
kams he fled to Mu‘dwiya. °Alf thereupon destroyed his
house at Basra (the first time such a thing had been done
in Isldm) and said of him:

M)&:f,uohdl\}”duwamé\s

Masqala’s descendants are still settled at Kiifa. Concerning
‘Ali he said (f. 758):

oSy st Lgd sl wasuol e s by

After “Alf’s death he promised Mu‘dwiya that with 4000
man he .could effect the conquest of Tabaristdn, but, after
waging war with Farrukhin for two years, he was killed
on the road between Kaji and Kandasin, where his tomb
still stands, and is ignorantly visited by the common people,

who imagine its occupant to have been one of the Prophet’s
Companions 1.

! See al-Balddhurl's Furih, ed. de Goeje, p. 335.
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Further History of Farrukhdn (f. 756).

At this time the Mas-mughdn Valdsh was marsubdn
(warden of the marchés) by the Tayzana Rud (or Maydn-
darid, as it is now called), and whenever the Ispahbad
went on a hunting expedition in this direction, he used to
stay a few days there to drink and make merry at Tan-
parast under Tardawini, where the ruins of the palaces of
the Ispahbads Farrukhidn and Khurshid are still visible. He
presently asked and obtained in marriage the Mas-mughdn’s
daughter, for whom he built a residence in this place,
which he connected by a canal with the sea; but later he
was offended with his father-in-law, beheaded him, and
annexed all his domains as far as Ddrdn, but respected the
descendants of Biw, on whom he inflicted no injury.

The Ispahbad Farrukhdn and Qatarf the Khdrijite.

Qatarf b. al-Fujd’at al-Mdzin{ (f. 76a), the chief of the
Khdrijites or ‘Seceders’, one of the bravest and most eloquent
of the Arabs, took refuge with the Ispahbad, in the time
of the tyrant Hajjaj b. Yisuf, together with ‘Umar Fannidq ?,
Salih Mikhrdaq and other Khdrijite chiefs, all of whom were
hospitably entertained by their host during the winter. But
when they and their horses were rested and strengthened,
they threatened the Ispahbad that they would seize his
country unless he accepted their creed.

The author here gives a brief account of the origin of
the Khdrijites after the Battle of Siffin and the arbitration
of Dawmatu’l-Jandal. Their first leaders were “Abdu’llih b.
al-Kawwa and Ma°ddn al-Ayddi, who, at the head of a
thousand men, first raised the Kharijite war-cry, “ Arbitration

belongs to God alone!” (ll ¥t (<= %), to which ‘Al replied:

! Some of the MSS. have 3 for _sL3. Cf. p. 104 infra.
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And on that day “Ali’s soldiers kept reciting this verse:
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The first person to whom the Khdrijites swore allegiance
as “Commander of the Faithful” (Amired’l-Miminin) was
‘Abdu’lldh b. Wahb ar-Rdsibi, and the first who drew his
sword in support of this heresy was ‘Urwa b. Udayya, who,
turning to Ash‘ath b. Qays, said:

I B G GBS 106 G5 kel W G

Ash‘ath turned from him, and °Urwa struck with his
sword the hind-quarters of the mule he was riding. At the
battle of Nahruwidn, “Urwa (f. 766) fled from before “Alf’s
sword, but later he was taken prisoner and brought before
Ziyid ibnu Abi-hi, who asked him what he thought of ‘Ali
and ‘Uthmdn. He declared them both infidels, whereupon
Ziyid caused his head to be struck off.

The Khdrijites are known by four names, to wit:

(1) Hartiriyya, because of Harura, a place where they
encamped. This namé was given to them by °Alf, who
exclaimed, on hearing a verse read from the Qur’dn (xviii,
103—104) concerning “those whose effort miscarries in the
life of this world while they suppose that they do well,”
“By God, these are they of Harurd!”

(2) Marigiyya (“disobedient”, “rebels”, “heretics”), in al-
lusion to the saying of the Prophet: “They shall slip from
the Faith as the arrow slips from the bow” —

Ol o Rl Spe WS e e

and another of his sayings to “Alf: “Verily thou shalt fight
the covenant-breakers, the doers of injustice, the rebels:”
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(3) Shurdt (“sellers” of their lives to win Paradise), alluding
to Qur’dn, ii, 203, and ix, 112, which verses they were
accustomed to apply to themselves.

(4) Khdrijites (Khawdrij, “rebels”, “dissidents” or “sece-
ders”), because they came out in revolt against °Ali.

Whenever one of their chiefs was slain, they at once
swore allegiance to another, until it came to the above-
mentioned Qatari b. al-Fujd’at al-Mdzini, who was one of
the bravest and most famous of them, and whose poems
are preserved in the Ghurarw’d-Durar of Sayyid Murtadd,
the Hamdsa of Abu Tamdm, and the Kdmil of al-Mubarrad.
Thus, when the Khadrijites elected him their chief and swore
allegiance to him, he wrote to Abu Khdlid:
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To which Abid Khalid (whom the author curses) replied:
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‘Imrdn al-Hittdn, one of the most eloquent and learned
jurisconsults of the Khdrijites, wrote the following verses in
reply to Abu Khdlid:
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This ‘Imrdn it was who, when at war with °Al{, said:

U Aghdné, xvi, 155.
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Hajjdj b. Yisuf slew many of the “blue-clad” Kharijite
heretics (i,5l) by the hands of his general Muhallab b. Ab{
Sufra, and sent Sufydn b. Abi’l-Abrad al-Kalbf with an
army drawn from Syria and the two ‘Irigs to attack the
Khdrijites in Tabaristdn, bidding them not rest till they
could bring him Qatar{ alive or dead. When Sufydn reached
Ray, the Ispahbad Farrukhdn, who was encamped with his
army at Damdwand, sent an ambassador offering his help,
provided that he should be recompensed in some way for his
services. Sufydn promised to give him whatever he desired,
and his request was that the Arabs should not molest or
interfere with his kingdom, on which understanding the pact
was concluded. Qatari, being informed of this, marched
from Damdwand to Samndn, pursued by the Ispahbad, who
overtook him at the spot last named, where a battle took
place between them. The two leaders, singling one another
out, engaged in a duel. Qatari missed his stroke, fell from
his horse and broke his leg, and was decapitated by the
Ispahbad. ‘Umar Fanndq, Silih Mikhrdq and the other
Khirijite leaders were also slain, while others were brought
captive to Mdzandardn, where the traces of their encampe-
ment are still visible in the place called Qatari Kaldda. The
Ispahbad spared the lives of the captives and common

F . Y X o
1 B. has ,_,,n;i (i.e. “Alf b. Abf T4lib) for ss),-us.



10§

soldiers (LS.;,;), and sent the heads of the slain and a portion
of the spoils to Sufydn, who forwarded them on with an
account of the victory to Hajjdj b. Yudsuf. Hajjaj thereupon
sent a messenger to Sufydn with an ass’s load of gold and
an ass’s load of dust, bidding him, in case Sufydn should
prove to have gained the victory himself, to bestow on
him the gold; but if otherwise, to cast the dust on his
head at the chief cross-roads in the bdzdr, which disgrace
Sufydn had to suffer when the true state of the case was
made known.

Soon afterwards “Abdu’l-Malik b. Marwan died and was
succeeded by his son Walid, while Hajjdj b. Yusuf also fell
from power, and Qutayba was made governor of Khurdsan
and Transoxiana, in which capacity he shewed much friend-
ship towards the Ispahbad. Yazid b. al-Muhallab (f. 78a)
was in the service of Sulaymin b. ‘Abdu’l-Malik (who suc-
ceeded his brother Walid in A.D. 715), and whenever
Qutayba wrote despatches describing a fresh victory in
Turkistdn, he would write back belittling them and saying,
“All the accounts of -thy victories are from a place where
the Commander of the Faithful cannot test their reality:
why dost thou not conquer Tabaristin, which is a garden
in the midst of the domains of Isldim?” But Qutayba knew
that Yazid b. al-Muhallab was his enemy, while the Ispah-
bad, on the other 'hand, was his friend, so that he naturally
refrained from attacking him.

Sulaymdn, on his accession, gave the government of
Khurdsin to Yazi{d, and ordered Qutayba to be slain. And
when Yazid sent him accounts of his victories over the
heathen in Transoxiana, the Caliph used to reply. “Why
does he not effect that which he blamed Qutayba for not
doing?” So Yazid, hearing this, collected an army of Arabs
and men of Khurdsdn and Transoxiana, and came to Gurgdn.
When the Ispahbad heard this, he sent all his people with
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their families and cattle into the mountains, leiving the
plains empty of their population. Meanwhile Yaz{d reached
and occupied Tammisha, and continued his advance in the
level country towards Sdri, while the Ispahbad Farrukhan
marched parallel with him in the hills. On reaching Sar{,
Yazid alighted in the Ispahbad’s palace, and the people
were afraid, and the Ispahbad himself was inclined to flee
into Daylamdn and there seek help against the invaders,
but his son dissuaded him from an act which would be
regarded as tantamount to abdication (f. 784), and counselled
him rather to sent messengers into Gildin and Daylamdn
asking for re-inforcements, which finally arrived to the
number of some ten thousand men. Yazid, hearing this,
sent Khiddsh b. al-Mughira b. al-Muhallab b. Abi Sufra and
Abv’l-Jahm al-Kalbi with twenty thousand horseman against
the Ispahbad. When they drew near, Salmédn the Daylamite
came out to meet them, and was attacked by the van-guard
of the Muslims under Muhammad b. Abu Surra al-Jufi,
who defeated Salman’s troops, slew him, and pursued the
fugitives into the hills, where, however, the Ispahbad’s army
put them to rout with a storm of stones and arrows. Then,
withdrawing by another road from this position, they pre-
pared an ambush into which the Muslims fell, so that fifteen
thousand of them, including some of Yazid’s own kinsmen,
perished. Continuing their advance, they plundered and
burned Yazid’s camp, after which the Ispahbad despatched
a courier to Gurgdn, bidding the Nahapets of Sdl! rise
against Darfs and the Arab soldiers who occupied their
country, slay them all, and seize for themselves their cattle
and possessions. This was done, and amongst the slain

! &J)ao :dul.@.). The first word seems to be a broken plural of the word
occurring in Armenian as makapet, “patrician”; the latter is also a foreign
word, and is explained by de Slane (/én Khallikin, iv, 172) as meaning “a
king of Jurj4n”.
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were fifty of Yazid’s cousins (f. 792). Then the Ispahbad
sent men to destroy the high road from Sdri to Tammisha
and render it impassable (S o) to horsemen, after
all of which deeds he ceased to fear Yazid.

So Yazid, unable to prevail by force, had recourse to
strategem, and summoned before him Hayydn an-Nabati
(“the Nabathean”), a Daylamite client of Masqala b. Hu-
bayra, who had been nick-named “the Nabathean’ because
he was dumb, and said to him: “*O Abu Ya‘mar! I en-
treated thee evilly in Khurdsdn, confiscated thy goods, and
put thee in bonds. I have now a favour to ask of thee:
think no more of the past, and meditate no treachery or
guile.” “O Amir,” replied Hayydn, “since thou hast shewn
me so much honour and favour, I bear no malice; and
God forbid that I should neglect the claims of Isldim or
protect the Magian faith!” Then Yazid told him the news
from Gurgdn, the strait in which he found himself, and the
discouragement of his troops, begging him to devise some
plan whereby the Muslims might save themselves in the
present and take their revenge in the future. Hayydn ans-
wered: “This gaér (i.e. the Ispahbad) hath now waxed
bold: if he should not hearken to my words, but should
say, ‘For two years he has ravaged my country and raided
my cattle and property,” what answer shall I make?” Yazid
answered, “I will give as much as 300,000 dirkams in com-
pensation, if he will accept it, and let us depart in peace.”

Then Hayydn came to the Ispahbad and said, “Yazid b.
al-Muhallab (f. 794) hath sent me to say that if you will
serve him in this matter, he will quit your country, but if
not he will summon re-inforcements from Syria, ‘Irdq, Khu-
rasan and Turkistin and destroy you and your kingdom.”
So the Ispahbad was prevailed upon to accept the 300,000
dindrs, of which he gave 5000 to Hayydn, and to let Yazid
go: and he encamped in Tammisha by the moat to give



108

time for the captives and fugitiyes of his army to join
him. Then Yazid passed onwards to Gurgdn, where he
swore to shed enough blood to turn a mill; but after kill-
ing many of the marzubdns and principal men of the coun-
try, he was glad to escape from his oath by a device
suggested to him by the Nahapets of $Sil, who bade him
mix blood with a mill-stream and eat of bread baked from
the flour which it ground. Then he returned to Syria to
the court of the Caliph Sulayman.

Anecdote (f. 796).

Ibn “Aisha relates that this Caliph, Sulaymdn b. ‘Abdu’l-
Malik; one day mounted the pulpit, having anointed his
beard with perfumed unguent (sJl¢) so that it utmost dripped
from him, and said, “I am the youthful King who is confi-
dent in his kingdom and his youth”: and ere another Friday
had come he was dead !. He was succeeded by ‘Umar b.
‘Abdu’l-‘Aziz (reigned A. H. gg—101; A. D. 717—720),
whose piety, justice, learning and clemency are become
proverbial. He abolished the hateful practice of publicly
cursing °Ali, Fédtima, Hasan and Husayn (f. 8oz), which, in-
troduced by the Umayyads, had become pretty general
throughout the Muhammadan world, and substituted the
reading of the verse (Qur’dn, xvi, 92): “Verily God enjoins
on you justice, well-doing, and charity towards kinsmen, and
forbids you evil speech, unseemly acts and disobedience;
He exhorteth you that perchance ye may be admonished.”

He also restored to the descendants of Fatima the property
of Fadak, of which she had been wrongfully deprived, and it
remained in their possession until the time of the ‘Abbdsid
Caliph al-Mutawakkil (reigned A. H. 232—247: A.D. 847—

v Cf. Al-Fakhkri, ed. Ahlwardt, p. 153.
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861) \. Concerning this reparation [the Sharif] ar-Radf says:

“In Khwérazm,” says the author, “I heard Nidhdm [u’d-
Din] Sam®ni say in the pulpit: ‘I saw in a dream one of
the Substitutes (Aéddl) of the Prophet seated in the chief
seat of apostolic honour, and beside him “‘Umar b. ‘Abdu’l-
‘Aziz, and somewhat lower ‘Umar b. al-Khattdib. “How,” I
enquired, “hath “Umar b. “Abduw’l-‘Aziz attained to such

proximity ?”* “Because of his justice,” was the answer. “But,”
said I, “was not ‘Umar b. al-Khattab more just than he?”
“He,” came the answer, “was just in an epoch of justice;
but the other in an epoch of tyranny and injustice.”;”
Yazid had written to Sulaymdn that so great were the
spoils of his campaign in Tabaristin that the string of
camels bearing them would reach continuously even to Syria.
‘Umar, into whose hands this letter passed on his accession,
demanded of him these boasted spoils, and, as he made ex-
cuses, declaring that he had found himself unable to effect
their transport, he was cast into prison. Meanwhile the
Ispahbad Farrukhdn restored in great measure the prospe-
rity of his raided domains, but died in the course of the
next year or two, after a reign of seventeen years. And it

was he who was the grandfather of Mansir al-Mahdi.

Reign of the Ispahbad Ddzmihr the son of
Farrukhdn (f. 8oa).

D4zmihr, the eldest son of Farrukhdn, succeeded his
father, and reigned for twelve years, during which no one

! This Caliph was conspicuous for his insane hatred of the House of “Alf
and their followers (the Shi‘a).

2 These verses, with another which stands between them, are cited in a/-
Fakhkri, ed. Abhlwardt, p. 155.
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attempted to molest him. He repaired and restored the Pa-
lace of the Ispahbads; and in his days Abd Muslim began
his propaganda in favour of the House of “Abbds at Merv.
The Umayyad Marwién II, nick-named “the Ass” (al-Himdr)
was then (A.H. 127—132: A.D. 744—750) Caliph, and he
was so called because the Arabs name the year which ends
a century “the Year of the Ass”, in allusion to the Ass of
Ezra; and from the foundation of the Umayyad Caliphate
until Marwdn was slain exactly one hundred years had
elapsed . Al-Jdhidh relates in the Kitdbu'l-Baydn wa’t-Tabyin
that when Marwdn was hard pressed by Abud Muslim’s
troops, he ordered one of his trusted servants to bury in
the sand the staff and cloak of the Prophet, and to cut off
the head of one of his daughters, lest she should reveal the
hiding-place of these secret relics. But later this servant,
being taken captive, said, “If you slay me, the inheritance
of the Prophet will be lost for ever.” So they spared him,
and he shewed them where he had hidden these relics,
which were sent to two villages in Tammisha where the
councils of the propagandists were at that time held.

Abu’l-Faraj “Alf b. al-Husayn b. Hindu relates in his
Kitdb-i-amthdl-i- Muwallada, on the authority of Ibn Durayd,
the author of the Kitdb-i-Humayra, that Kab b. Zuhayr
received this mantle from the Prophet in reward for a ga-
sida which he had composed in his praise, and sold it to
Mu‘dwiya for 20,000 dirkams. It is now in the possession
of the “Abbdsid Caliphs. !

There was never a more wonderful story than that of
Abi Muslim. To a villager of humble origin and lowly
position God gave so much power that he took in hand
and successfully carried out one of the greatest enterprizes
ever planned. It is related that when he conquered the

! This statement is incorrect, even if we reckon from the death of “‘Uthmén
(A. H. 656) till the death of Marwdn (A. H. 750).
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Umayyads, and Marwdn (f. 812) took account of his deeds,
he caused his secretary, ‘Abdu’l-Hamid, who was a master
in epistolary composition, to write him a long letter, full
of threats and promises, ending with the words:

N Fi 5 PO mas
When this long and wordy letter was read to Abd Muslim,

he laid it before him, broke in pieces one of his arrows,
and wrote in reply these two couplets:
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Then they said to ‘Abdv’l-Hamid the secretary, “Write
to Abu Muslim again in words briefer, weightier and more
concise, so that he may not answer thee in this fashion.”
So ‘Abdv’l-Ham{d wrote:
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But Abu Muslim’s plans prospered, until he brought
Abu’l-°‘Abbds “Abdu’lldh as-Saffih b. Muhammad b. ‘Ali b.
‘Abdv’lldh b. ‘Abbds from al-Madina and proclaimed him
Caliph, who, on his death, was succeeded by his brother
Abt Ja‘far al-Mansir “Abdu’lidh b. Muhammad b. “Ali b.
‘Abdw’lldh b. ‘Abbds.

It is related that once “Abdu’llah [b.] “Abbds was travelling
in company with °Alf, who always showed the greatest
consideration for this family (f. 814), and bestowed on them
the governments of Basra, Yaman and T#’if, while Qutham,
the foster-brother of Husayn b. °Ali was the governor of
the two sacred cities (Mecca and al-Madina). Concerning this
the Amir Abu Firds sayst
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When ‘Abdu’lldh’s son was born to him in Qatifa, he
asked “Alf to name the child with a noble name:
gt 35 5 Bt sams 10y 2Ll alll (685, iapll el b
s gy el ool x5 o 5 5 Sy iell padd aie BB
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When al-Mansir had been enthroned as Caliph, he gave
Abi Muslim permission to return to Khurdsin. When he
reached Hulwdn, however, he was overtaken by a messenger
from the Caliph bidding him return, since his advice was
needed on an affair of importance which had arisen.

Abu Muslim suspected treachery, and consulted with one
of his friends, saying, “How dost thou think that I stand
with Abuw’l-’Abbéds?” The other replied, “Like the lion
whose foot was pierced by a reed, so that it was unable to
move; and a simple-minded, well-meaning man, seeing its
weakness and hearing its moaning, took pity on it, ap-
proached it, and (f. 82a) drew forth the thorn from its foot.
Thereupon the lion slew the man, in spite of his cries and
protests; ‘or,” it said, ‘thou art a meddlesome fellow, and
perhaps thou may’st assist some other lion as thou hast as-
sisted me, and it may drive me from this my hunting-
ground, and make me an exile and a wanderer.” Abi
Muslim replied, “If I do not tend, nurse and care for that
tender sapling which I have planted, but abandon it to its
fate, passers-by will pluck it up by the roots, and my la-
bour of many years will be rendered null and void.” So he
left his treasure and baggage in the charge of his vice-
gerent Sindbdd at Ray, and himself returned to Mansir,
where that fate overtook him which is well known, and to

which he alluded in the punning epigram:
c2ao 3 o

o S e
When al-Mansir had killed Abd Muslim, he gave the
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post of Wazir to Abi Ayyib al-Mdriydni; and all men
were filled with fear of him because of what he had done
to Abu Muslim. Abd Ayydb’s intimates once remarked to
him that however often he entered the Caliph’s presence
his countenance always shewed signs of fear. He repeated
to them the parable of the hawk and the cock, when the
former reproached .the latter with ingratitude for fleeing,
screaming and terrified, from men when they called him,
notwithstanding the food he had eaten at their hands, and
the benefits he had received from them.

Khurshid was called Farshwid Marzubdn, and the Nahapets
were his maternal uncles and kinsmen. His paternal uncle
actually ruled the country until Khurshid reached the age
of manhood. This uncle had a hand-maiden named Ramja
and called Hariya (x359) who was skilled in all sorts of
tricks and conjuring, and who used to exhibit her skill to
Khurshid whenever he came to see his uncle. To her from
his childhood he was deeply attached, so that they used to
send letters and messengers to one another. His uncle, who
was aware of this state of things, used to say to him:
“This hand-maiden I hold in trust for thee, and when thou
comest to man's estate, I will bestow her on thee.”

The Ispahbad Khurshid.

When Khurshid was grown to man’s estate, his uncle
summoned his sons before him and said, “My nephew is
grown up, and hath sent me a message, saying, ‘The king-
dom is my father’s, who set thee on the throne under co-
venant with me; therefore surrender unto me the trust.’”
His sons said, “Thou art king, and the kingdom ought to
pass from thee to us. We will never consent (f. 83¢) to thy
surrender of the kingdom to him.” The father replied,
“Talk not like children, neither hammer cold iron, for I

8
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will be faithful to my covenant. Should I contravene the
agreement, no blessing would it bring either to me or to
you.” Then said they, “Since it is so, send and bid him
come hither, that thou may’st make it over to him.” So
he, knowing not their secret intentions, sent for Khurshid,
who, fully confiding in his uncle’s integrity, came with a
few followers from Tammisha, and was received by his
uncle with paternal kindness. On an auspicious day a great
banquet was held; but Khurshid’s cousins had conspired to
kill him with a blow from a mace as soon as he should
rise from the banquet and sit down to drink wine. The girl
Ramja Hardya, however, was aware of their intended treachery,
and informed Khurshid of it. He thereupon summoned a
foster-brother of his named Jalwdndn, and bade him have
two horses ready at the gate. Then, on some pretext,
Khurshid slipped out from the banquet, mounted his horse,
drew his sword, and, with Jalwdndn, rode away, with cries
of defiance, back to Tammisha. His uncle reproached his
sons bitterly for their meditated treachery, and wrote humble
apologies to Khurshid, declaring that he had no part nor
lot in the conspiracy. For a year Khurshid did not see his
uncle, and was busy, assisted by the Nahapets of Sir{, in
preparing for battle. Finally (f. 836) he met his cousins in
battle at Qasr-i-Dddagdn, a place midway between Tam-
misha and Sdrf built by his father. He was victorious, slew
or captured all of them, and pursued their army as far as
Sdri. He then came before his uncle, exonerated him from
all participation in the crime, and bade him choose for
himself whatever residence and companions he pleased. His
surviving cousins he banished to a mountain called Farru-
khin Firiz, where they remained till the end of their lives;
and he married Ramja Hardya, and possessed himself of
all the treasures of his father and his uncle, of whom the
latter had reigned eight years. Khurshid’s kinsmen gathered
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round him, amongst them Wandarand, Fahrdn and Farrukhdn,
the sons of Jusnas (Gushnasf) b. Sariya b. Farrukhdn the Great,
who were his cousins on his mother’s side. Of these he
made the first marzubdn of Amul, the second marzubdn of
the highlands (kukistdn), and the last he kept with himself.
The command of his army he gave to Shahr-Khwistin b.
Yazddn-Kard. He repaired the Palace of the Isfahbadin,
enclosed 400 acres (? &) of land (now called Kisa), used in the
author’s time by king Ardashir as a breeding-ground for Arab
horses, and constructed a strong fortress called Si-dila (dosw) !,
and a market where he settled skilled artisans chosen from
all parts of Tabaristin. Outside the fortress he built a
great caravansaray, and he gave the city five gates, to wit

the Highland Gate (.,Lundys ;)-S,)o), the Sea Gate, and the

Gildn, Gurgdin and Hunting Gates (oo :)-lg)o). He also had
a channel cut from the mountain to the sea to bring water
to the town: and this he called Gildna-jiy (f. 842). Further
he made fish-ponds (8l Oulas), and, outside the Hunting
Gate, a great mayddn and a deep ditch, of which the traces
still remain. Near this were covers well preserved and
stocked with all sorts of game, such as deer, wild pigs,
hares, wolves and leopards; and during his absence none
dared to interfere with his preserves. He never remained
for more than a month in any one place, and at each of
his hunting-lodges he caused a month’s provisions to be
kept. In the highlands he had ninety-three wives, each of
whom had her own special palace and servants and plate
and furniture. For his first and favourite wife, Ramja Ha-
ruya, he built a lofty palace on the sea-shore at the village of
Yazddn-dbad, on which he spent much money, furnishing it
in the most sumptuous fashion; and he used to visit her

1 C. Shihdila , &oxis,
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always once a month, while to her care were entrusted his
most ' precious possessions. If by any chance he was prevented
from paying her this monthly visit, he used to send her an
apology, and a gift of a thousand dirndrs. She bore him a
son named Hurmuz, whom he nominated as his successor.
Amongst his other wives was Azarmi Dukht, the daughter
of the Ispahbad Farrukhdn, called Girdn Gushwdr (“She of
the Heavy Ear-rings”), and his cousin Ydkand (“Jacinth” or
“Hyacinth”, daxiv3os), the daughter of Farrukhdn the Lesser.
The Ispahbad was particularly attached to the former, and
often used to make his hunting expeditions a pretext for
visiting her. Ydkand was a quarrelsome and masterful wo-
man, and, having discovered her husband’s clandestine visits
to Girdn Gushwdr, instructed her servants and the villagers
to go with spades, pick-axes and other implements, and
destroy and obliterate the road to Ispahbaddn, where Girdn
Gushwdr dwelt, and to clear and improve the road to her
own palace. So at midnight the Ispahbad, who had drunk
freely, mounted his horse to go to Ispahbaddn, but was di-
rected by Yakand’s coadjutors to the abode of their mis-
tress. On arriving there, he knew that a trick had been
played on him, and he sent in a message, saying, “I have
four hundred men with me: can’st thou provide food for
such a multitude?” Ydkand ordered 400 cows to be sent
out to then, and with each cow 400 sheep and 400 ass-
loads [of provisions], and entertained them all for three
days, at the end of which time she gave to each horseman
a foal aud a calf, and to each footman three suits of clo-
thes and an embroidered blanket (Jas  oal).

The Ispahbad Khurshid had a general named Qdrin,
after whom was named the village of Qdrin-4bdd in Panjih-
hazir and Maydndarid, wherein he stored his treasures. It
is now in ruins. His body-guard comprised 4000 men, and
he always wore brocade, and sat on a golden throne, and
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exercised the fullest authority over the Ispahbad’s people,
both men and women. And when the Isfahbad had reigned
a long while (f. 854), he became filled with pride and self-
assurance, and took no heed of anyone, and paid no at-
tention to the nobles, so that the hearts of his people were
alienated by his tyranny and arrogance, and they sought a
pretext to rebel against him.

How the Ispahbad Khurshid revolted against
the Caliph Mansir.

When the Caliph al-Mansur slew Abt Muslim, and news
of this came to his friend and ally Sindbdd in Ray, he
sent all the treasures and cattle which Abd Muslim had
confided to him to the Ispahbad, as a trust, together with
a present of six million dirkams, and at the same time cast
off his allegiance to al-Mansur, and revolted against him.
The Caliph thereupon sent Jumhir b. Marir from Baghdad
to fight against him; and he came to Ray and defeated
Sindbdd at Jurjunbdni (? Jurkhiydni). Sindb4d fled to Tabaristdn
and sought protection with the Ispahbad, who sent his
cousin Tis out to meet him, with provisions, presents,
horses and arms. When Tis met Sindbdd, he alighted from
his horse and saluted him, while Sindbad answered him
from his saddle, and did not alight to do him honour.
Thereat Tis was angered and said, “I am one of the Is-
pahbad’s cousins, and he sent me out to do thee honour.
It was not contemplated that thou should’st treat me with
disrespect.” To this speech Sindbdd returned a harsh answer,
and Tus, remounting his horse, soon found an opportunity
to smite Sindbad with his sword and cut off his head, after
which he brought all his retainers and stores to the Ispah-
bad, who was greatly vexed, reviled Tus, and took possession
of all Abi Muslim’s and Sindbdd’s property. News of this
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was sent by Jumhir to the Caliph, who instructed his ge-
neral to demand the surrender of this property from the
Ispahbad. At this time °Abdu’l-Jabbdr b. ‘Abdu’r-Rahmain
was in Khurdsidn. The Ispahbad sent one of his chamber-
lains named Firdz with Sindbdd’s head to the Caliph, who
received him with great honour. On learning this, the Is-
pahbad sent Firuz once more to the Caliph with a gift of
precious stones and rare products of Tabaristdn. The Caliph
then requested him to hand over the treasures of Abu
Muslim and Sindbdd, but the Ispahbad persisted in declaring
that they were not in his possession, and finally broke out
into open revolt against the Caliph, who thereupon sent his
son al-Mahdi to Ray, bidding him seize the Ispahbad’s son
Hurmuz as a hostage for the father’s loyalty. The Ispahbad,
on receiving this demand, replied that his son was too
young to bear the fatigues of the journey, and al-Mahd{
wrote to his father the Caliph, advising him not to press
this demand, lest the Ispahbad should break into more open
revolt. So al-Mansur sent him a royal crown and robe of
honour, and the Ispahbad, being pleased thereat, consented
to send to the Court of Baghdad the same tribute which
Tabaristin had formerly paid to the Sdsinian kings, to
wit: a poll-tax of one dirkam of gold for each inhabitant;
300,000 dirkams, each containi‘ng four dings (i.e. %[, = ?/,)
of “white” silver; 300 bales of green silk carpets and
quilts; (f. 86a) the same amount of good coloured cotton;
the same amount of gold-embroidered garments of the kinds
called Ruyédni and Laftraj; the same amount of saffron,
which is of a kind unequalled in all the world; and a cer-
tain amount of sea-fish. All this tribute was laden on forty
mules, on each of which was mounted a Turkish slave or
hand-maiden.

Now the sight of this tribute of Tabaristin did but in-
flame the Caliph al-Mansir’s desire to posssess so rich a
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povince; and he sent a verbal message to the Ispahbad
bidding him help his troops in repelling the attacks of
‘Abdvu’l-Jabbdr. He also wrote to his son al-Mahd{, who
was at Ray, bidding him write to the Ispahbad that, owing
to the drought and consequent scarcity of food, it was im-
possible for all his army to follow the same route, and that
he desired the Ispahbad’s permission for one division of
them to pass through Tabaristdn.

Account of the Caliph’s treachery towards
the Ispahbad.

At the command of his father the Caliph, al-Mahdi sent
as ambassador to the Ispahbad a certain Persian (s} Iy g0
ekl OYf) with the request suggested by al-Mangdr. The
Ispahbad was at Isfahbaddn, and when the ambassador had
conveyed to him the message with which he was charged,
he shewed him all honour, and answered that his country
was the property of the Commander of the Faithful, who
could do whatever seemed good in his eyes. When the
ambassador had left the audience-chamber, his Persian pro-

clivities (wweE wag) impelled him to declare to the Is-
pahbad the treachery meditated by the Caliph. So he called
the Ispahbad’s chamberlain, and said, “I have an important
communication for the Ispahbad’s private ear.” When this
request was communicated to the Ispahbad, he said, “It is
but this moment that he left me (f. 864); what matter of
importance can have arisen so soon?”’ “Perhaps,” said the
chamberlain, “he cherishes some vain hope, and desires to
crave some boon of you'.” “Tell him,” said the Ispahbad,
“that the ladies of the Royal Household are with me in
the Palace, and that consequently you could not convey
my message.” When the ambassador heard this message,
he knew that Fate could not be averted, and said to him-
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self, “Alas for all this pomp and circumstance and sove-
reignty which is to be cast to the winds! When Decline
sets its face towards a house, no scheme or plan of its
chiefs goes right. This man, for all his talents, can send
me so flimsy an excuse! Fate and Destiny have, for the
Caliph’s satisfaction, let down the veil of ignorance before
the face of the Ispahbad’s discernment, so that he cannot
see a fact which is as plain as daylight!”
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So the ambassador came back to al-Mahdi at Ray, and
conveyed to him the Ispahbad’s answer; and al-Mahdi de-
spatched Abuw’l-Khudayb Marziq as-Sa’di, the client of al-
Muthannd b. al-Hajjij, by way of Zdrim and Shah-kuh,
while he sent Abui “Awn b. ‘Abdu’lldh by way of Gurgdn
to effect a junction with him. And the Ispahbad had trans-
ferred the dwellers in the plain to the highlands, lest any
collision should take place between them and the Caliph’s
troops: not knowing that the intention of the latter was to
destroy and dispossess him.

Account of ‘Amr b. ‘Ald in Amul

Abu’l-Khudayb chose as his guide a certain “Amr (? “Umar)
b. °Ald, who had, on account of a murder which he had
committed in Gurgdn, taken refuge with the Ispahbad,
under whose protection he had lived for a long while, during
which time he had obtained full knowledge of the country,
and of all its roads, fords and passes. But now he had
joined himself to the Caliph’s troops, and was sent with
2000 horsemen to attack Amul (f'. 87a). The Marzubdn of
this city, who held his office from the Ispahbad, came out
to meet him in battle; but he was slain, and Amul was
occupied by ‘Umar b. “Ald, who proclaimed a just adminis-
tration to all the inhabitants, and invited them to embrace
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Islim. And the people, being, as already said, disgusted with
the Ispahbad’s arrogance, came in in crowds, embraced
Islim, and surrendered up their arms and possessions.
Shortly after this, news of the death of ‘Abdu’l-Jabbar
arrived, and the invaders, being no longer anxious about
Khurdsdn, settled down in Tabaristdn.

Now on the top of Darband-i-Kila near the road to
Aram there is a palace (3b), now known as “A’isha Kar-
gili Dizh, where ten years’ supply of water was stored up
in reservoirs, with corn, bread, and other provisions, and
which could be approached only by one gate of solid stone
which it required 500 men to open and 500 men to shut;
and when it was shut, no one could detect its position.
There the Ispahbad Khurshid placed his wives, children,
nobles, and other dependents, while he himself, with his
retainers and a few loads of gold, sent out for Daylam by
way of Ldrijdn to obtain reinforcements.

The Muslim army, on learning his movements, set out in
pursuit, but he reached Rudydn with the loss of only a few
men and animals, and thence pushed on to Daylam, where
he remained for two years and seven months, while the
Muslims besieged his stronghold, until he had gathered to-
gether 50,000 men of Gil and Daylam. But the plague
attacked his stronghold, and in one day 400 persons died,
and such was the stench of their bodies that the garrison
were obliged to capitulate to the Muslims, who spent seven
days in bringing the stores and treasures out of the Castle,
Then they prepared to send the women, with all respect and
honour, to the Caliph. The Muslim general desired Azarmi-
Dukht and Ramja Hardya to surrender themselves to him,
but they both refused. Of Khurshid’s daughters, who were
as beautiful as the moon, he gave one to “Abbds b. Mu-
hammad al-Hdshim{, who named her Amatu’r-Rahmdn (“the
Hand-maiden of the All-Merciful”), while another the Ca-
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liph himself took. All of them urged the Caliph to give
the kingdom of Tabaristdn to their father, and to this the
Caliph consented, and despatched a messenger with orders
to this effect, but he got no further than Hulwdn, for the
Ispahbad Khurshid, filled with despair at the disaster which
had befallen him, and unable to bear the disgrace, took
poison and died. With him ended the line of Jildnshah,
which had reigned in Tabaristdn for 119 years.

Account of the governors and rulers who
were sent from Baghdad to rule over
Tabaristidn after the extirpation
of the Line of Jildnshdh.

The first “Abbdsid governor of Tabaristin was the already-
mentioned Abu’l-Khudayb, and the first building erected
there by the Muslims was the Great Mosque of Sarf, which
he caused to be built on a Monday in the month of Abdn
in the year A.H. 140 (A.D. 757—8), on which date Amul
was occupied and Tabaristin practically conquered by the
Muslims. Abuw’l-Khudayb was governor for two years, and
was succeeded by Abid Khuzayma, who settled armed gar-
risons throughout the country as follows: in Tammisha
1000 Arabs under Fakhr b. ‘Abdv’lldh al-Khuzd; in Rdd-
bar, two parasangs from Tammisha, 500 men under Rabi*
b. ‘Urwén; in Kusdn 300 men under Abuw’l-“Ammdr al-*Atiq{;
in Asrdmil 500 men under Ibrdhim b. Ishdq ash-Shdmi; in
Simta 500 men under Kirmdn al-Bukhdri; in Kisin 500
men of Khurdsin under Nih (_awlo! o) in Dizwén in the
district of Panjih-hazdr 1000 men under Jili b. Sa‘d al-
Marwazi; in Dui-Ab 500 men under “‘Umar b. Sa“ld; in
Mihrawdn 1000 men under Khalaf b. ‘Abdv’lldh; in Asram
500! men; in Azdara 300 men under Ziydd b. H4zim 2; in

! B. “300". 2 B. “J4zim"'.
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Awsarzin 1000! men under Khalifa b. sJ>; in Awrdrdbdd
above Paricha 5002 men; in Rawd 300 men under Walid
b. Maysara; in the city of Sdrf 1000 men; in Artd 500
men of Tabaristdn; in Kaskardd * 500 men under Muhammad
b. N#’ib; in Khurramibid 1000 men under ‘Abduw’lldh b.
Sayf; in Chamani * 1000 men under Miskin b. Ghazdl ash-
Shimi; in Firim 500 men under Khalifa b. Bahrdm; in
Yazddndbdd 500 men under ‘Umar b. °Ald; in Kild 300
men under Nasrin b. as-Sunqur; in Mdmtir 1000 men under
Saldim b. Quddma (f. 88a4); in Siliyin near Lufdr 1000
men; in Nishdpiriyya 300 men under Ibn Salma al-Q&’id
of Nishdpir; in Tédbarin 500 men under Muhammad b.
‘Abbds as-Salmi; in Isfandiydr 3000 men; in Taricha 1500
men under Muslim b. Khilid; in Fath... (<Jd éé)” 500
men from Nisd and Bdward; in Jdbardn 300 men under
Muhammad b. ‘Abduv’lldh; in Masla Zarrin Kidl, 1000 men;
in Amul 3000 men under the officers, allies and magistrates
of the Caliph; in Jildnibdd above Rdn-Kih 1000 mer under
Nasr b. ‘Imrdn of Khurdsdn; in Pd-yi-Dasht 500 men under
‘Amir b. Adam; in Haldwdn 500 men, first under al-Mu-
thannd b. al-Hajjdj, and then under Muhammad b. °Afil;
in Nétil soo men under Sad b. Maymuin; in Bahrdm Dih
500 men under ‘Umar b. Bahrdm “Isi; in Qard-Tughdn of
Bidld-rdh, 500 men under Yisuf b. “Abdu’r-Rahmdn; in W4-
lishjird 800 men under °Alf b. Jastdn ; in Kajwihi Qasabatu’r-
Riydn 6000 men under “‘Umar b. al-“Al4; in Jirishjird-Sa®(d-
dbid 500 men under Sa‘idd b. ‘Umar b. al-“Ald; in Kaldr,
the beginning of Daylam, 1000 men; in the Highlands (K#-
histdn) of Jiparm (?epe>) 1000 Arabs; and in as-Sa‘idf
500 men.

After a year [? Abu’l-Khuzayma] was dismissed, and re-

1 B. “500". 2 B. “1000".
3 A, 4Jangrid”. 4 B. “Khamby”.
5 So A. and C. B. kb éé.
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placed by Rdh b. Hédtim b. Qaysar b. al-Muhallab, who
was made governor in A.H. 144 (= A.D. 761—2), but a
year later, being convicted of tyranny and injustice, he
was replaced by Khdlid b. Barmak, who took up his abode
at a place called after him Khdlida-Sardy. He also built for
himself a palace at Amul, and ruled for four years, building
many public buildings and developing the resources of the
country, until at the end of this period he was replaced by
*‘Amr b. al-°Al4, during whose governorship the Caliph al-
Mansir died, and was succeeded by (f. 884) his son al-
Mahdi. He, being informed that “Amr b. al-°‘Ald had sought
the hand of the daughter of Mihriya in marriage, was
angered against him and dismissed him. Sa‘d b. Dafaj
succeeded him as governor, and held this position for three
years. At this period a Sayyid of the House of Abu Tdlib

named Husayn b. ‘Ali, commonly called 23 w=bo, revolted
in the Hijdz, and was joined by many other Sayyids. The
Caliph sent Misd b. “Isd and Sirrf b. “Abduw’lldh al-“Abbdsf,
with other Amirs and officers, to fight him. The Battle
took place at Fakhkh, and the Sayyid was slain, together
with many of his companions. Some few, however, escaped,
and made their way to al-Madina, where Musd b. “Isi was
holding his court and audience, at which, to avert suspicion
of disaffection, most of the chief men of al-Madina were
present. Presently Mds4 b. “Abdv’lldh b. al-Hasan b. al-Hasan
b. “Ali b. ‘Ab{ T4lib, who had escaped from the baftle,
came in, clad in a course woollen cuirass (s ,0), slashed
with sword-cuts, and sandals of camel’s skin, and sat down
in the lowest place. Immediately afterwards the Imdm Musd
b. Ja“far al-K4dhim entered. Mdsd b. “Isd rose to meet him,
and caused him to sit in an honourable place. Sirri b.
‘Abdv’lldh al-‘Abbdsi turned to Misd b. ‘Abdw’lldh b. al-
Hasan and said, “What dost thou think of the stricken field
of rebellion and treachery? Why dost thou not withhold thy
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hand from such deeds, that thy cousins (meaning the ‘Ab-
bdsids) might enrich thee and treat thee with honour?”
Musd replied, “Our relation towards you is like what has
been said in this verse:” '

Pl S K LD Gl o b, U S
“Good!” exclaimed Sirrf; “it is even so: naught accrues
to you save abasement and humiliation. If you would only
be quiet as is your cousin here, Misd b. Ja“far, notwith-
standing all his learning, piety, nobility and ascetic life (f.
8ga), would it not be better?” Thereupon Misd b. “Abdu’llih
extemporised the following verses:
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Now since the Caliph al-Mahdf was preoccupied with
these matters, Sa‘{d b. Da‘laj remained two years and three
months as Governor of Tabaristin ere he was recalled, and
‘Amr b. al-Ald was again sent to replace him. He it was
who built the village of ‘Amr (? “Umar) Kaldda, situated
near Wana-bun, as well as another town called ‘Umar
(* Amr)-4bdd. In this year there was a great earthquake;
and Ahmad b. Hanbal declared at Baghdad that heavier
taxes should be imposed on the people of Tabaristdn, as
well as a 10°/, tithe on cereals, because the country had not
surrendered willingly, but had been taken by force. A year
later “Amr b. al-Al4 was replaced by Yahyd b. Mikhndq (B.
i), who dealt gently with the people, till he was in turn
replaced by ‘Abdu’l-Hamid Madrib, who vexed the people
with new and oppressive taxes.

Rule of th(;. sons of Sukhrd and revolt of
Wandid Hurmuzd.

Then arose Wanddd Hurmuzd, the son of Alandd, the
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son of Qdrin, the son of Siukhri, who has been already
mentioned in speaking of the Garshdhs (Farshdhs) or kings
of the Mountains; for the word Far (or Gar) is applied to
mountain-land susceptible of cultivation, and Gdw-bdra had
given this land to this family, who had held it for a hund-
red years. Now the inhabitants of Ummidwar-Kih came
to Wanddd Hurmuzd to complain of the tyranny and exact-
ions of the Caliph’s governors, promising him their support
if he would rebel against them, whereby they might escape
from the tyranny which was crushing them down, and
he might recover the authority enjoyed by his ancestors.
He answered them that he must first consult with (f. 8g4)
the Ispahbad Sharwin, the king of the Mountains, and seek
for the support of the Mas-mughdn Waldsh; and that if
these consented to help him, he would revolt against the
Caliph. So he sent messengers to Sharwin at Shahriydr-kih
in Farim, and to the Mas-mughdn at Maydndarid, both of
whom agreed to help him, and encouraged him in his en-
terprise. A day was then fixed on which the people of
Tabaristin should make a general massacre of all the Arabs
and servants of the Caliph. This was done; and so tho-
roughly were the Tabaristanis in accord that women who
were married to followers of the Caliph dragged them out
of their houses by their beards, and delivered them over to
the executioners, so that in all Tabaristin not an Arab was
left. When Hammdl b. ‘Umar ad-Duhali and Khdlid b.
Barmak, whom the Caliph had sent to Ray, received news
of this, they despatched tidings to Baghdad, and al-Mahd{
sent Sdlim of Farghdna, one of his most trusted officers,
whom he had nick-named “the Devil of Farghdna” to enquire
into and report on the matter. On learning the truth, the
Caliph exclaimed, “Is there no one who will go to Tabar-
istdn and bring me the head of Wanddd Hurmuzd?”’ Silim
offered himself, and the Caliph despatched him with a fol-
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lowing of brave and hardy soldiers. On arriving in Tabar-
istdn, he encamped in the plain of Asram, where Wandad
Hurmuzd came to meet him, accompanied by a great host.
Sdlim was mounted on a favourite piebald horse, well known
throughout ‘Irdq-i-“Arab. He at once rode at Wanddd Hur-
muzd and smote at him with his great mace, which weighed
twenty maunds, splitting the shield with which he sought
to parry the blow (f. goa), but nor succeeding in inflicting
on him any further injury. At dusk they ceased from
battle, and Wanddd Hurmuzd and his men encamped at
Hurmuzddbdd. Next day they fell to banqueting and drink-
ing. Wanddd Hurmuzd had a black horse, which had on
its neck a curious mole, and which was of incomparable
excellence. This he had saddled with a golden saddle and
caparisoned with jewelled trappings, and when it was brought
before him he said, “O people, know that this is our anta-
gonist whom ye have seen, and whose pomp and power ye
have witnessed. And ye are all of you the bravest men of
Tabaristﬁn. Which of you will take this caparisoned horse
and do battle with him?” Thrice he made this appeal, and
no one responded to it, until at last one of his sons, a lad
named Wandd-ummid, and called Khuddwand-i-Kaldlak, ad-
vanced, kissed the ground, and said, “By thy good fortune
I am he who shall bring thee thine enemy’s head; and for
this I desire nothing but the horse.” “When,” said Wandid
Hurmuzd, “hast thou contended with warriors and taken
part in such contests?” The lad, however, persisted in his
resolve, in spite of the attempts to dissuade him made by
his father and his maternal uncle Qiéhydr, who was finally
bidden to accompany his nephew, notwithstanding his weak-
ness and old age. The bravest men were chosen to accom-
pany them, and a cow-herd named Ardashirak Bibliraj
(f. 9ob), who knew all the intricacies of the thickets and
forests, was sent to lead them by secret paths against
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S4lim, who, being taken by surprise,. was slain by Wanda-
ummid in single combat, at Harsa-madl, three parasangs
from Amul, or, as some say, at Asram, at the place now
called Hi-H{-Kaydn. So the lad Wand4-ummid came back
in triumph to his father, Wanddd-Hurmuzd, and was re-
ceived by him with great honour and rejoicing, and ever
afterwards permitted to sit beside him on his golden throne.
And Sdlim was esteemed by the Caliph as equivalent in
value to a thousand horsemen'.

Account of the war with Firdsha.

When the news of the death of Sdlim reached the Ca-
liph, he was greatly vexed, and despatched another army
of 10,000 men under an Amir named Firdsha against Ta-
baristin, at the same time sending messages to Khilid-i-
Barmaki, Ward-i-Asfar (“Yellow Rose”) and Hammadd at
Ray, bidding them afford him any help of which he might
stand in need. So Firdsha, re-inforced by further levies,
advanced to Aram, meeting with no resistance, for Wand4d
Hurmuzd had ordered that none should oppose them or
contest their advance, so that they might wax bold and
careless (f. 912). He himself retired to Kuld, near which, at
Gawdzini, he constructed two great dykes (dar-band), one
above and one below. Then he sent to the Ispahbad Shar-
win, who was at Parim and Kamimndm, bidding him come
and help him; but Sharwin delayed and procrastinated so
that Firdsha was convinced of his weakness and helpless-
ness. Wanddd Hurmuzd had prepared 400 trumpets and
400 drums, and he assembled at Gawdizidni all his kinsmen
and trusted warriors, whom he drew up in two ranks, with
4000 of his people, both men and women, to each of whom

1 4. ¢. he held the rank and title of Hazdr-mard,
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he gave an axe. He then explained to them his plan,
which was that he himself should advance a little way
towards the enemy with a hundred men, but that as soon
as he had been seen by Firdsha and his troops, he should
fall back, followed by the enemy, whom he would thus
lure within the two silent lines of his followers. Then,
when they were all within the ambush, he would beat a
drum; and at this sign all his followers were to begin to
blow the 400 trumpets, beat the 400 drums, and fell trees
with the 4000 axes. A]l this was duly carried out; and
when the troops of Firdsha heard this turmoil and uproar,
they were filled with consternation, and were easily routed.
Firdsha himself was taken captive, and brought before the
Ispahbad, who ordered his head to be struck off, and him-
self put on his cloak, cap, belt and sword; but quarter was
accorded to the remaining prisoners. At this juncture the
Ispahbad Sharwin arrived, and was given one third of the
spoils (f. 914). Wanddd Hurmuzd related to his son Qarin
that he had dreamed that he slew a wolf; that after this
another wolf came and was also slain by him; that there-
after a leopard came, and he slew it, cut off its head, and
clothed himself in its skin; and that last of all a lion came
and grappled with him, and wounded him with its claws,
until at last with a great effort he freed himself from it.
The first wolf was Taym b. Sindn; the second, Khalifa b.
Mihrdn; the leopard, in whom skin Wanddd clothed him-
self, was Firdsha; and the lion was Yaz{d b. Marthad.

When the news of Firdsha’s death reached the Caliph al-
Mahdf, he sent to Tabaristan Ruh b. Hdtim, a tyrant of
evil life, concerning whose dismissal from office Abd Jaysh
al-Hildl{ said:
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He was succeeded by Khidlid b. Barmak, who maintained
friendly relations with Wanddd Hurmuzd, and allowed him
to possess the highlands in peace. When he was dismissed
and was leaving Amul, a tradesman who was standing near
at hand said, “Praise be to God that we are delivered from
thy tyranny.” This was reported to Khilid, who caused the
tradesman to be brought before him, and reproached him
and struck off his head. Thence he proceeded to Sari,
where the people came out to meet him with presents; and
he abode there for a time, bestowing many gifts on the
people.

He was succeeded by ‘Amr b. “Ald, who fought with
Wanddd Hurmuzd, took from him his highland domains
(f. 92a2), and pressed him so hard that he was unable to
dwell any longer in the cultivated lands, but was driven
into the forests. So his affairs continued to grow worse, until
one day one of his followers was taken captive and brought
before ‘Amr b. °Ald, who ordered him to be beheaded;
but the man prayed for mercy, promising in return to bring
the Amir the head of Wanddd Hurmuzd. The Amir asked
what surety he proposed to give for the due performance
of his promise. “This blanket,” replied the man, “which I
wear on my back.” The Amir laughed and said, “If he is
faithful to his promise, it will be like the bow of H4jib b.
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Zurdra at-Tamimi and Kisrd.” Concerning this story, which

is well known and need not be repeated here, a.poet says:

“”_>L>U~JJL5:U iL_;;&éj

- G - oE .

u;>l> U"J’ u.s)&;_fi Gk wadl

“And I,” added the Amir, “will deal with him as Kisri
dealt with Hdjib b. Zurdra.” So they kept him a prisoner
as they advanced, until he said, “Do you remain here that
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I may go and get news and return.” So he went away,
and Wanddd Hurmuzd prepared an ambush for the Muslims
and slew most of them. “Amr b. ‘Ald escaped with a few
followers, and the Caliph al-Mahdi, angered at his defeat,
sent Taym b. Sindn, who made peace with Wanddd
Hurmuzd.

Then the Caliph sent Yazid b. Marthad, who fought
against Wanddd Hurmuzd, conquered him, slew many of
his followers, and occupied the whole country; till finally,
meeting him in single combat, he wounded him severely,
and Wanddd Hurmuzd, accompanied only by a few followers,
became a fugitive in the forests.

After this the Caliph al-Mahdi sent his son Musd al-Hdd{
to Gurgdn, and to him Wanddd Hurmuzd surrendered on
promise of pardon; whereupon Misd wrote to Yazid b.
Marthad bidding him give up the highlands to him. Thence,
taking Wanddd Hurmuzd with him, he marched back
through ‘Irdq to Baghdad. On the way thither he received
news of the death of his father al-Mahdi; so he hastened
on to Baghdad and was formally invested with the title of
Caliph. Soon afterwards the younger brother of Wanddd
Hurmuzd (f. 926) Wanddsafin beheaded Bahrdm b. Firdz,
who, at the Caliph’s persuasion, had embraced Isldm. The
Caliph thereupon summoned Wanddd Hurmuzd before him
and ordered him to be beheaded at once; but he craved
mercy, declaring that his brother’s sole object in killing the
Caliph’s servant was to rid himself of him, since he reckoned
on the Caliph avenging himself on Wanddd-Hurmuzd, and
hoped thereby to inherit the highlands of Tabaristin.
“Therefore,” he concluded, “if the Caliph desires that he
should attain his object, let him kill me; but if not, let
him send me to bring him or his head to the Caliph.”
Both “Isd b. Mdhdn and Murdd b. Muslim were present,
and both exclaimed: “Why should the Commander of the
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Faithful forbid this? This is the best plan.” So the Caliph
despatched Wanddd Hurmuzd with a robe of honour and
the necessary equipment. On reaching Tabaristdn, he pro-
strated himself on the earth in thankfulness, and sent a
message to Wandasafin bidding him keep in hiding and
avoid him at all hazards; and he continued to pretend to
pursue him till, on one night, Misd al-Hdd{ died, Hdrunu’r-
Rashid became Caliph, and al-Ma’min was born.

Harunu’r-Rashid was an obstinate, warlike, masterful and
self-willed Caliph, and he despatched Sulaymdn b. Misd to
Tabaristin, where he was governor for eight months, when
he was replaced by Hddi b. Hdni, a mild and just governor,
who maintained friendly relations with Wanddd Hurmuzd,
and kept the country tranquil and quiet. He was succeeded
by ‘Abdv’lldh b. Qahtaba, and he in turn by ‘Uthmén b.
Nahik, who built the Great Mosque of Amul. Next came
Sa“ld b. Salma b. Qutayba b. Muslim, who was replaced
after six months by Hammdl and ‘Abdv’llih, the sons of
‘Abdu’l-‘Aziz. Ten months later, in A.H. 179 (= A.D.
795—6) these were superseded by Muthannd b. al-Hajjdj
(f. 93a), who remained one year, and repaired the walls of
Amul and Sdrf, which were afterwards destroyed by Mdz-
yar. And after him came “Abdu’lldh b. Hdizim.

The Rebellion of the people of Rustamdir.

The deputy of this last governor, who was named Saldm
and nicknamed Siydk Mard (“the Black Man”), was expelled
from his province, and entered into a league with the Day-
lamites. There was at Kaldr a very beautiful woman, whom
they seized, in order to create trouble; but she cast herself
into a stream and drowned herself. The deputy-governor
of ‘Abdw’llih was at Kajd, and, on hearing of this, he at
once hastened to Jdlis, when there was a judge named



133

Sudim who was accused of being the cause of the mischief,
and who fled into hiding. The deputy-governor caused pro-
clamation to be made throughout the country that whoever
should find this judge and give him quarter would be no
longer accounted a Muslim, but would be reckoned an out-
law. At length the judge was captured by the people and
bound to a tree for three days and nights; and Saldm or-
dered that all the people of that district should come in,
so that he might fulfil their desires and grant their wishes.
So they came in, hopeful and jubilant; but he shut them
all up in houses, and set sentries over them. It was then
the month of Ramaddn, and in the evening, before he had
performed the evening prayer, he mounted his horse, broke
his fast in the saddle with some bread and a few bunches
of grapes plucked from a neighbouring garden, and had his
prisoners brought out one by one from their confinement
and decapitated. This work of slaughter went on all night
by candle-light, and when morning dawned not one of the
prisoners was left alive. Then he said, “I am like this
candle; as it burns itself to give light to you, so have I
cast myself into torment to make the country safe for you.”
Thence he went to Sa‘{ld-ibdd, drove the people out of
their fortifications by assault, slew then all, and destroyed
the village, till at length Hdrinu’r-Rashid dismissed him
from his government, and appointed Muhammad b. Yahyid
b. Khdlid al-Barmak{ and his brother Musd to succeed him,
while their brothers Fadl b. Yahyd and Ja‘far were the
Caliph’s ministers at Baghdad (f. 934). The two former
ruled oppressively over Tabaristdn, confiscating every estate
and seizing every beautiful woman just as they pleased;
and none dared make complaint against them to the
Caliph for fear of the influence wielded by their brothers
at the court. At length Harin’s anger was aroused against
Ja“far, and he ordered the family of the Barmecides to be
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destroyed. Concerning the cause of his anger, two separate
traditions are recorded in history.

Cause of the Extirpation of the Barmecides.

When Hdrinu’r-Rashid, wishing to be able to enjoy the
society of his sister “Abbdsa and Ja‘far the Barmecide at
the same time, married them to one another on the con-
dition that this marriage was to be a marriage in name
only, “Abbdsa was unable to control her love for Ja“far, and
wrote to him:
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So Ja© far, fearing to offend Abbasa, gave her the love
she sought, and the result of this union was a child whom
they called Haml “A’isha. It is related on the authority of
Nawfalf that in A. H. 180 (= A. H. 796—7) Hirdinv’r-
Rashid went on the pilgrimage, and received tidings of this
event on the journey, but made no sign of pleasure or
displeasure, until he returned and reached Buhayra, where
he embarked in a skiff with Jafar to go fishing. On his
return from this expedition he proceeded to Ambdr, where
he said to Ja‘far, “Today I shall be with my karam, and 1
give you permission to go to your family and amuse your-
self as you will.” All day Hartin kept sending him presents,
until, when the time of evening prayer was at hand, the
blind minstrel Abd Rakdz sang these verses:
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Jafar said to Abu Rakdz, “What song is this to sing be-
fore men?’ He replied, “O my master, however much I
strive, I can think of no other verses.” While they were
thus conversing, suddenly Masrir the executioner entered
without seeking p'ermission, for the Caliph had sent him to
cut off Jafar’s head and bring it to him. When Ja"far saw
him, he sprang to his feet and cried, “O Abd Hashim, I
rejoice that thou art come to me, but am sorry that thou
didst enter without seeking permission.” “I am come,” said
Masrdr, “on a weighty errand: submit thyself to the com-
mand of the Prince of Believers.” Jafar fell at his feet,
saying, “Suffer me to go into the house and perform my
ablutions.” “It is out of the question,” replied Masrir,
“that you should go to the house, but make such testament-
ary dispositions as you please.” So Ja‘far set free his slaves
and made his will and performed his ablutions; and then
Masrir mounted him on a horse and brought him to the
prison. Ja‘far then conjured him to go and tell the Caliph
that he had brought him thither, that perhaps he might
repent. To this Masrir consented; but no sooner did Ha-
rinuw’r-Rashid hear his advancing footsteps than he called
out to him, “Stop there! For if thou comest hither with-
out the head of Jafar, thine own head shall be forfeit!” So
Masrir turned back and cut off Ja®far’s head, and brought
it on a shield to the Caliph, who at once ordered Yahyd
b. Khilid and Fadl to be cast into prison, and the body
of Jafar to be hanged on the bridge at Anbdr. But after-
wards Hdrin was sorry for what he had done, and wandered
through the palace reciting these verses:
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The other account, given by al-Asma‘i in his Kitdbu °n-
Nawddir, on the authority of Abd °“Abdilldh (f. g44) al-
Hasan b. ‘Ali b. Hishdm, is as follows. “When al-Ma’mun
succeeded to the Caliphate,” says the narrator, “I enquired
of Fadl b. Rabi, who was Héarinu’r-Rash{d’s chief chamber-
lain, ‘Was this matter of ‘Abbdsa the only cause of the
slaughter of the Barmecides, or had they committed any

other fault?” Fadl b. Rab{° smiled and said: wabi lgp gl e
(‘Thou hast fallen on him who is best acquainted with it’).
This Fadl was unequalled in understanding, and from him
Haranu’r-Rashid had no secrets. It is related that when al-
Ma’min obtained possession of Baghdad, Fadl was brought
before him as a prisoner, with his hands bound behind
him. Al-Ma’min looked at him to see whether he would
say anything, or apologize, or crave forgiveness; but he did
not raise his eyes from the ground and maintained com-
plete silence. “Was it in such wise,” at length exclaimed
al-Ma’muin, “that thou dids’t order the affairs of two Ca-

»

liphs?”’ “O Prince of Believers,” replied Fadl, “my tongue
spoke to grant requests, not to crave them.” So al-Ma’mun,
being pleased with his answer, forgave him, and ordered him
to be escorted to his house with candles and lanterns. But
he said, “O Prince of Believers, suffer me rather to go lighted
by the light of thine approval!” Later, when he was sick,
al-Ma’min sent a tessenger to enquire after his health, and
to say, “I am well pleased with thee, therefore ask me
what thou wilt.” He replied, “I stand more in need of
God’s good pleasure than of thine, and more in need of
health than of thy abundant possessions.”

Now according to this Fadl, the cause of Hdrin’s anger
against the Barmecides was that he had entrusted to Ja“far
a son of Yahya b. Zayd to keep him in safe custody. One
day while drinking wine he said to Ja"far, “Go, and bring
the lad hither.” “Why dost thou want him at such a time?”
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enquired Ja“far. Then Harin cried out at him in anger, and
he arose and brought in the Sayyid. Harin caused him to
be seated, and then said to him, “O cousin, knowest thou
wherefore 1 have sent for thee?” “The Prince of Believers
knoweth best,” replied the other. “You pretend,” said Ha-
rinuw’r-Rashfd, “that you are more worthy than we of this
office, being more closely (f. g52) and particularly related
to the Prophet. Now you must have some proof for this
pretention, and this you must make known to me.” “God
forbid!” replied the son of Yahyd: “we have never said
and will never say such a thing as this!” “Thou liest!”
answered Hdrin: “you have advanced such claims, and to-
night you must needs substantiate them.” So the Sayyid
continued to deny and the Caliph, with drunken insistence,
to assert, until the latter had finally work himself up into
a rage. Then Ja‘far intervened and said to the son of
Yahyd, “The Prince of Believers is holding a scientific dis-
cussion with you, and questions you with such courtesy
and kindness; why then do you decline to discuss the
matter, or to answer him?:” *“If I should answer,” replied
the Sayyid, “who will guarantee my safety?” Then the
Caliph wrote him an assurance of safety in his own hand,
swearing that he would neither slay, not hang, not poison
him; and placed this document in his hands. “Now,” said
the Sayyid, “what dost thou ask of me?’ “The proof,”
said Hérdnu’r-Rashid, “that you are worthier than we are.”
“We are more worthy,” replied the Sayyid, “as being
nearer of kin.” “Nay,” said the Caliph, “we are in this re-
spect equal.” “Not so,” answered the Sayyid. “By what
proof?” demanded the Caliph. “If Muhammad the Apostle
of God were alive,” said the Sayyid, “and should seek
alliance with thee through a sister or a daughter, would’st
thou consent or not?” “Yes,” answered Hdrin, “why should
I not accept so worthy an alliance?” “I would not,” re-
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joined the Sayyid, “and it would be improper for me to do
s0.”” Hérdn was silent for a while, and then made a sign
to Ja‘far to remove the Sayyid, which he did. Some while
afterwards the Caliph summoned Ja“far and said, “I am
going to entrust you with a commission in which you must
by no means fail me.” “It is for the Prince of Believers to
command,” replied Jafar. “Place thy hand on my head,”
said the Caliph, “and swear to accomplish my behest.”
When Ja“far had done this,' Hiérin said, “I gave the son of
Yahyd an assurance of safety against steel and poison and
strangling, but not against burial. You must therefore dig
a deep pit, exceeding fifty yards in depth, and must cast
him into that pit alive.,” So Ja‘far went, dismissed the
guardians [of the Sayyid] and caused a deep pit to be dug
(f. 954), into which he cast not the Sayyid but a sheep.
Then he explained to the Sayyid the state of the case,
and bade him flee beyond the Caliph’s realms. So he fled
in disguise to Khurdsdn, but was recognized in the market
of Balkh by a certain officer of the postal service named
al-Mas@idi, who performed the journey thence to Baghdad
in thirty days, and informed the Caliph of what he had
seen. So the Caliph wrote to “Ali b. “Is4, who was governor
of Balkh, bidding him seek out the Sayyid, who, however,
had meanwhile made his escape into Turkistdn. Then the
Caliph sent an ambassador to the Khdgdn of Turkistdn,
bidding him surrender up the Sayyid. The Khdqdn ans-
wered, “We know not this man: send some one who can
recognize him, and we will hand him over to you.” So
Harin sent another messenger who knew the Sayyid, and
all the Sayyids who were in that country were assembled
in his presence; and when his eye lighted on the son of
Yahyd, he said, “This is the man.” But when he brought
him to the Khdqdn, the latter bade the Sayyid sit down
beside him, and said to the messenger, “I also was seeking
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for him, my object being to protect him from all the
world. Arise, and depart in peace.” So the ambassador
returned in despair, and told the Caliph what had passed.
Then the Caliph determined to avenge himself on Jaffar.
Now it was his custom to visit his sister ‘Abbdsa every
Tuesday, and on these occasions he would neither see
anyone nor receive any letter or petition. “One Tuesday,”
says the narrator, “when I was alone with him, he bade
me be seated, and said, ‘I am going to tell you a secret
which you must on no account divulge” On my promising
secrecy, he continued, ‘I am going to destroy Ja‘far.’ At
this juncture Ja®far himself entered. I arose and went to
meet him. The Caliph caused him to sit down beside him,
till, when they had discussed various topics, he arose
(f. 96a) and went to the house of ‘Abbdsa, while I remained
with Ja“far. ‘What were you and the Caliph talking about
when I came in? said he. ‘He was instructing me,” I
replied, ‘how to deal with a certain rebel in Khurdsdn.
‘O Fadl,’ he answered, “by God, thou liest; you were
talking about me, and no good either, for when thine eyes
fell on me the colour left thy face.” ‘God forbid!" said I,
‘how should the Caliph speak to me of thee, seeing the
position that thou holdest before him? But Ja‘far persisted
in his surmise, and I was afraid lest the Caliph should think
I had given him a hint of what had been confided to me.
When he went to his house, I arose and went to the house
of “Abbdsa, where I demanded an audience. I was bidden
to put in writing what I had to say, but, having declared
that it could only be imparted by word of moath, was at
length admitted and brought before the Caliph. I bowed
my head to the ground and said, ‘O Prince of Believers,
mercy, mercy! Thou hast cast me into destruction! ‘Why,
what ails thee? he enquired: ‘tell me quickly.” Then I told
him what had passed, and he said, ‘Have no anxiety on
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this score, for I have long known Ja‘far’s acumen and dis-
cernment. Yesterday 1 was with him in the garden, and
there was no one with us; and I was looking at the roses,
when I saw one which pleased me more than all the others.
At once Ja‘far stretched out his hand and gave it to me.
Then he fell on his face before me, and when he raised
his head from the ground I was smiling. “Wherefore,” he
enquired, “does the Prince of Believers smile?” I answered,
“At your being able to tell which rose out of all these
pleased me most.” “By God,” he replied, “that was not
the reason, for you have often before proved my discern-
ment. It was rather because, when I prostrated myself be-
fore you, your glance fall on my neck.”’ ‘And by God,
added the Caliph, he spoke truly; for, as I looked at his
neck, I said to myself, “How shall I order it to be cut
with the sword?’ and as I thought thus, I smiled.” Three
days later the affair of the Barmecides was finished.”

After this Jahdam b. Khabdb was sent (f. g64) as gover-
nor to Tabaristdn, and after him Khalifa b. Sa’d b. Hérdn
al-Jawharf, who, on reaching Amul, appointed as his deputy
Mihriya of Ray, who took up his abode at Gurgdn.

Account of the King of the Mountains
the Ispahbad Sharwin Bdwand
and Wanddd Hurmuzd.

These were in alliance with one another, so that from
Tammisha to Riydn without their ,permission no one dared
enter the highlands from the plains, and all the highlands
were under their control. And when a Muslim died, they
wold not suffer him to be buried in their country. So mat-
ters continued until Khalifa b. Sa‘{d came to Sdri, and
wished to make his cousin Nifi° his deputy; and the Ispah-
bad Sharwin's men came down by night out of the hills
and slew him. Khalifa remained at Sdri and wrote to Mih-
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riya at Amul bidding him be on his guard, as the people
of Tabaristin were ripe for revolt. This letter Mihriya
read in public to the people, adding reproaches to the
soldiers, who attacked his palace that night, slew him, cut
off his head, and cast his mutilated corpse, with circum-
stances of atrocious dishonour, into the cross-roads of the
market-place as a warning to all. So news was brought to
the Caliph that the people of Tabaristin had revolted, but
had not robbed the treasury; and he said, “It is not a re-
volt against us; this was an unjust governor, and it is
quite right to suppress injustice.” Then he sent “Abdu’llih
b. Sa“id al-Jarfshf, and all the people went out to meet
him, and brought him in with honour. He governed the
country for four months, and succeeded in arresting four
persons who were chiefly responsible for Mihriya’s death
and the disturbance which accompanied it, and sent them
to the Caliph, who inflicted punishment upon them.

In A.H. 187 (= A.D. 803) Jafar b. Hdrin (f. g72) was
sent to reorganize the land-tax and to survey the country
in the territory occupied by Wanddsafdn, who slew him
with a blow from his mace while he was thus employed.
Forty men who were with him fled to “Abdw’lldh and in-
formed him of what had happened, and he communicated
the matter to the Caliph. Immediately after this it was ru-
moured that the Caliph had advanced into “Iriq; and three
days later ‘Abdu’lldh went to Sdri, whence he proceeded to
Ray, where the Caliph was. The Caliph thereupon despatched
the Qddi Abu’l-Buhturi, “Abbds b. Zafr, Muhammad b. al-
Fadl, and Sélih b. Shaykh ‘Umayra, with 300 horsemen and
servants, to the Isfahbad Sharwin and Wanddd Hurmuzd to
ascertain whether or no their loyalty could be relied on.
They received this embassy with every mark of respect
and friendship, and the ambassadors on their returned re-
ported that what Wandasafin had done, he had done enti-
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rely on his own responsibility, without their knowledge or
approval; and that he was, in fact, the enemy and oppo-
nent of Wanddd Hurmuzd. Thereupon the Caliph left Ray,
and encamped one day’s march therefrom, at the village of
Arband, whence he wrote to the Ispahbad Sharwin and
Wandad Hurmuzd, bidding them come to him. They answered
that they were his obedient and loyal vassals, but that be-
fore coming they must have hostages for his good faith.
The Caliph was angered at this and said, “How shall I sent
Muslim hostages to Gabdrs?”’ So he sent the Q4di Abu’-l
Buhtur{ and Harthama b. A°yan and Abu’l-Wadddh the
post-master to them, bidding them either come before the
Caliph or prepare for war. These advanced to Wima, whence
they sent messages to the Ispahbad Sharwin, who was at
the Castle of Kiuzd, and Wanddd Hurmuzd, who was at
Lafir, bidding them come to them. Wanddd Hurmuzd came,
but the Ispahbad Sharwin sent excuses, saying that he was
too ill to come. When the bearer of this message arrived,
Wandad Hurmuzd said to the Caliph’s ambassadors, “What-
ever order you may issue in respect to the Ispahbad Shar-
win, 1 am ready to obey it (f. g76). Harthama b. Afyan
agreed with Na‘fm b. Hdzim that they should smite Wan-
ddd Hurmuzd unawares while they were marching together,
and slay him, since the Caliph would certainly be pleased
at his death. But Wanddd Hurmuzd, seeing Na‘im edging
towards him, divined his intention, reined in his horse, and
said, “You must hold to your agreement.” His companions
apologized, and made Na‘im swear that Wanddd Hurmuzd
should be conducted in safety before the Caliph. He re-
mained with the Caliph for some time, till Hirinu’r-Rashid
desired to buy some lands from him, which he refused to
sell. They explained that his nobility of nature made him
unwilling to sell lands which he might be willing to give
as a present, so Harun sent his little son al-Ma’min to
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him; and when they had seated the child on his knee, -
Wanddd Hurmuzd gave him all those lands which he had
previously refused to sell; and Hérun presented him with a
miilion dirkams, and a jewelled cup of priceless value, and
a ring, with which last Wanddd Hurmuzd was especially
delighted. Then the Caliph bade him crave a boon, and he
asked for the dismissal of “Abdu’lldh b. Sa“ld; and Héran
dismissed him with a robe of honour, and sent Harthama
with him to bring back his son Qérin‘ and the Ispahbad
Sharwin’s son Shahriydr as hostages. The former was en-
trusted to Harthama, but the Ispahbad Sharwin refused to
give up his son Shahriydr, and sent another instead of him.
But Harthama insisted that Shahriydr should be given up,
and this decision was endorsed by the Caliph, so that the
Ispahbad was compelled to surrender Shahriydr, whom H4-
runu’r-Rashid took back with him to Baghdad.

Then the Caliph sent ‘Abdu’lldh b. Mdlik as governor to
Tabaristdn, and ordered that all the country except the
highlands should be taken from the control of the Ispahbad
Sharwin (f. 982) and Wanddd Hurmuzd. A year later the
Caliph again visited Ray on his way to Khurdsin. There
he fell sick, and sent Shahriydr and Qdrin to their respective
fathers, while he marched on to Tus, and there died and
was buried.

On this war arose between Hardn’s two sons Muhammad
b. Zubayda, called al-Makhii (“the Deposed”) and “Abduw’lldh
al-Ma’miin; and Téhir b. al-Husayn, al-Ma’min’s general,
marched on Baghdad, took it, and slew the rival Caliph,
and sent his head to his brother al-Ma’min, who looked on
it and said:

So ‘Abdw’ll4dh al-Ma’min became Caliph, and he was the
greatest and most illustrious of all the >Abbdsid Caliphs, and
openly shewed his attachment to the Shi‘ite cause. It is related
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that Sind{ b. Shdhak, whose tomb is at Séri in the place now
called B4 Nasri Mashhad, and other Shi‘ite leaders and
partisans of the Imdm Ridd reproached al-Ma’mun for his con-
duct towards the Imdm. Al-Ma’min said, “I learned the Shfite
faith from my father Hdrénu’r Rashid.” They replied, “He
used to kill the members of this house.” “Yes,” replied al-
Ma’mdn, “he killed them for political reasons, ‘for the state

is a barren mother’” (miic JUI L'.')‘.‘). And in like manner

did al-Ma’min himself act in compassing the death of the
Imim °Ali Ridd for state reasons, preferring the transitory
glory of this world to everlasting blessedness and felicity
(f. 984). And through the deed he did was done 400 years
ago, men still reproach it in these verses:
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Of such as these God says: ¢“Those who violate the
Covenant of God after its confirmation, and sever what God
hath commanded to be joined, and do evil in the earth: these
are the losers.”

After having thus rid himself of the Imdm °Ali Ridd, al-
Ma’min sent for his son, whom the Shi‘ites call Muhammad
Taqi, and the Arabs Muhammad al-Jawdd, and gave him
his daughter Ummu’l-Fadl in marriage, and made such a
marriage-feast as the world hath never seen, for there were
displayed as his gift to the bridegroom 400 plates filled
with balls of ambergris in each of which was a pearl. And
he then sent Muhammad Taqi and his bride to al-Madina.
And in the reign of al-Ma’min died both the Ispahbad
Sharwin and Wanddd Hurmuzd.
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Account of the deaths of Sharwin and Wandad
Hurmuzd, and the reigns of their sons
Shahriydr and Qdrin.

Sharwin left two sons, of whom Shahriydr, the ancestor
of the Bdwand princes, succeeded him, while Wandad
Hurmuzd was succeeded by his son Qdrin. When news of
this reached al-Ma’midn, he sent to them (f. gga) an am-
bassador with robes of honour, and wrote to inform them
that he contemplated a campaign against the Byzantines,
and needed the help of them and their captains. On one
pretext and another they detained the ambassador for many
days, until the Caliph had started on his campaign, when
they dismissed him with many presents, saying, “The Is-
pahbad Shahriydr can in no wise come, but Qdrin will
follow you immediately.”” So Qdarin made preparations for
the expedition, aided therein by Shahriydr, and on reaching
Byzantine territory pitched his camp beside that of the
Caliph. It happened that on that very day there had been
a battle, wherein the champions of either side had contended
with one another on the field. Qdrin at once caused his
horse’s armour to be put on, armed himself with a Gilan{
shield inlaid with gold, and with his followers attacked the
Byzantine army, and utterly routed them. Al-Ma’min was
watching them, and kept enquiring of those who stood
round who these valiant warriors might be, and who was
their leader with the golden shield. None could tell him,
but they continued to send re-inforcements to their strange
allies, until Qdrin ordered a general attack on the centre of
the Byzantine army, broke down their standard with his
mace, and entirely routed the foe. Summoned before the
Caliph, he advanced clad in his breastplate and quilted
armour (gazz-dgand), alighted from his horse, and kissed the
Caliph’s stirrup. Then the Caliph recognized him, and be-

10
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stowed on him a horse, and praised him greatly, conferring
on him robes of honour and other tokens of his esteem.
He kept him for some while in his service, and repeatedly
urged him to embrace Islim so that they might confer on
him the title of Mawld Amirdl-Miminin (“Client of the
Prince of Believers”) and make him governor of Tabaristdn,
but he refused, and was at length suffered to return to his
country. But the Ispahbad Shahriydr was jealous of him
and hated him, and, being the stronger, annexed many of
his lands, to which acts of aggression he submitted. One
night he dreamed that he made water on the summit of a
lofty mountain, and from this water a fire came forth, and
spread itself in every direction, and burned up the high-
lands, until it reached the plain, burning every tree on
which it alighted. When he awoke, he summoned those
skilled in the interpretation of dreams, and asked them its
meaning. They answered, *From thy loins a son shall arise
who will be king over both the mountains and the plains
of Tabaristdn, and who will be cruel and fierce and reckless.”
This dream and its interpretation became known through
Tabaristdn, and that very year was born his son Mazydr,
and when he reached maturity his father Qdrin died.

Then the Ispahbad Shahriydr b. Sharwin coveted Mdzyar’s
territory, and seized every occasion to vex and harrass him,
until at length a battle was fought between them, Mdzyir
was defeated, and Shahriydr annexed his territories. Mdzyir
sought refuge with Wandi-ummid the son of Wanddsafin, but
Shahriydr demanded his surrender, and Wandd-ummid, not
daring to resist his command, put Madzydr in chains, and
sent a message to Shahriydr, bidding him send his men to
take him into custody, since he feared that his own people
might set him free. Meanwhile Mdzydr succeeded in ingra-
tiating himself with the wives of his gaolers, and by their
means obtained his freedom, and fled to the forests, where
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he lay in hiding until he was able to go to ‘Irdq (f. 1002).
There he fell in with ‘Abdu’lldh b. Sa®id al-Jurayshi, one of
the Caliph’s Awmiérs, who received him with kindness, and
brought him with him to Baghdad. Now al-Ma’min had an
astrologer named Bizist the son of Firtizdn, whose name the
Caliph had arabicized into Yahy4 b. [Ab{] Mansir, and who has
been already mentioned in the Preface of this book. One
day Midzydr, carrying the table of his nativity in his sleeve,
came to this astrologer, who at first paid no heed to him,
until he heard him addressed as Prince of Tabaristdn, Maz-
yiar son of Qdrin son of Wanddd-Hurmuzd. When the
astrologer heard this, he arose and offered his apologies for
his neglect, and took the ‘table of his nativity from him,
and kissed it, and then began to examine it attentively.
Then he turned all save Mdzydr out of the room and said
to Mazydr, “If I instruct thee, wilt thou shew thy gratitude
for my help?” So M4zyir promised, confirming his promise
with oaths. After some time the astrologer made known
what he had discovered from the horoscope to al-Ma’miin,
who summoned him into his presence and said: “The signal
services rendered to me in the war with the Byzantines by
thy father Qdrin impel me to befriend thee, but this must
depend on thine acceptance of Islim and utterance of the
Muhammadan profession of faith.” So Mdzydr accepted Isldm,
and al-Ma’mun gave him the title of Mawld Amirel-Miminin
and the Zunya of Abu’l-Hasan.

Some months after this the Ispahbad Shahriydr died in
Tabaristdin, leaving many sons, amongst whom were Qdrin
b. Shahriyir b. Sharwin, called Abuw’l-Mulik (“the Father
of kings”), and his elder brother Shdpur, who succeeded to
the throne. But his vehemence and tyranny (f. 1008) disgusted
his subjects, so that they deserted him, and complained of
him to al-Ma’mun, who ordered Muhammad b. Khilid to
deprive him of his highland possessions. But this Muham-



148

mad b. Khdlid was not strong enough to do, and al-Ma’miin
sought for some one else who would be able to crush
Shapur. The astrologer Bizist happened to be present, and
suggested Madzydr, remarking that his horoscope indicated
him as likely to be successful in this enterprise. So al-
Ma’mdn sent him to subdue the highlands, and Musd b.
Hafs to over-run the plains. The latter had been disgraced
and dismissed by al-Ma’mun, but, by promising his support
and co-operation to Mdzyar, he induced him to ask the Ca-
liph to make this appointment.

As soon as Madzydr reached Tabaristin, many of the
people rallied to his standard, so that he soon found him-
self at the head of a large army, and marched on Farim
to seek out Shdpir, whom he utterly routed, took captive,
and put in chains, and then sent word to Musd announcing
his victory. Now Shépur, knowing that Md4zyar intended
to kill him, sent a secret message to Musd, offering him
100,000 dirkams if he would claim him as his own captive.
Misa replied that he could best save himself by declaring
himself a Muslim, and the client of the Caliph. But,
being afraid lest Mdzyir should discover his relations with
Shdpir, he asked him what he would do if Shdptr should
embrace Isldim and offer for the Caliph’s a:cceptance a
sum of 100,000 dirkams. To this question Mdzydr vouch-
safed no answer, but that night he caused Shdpir to be
beheaded, and next morning sent his head to Musd, who
(f. 1012) was greatly enraged against him. So Mdzydr, fearing
lest the Caliph might send someone else instead of Misa to
fight against him and subdue him, apologized for his con-
duct; and matters continued as they were in Tabaristdn,
until, at the end of four years, Muasd died, and was suc-
ceeded by his son Muhammad, to whom Mdzyir paid no
heed whatever, ruling undisturbed over highlands and plains
alike. Shdpir’s brother Q4rin the son of Shahriydr, with all
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the House of Bdwand and the Marzubdns and Farshwdd
the Marzubdn of Tammisha, were filled with anger against
him and complained of him to al-Ma’min, who sent a sum-
mons to Mdzydr to appear before him. He replied that he
was engaged in a religious war against the Daylamites, and
thereupon marched at the head of his army to Jdlis and
took hostages from the nobles of that country, so that they
were compelled to submit to him. Al-Ma’min then endea-
voured to persuade him to come to Baghdad, and sent the
astrologer Bizist to him to bring him thither. Mdzydr, being
informed of this, collected all the armed men he could find
round him, and sent Yahyd b. Ridzbihdn and Ibrdhim b. Abla
to Ray to meet him, bidding them bring him before him
by way of Sawat-kih, Kdlbadraja and Kandi-db, along roads
so bad that it was impossible to ride. So when at length,
after several days’ hard travelling over the worst of roads,
they came to where Mdzyiar was awaiting them at Hurmuzd-
idbad, and saw him surrounded by a host of armed men
of all conditions, they were filled with astonishment at his
power and at the inaccessible character of his kingdom. So
he entertained them royally for some time, but persisted in
his refusal to accompany them to Baghdad, alleging that he
was busy in fighting the Daylamites, but would follow them
presently before the Caliph. So he sent then back, accom-
panied by the Qddis of Amul and Riydn, and when they
reached Baghdad, and were questioned by the Caliph con-
cerning the loyalty (f. 1016) and intentions of Mdzydr, they
answered contrary to the truth. But when they came out
from the audience, and the Qddi of Ruydn had gone to his
lodging, the Qddi of Amul lingered outside the audience-
hall till he could get speech with Yahyd b. Aktham, to
whom he said, “The Prince of Believers enquired concerning
Mdzydr publicly, and inasmuch as most of his courtiers and
attendants are friends of Mdzydr, and are in communication
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with him, we were unable to declare the truth. Yet did I
not deem it right to depart from the court without making
known to the Caliph the true state of the case, which is
that Mdzydr has cast off his allegiance, put on once more
the Zoroastrian girdle, treats the Muslims with cruelty and
contempt, and will never again of his own free will come
to Baghdad.” Yahyd b. Aktham replied, “How long wilt
thou, who art the administrator of the Holy Law and the
Judge of a province, tell lies to the Prince of Believers?
When he knows that thou hast lied to him, will he not
needs dismiss thee from thy post?”” Then he turned back
and told the whole matter to al-Ma’min, and came out
again, and brought the Q4di of Amul secretly before the
Caliph that he might tell his story. Al-Ma’min was just
preparing to start on a journey, and he said to the Qddf
of Amul, “You must put up with it till I return, for this
matter is the more urgent.” “If we can thwart him,” re-
plied the Judge, “have we permission to do so?” ¢You may
do so,” answered the Caliph.

So the Q4df returned to Amul, and Mdzyir, hearing that
the Caliph had marched against the Byzantines, began to
devour Amul and Sdri like a ravenous wolf, and to drive
the people of Riydn to desperation, so that they conspired
together to kill all his representatives. At Safih near Amul
they persuaded one Khalil b. Wanddsafén to help them.
This news {f. 102¢) was brought to Mdzydr at Sdri, and he
at once collected his troops and laid siege to Amul, the
inhabitants of which closed the gates, gathered in the
country-folk from the surrounding district, and went before
Muhammad b. Musd and informed him that the Q4df of
Amul had returned from Baghdad asserting that Mdzydr
had cast off his allegiance to the Caliph, and that he had
received permission to kill him. Then Muhammad b. Mus4
summoned the Qddi, and, learning that the statement made
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to him by the people was true, joined himself to them.
Meanwhile Mdzydr sent off a courier to the Caliph, an-
nouncing that the people of Rilydn and the passes of Jalis
had cast of their allegiance to him and had won over
Muhammad b. Musd to their side, and set up an °Alid
claimant as anti-caliph, adopting white garments as their
distinctive mark. “But I,” concluded Mdzydr, “have sent an
army to subdue them, and, please God, the news of my
victory will shortly follow this.” At this time the city of
Amul was guarded by a double moat and double fortifi-
cations, and it held out for eight months against Mdzydr,
though all the surrounding country was laid waste, and
devastated by slaughter and pillage, by Mazydr’s brother
Quihydr the son of Qdrin; while Mdzydr sent constant de-
spatches to the Caliph concerning the progress of the war,
till at length the Caliph began to think that Mdzyir was
after all loyal and true. For Muhammed b. Misd used to
send all his despatches to an old servant of his father’s
who lived at Ray, and who was supposed to forward them;
but he had been tampered with by one of Mdzydr’s acute
agents, to whom he gave them instead, so that they never
reached their destination, but were all read by Mdzyir.
After an eight month’s siege, Amul capitulated, and
Khalil b. Wanddsafin and Abd Ahmad the Qddi were put
to death by Mazydr, who wrote a despatch announcing his
victory to the Caliph. Al-Ma’min thereupon despatched
Muhammad b. Said (f. 1026) to Tabaristin to investigate
the true state of the case, and to find out who this Alid
claimant might be. This man reported that there was no
°Alid claimant, and that the whole story was a lie invented
by Madzydr. The Caliph, however, when he had read this
report, was filled with anger against Muhammad b. Mus3g,
and handed over both the highlands and plains of Tabaristdn
to Mdzydar. When Mdzyir was informed of this, he made
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a proclamation in Amul, collected all the chiefs, nobles and
men of mark, including Muhammad b. Musd, drove them
before him to Rud-bast, and placed each in his own house
under the custody of guards.

In this same year tidings came to Tabaristdn that al-
Ma’mun had died on his campaign against the Byzantines
at Qaydim . Thereupon Mdzyar sent his Magian followers
to bring the prisoners from Rud-bast to Hurmuzd-ibdd,
where he put them into fetters and reduced their allowance
of food, depriving them altogether of salt, and not permitt-
ing them to go to the bath. Most of them died of pri-
vation, and Muhammad b. Misd and his brother had nothing
in their cells but a piece of matting each, and bricks for
their pillows. Then Mdzydr repaired the fortifications of
Amul and Sdrf, constructed castles in the mountains, and
compelled all the peasantry to work for him (f. ro3a) in
constructing fortresses and digging moats. He also established
barriers and guard-houses on all the roads to prevent any-
one bearing tidings of his doings to the outside world, and
he hanged all who attempted to pass out of the country
without his permission. In short his tyranny reached a
pitch never equalled before or since his time.

Al-M2’min was succeeded by his brother Ibrihim al-
Mu‘tasim, to whom “Abdu’lldh b. Tahir, governor of Khu-
rdsin, communicated something of 'Mézyér’s misdeeds,
tyranny, and apostacy. The new Caliph sent an ambassador
to Mdzyar to intercede for Muhammad b. Misd and his
brother; but Mdzyir would not listen to the representation
of this ambassador, Muhammad b. ‘Abdu’llih, but answered
him harshly that he would exact from them two years’
revenues before he let them go. So Muhammad b. ‘Abdu-
’lldh the ambassador returned in despair, and wrote an

! [Tabari (IIT, p. £134) has “at al-Badhandin”, which Viqut 1, p. 503)
describes as a town two days journey from Tarasis in Cilicia. A.G. E.]
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account of his mission to Yahy4 b. Ibréhim b. Mus‘ab, who
was at the Court of the Caliph, and who submitted it to
al-Mu‘tasim. Mdzydr meanwhile conferred various offices and
distinctions on Bébak, Mazdak and other Magians, who
ordered the Muhammadan mosques to be destroyed and all
traces of Islim to be removed. The people of Amul per-
suaded Abu’l-Qdsim Hdrin b. Muhammad to write a state-
ment of their grievances to al-Mu‘tasim, and hence this
gasida was composed:
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In reply to this poem, an answer, also in verse, was

sent from Baghdad, from which the following verses are

taken:



154

EEges i I WG e TP o O,
z_,fcj_ﬁ_;&f;)’c)_m.;; L:.A_f_‘guj_;uus ;J;U'
) "o o 2I13E -

).“U:J u)—b M :J;—M U" g—g_jj—o—> )L_J_A &.aw‘ ["Plé’

iuyr_f__.,gﬁwo,!:ns@s mu.u_g_g_ml_.,..w
J:UZS‘TU ”‘s’j.&?;-.il.;ul?’ ;”,_w_a”)’)us o L.i.;[_’,g,

—0’ L

When al-Mu‘tasim was informed of Mdzydr’s doings, he
ordered ‘Abdw’lldh [b. T4dhir] to proceed to Tabaristdn and
take him captive. °Abdu’lldh b. Tdhir sent his paternal
uncle Hasan b. Husayn to the Caliph begging him to send
Muhammad b. Ibrdhim with an army from €Irdq to help
him. When the army of Khurdsin reached Tammisha (f.
1044), the army of “Iriq had already occupied all the high-
lands, and the people of Tabaristdn left Mdzydr and joined
‘Abdu’lldh b. Tdhir and his uncle. These pursued Mdzydr
without rest or pause, till at length he was taken captive.
‘Abdv’lldh b. Tahir confined him in a box entirely closed
save for two eye-holes through which he could look upon the
outer world, and carried him thus confined on a mule to “Irdq.

One day on the journey Madzyir said to the muleteer,
“My heart craves for a melon. Can you get me one?” His
guards reported this request to “Abdu’lldh, who took pity
upon him and said, “He is a king and a king’s son.” Then
he ordered him to be released from the chest and brought
before him, and placed loads of melons before him, and cut
them up and gave them to him with his own hands, saying,
“Grieve not, for the Commander of the Faithful is a merci-
ful prince, and 1 wil intercede for thee, that he may over-
look thy fault, and restore thee to thy country.” Madzyir
replied, “Please God, thy excuses will be accepted.” ‘Abdu-
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’lldh was astonished, saying to himself, “The Caliph will
not be content with anything short of his death: how then
can he ask for my intercession?’” Then ‘Abdu’lldh ordered
a table to be spread, and gave him bread and wine, and
caused the minstrels to make melody, and entertained him
sumptuously, and greatly encouraged him to hope, plying
him with strong wines until he was overcome with drink,
but himself passing the wine-cup. Then, when Mdzyir was
overcome with wine, ‘Abdu’llah asked him the meaning of
what he had said. Mdzyir replied, “In a few more days
you will know.” “Abdw’lldh pressed him, with threats and
promises, to speak, and at length Mdzydr agreed to do so
if he would bind himself by an oath [not to betray him).
On receiving this pledge, Mdzydr said (f. 1044), “Know
that I, and Afshin, and Haydar b. Kd’is and Bibak, all
four of us, have for a long while covenanted and agreed to
take the empire from the Arabs and restore it to the Kis-
rds of Persia. Yesterday, at such-and-such a place, Afshin’s
messenger came to me and whispered something in my ear
which filled me with joy.” “What was that?” enquired
‘Abdu’lldh. Mdzyir at first refused to speak, but finally,
induced by promises and flattery, he continued: “He brought
me a message from Afshin to the effect that on a certain
day, at a certain hour, he would destroy al-Mu‘tasim, and
his sons Hardn al-W4dthiq and Jafar al-Mutawakkil.” Then
‘Abdw’lldh gave him more wine, till he was entirely over-
come with it, and then caused him to be taken back to
his place of confinement; and at once wrote to the Caliph
what he had heard, and despatched the letter by carrier-
pigeon. When the Caliph received the letter it was the
very day on which Afshin had invited him and his sons
Hdrin and Jafar to a great entertainment. So al-Mu‘tasim
sent word saying, “They are ill, but I will come,” and
forthwith proceeded thither with fifty horsemen. Afshin had
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decked his house with bejewelled brocades, and had drawn
up a hundred negroes, who, when the Caliph had sat down,
were to rush upon him from all sides and slay him with
their swords. When al-Mu‘tasim reached the entrance, Af-
shin said, “Enter, o my lord!” but he paused and said,
“Where are so-and-so and so-and-so?” Then he called his
trusty retainers and bade them enter, while he stood out-
side. Then one of the Indians sneezed, and the Caliph
rushed in, seized Afshin by the beard, and cried, “Plunder,

plunder!” (%}Ji ;_4.35). When the Indians heard this, they
were filled with consternation, and took to flight; and al-
Mu‘tasim summoned his kinsmen and retainers, and bade
them set fire to Afshin’s palace. Then his servants took
Afshin’s beard from the Caliph’s hand, and bound him with
chains and fetters, and brought him to the Caliph’s Palace,
where they detained him till Mdzydr’s arrival. And they
questioned him (f. 1034), saying, “Why didst thou see fit
to cast off thine allegiance?” Mdzydr replied, “You gave
me the government of Tabaristin. The people rebelled
against me. I reported this to the Court, and received
orders to fight them.” “Who wrote this answer to you?”
enquired the Caliph. “Afshin,” replied Mdzydr. Then the
Caliph summoned the lawyers and judges of Baghdad, and
by their sentence Mdzyir was first scourged to death, and
then his body was crucified at the Khatira of Babil, op-
posite Natis the Byzantine, the lord of ‘Amiriya. And
Afshin was burned alive. And Midzydr had ruled over
Tabaristdn for seven years, and at his death the highlands
passed into the control of Bunddr the son of Mini.

Account of the kings of Tabaristdn after Mdzydr.

After Mdzydr's death, Hasan b. Husayn, the paternal
uncle of “Abduv’lldh b. Tdhir, was made governor of Tabar-
{stdn, and ruled it well and justly for three years, four
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months and ten days, and entrusted to Muhammad b. Ibrdhim
the task of discovering M4zydr’s treasures. In Dhu’l-Hijja,
A. H. 228 (= September, A. D. 843) Hasan b. Husayn
died, and was succeeded by Tahir b. “Abdv’llah b. Tahir,
who governed the country for one year and three months,
until news came from Khurdsdn of the death of his father
‘Abdu’lldh there, whereupon he went to Khurdsin, leaving
his brother Muhammad b. “Abdv’lldh to govern Tabaristdn,
which he did for seven years, assisted by °Attdb b. Warqd
ash-Shaybdni. In Safdr, A.H. 237 (= August, A.D. 851)
Muhammad b. “Abdu’lldh went to Baghdad, and Sulaymdn
b. ‘Abdu’lldh became governor of Tabaristin. He governed
with wisdom and discretion for three years, but in A. H.
240 (= A.D. 854—s5) he made a secretary from Merv
named Mansir b. Yahya his minister, and this man intro-
duced evil innovations and practised extortions, till he was
dismissed by Téhir b. ‘Abdu’lldh, and Muhammad b. Musi
b. ‘Abdu’r-Rahmdn (f. 1056) was made wazér in his place.

Qéirin the son of Shahriydr embraces Islim.

In the year A.H. 240 (A.D. 854—s5) the Caliph al-Mu‘-
tasim sent one of his nobles to the Ispahbad Qirin the son
of Shahriydr, king of the mountains, to bid him break his
Magian girdle and embrace Isldm, which he did, and there-
upon received a robe of honour from the Caliph. At this
time Muhammad b. “Isa was governing Tabaristdn, as deputy
for the Téhirids, and his government was just and mild.
Then Sulaymdn b. “Abduw’lldh was sent to replace him, and
he nominated first Quraysh and then Asad b. Janddn as his
deputies, and later Muhammad b. Aws, who united Riydn
and Jélus, placing his son Ahmad in the latter place, as
governor over it and Kaldr; but his tyranny and harshness
were such that all who were able sold or abandoned their
houses and migrated elsewhere. And every year the taxes
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were levied three times; once for Muhammad b. Aws, once
for his son, and once for a Magian who acted as their agent.

Account of the rule of the Tdlibite Sayyids
in Tabaristdn.

The Caliphate had now passed to Jafar al-Mutawakkil,
the son of al-Mu‘tasim, whose minister, “Abduv’lldh b. Yahyd
b. Khiqin, was a fanatical Sunnf (Vdsibi), who was con-
tinually inciting him to kill the descendants of the Prophet,
and even prevailed upon him to destroy the tombs of
the Martyrs of Kerbeld, dam up the water, grow crops
on the site of their graves, and set Jewish watchmen
and keepers there to arrest and slay any Muslim who
visited these holy places. Thus in the time of ad-D&%
Muhammad [b.] Zayd the tombs of °Ali and his son al-
Husayn and other descendants of Abu Tilib were in ruins.
But in the Caliphate of al-Muntasir (A. H. 247—8: A.D.
861—2) Muhammad b. Zayd made himself ruler of Tabar-
istdn, and thereupon began to preach the Shi‘ite doctrine,
and to inculcate the deepest veneration for the House of
°Alf, and to repair (f. 1064} their shrines, and to build fresh
ones where he supposed their graves to be. In all this he
was aided by °Aduduv’d-Dawla Fandkhusraw b. Ruknu’d-
Dawla Hasan [b.] Buwayh, who surrounded these holy
places with houses and ddzdrs, and instituted the observances
of Muharram and the Yawwmu’l-Ghadir and other Shiite
practices, and was himself buried when he died at Mash-
had °Ali,

It is related that when al-Mutawakkil was made Caliph,
he had the same love of hunting down and slaying the
descendants of “Ali as an eager sportsman has for the
chase. The Imdm °Ali b. Muhammad al-Hddf al- “Askari,
who was recognized by the Shi‘ites as their pontiff, was
his contemporary. One day the Caliph summoned this Imdm
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before him, caused him to be seated, and then, turning to
‘Ali b. Muhammad an-Nadim, enquired, “Who is the greatest
poet of our day?” “Abu °“Ubdda al-Buhturf,” replied the
courtier, “And after him?” asked the Caliph:
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For this reason amongst others al-Mutawakkil slew °Al{
b. Muhammad al-Hdd{, and occupied himself day and night
with drinking, debauchery and all sorts of folly and
madness.

Al-Asmaf{ relates in his Kitdbw’n-Nawddir, on the authority
of Ahmad b. $dlih ad-Dimashqf, on the authority of Yuasuf
b. {Abdw’lldh, that al-Bubturf said: “I had composed for al-
Mutawakkil the well-known gasida beginning:

it J8 S o0
and I remained for a long while at the Court waiting for
an opportunity to present it (because he cared but little for
poets, and would not give them audience) but could find
none. One day I was sitting in an ante-chamber when
Bahrir, one of the Caliph’s servants, came out, took me by
the hand, and led me from ante-chamber to apartment
and from apartment to ante-chamber till I reckoned that
I had passed through three hundred apartments (f. 1065).
At length he brought me to a room where I saw al-Muta-
wakkil sitting on a golden throne, round which stools were
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set in order of their rank for his courtiers and attendants,
who were clad in black. As soon as al-Mutawakkil’s eyes
fell on me, he cried to me, ‘Recite, O Buhturi, recite!
Though I had not yet saluted him, I said to myself, “Though
it is a breach of etiquette, yet it is best for me to obey his
commands;’ so I gathered up my skirts and began:
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At once one of the courtiers sprang to his feet, looked
at me, and said:
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I was dumb with astonishment, saying to myself, ‘It is a
year since I composed this poem, and I have shewn it to
no one: how could this wretched fellow spoil it thus by his
extemporization?” Then I reflected that it must be an ac-
cidental coincidence,.and continued, fixing my eyes on the
Caliph:
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Instantly that same man rose up again, turned towards
me, and said:
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Thereat al-Mutawakkil was seized with such violent laughter
that he fell back and his crown rolled from his head; and
he gave the courtier who had parodied my verses ten
thousand d47rkams, while me they drove out with cuffs and
blows. When I reached the ante-chamber, he passed me,
with a servant carrying the money. 1 enquired of Bahrir
who he was. He replied, “Abu’l-‘Anbas ad-Damir{, who,
had you composed two thousand verses, would have
produced a parody of each.”
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In short, during al-Mutawakkil’s reign the Sayyids of the
House of “Alf were in hiding in ruins and solitudes, till at
length he died, dividing his realms between his three sons,
of whom al-Muntasir, who became Caliph, was the eldest.
He was opposed by the other “Abbdsids, and the Turkish
guard, getting the upper hand, plundered the treasures of
Sdmarra, and besieged Baghdad, enraged at the support
given by its inhabitants to al-Musta‘in. Matters being in
this confusion, Yahyd b. ‘Umar b. al-Husayn b. “Ali b. al-
Husayn b. (f. 1074) ‘Ali b. Ab{ T4lib rebelled at Kuifa. He
was a brave, accomplished and ascetic man. The people of
Kifa, supposing him to be actuated by need of money,
offered to pay him a substantial sum if he would be quiet,
but he swore that he would never have revolted had not
his zeal been stirred by seeing God’s religion contemned
and the ordinances of the Law contravened and neglected.
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Muhammad b. ‘Abduv’lldh [b.] T4hir sent one of his offi-
cers named Hasan b. Isma®l with another named Turki-takin
to suppress this rising, and they captured the Sayyid, and
cut off his head, which was sent to Muhammad b. ‘Abdu-
lladh [b.] Tdhir. The people of Baghdad came to offer
their congratulations, and amongst them the old Sayyid Abd
Héshim D&4’dd b. al-Qdsim al-Ja‘fari, who said, “O Amir, 1
am come to congratulate thee on an event for which con-
dolence would have been offered to the Apostle of God had
he still been alive!”

L e ol ¥l Led

The Rise to power of Hasan b. Zayd..

Such of the Sayyids as escaped from this battle fled to
the highlands of ‘Irdq and Farshwddgar and there concealed

11
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themselves till such time as the people of Wérfu and Latrd
were driven to desperation by the tyranny and barbarity
of Muhammad b. Aws. These, constantly seeing the learn-
ng, piety, and ascetic life of the fugitive Sayyids who had
taken refuge amongst them, were strongly impressed in
their favour, and said, “It is they who possess the chdrac-
teristics of true religion.” So they gathered deputations from
the surrounding villages and went to the Sayyid Muham-
mad b. Ibrdhim b. ‘Ali b. “Abdu’r-Rahmén b. al-Qdsim b.
al-Hasan b. Zayd b. al-Hasan b, °Ali b. Abi Tdlib, who
was in Riydn, and begged him to receive their oaths of
allegiance, so that perhaps, by his blessing, God might free
them from the tyranny under which they groaned. He re-
plied, “I am not worthy to take up arms, but I have a
brother-in-law, who is married to my sister, who is brave
and competent, being skilled in war and tried in battle (f.
1076). If you will carry a letter from me to him at Ray,
he will accept your offer and accomblish your desire.” So
the chief man of the deputations, “Abduw’lldh b. Wandd-
ummid, at once despatched a courier with the letter.

Rule of the Sayyids of Tabaristdn, of whom
the first was Hasan b. Zayd.

When this courier reached Ray he saw Hasan b. Zayd
and Isma‘ll called Félibw’l-Hijdra (“the Stone-dragger”)
whose genealogy has been already mentioned in the pre-
face, and communicated to them the letters of the notables
of Tabaristdn,. urging them to revolt. To these he replied,
and dismissed the messenger with a robe of honour. When
he reached Ruiyin, the news became known, and was com-
municated to ‘Ali b. Aws. He at once wrote to ‘Abdu’llih
b. Saf{d and Muhammad b. ‘Abdu’l-Karim bidding them
come to him to investigate the matter. The former was
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afraid, left his house, and retired to the village of Ashtdd.
At this juncture the courier arrived with the letter of Hasan
b. Zayd al-Alawi{, announcing that he had alighted at the
village of Sa‘id-4bid, where he was expecting ‘Abdu’llih
b. Sa‘‘d and his confederates to take the oath of allegiance.
‘Abdu’lldh thereupon went to [Muhammad b.] “Abdu’l-Karim
with all the chief men of Kaldr on Tuesday, Ramaddn 23,
A. H. 250 (= November 1, A. D. 864), and they swore
allegiance, undertaking to observe the ordinances of God’s
scripture, and the practice of His Apostle, and to do good
and forbid evil. And they wrote letters to the people of
Jalids and Nirds, and sent missionaries to them, and re-
mained that night with ‘Abdv’lldh b. Sa®ld, and proceeded
next day to Gurishbard, where people joined them from
all sides. News of this came to Alf b. Aws, who did
not rest until he had communicated with Muhammad b.
Aws. And the Sayyids of that district, with Muhammad
b. Ibrdhim b. “Ali b. ‘Abdu’r-Rahmdn, went out to meet
Hasan b. Zayd, who reached Kajir on Thursday, Ramaddn
27 (A. H. 250 = November 3, A. D. 864), and performed
the service of the festival which marks the conclusion of
Ramaddn, and preached a most eloquent sermon. Then
he sent Muhammad b. °‘Abbds (f. 1082) and °Ali b. Nasr
and °Aqil b. Mabrir to Husayn b. Muhammad al-Hanafi,
who was then at Jdlds, to invite him to ally himself with
them; and then they proceeded to the Great Mosque
and received the oaths of allegiance of all the people
of that district, save the few dependants of Muhammad
b. Aws, who fled without horses or arms, some to Ja‘far
b. Shahriyir b. Qdrin and some to others.

Hasan b. Zayd next marched from Kajir to Ndtil, and
received the allegiance of its inhabitants, and thence he passed
on to Pd-yi-Dasht. At the head of his vanguard were Mu-
hammad al-‘Alawi and Muhammad b. Rustam b. Wandi-
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ummid of Kalir, whom they called Khiydn; while the
vanguard of the army of Mubhammad b. Aws was Muham-
mad b. Ikhshid, his sipahsdlir. The two armies met at P4-yi-
Dasht, and Muhammad al-Alawi at once attacked the enemy,
put them to rout, and took captive Muhammad b. Ikhshid,
whom he sent to Hasan b. Zayd. He then pushed forward
with all speed to Balikini near Amul, whither Sulaymdn b.
‘Abd’ulldh b. Tahir had sent an army, which they defeated,
taking captive Hasan b. Husayn.

Muhammad b. Hamza was ordered to proceed in person
to Daylamédn and seek for reinforcements. The Daylamites
responded to the appeal, and Ummidwidr the son of Lash-
kar-sitdin, Wihdn the son of Sahl, F4lizbin, and Fadl-i-
Rafiqf came with six hundred men to Pd-yi-Dasht to reinforce
Hasan b. Zayd, who on the same day received letters from
the nobles and Ispahbads of Tabaristin promising him their
support, and urging him to continue the war. Amongst
these were Pddhisbdn the son of Kurdzid, the Ispahbad of
Lafir, the Mas-mughdn, son of Wandd-ummid, Wijan the
son of Rustam, Khurshid the son of Gushnasf the son of
Nidrand, and Khiydn, the son of Rustam. Encouraged by
these letters and promises, Hasan b. Zayd formed a body-
guard of 20 horsemen and 200 footmen under the command
of his kinsmen the Sayyids Muhammad b. Hamza and Hu-
sayn b. Ahmad (f. 1084). When Muhammad b. Aws heard
this, he set his army in battle array and ordered Ibrihim
b. Khalil to attack them; they, however, not only repelled
the attack, but pursued their assailants, routed Muhammad
b. Aws, and captured much of his baggage and many of
his horses.

On Monday, Shawwal 23 (A. H. 250 = November 29, A. D.
864) Hasan b. Zayd reached Amul, and slew a number of
his opponents, including Daylam{ the son of Farrukhdn,
Mugdtil the Daylamite ( ko Jslie 5), and Ali b. Ibrdhim
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al-Jili; but Ibrihim b, Khalil craved and obtained quarter.
On the morning of the following day, Tuesday, Hasan b.

Zayd proceeded to the Oratory (ul""”) of Amul, summoned
all the people of the city, gentle and simple, and persuaded
all save a very few to take the oath of allegiance to him.
He abode in Amul for the remaining seven days of the
month, during which period Fana the son of Wanda-ummid,
Wandasafin the son of Mahydr, and Surkhib the son of
Rustam sought and obtained quarter. Then he appointed
Muhammad b. ‘Abdu’l-‘Aziz governor of Riydn, Jafar b.
Rustam governor of Kaldr, and Muhammad b. al-“Abbds
governor of Jalus, while he invited the people of Amul to
choose a governor for themselves, wherecupon they chose
Muhammad b. Ibrdhim b. Ali b. “Abdu’r-Rahmdn, who was
then acting as Hasan b. Zayd’s deputy-governor at Riydn.

The Mas-mughdn, son of Wanda-ummid, had already
conceived a hatred for Muhammad b. Aws because of his
tyranny towards the people, and when he saw how the
affairs of Hasan b. Zayd prospered, he came forth from the
forests where he was hiding to Mdmtir, where, on Thurs-
day, Shawwdl 26 (A.H. 250 == December 2, A.D. 864) he
called upon the people to swear allegiance to Hasan b. Zayd,
which they all did eagerly. Then he wrote tidings of what
he had done to Hasan b. Zayd, who gave him in perpetuity
the rule over Zarmikhwdst, and ordered him to go to Séri
and wait there till he should join him. He did so (f. 109a),
and encamped by the village of Puitam at Nawriizibdd,
while Hasan b. Zayd’s emissaries went forth as far as Da-
mdwand, Firiz-kih and the confines of Ray, and all the
people of Tabaristin accepted the authority of Hasan b.
Zayd. On Friday, Dhvl-Qa‘da 14, (A. H. 250 = December
19, A. D. 864) he reached Taricha with all his army, whence
he proceeded to Jamani.
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Correspondence of the Ispahbad Qdrin b.
Shahriydr with Hasan b. Zayd.

At this juncture the Ispahbad Qdrin wrote to Hasan b.
Zayd professing the utmost devotion to him, and promising
to send him help. His real object, however, was to weaken
Sulaymdn al-‘Alawi, drive him from the country, and seize
both highlands and plains for himself. When Hasan b. Zayd
received this letter, he summoned the Daylamites and
shewed them the letter, and they wrote to the Ispahbad
saying, “If thou speakest truly, join thyself to us.” The
Ispahbad replied, “It is better that you should join me.”
Then Hasan b. Zayd began to suspect his motives, and
Sulaymdn b. ‘Abduv’lldh sent his general Asad [b.] Janddn
with an army from Sdri to a place called Dididn on the
road to Tarjl. Hasan b. Zayd sought counsel from his
companions. An old man named Shahriydr the son of An-
diydn, one of the chief counsellors of Sharwin, said to
Hasan b. Zayd, “It is best that you should make it known
that you intend to march against Asad, but during the
night you should turn aside and go by way of Zarmi-
khwdst to Nawriz-dbdd, and thence to Sdri, where you will
attack Sulaymdn, and crush him, after which you will
easily defeat Asad and his army. But if you act otherwise,
and defeat Asad first, he will escape to Sulaymdn, and your
affairs will be rendered difficult; and moreover God only
knows what the result of your encounter with Asad may be.
Besides this, Sulaymdn, who is now at Siri, probably feels
quite secure and is taking no precautions, since he will
feel sure that you will first encounter his general Asad”
(f. 1098).

Hasan b. Zayd determined to act on this advice, and to
attack Sulaymdn first; and Asad received tidings that Hasan
b. Zayd had fled by night, whereupon he despatched a
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courier to Sulaymdn to inform him that the ‘Alawi{ had
fled. But as the latter was sitting rejoicing over this mes-
sage, he suddenly heard the cries of “Alldhu akbar!” and
saw around him the white standards of the “Alawis, and
heard the shouts of their Daylamite allies. Thereupon he
fled bare-foot to Asad, while the Sayyid’s troops slew all
whom they could overtake of their foes. When Sulaymdn
reached Asad, he was already engaged with the Sayyid’s
troops, and the latter, like lions eager for their meal, pur-
sued them, and slew amongst others Husayn b. Ali of Sa-
rakhs, “Ali b. al-Harb, Ishaq b. Shaykhi, “Ali al-Maghrib,
Ibn Thalaba of Syria, and Nasr b. Wabra of Syria. Then
they looted Sulaymdn’s palace, sent the spoils to the village
of Mihrawdn, and then burned the palace to the ground.
Hasan b. Zayd reached Siri on the first day of the five
Persian gdtds (w)ls ::)Mm 33 Js), and the same day news
was brought to him that his brother Husayn b. Zayd had
reached Shalmiyya near Damdwand, and Pidhisbdn the son
of Kurd-zdd came to him from Lafiir, telling him that he
ought to remain forty days at Sdri. His brother Husayn b.
Zayd remained 23 days at Damdwand, where the chiefs of
Lérijén and Qasrdn came in to him, and he was joined by
Muhammad b. Mikil. Meanwhile Sulaymin fled to Astari-
bdd, and sent messengers to Khurdsin to demand help,
while the stragglers of his army gradually joined him.
After a forty days’ halt at Sdri, Hasan b. Zayd turned
back to go to Amul. The Daylamites, being laden with
booty, dispersed, and went back to their homes. The Is-
pahbad Pddhisban advised Hasan b. Zayd not to go beyond
Jamana till it was known what course Sulaymdn would adopt.
Soon afterwards Sulaymdn himself arrived with a fresh
army at Sirfi and Hasan b. Zayd sent to Muhammad b.
Ibrihim (f. 1102) and Muhammad [b.] Hamza bidding them join
him with their forces from Amul and Mdmtir. Sulaymdin
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had pitched his camp at Licham, and a battle took place
between the two forces at Tamashki Dasht, in which Hasan
b. Zayd was routed, and his men were dispersed to the
forests. Ahmad b. Muhammad b. Aws pursued them into the
forests, but they caught him unawares, and slew him with a
blow from a mace. On that day Hasan b. Zayd shewed the
greatest valour, and held the end of a bridge against the
foe until he had seen his fugitive army cross in safety.
Thence he marched to U'far, while Sulaymédn went to Ta-
liniydn, and Muhammad b. Aws pursued the men of Kaldr,
of whom he slew many in an ambush which he had pre-
pared on the road to Ufar. But the Ispahbad Pddhisbdn
and the Mas-mughdn had prepared another ambush for.him,
into which he fell with his soldiers, of whom they slew
many, while he himself was struck on the head with a
stone. When Hasan b. Zayd perceived that he could not
withstand them, he retreated by way of Bdld’in with Fana
the son of Wand4d-ummid and Khurshid the son of Gush-
nasf, and came that night to Amul, whence next morning
he came to Jdlus, having lost many of his men, while those
who remained with him were despoiled of almost all their
garments and weapons, so that J&’{ the son of Lashkar-sitdn,
one of his best-known lieutenants, had no clothes on his
body. However some 10,000 dirkams were collected and
spent on obtaining fresh clothes.

Sulaymdn b. ‘Abduw’lldh and the nobles of Khurdsdn, ac-
companied by the infantry of the king of the mountains,
the Ispahbad Qdrin the son of Shahriydr, came to Amul,
while Hasan b. Zayd sent for re-inforcements to Gildn and
Daylamdn. In response to his appeal, several thousand ad-
herents of his propaganda (wses slif) joined him, where-
upon he prepared his army for battle, and moved on to
Khwajak. Sulaymdn, learning this, came from Amul to Pi-
yi-Dasht, where he encamped. Hasan b. Zayd advanced to
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the Ldpich River (f. 1105) and took counsel with his allies.
The Daylamites said, “This place is good. Give us per-
mission first to attack the infantry of the Ispahbad Qdrin
and dispose of them, for in this place when the infantry
are routed, cavalry has no chance.” Hasan b. Zayd gave
them permission, and when they had routed the infantry,
the horsemen were entangled in the bushes and underwood,
and were taken prisoners, or else fled, casting away their
arms. Amongst those killed were Sulayman’s general Asad
b. Janddn, Anushitwdn Hazdr-mardi, ‘Ali b. al-Faraj, “Attaf
b. Abil-‘Attdf of Syria, the Ispahbad Ja“far b. Shahriydr,
Qdrin’s general Ddzmihr, “Aziz b. “Abdv’lldh, and “Ubayd
b. Yazid al-Khdzin.

Hasan b. Zayd remained there that day, and on the mor-
row came to Amul, whence after fifteen days he came to
Jamand, and gave an army to the Ispahbad Padhusbdn to
fight the Fspahbad Qdrin the son of Shahriy4dr. Pddhdsbdn,
having secured the assistance of Kiikbdn-i-Bakhmi{ from
Kimndn, burned and ravaged all the highlands of Qadrin,
who fled from before them, abandoning his kingdom, in
which Hasan b. Zayd established his governors to collect
the revenue. Sulaymin fled to Astaribdd, and sent a courier
to Muhammad b. ‘Abdu’lldh [b.] Tdhir in Khurdsdn, asking
for reinforcements. In response to his appeal, “Andtir b.
Bakhtdnshdh and Gushnasf b. Mds were sent to support
him, with a considerable army, whereat Sulaymdn took
heart, for Sayyid Hasan b. Zayd was but weakly supported
at Sdri, some of his army being in the highlands, while his
Daylamite allies had retired to Daylamdn. Hearing of Su-
layman’s increased strength, he therefore fell back on Jalus,
where he was told that Wih-sidin the king of Daylamdn
had abandoned his cause; but a few days later Wih-siddn
died, and 4000 Daylamites thereupon joined Hasan b. Zayd.

Meanwhile Fana (f. 1112) had collected an army from
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Farim and the highlands and come to Amul, whence he
wrote to Hasan b. Zayd asking for his commands. Thereupon
he sent Ahmad b. Hasan to him to occupy the country,
and to remove Ibrdhim [b.] Khalil. At his commands, Fana
marched against Ibrihim and defeated him. Hasan b. Zayd
on hearing this came to Khwijak, where the people com-
plained of Fana's oppression, further accusing him of having
a secret understanding with Sulaymdn and of corresponding
with him. So he sent Muhammad b. Abi Mansir and “Isd
b. Hamid to him, bidding him come before him, but he
came not. Again he sent a message to him, bidding him
not be disobedient, but he returned an insolent answer.
Then Hasan b. Zayd told the people of Amul that Fana’s
blood was lawful to them, whereupon 10,000 men attacked
and burned his house, while he fled to his nephew Khur-
shid the son of Gushnasf; but Khiydn the son of Rustam
with a number of his followers pursued him thither, and
slew them both, and sent their heads to Hasan b. Zayd.
Then Fana’s son Layth came in, with all his followers, to
made his submission to Hasan b. Zayd, having induced the
Ispahbad P4dhisbdn to intercede for him, and the Sayyid
gave him a robe of honour, and conferred on him his father’s
possessions.

After a while Hasan b. Zayd moved from Amul to
Jamand, where he remained for a month. While there, an
encounter took place between his outposts and those of
Sulaymdn, in which many of Hasan’s men were slain, in-
cluding Muhammad b. “Isad b. ‘Abdv’l-Hamid. So Hasan b.
Zayd was again obliged to retreat, accompanied by Mu-
hammad b. Rustam, the Mas-mughdn, and Kirankij the
son of Ruzbihdn, sending the Ispahbad Pddhidsbian and Wi-
jan the son of Rustam to the highlands to guard them.
Then he returned to Amul, while Sulaymdn abode at his
palace at Sdri, whither he brought his wives and retainers
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from Astardbdd; and the people (f. 1118) again began to
hesitate between the two rivals. Then Sulaymin sent Mu-
hammad b. Isma‘il to Amul, but Hasan b. Zayd, hearing
of it, arrested and imprisoned him for a while, but after-
wards released him, and suffered him to return to Sulaymdn.
Then Hasan collected his troops and went to Jamand, having
already warned the Mas-mughdn to be on his guard, and
sent Jafar b. Rustam and Layth b. Fana and Wijan b.
Rustam with 700 men to help him. Sulaymdn came out
from Siri to meet them in battle, and the Mas-mughdn had
prepared an ambush for him, but he routed the Mas-mughdn,
who fled to the forests. A violent thunder-storm came on,
so that the archers could not shoot, and Sulaymdn and his
men surrounded the Mas-mughdn, but the men hidden in
ambush by the latter rushed out against him, and slew
many of his chief followers, including Jalwdndn the son of
Wandd-ummid, Muhammad b. Fadl of Ldrijdn, Muhammad
b. Khdlid, known as Abu Mirdh, and others, all of whose
heads were sent to Hasan b. Zayd. The Ispahbad Qdrin
the son of Shahriydr had gone with his army to meet the
Ispahbad Pddhisbdn to fight with him, and the latter sent
his brother Kurdi-zdd to Hasan b. Zayd to seek for help.
In response to his appeal, Muhammad b. Rustam with the
men of Kaldr, Wihdn b. Sahl with the Daylamites, and
Khiydn b. Rustam with the troops of Amul were sent to
reinforce him. The Ispahbad Qdrin fled, and Hasan b. Zayd
came to Amul on the day of the festival, whence, after the
‘I'd-z'-m_z'lza’, he proceeded to Madmtir, where he remained for
thirteen days. Sulaymdn sent two -ambassadors with a letter
to Khurshid king of Daylam, urging and encouraging him
to help and befriend him, and to abandon Hasan b. Zayd,
and offering him 7000 golden dindrs and many robes of
honour to divide amongst the Daylamites, on condition of
their withholding their help from the Sayyid. He also con-
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structed a boat on the river Mihrawidn, placed in it Azbar
b. Jandh (f. 1124) and Sad b. Jibrd’fl, and sent them to
Ispid-juy, where a wind arose which carried them in an
hour to Jalis. Hasan b. Zayd’s governor, being aware of
this, seized the boat, and sent the ambassadors, with their
papers, money and robes of honour, to the Sayyid, who
divided the valuables amongst the Daylamites, and humbled
Khurshid king of Daylam, so that all men perceived that
Sulaymdn’s luck was on the wane. .

Hasan b. Zayd came from Mdmtir to Jamand, and made
the Daylamites swear to be faithful and loyal to him, and
then marched against Sulaymdn, who had moved from Sdri
to D&-Ab. The Mas-mughdn advised that white flags should
be fixed to the trees in front of his camp, so that he might
suppose that it was the Sayyid’s camp; and that mean-
while they should secretly go by way of Banahra to Wind-
bad and attack the enemy in the rear, so that they might
suppose they were hemmed in between two bodies of the
enemy. By this device they succeeded in defeating Sulay-
mdn, and marched on Sdrf, while the Daylamites looted
the bdzdrs, killing and plundering. Sulayman, abandoning
his wives, children and relatives, fled precipitately, while
of his chief supporters “Andtir [b.] Bakhtdnshdh, Abu’l-A‘azz
Mubhammad b. Qays, Mubhammad b. Kathir, Gushnasf b.
Mis, Muhammad b. al-“Abbds, Muhammad b. al-Walid, Musd
b. al-K4tib, Alf b. Mansir, and Muhammad b. ‘Abdu’lldh
al-Qadi were killed, while the two ambassadors captured in
the boat were, by order of the Sayyid, hanged. This victory
took place on Thursday, Dhv’l-Hijja 8, (A.H. 250 = Ja-
nuary 10, A.H. 865). Sulaymin’s wife and children were
taken captive, and when he reached Astardbid, he wrote
a letter to Muhammad b. Hamza for him to lay before
Hasan b. Zayd, couched as follows (f. 1128):
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On reading this letter, the Sayyid Hasan b. Zayd sent
Sulaymdn’s wife and children and kinsmen to him with all
honour and protection, and wrote with his own hand the
following verse at the top of his letter:
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The Ispahbad Qdrin the son of Shahriyir took refuge
with the Mas-mughdn, whom he induced to intercede for
him with Hasan b. Zayd, to whom he took the oath of
allegiance, and to whose court he sent his two sons Surkhdb
and Mdzydr. And all this happened in the year A.H. 2352
(A.D. 866).

Thereafter enmity arose between the Mas-mughdn and Fadl-
i-Rafiqi, and the former took to the forests. Hasan b. Zdyd tried
by kind messages to induce him to return, but he refused,
alleging that he was afraid of the Daylamites, and became
a rebel. Then Hasan b. Zayd marched to Lankir-khdn and
burned all the corn in the country, and sent Qdrin in pur-
suit of him, but he fled away. Then Hasan b. Zayd came
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to Sdrf, where news was brought (f. 1134) to him that J4li
the son of Lashkar-sitin was tyrannizing over the people
of Amul, when some of them revolted and slew him. He
thereupon despatched Muhammad b. Ibrdhim to investigate
the matter, and ten days later followed him himself. When
he reached Taricha, his cousin Qdsim b. “Ali b. al-Hasan b.
Zayd came from ‘Irdq, and he bestowed on him robes of
honour and costly presents, and sent him to Amul, while he
himself remained at Taricha. He arrested Surkhdb the son
of the Ispahbad Qdrin and his brother Mdzydr, and put
them in bonds, and sent Sayyid Hasan b. Ja“far al-‘Aqiqi
to Sari, giving him the government of that district and bid-
ding him capture the Mas-mughdn. Sayyid “Aqiqi wrote in
a conciliatory strain to the Mus-mughdn, and induced him
to join him and apologize for his flight and rebellion. Rus-
tam the son of Qdrin, however, revolted at Mihrawdn, and
rendered the roads unsafe; but he sent Hurmuzd-kdma the son
of Yazddnkard and °Abbds b. al-“Aqili against him. Rustam
b. Zabarqdn met the supporters of Muhammad b. Nuh, slew
some and took others captive, captured Muhammad b. Nih,
and brought him to Mihrawdn. Hasan b. Muhammad “Aqiqi,
being informed of this, sent to Hasan b. Zayd informing
him that he had gone to Mihrawdn to fight the enemy.
Sayyid Hasan b. Zayd, who was then at Jamand, at once
came to Sdrf, and there joined Sayyid Hasan “Aqiqi, who had
returned victorious, having slain many, and captured some
400 prisoners, abode for a while at Sdr{, until he heard that
Ibrdhim b. Mu‘ddh was sending re-inforcements to the Ispahbad
Qarin b. Shahriydr, who was marching against him. So the
Sayyid took the initiative, attacked his highland territory,
slew all whom he met, and burned down houses and villages.
Then he again took up his quarters at Sdri for a while,
left Sayyid Hasan “Aqiqf in charge of that district, and re-
turned to Amul, whence he issued a proclamation to all the
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Regions of Tabaristdn bidding them add the [Shf‘ite] clause
Yhayya ila khayrilamal” to the call to prayer, and to say
the Bismilléh aloud in their prayers (f. 1134), and the like.
This proclamation ran as follows:
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On this same day Abu Mugdtil ad-Darir the poet recited
to the Sayyid a gasida which began *God is peerless and
the son of Zayd is peerless’” —
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Hasan b. Zayd the Dd% cried out at him in anger, and
at once prostrated himself on the ground and repeated
again and again, “God is peerless and the son of Zayd is a
slave” —
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Then he ordered the poet to be driven from his presence.
A few days later he returned with these verses:
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Yet still the Sayyid was displeased with him, until on the
festival of Mihrajin he composed and recited another gasida
beginning:

——0’0 —0’—’—

_(f. 1144) OL_?,M ‘.,;, . U.:m 3)4:

Then he turned to the poet and said that he ought to have
transposed these two hemistichs, so as to avoid the evil
omen of beginning the poem with the negation /Z; but the
poet replied, “O Sayyid, the most noble formula is ‘Ld
ildha illa *llék’ (‘There is no god but God’), yet that begins
with /&.” “Well said! well said,” cried the Sayyid; “thou
art right in this verse!” .

It is related that one day the Sayyid was passing through
the streets and markets of Amul when he saw written on
a wall the words “the Qur’dn is the Uncreated Word of
God, and whosoever calls it Created is an infidel.” He reined
in his horse and paused for a while to look at it, and then
rode on. As a rule it was his custom not to return by the
way he had come, but on this occasion he departed from
his custom, and came back by that same spot. On arriving
there, he perceived that the inhabitants of the quarter had
effaced the writing, whereupon he smiled to himself and
said, “By Alldh, they have saved themselves from slaughter!”

The Sayyid remained at Amul all the months of Sha‘bdn,
Ramaddn and Shawwil, while Hasan-i-°‘Aqiqi continued at
Séarf, until Muhammad b. Nih joined the Ispahbad Q4rin
the son of Shahriyir, and the Mas-mughdn became their
ally, and they marched on Sdri conjointly. “Aqiqf retired
before them to Taricha, and Hasan b. Zayd sent Ja‘far b.
Muhammad and Layth b. Fana with a thousand men to
help him. Setting out from Taricha, they first fell in with
the Mas-mughdn, defeated him, and slew his brother ‘Abbas.
Then they turned, advanced on Sdri, attacked Muhammad
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b. Nih at a place called Girda-zamin, four parasangs from
the city, and defeated him. Layth b. Fana shewed the
greatest courage; and it was chiefly by his efforts that the
victory was won. Next night Hasan b. Muhammad b. al-
‘Aqfqf made a sudden attack and slew many of them, and
carried off much spoil, and Muhammad b. Nuh joined Su-
laymdn b. ‘Abdu’lldh [b.] T4hir at Astardbdd, and both retired
together to Gurgdn. Sulaymdn is reported to have said:
“One day I passed over to Gurgdn with four comrades
(khayl-tdsh) to a place called Sulaymdn-ibdd. 1 heard a
voice saying:

When I looked back, I saw no one, and knew not who

had spoken.” After this Sulaymdn abandoned all idea of

conquering Tabaristdn, and retired into Khurdsdn.

Tabaristdn is finally subjugated by Sayyid
Hasan b. Zayd.

When Sulaymdn b. ‘Abdu’lldh [b.] T4hir retired from Tabar-
istdn, Sayyid Hasan took possession of the whole country,
and was henceforth reckoned its ruler. He persecuted and
slew all such as sympathized with the “Abbdsids (Musaw-
wida), till men were filled with the fear of him, and thought
of nothing save how to obey and please him. On Wednes-
day, Dhu’l-Hijja 3, A.H. 253 (= December 4, A.D. 867)
he gave standards to Muhammad b. Ibréhim and Lashkar-
sitin-i-Daylam{ and sent them to Gurgin, and everywhere
the people came out to meet them and made offerings to
them. During the whole of this month and the months of
Muharram and Safar, A. H. 254 (January and February A.
D. 868) the Daylamites remained with them, but when they
found there were no spoils to be got, they entirely aban-

doned Muhammad b. Ibrdhim. After ten days he arrived
| ¢
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alone at Sdri from Gurgdn. At the beginning of Rabi® I,
A.H. 254 (March, A.D. 868) Sayyid Hasan sent an army
against the Ispahbad Qdrin the son of Shahriydr, the king
of the Mountains, to Hazdr-gari, where they burned all the
crops and destroyed the houses. When he reached Sari,
Justdn the son of Wah-siddn sent a trusty messenger to
the Sayyid, asking him to send a representative in whom
he had confidence to conquer by his aid the kingdom of
Ray. So the Sayyid sent to him Ahmad b. “Isd b. ‘Ali b
al-Hasan, and part of the territories of Ray were captured
by them, and the Sayyid came from Sdri to Amul. Mdzyir
the son of Qdrin and Shahriydr escaped from their captivity,
and on Friday, the 2nd of Jumdda I, A. H. 254 (= Avpril 29,
A.D. 868) the Sayyid ordered their gaolers to receive exem-
plary punishment, and despatched the brother of the Mas-
mughdn Wandarand Wanddd Hurmazd sl and Mu-
hammad b. Ibrdhim to seek for the Ispahbad Qdrin in the
highlands; but he fled from them to Qumish (f. 1152).

And now the Sayyids of the House of ‘Alf and the Bant
Héshim began to flock to Tabaristdn from the Hijiz, Syria
and ‘Irdq “according to the number of the leaves on the
trees,” and he gave them all welcome; and whenever he
rode forth, he was surrounded by 300 “Alaw(s with drawn
swords as a body-guard. And on this the Sayyid Nésir-i-
kabir Hasan b. “Al{ says-
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After this letters arrived from Ahmad b. “Isa and Qdsim
b. ‘Alf, who were with Justin the son of Wah-siddn, an-
nouncing that the districts of Ray, Qazwin, Abhar, and
Zangdn had been occupied by them, and that the people
had responded to their propaganda. Then the Sayyid again
sent Muhammad b. Ibrdh{m to Gurgdn with his standard,
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and its people also submitted, and the Sayyid’s rule was
firmly established over a tranquil and obedient realm.

The Caliph al-Mu®tazz sends Misd b. Bughd and
Muflih with an army to Tabaristdn.

Qdsim b. “Ali al-°Alawi, who was in ‘Irdq, seized ‘Abdu-
’lldh b. “Aziz, one of the officers of the T2hirids, and handed
him over to Fadl b. Marzubdn, who took him to Hasan b.
Zayd, advising him to keep him securely. It was the “1d-
i-Adkd when the prisoner was brought to the Sayyid, who
immediately ordered his head to be struck off. When this
news reached the Caliph al-Mu‘tazz at Baghdad, he at once
despatched Misa b. Bughd and Muflih with an army to
‘Irdq. These met Justdn the son of Wah-siddn and the
Sayyids at Qazwin, defeated them, and slew many of the
Daylamites, plundered their treasures, and came to Ray and
thence to Qumish and Gurgdn, where they encamped. There
they were joined by Ahmad b. Muhammad 4XWJi, the
vice-gerent of Muhammad b. T&hir. Muflih with the van-
guard advanced to Tammisha. Sayyid Hasan b. Zayd (f.
11546) had reviewed an army of 10,000 men at Amul, and
with him was the Ispahbad Pddhdsbdn; while Hasan b.
Muhammad al-*‘Aqiqf with his forces was at Siri, on which
Muflih advanced with his hosts. “Aqiqi for a long while
held the bridge of Sdri with great valour, but was at length
routed, and Muflih came to Siri and abode there three
days, after which he set out for Amul. Sayyid Hasan, be-
cause of the smallness of his force, retreated from Amul to
Jalis, where he was deserted by most of his men, and
thence went to Kaldr to seek help from the Daylamites, but
none shewed any eagerness to help him. Muflih remained
at Amul till Jumdda II, A. H. 255 (May—]June A.D. 869),
and then moved on to Jdlis, halting at a place near there
called ‘Umar-dbdd. The Daylamites, being afraid of him,
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abandoned Hasan b. Zayd. At this juncture, however, Muflih
received orders from Musd [b.] Bughd to return at once,
which he did, travelling day and night, until at Gurgdn he
learned that the Caliph al-Mu‘tazz bi’llah Zubayr b. al-Muta-
wakkil had entrusted Gurgdn to Ahmad b. Muhammad XwJl.
So they retired to ‘Irdqg, and the people once more began
to gather round Hasan b. Zayd, and brought him back to
Amul on Ramaddn 22, A.H. 255 (= September 3 A. D. 869).
Yazid b. Khashm wrote bidding him come at once to Gurgdn,
which he did, accompanied by his army; and Ahmad b.
Muhammad &XuJi, induced by promises of favourable treat-
ment, swore allegiance to him, and his affairs once again
became prosperous and orderly.

Ya‘qib b. Layth marches against Tabaristan.

Tahir b. ‘Abdu’lldh, who was in control of Khurdsdn, was
unable to govern his province with firmness; and at this
time a man called “the Veiled Sayyid” (Sayyid-i-Burqa)
revolted at Basra and Widsit in Sawdd. This man is better
known as “the Leader of the Ethiopians” (Sékibu’z-Zanj),
and °Alf, in some of his apocalyptic writings (»=>), gave
tidings of his appearance, saying:
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Now it was at this juncture, while the Caliph and Tahir
b. “Abdu’lldh were occupied with these matters, that Ya‘qub
b. Layth, a brave and ambitious man, revolted and became
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powerful. For many troubles distracted Khurdsin, where
rebels and robbers arose on every side, but Ya‘qub b. Layth
as-Saffir (“the Copper-smith”) was the most cunning and
powerful of all. Originally of lowly origin and humble cir-
cumstances, he gathered a band of followers round him,
and, owing to the weakness of the government, succeeded
at last in dispossessing the governor of Sistdn appointed by
Tahir b. “Abdw’lldh. He was then proclaimed king, marched
on Khurdsin, and seized the territories of Muhammad b.
‘Abdw’lldh [b.] Tahir, so that at length the Caliph thought it
best to make over Khurdsin to his control. Having taken
Nishdpir he came to Dihistin, and sent secretly to Xw,

promising him Gurgdn and Astardbdd if he would abandon
Sayyid Hasan and help him. So on the 1st of the month
of Urdi-bihisht, A. H. 260 (Oct.—Nov., A. D. 874), they came
together to Sdr{ and fought with Hasan “Aqiqi, who fled to
Amul without halting, pursued by Yd‘qib b. Layth with
lanterns and torches. The Sayyid Hasan came from Amul
to Riydn, while his followers abandoned him on all sides.
Ya‘qib b. Layth proceeded to Kaldr, and Hasan retreated
to Shird. Ja‘qib sent a message to the people of Shiri
promising not to enter their territories if they would hand
the Sayyid over to him, but they refused, incited thereunto
by Kawkabdn, one of the chief men of the place, and
Yaqub (f. 1165) was forced to retire. His baggage was cut
off and plundered by the Daylamites, and he went to Kajuy,
and, by torture and threats, extorted from the people of
Riydn two years’ taxes, so that they were left without food
or clothes. He then made Layth b. Fana governor of
Riydn, Pidhisbian governor of Tabaristin, and Qdsim b.
Muslim al-Khurdsdni, one of his own men, governor of
J4lis, while he retired to Amul. Immediately the people of
Jalis attacked their new governor, burned his palace, and
slew all his men. News of this was brought to Ya‘qub, who
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returned, cut down the trees and burned the houses, and
then marched on to Kandasin by way of Kaldr, and thence
to Riydn. But all his camels were destroyed by the fly,
rain and thunderstorms came on, and he entrenched him-
self in Amul. No sooner had he arrived there than he heard
that Hasan b. Zayd was coming, whereupon he emerged to
the coast, and Hasan fled to Kihpdya. Ya‘qub then marched
to Kurd-dbad by way of Nitil, exacted two years’ taxes
from the people of the plain, and thence returned to Amul
and Sdari. He continued altogether four months in Tabar-
istdn, and then retired from Sdri by way of Qumish to
the neighbourhood of Ray, and wrote to his deputy in
Sistin to release the “Alawis whom he had taken prisoner
and give them money to go to their own country. One of
then was Sayyid Hasan b. Zayd’s brother, Abu °Abdi’lldh
Muhammad b. Zayd.

As soon as Ya‘qub-i-Layth had quitted Tabaristdn, Hasan
b. Zayd came to Sir{ with an army of Daylamites, and the
people again gathered round him. He advanced without
halting to Gurgdn, when he was met by the news that his
brother, mentioned above, had been released by Ya‘qib, and
was approaching. He went out to meet him with his whole
army, and in Safar, A.H. 263 (= November, A.D. 876)
they met, and halted for the remainder of that month and
the whole of Rabi® I at Gurgdn, after which he returned to
Tabaristin to see his mother. A predatory band of several
thousand Turks, blood-thirsty infidels, had entered Dihistin
(f. 1174) and were preparing to attack Tabaristdn. Hasan b.
Zayd was then at Gurgdn. He placed Muhammad b. Ahmad
Khurdsanf in command of the vanguard, consisting of 2000
Daylamites, and himself took command of the centre,. They
met the infidels at Shdra in Dihistdn, and completely routed
them. Muhammad b. Tamim, known as Marddn-kulah was
killed; and Hasan b. Zayd fought with great bravery, and
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pursued the fugitives till they were all killed or dispersed.
His courage on that day marked an epoch.

Revolt of Layth b. Fana against Hasan b. Zayd,
and invasion of Tabaristdn by Shdrf{, the
lieutenant of the House of Tahir.

When Hasan b. Zayd arrived at Gurgdn, news came from
Amul that Layth b. Fana had revolted, so he left Muham-
mad b. Ibrdhim al-“Alawf at Gurgdn and himself went to
Amul. The Daylamites refused to obey Muhammad b. Ibri-
him, and began to loot and otherwise misconduct them-
selves. He therefore wrote to Hasan b. Zayd, saying, “Thou
knowest the evil character and vile nature of the Day-
lamites, and their rebelliousness against thy authority. They
will not obey me, and the people are afflicted by them.”
But Hasan b. Zayd was occupied with Layth b. Fana, and
had sent his army under Ahmad b. “Isd to Ldrijdn, because
its lord, Parwiz, had asked for help, representing that Layth
b. Fana had gone to Ray, and had induced its governor to
attack Ldrijdn. He therefore sent his brother, Abud ‘Abdi’lldh
Muhammad b. Zayd, to Gurgdn.

Now there was a certain Daylamite named Dakiyya who
had fled from Muhammad with his people, and gone to
Khurdsin to Shdri, the lieutenant of the Tadhirids, whom he
informed of the anarchy and unrest which prevailed in
Gurgédn, urging him to attack it, and promising to help him
to obtain possession of it. So Shdrf came from Isfard’in to
Gurgan, and the Daylamites entirely deserted Muhammad
b. Zayd and Mubammad b. lbrdhim, and went over to the
invader. The two Sayyids came to Amul, and waited until
Shér{ desired to provision his army, and sent out the Day-
lamites, unarmed, to forage for provisions (f. 1174). One of
the chief man of Gurgin named Ishdq said to Shdri, “Do
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not give wealth to the Daylamites without good cause, or
else they will deal treacherously with thee, as they have
ever dealt with their emérs and rulers; for no one hath
experienced at their hands aught but insplence, oppression,
and ungenerous conduct.” The Daylamites were gathered
together at Sulaymdndbad; and the people of Gurgan, gentle
and simple, were all afraid of the barbarities they might
perpetrate. So Shdr{ and Ishdq ordered them all to be put
to the sword, and in one day 3000 of them were slain.
News of this was brought to Hasan b. Zayd, and he was
filled with malicious delight.

When it became known to Layth b. Fana that Shdri had
taken Gurgdn, he induced the Turk, who was the governor
of Ray, to let him go to Tabaristin to take the country
for him, and was permitted to proceed to Ldrijdn. When
he arrived, he found that Ahmad b. “Is4 and the Masmu-
ghdn were both there, and had stopped all the roads, and
cried threats and imprecations at them from the mountains.
Layth b. Fana put his horse at the river, but was unable to
cross. The Turk was afraid and said, “Surely he intends some
treachery towards me.” So he ordered him to be seized
and his head to be cut off: and this he sent to Hasan b.
Zayd, offering at the same time his apologies for having
invaded the country. Immediately after this news arrived
that Shdri, having collected much wealth, was about to leave
Gurgdn, and the Sayyid Hasan at once proceeded thither
with his army. Shdri fled to Khurdsin, while Hasan b. Zayd
entered Gurgdn, slew many of the common people, and
plundered their property.

Revolt of the Ispahbad Rustam the son of
Qdrin the son of Shahriydr and his
relations with Hasan b. Zayd.

At this time the Daylamites were plundering, stealing,
and causing great trouble in Gurgdn, breaking into the
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houses of Muslims by night to rob and do evil, so that
even unto Nishdpir men were in terror of them. So
Hasan-i-Zayd caused the hands and feet of a thousand of
them to be cut off in Gurgdn, in consequence of which
some thousand of his followers deserted him and joined
Rustam the son of Qdrin, who, though (f. 1182) ostensibly
declaring himself to be loyal to the Sayyid, was really bent
on rebellion against his authority. When these Daylamites
joined Rustam the son of Qdrin, he had not sufficient food
wherewith to feed them, so he suffered them to loot the
countryside in search of provisions. Qdsim b. “Ali, who was
at Qumish, wrote to him informing him that Muhammad b.
Mahdi b. Nirak was marching against him from Nishdpur, and
at the same time asked for help from Hasan b. Zayd. Qdsim
had not the least suspicion of the intentions of Rustam, and was
quite off his guard, when the latter suddenly and treacherously
attacked and captured him, imprisoned him in the castle of
Shih Dizh in Hazdr-gari, and seized Quimish. Sayyid Qdsim
died in the castle. Then Rustam sent to the governor of
Nishdpur, Ahmad b. “Abdu’lldh Khujistdni !, telling him that
the affairs of Hasan b. Zayd were in a precarious state,
and asking for his help. Sayyid Hasan plundered Qumish
and chastised Rustam; but the death of his brother-in-law,
Muhammad b. Ibrdhim b. “Ali b. “Abdu’r-Rahmdn, broke
his spirit, for he loved him greatly and held him in high
esteem. All the army of Sayyid Hasan went over to his
brother Abd “Abdi’llih Muhammad b. Zayd, who ordered
them to attack the Ispahbad Rustam. When they had ad-
vanced one stage, the army of Nishdpur under Khujistdn{
had reached Gurgan, so he sent messengers to turn his
brother back, abandoned Gurgidn, and retired into Tammisha.
Khujistdn{ pursued him to Ribat-i-Hafs, captured his treasures
and baggage, and took many prisoners, but slew no one.

1 See my translation of the Chakdr Magdla, pp. 43—44.
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Muhammed [b.] Zayd learned at Jdhina that his brother had
departed, and at Sdri rumour reached him that Hasan b. Zayd
had been taken captive. Hasan b. Muhammad “Aqiqi assem-
bled the people and received their oaths of allegiance to him-
self, beheading all who refused to take this oath. But at Sdri he
was met by Tdhir b. Ibrdhim [b.] Khalil coming from Hasan b.
Zayd, from whom he learned that Sayyid Hasan himself was
approaching. Thereupon he fled from Sdrf and joined the
Ispahbad Rustam the son of Qdrin, and though Hasan b.
Zayd tried to win him back by kind messages, he returned
no answer, but continued with the Ispahbad till Khujistdn{
had established himself in Bakrdbdd in Gurgdn and collected
supplies. The Ispahbad remained at Astardbdd until Khu-
jistdn{ went to Nishdpir, and the men of Gurgidn attached
themselves to ‘Aqiqf, who protected them from the op-
pression of Khujistdni, and excused them their taxes, and
‘all of them swore allegiance to him. But presently Hasan
b. Zayd collected an army in Tabaristdn, who, by threes
and by fours, began to set out for Astardbid. When he
reached the village of Namina in Panjah-hazdr, he chose
out 500 horsemen, and made a night attack on Astaribdd,
so that at day-break he surprised Rustam, who only suc-
ceeded in escaping on foot into the highlands. Hasan b.
Zayd, without delaying, set out for Gurgdn, where “Aqiqi
knew nothing of what had happened to Rustam at Astar-
dbdd. The Sayyid therefore took him quite by surprise, so
that he fled with only three horsemen to the plains, pursued
by Muhammad b. Zayd, until he was finally captured and
brought before Sayyid Hasan. As soon as his eyes fell
on the Sayyid, he prayed for quarter, but the Sayyid,
averting his face, bade Turk-i-Rimi to cut off his head,
after which they wrapped his body in a mantle and buried
it in the Guebres’ cemetery. Then the Sayyid sent his bro-
ther Muhammad b. Zayd into the Ispahbad’s highlands to
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pursue him, until at length, despairing, he sent messenger
after messenger to beg for quarter, till at length the Sayyid
wrote to his brother bidding him to spare the fugitive, but
to seize all his possessions, and exact pledges that he would
not in future maintain an army, all of which Muhammad
b. Zayd duly performed. On his return, his brother invested

him with the standard and drum of authority, and sent him
to Gurgdn.

Death of Sayyid Hasan b. Zayd.

This year the Sayyid fell sick, so that he was unable to
sit his horse (f. 1194) and he continued thus sick for a
year, and finally expired on Monday, Rajab 3, A.H. 270
(= January 6, A.D. 884), twenty years after he first ap-
peared in revolt. During his year’s illness he bade Abuv’l-
Husayn Ahmad b. Muhammad b. Ibrdhim, known as al-Q4’im,
who was his son in law, to take from the people of Tabar-
istdin the oath of allegiance to his brother Abd ‘Abdi’lldh
Mubammad b. Zayd.

Reign of Muhammad b. Zayd over Tabaristdn,
and Revolt of Sayyid Abu’l-Husayn.

Muhammad b. Zayd, with the title ad-Dd% al-Kabir (“the
Great Missionary”) received the oath of allegiance from the
people of Tabaristin. He was at the time of his brother’s
death in Gurgdn, and his son-in-law, Sayyid Abuv’l-Husayn,
seized the money which was in the treasury and expended
it in inducing the people to swear allegiance to himself,
which most of the Daylamite chiefs did. He was also joined
by the Ispahbad Rustam the son of Qdrin and Padhisbdn.

When Muhammad b. Zayd heard the news of his bro-
ther's death, he advanced on Amul with his army, many
of whom had been secretly won over to the interest of
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Sayyid Abv’l-Husayn, who tried to persuade some of them,
such as Laythdm the son of Warddn, and Abd Mansur
Mahd{ b. Mukhayyas, to slay Muhammad b. Zayd at Ribdt-i-
Hafs. They refused to kill him, having eaten his bread and
salt, but deserted him, and turned back to Gurgin. He too
turned back thither, but the inhabitants refused to admit
him, and he therefore took up his quarters in the village
of Zawin. Abu’l-Husayn sent money and robes of honour
for the people of the city, and bade them let Muhammad
b. Zayd remain where he was; and he dared not put his
head.outside Zawin until Rdfi° b. Harthama returned defeated
from Khurdsin, and sent for Mahd{ b. Mukhayyas, who
was his servant, to come and meet him. Mahdi paid no
heed to this message, whereupon Ridfi5, divining Muhammad
b. Zayd’s condition, sent (f. 1194) trusty men to him,
brought him to his quarters and fought and defeated Mahd{
b. Mukhayyas, who fled to Khurdasdn. Laythdm-i-Daylam
went to Abu’l-Husayn, and “Ali b. Surkhdb was taken pri-
soner by Mahd{, but fled from him on the day of his de-
feat. Rafi° handed over Gurgdn to Muhammad b. Zayd and
returned to Khurdsin. One day Abuv’l-Husayn began to op-
press his followers in order to enrich himself, and these
consequently wrote in secret to Muhammad b. Zayd invo-
king his assistance. He, having collected an army, arrived
at Sarf on Wednesday, the first of Jumdd4 I, A. H. 271 (=
October 25, A.D. 884), and Abuv’l-Husayn, who was there,
fled from him to Amul, whence he started at night to join
Laythim and Nu‘mdn at Jdlis and go to Daylam. On the
Sunday Muhammad b. Zayd reached Amul, whence on the
Tuesday he moved on to the village of Banafsh, whence
he proceeded by night to Jdlds, and there seized Abu’l-
Husayn, with Laythim and the other Daylamites who were
with him, with much spoil. That night he went on to
Khwijak, and reached Amul, where, on Friday, the 6th of
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Jumdda I, he was crowned king. Abuv’l-Husayn, whose
power had endured ten months, was cast into bonds, and
pardon was proclaimed to his agents and officers, who there-
upon submitted, and were made to render account of the
moneys they had collected for their master. He also brought
in Abu’l-Husayn’s sister, who was the widow of his late
brother Hasan b. Zayd, and took from her all her jewels
and gold ornaments, after which he released Abu’l-Husayn,
bidding all those from whom he had exacted money recover
it from him. Thereupon the jurisconsults of Amul bore wit-
ness against him of exactions amounting to a million Jir-
kams, upon which he was again cast into bondage, and
sent with Laythdm-i-Daylam to Sdri, after which no one
ever saw them again, and it was said that they were killed
on the road thither.

So soon as Muhammad b. Zayd was thus established as
ruler of Tabaristdn, he set out for the highlands against the
Ispahbad Rustam the son of (f. 1202) Qdrin, drove him out
of the kingdom, and sent him to “Amr b. Layth the Saffdr{,
who interceded for him; and pardon was granted to him
on condition that he should swear henceforth to maintain
no army, and to send all that he had to Muhammad b.
Zayd, and to pay all the tax and tribute which he had with-
held. And Muhammad b. Zayd established his capital at
Gurgdn where many retainers gathered round him, although
he was unable to give him pay.

How Muhammad b. Zayd attacked Ray; and
what befel him with R4fi®b. Harthama, and
how an army invaded Tabaristdn.

In Rabi® I, A.H. 272 (= Aug.—Sept., A.D. 885), Asa-
takin the Turk being governor of Ray, Muhammad b. Zayd
marched from Gurgdn to Ddamghdn, and thence to Samnéin
and Khwir. A battle took place between him and the
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army of ‘Irdq at Wah-rddhdn, near Ray, in which Muham-
mad b. Zayd was defeated and fled to Ldrijdn. Rdfi° b. Har-
thama then invaded Gurgdn, but troubles in Khurdsdn obliged
him to go to Nishdpur. In A. H. 273 (A.D. 886—887) Mu-
hammad b. Zayd returned to Amul, and celebrated the
circumcision of his son Zayd, whom he nominated as his
successor, joining his name with his own on the coinage
and in the Akutba. On the arrival of Rafi° in Khurdsdn the
troubles there ceased, and the quarrel between Nasr and
Ism4‘l, the sons of Nih the Simdnid, was terminated. Rd4fi
then marched against Khwdrazm, with the people of which
he had already waged war; and carried off thence ten
thousand (f. 1204) men as hostages.

What befel between Muhammad b. Zayd and the
Ispahbad Rustam the son of Qdrin; and
how an army invaded Tabaristdn.

Rustam, dispossessed by the Sayyid, fled to Rdfi, and
seven months later returned to Tabaristin with him at the
head of an army. — The Sayyid, unable to withstand them,
retreated from Gurgdn to the castle of Juhina, where he was
besieged for six months. At the end of this period he left
a kotwd! in charge of the castle, and himself escaped to
Tammisha. Soon afterwards the castle capitulated to Rafi
before whom the Sayyid fell back on Daylamédn. In the
beginning of Dhw’l-Hijja, A. H. 277 (= March, A. D. 891) he
was still at Kaju, while the people suffered the direst distress
from the invaders. The Daylamites came to the Sayyid’s
assistance; and Justin the son of Wah-siddn descended from
the highlands to help him. Rdfi° commanded his governor
at Jdlds, Muhammad b. Hdrin, to remain within his fortifi-
cations, and sent Rustam son of Qdrin, Muhammad b. Ahmad
Wandawayh, °Ali b. al-Hasan al-Marwazi, “Abduv’lldh b. al-
Hasan, and the son of the Ispahbad Shahriydr b. Pddhuisban
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to J4lds by the sea-shore, while he himself came to Ahlam.
(f. 1212) Mubammad b. Hértin thereupon came out of Jilus
and pursued his foes. Owing to the exactions of Rifi° pro-
visions become scarce and dear. At the beginning of $afar,
A. H. 278 (middle of May, A. D. 8g1) Rdfi" marched from Jdlis
by way of Tdlagdn in pursuit of Justdn the son of Wah-suidan,
and laid waste his territory. Finally Justin promised not
to help the Sayyid, whereupon R&fi° withdrew to Qazwin.
The Sayyid now marched on Gildn, while R4fi° came from
Qazwin to Ray. Al-Mu‘tadid bi’lldh, who succeeded about
this time to the Caliphate, sent a messenger to summon
Ré4fi° to his presence, but Rdfi° seized the messenger and
imprisoned him, though he afterwards let him go. The Ca-
liph then appointed Abu’l-“‘Abbis Ahmad b. [‘Abd] al-‘Az{z
b. Abu Dulaf al-Ijlf governor of ‘Irdq, and ordered him to
give battle to Rdfi°, who was defeated with heavy loss by
the Caliph’s troops on the river Kulahwdr on Friday, Dhu’l-
Qa‘da 18, and was compelled to fall back (f. 1214) on
Tabaristdn by way of Wima.

Rifi* makes peace with Muhammad b. Zayd.

When R&fi° reached Mihrawdn, he heard that the Caliph
al-Mu‘tadid had given the government of Nishdpir to “Amr
b. Layth, whereupon he took the oath of allegiance to Mu-
hammad b. Zayd, on condition that he should hold Gurgédn.
On Tuesday, the 5th of RabiII, the latter came to Amul, and
R4fi° went to Gurgdn. At this juncture news arrived that
Ahmad al-Ijli, the Caliph’s governor, had died at Ray, and
that his son had succeeded him. Thereupon, on the 7th of
Jumddd I, Rifi* marched on Ray, attacked and defeated him,
and sent his army to Kih-pdya. A month later al-Mu‘tadid
sent his son! to Ray, whereupon Rdfi® abandoned the country.

T [i.e. “Alf, afterwards al-Muktafi. He was invested with the Government
of Ray in Rajab, A.H. 281 (= September, A.D. 894) by his father, who
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Ibn [Abi’l-] Asbagh, the.deputy of the Caliph’s son, ruled
justly, and reduced the country to order. In this same year
Bakr b. ‘Abdv’l-“Aziz al-‘Ijlf came to Sayyid Muhammad b.
Zayd at Amul, and was received By him with much honour
and many gifts, including a million dirkams made up into
a hundred bags, and was finally given the government of
Ruydn and Jdlds. On his arrival at Natil, however, he was
poisoned in some sherbet (&Lﬁs), and was buried there at the
Bridge of Laythdm. R&fi, returning defeated to Gurgén,
wished to attack ‘Amr b. Layth, encouraged thereto by an
officer who had deserted from that Amir. He besieged Ni-
shdpir, but “Amr remained within the walls. While fighting
was going on round the city between the troops of Réfi
and those of Muhammad b. Hdariin, Abi Nasr-i-Tabar{, Mahdi
b. Mukhayyas and (f. 1224) Fadl b. Ja‘far, “Amr with 5000
men suddenly attacked and defeated them. R&fi° and ‘Amr
b. Layth both sought help from the Sayyid, but he refused
to help Rdfi, who, after various further misfortunes from
rain and flood, was compelled to make peace and to renew
his treaties with him.

How R4fi° took captive the Ispahbad Rustam.

Réfi° soon informed the Ispahbad Rustam that he had no
intention of observing his new treaty with the Sayyid, and,
on Rustam’s allying himself with “Amr b. Layth, proceeded
to seize him and put him in bonds, confiscated all his pro-
perty, extorted large sums of money from his retainers, and
gave his country to Abu Nasr-i-Tabarf. In Ramadédn, A. H.
282 (= October—November, A.D. 895) Rustam died in his
bondage.

In this year the Sayyid Muhammad b. Zayd gave money
to R4fi° to induce him to adopt the white badge and

at the same time appointed Ahmad b. Abfl-Asbagh as his son’s 4dsis. See
Tabari, 111, p. 2140. A. G. E.].
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standard of the “Alawfs, and to exact from the men of
Gurgdn, Dihistdn (f. 1224) and Jdjarm the oath of allegiance
to him; while he on his part sent the Sayyid a share of
Rustam’s plundered possessions. A quarrel now arose be-
tween Muhammad b. Wahsiddn and “Ali b. Surkhdb, and
the former, having killed some of the latter’s men, went to
Kildrjan, and was reported to have cast off his allegiance.
Rifi° again marched against “Amr b. Layth, but was again
defeated, and fled to Khwdrazm, the inhabitants of which
city, having an ancient grudge against him, seized him, cut
off his head, and sent it to “Amr b. Layth, who sent it on
to the Caliph. After this all Tabaristdn from Gurgdn to
Gilin became the Sayyid’s secure possession. In A. H. 282
(A.D 8g5—6) news arrived that Ismd®fl b. Ahmad the Si-
midnid ‘had captured ‘Amr b. Layth and put him to death,
and the Sayyid was now freed from all anxiety; but just
as his power, glory, fame and good repute seemed to be at
their height, calamity befel him, even as the poet says:

BUCCIN VAW N N Aty

Cause of the Martyrdom of Sayyid Muhammad
b. Zayd in his war with Muhammad b. Hdardn.

Isma‘il b. Ahmad the Sdmdnid sent Muhammad b. Hardn
with an army (f. 1232) against Tabaristdn. Sayyid Muham-
mad b. Zayd, confident in his power (for he had 20,000
men with him, and his antagonist only 3000), attacked the
centre of his enemy’s army with a mere handful of men,
and was the first person slain. His head was cut off, his great
army scattered, and his son Abu’l-Husayn taken prisoner on
Friday, Shawwil 5, A. H 287 (= October 3, A. D. goo).
The Sayyid’s "headless body was buried at Gurgidn in a
place still known as Gur-i-D4i (“the Propagandist’s Grave”),
and his head was sent to Bukhdrd. He reigned in all sixteen

13
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years. lis son Zayd was for a long while kept a prisoner
by Isma‘l b. Ahmad the Sdmdnid at Bukhdrd, whence he
sent these verses to his friends in Tabaristdn:
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These verses were shewn to Isma‘fl b. Ahmad the Sdmdnid,
who was so much affected by them that he released his
captive, saying, “Thou hast thy choice of returning to Ta-
baristin or of remaining here.” He replied, “The affairs of
Tabaristin have gone beyond the point that there should
be any place for me there; it is best for me to remain
here.” And so he lived, died and was buried in Bukhdra.
Three sons of his are mentioned in the genealogical tree of
the House of Abu Tilib (xullb bl :;é"), viz. Abu “Alf
Isma‘l b. Zayd b. Muhammad b. Zayd, who migrated to
Bukhdrd; Abd “Abdi’lldh Muhammad ar-Ridd (f. 1234), whose
descendants are settled at Baghdad; and Abu Muhammad
al-Hasan b. Zayd b. Muhammad b. Zayd.

Account of Muhammad b. Haridn and the
rule of Isma®]l b. Ahmad the Sdmaénid.

Muhammad b. Hirun, having subdued Gurgdn, set out for
Amul and Sari, reaching the first named city on a Friday
in the month of Tir, A. H. 287 (A. D. goo), and reigned for
a year and six months, till Ismall b. Ahmad the Simdnid,
having subdued the whole of Khurdsin, marched against
Tabaristin. Muhammad b. Hardin refused to submit to his
authority, and retired to Daylamdn. Isma®l encamped at a
place called Ashild Dasht, near Amul, in the plain of Likdn{,
and administered such justice as was almost unknown in
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Tabaristdn, restoring to the nobles and gentry the property
of which they had been robbed by the Sayyids and others
during the last fifty years. Thus he restored —

1,000,000 dirkams to the children of Ibrahim Khalil;
600,000 » » Ibrdhim b. Ishdq al-Faqih;
500,000 » » Muhammad b. al-Mughira of Riydn;
500,000 » » Hdrin b. ‘Ali Abd Sadiq (see p. 74

supra);

200,000 » . » Mubhammad b. as-Sirri;

300,000 » » Mugqadtil, cousin of the above;

500,000 ” » the Ispahbad of Kaldr;

300,000 » » Qutquti of Sdr{;

700,000 » » Qdrin, Aparwiz and Khushk Khayan;

1,200,000 » » the family of as-Sayfar (so A.; B. has

as-Safir);

100,000 » » Surkhdb the son of Jastdn;

700,000 ” » Ibrdhim and Muhammad, sons of ju-

risconsults, Ibrdhim b. Mihrdn, his
brother Khalffa, Mansir and Jalwa-
nin, all of Taricha.

He also restored the possessions of the poor and reduced
their taxes, and so won the affection and support of all.
This took place at the end of A. H. 288 and the beginning
of A.H. 289 (end of A.D. goi).

The Rebellion of Sayyid Ndsir-i-Kabir (f. 124a).

Sayyid Nasir-i-Kab{r’s name was Abi Muhammad al-Hasan
b. ‘Alf, and he revolted in Gildn and Daylamdn, declaring
himself “the Avenger” (a¢k-Thd’ir) of his predecessor, Sayyid
Mubammad b. Zayd, called D4% °/-Hagq (“the Propagandist
of the Truth”). Isma‘il the Simdnid sent against him his
son Ahmad and his cousin Abu’l-‘Abbds ‘Abdu’lldh b. Mu-
hammad b. Ndh. The armies met at a place called Falds,
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and the Daylamites were defeated and two thousand of
them slain, amongst them the fathers of the afterwards
celebrated Mdkédn [b.] Kdki and of Hasan [b.] Firizdn, the
subsequent rulers of Gil and Daylam.

Ism4°il the Sdmdnid entrusts the government of
Tabaristdn to his cousin Abuwl-Abbds ‘Ab-
duv’lldh b. Muhammad b. Nuh b. Asad.

Ismd%l the Simdnid, having entrusted the government of
Tabaristin to his cousin Abu’l-“Abbds, set out for “Irdq to
seek for Muhammad b. Hdrin. On reaching Samndn, he
received tidings of the death of the Caliph al-Mu‘tadid (A. H.
289 = A.D. 9o2). Muhammad b. Hdrin effected a junction
with Justdn [b.] Wah-sididn, and both swore allegiance to
Sayyid Ndsir-i-Kabir. In A.H. 290 (A.D. go3) the latter
resolved on subjugating Tabaristdn. Abu’l-“Abbds summoned
to his aid the Ispahbad Shahriydr, son of Piadhisban; the
Ispahbad Sharwin, son of Rustam, king of the mountains;
and the nephew of the latter, Parwiz, the lord of Ldrijin,
and further wrote to Ismd®l the Sdmdnid asking for help. In
the month of Bahman, A.H. 299 (So A.;? 289) Muhammad
b. Hdrin, Justdn [b.] Wahsdiddn, and Sayyid Ndsir reached
Tamanjdda, and encamped in a plain known as Kdzar. The
war lasted forty days, and the people of Amul in fear sent
their children and goods to the country villages. At length
the army of Abu’l-“Abbds seemed to be defeated, and began
to flee in rout to Mdmtir, but he, with Shahriydr (f. 1248)
and Kawkabdn of Daylam, hurled himself upon the centre of
the army of Muhammad b. Hdrin, who, deeming the victory
already won, had removed one foot from his stirrup and
crossed it over his horse’s neck. His army, taken thus unawares,
was routed, and fled to Anushadddhdn.

Ismd%l the Sdmdnid had sent his son Abmad to help
Abuw’l-“Abbéds, but he tarried on the way, hoping that his
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cousin might be defeated. Abu’l-“Abbds complained of this
to Ismdl, who recalled Ahmad to Bukhard, and reproached
him, saying, “Thou pretendest that if Tabaristin be lost, no
harm will accrue to Bukhird. Dost thou not know that,
should such a thing happen, we should no longer be safe
here?” Abu’l-‘Abbds then went to Ray, and sent to Fdris,
governor of Gurgin, bidding him be on his guard until
Muhammad b. Hd4rin’s death. Faris forwarded this letter to
Bukhird, and requested Ismd‘il to send him his insignia,
standard and ring. Muhammad b. Hdrin again collected an
army and came to Amul. Fdris spread abroad a rumour that
Ismi‘il was come, and on the day of battle stationed one
of his officers dressed in Ismd‘il’s robes, wearing his insignia,
and bearing his standard in the centre of the army. Then
he came to Muhammad b. Hdrin with ten men, saying,
“O man, art thou mad to come and draw the sword against
thy master? Lo, he sends me with his army and his
signet-ring, promising thee pardon and safety and the go-
vernment of this province.” Muhammad b. Hadrin, seeing
the signet-ring and other insignia, was confounded, and
said to his men, “Do you remain where you are;” (f. 1254)
then he said to Fdris, “Advance, let us go to the Master!”
Thus Fdris brought him to the centre of his own army,
where he at once cast him to the ground, put him in fet-
ters, and carried him off prisoner. Of his army, some joined
Faris, others went to Baghdad, and the remainder stayed
in Tabaristin. Muhammad b. Hérin was carried to Bu-
khdrd, paraded round the town, and then immured and
starved to death. And so long as IsmdSl the Simanid lived,
Abv’l-‘Abbds ruled Tabaristin from Gurgdn to Gildn,

Ahmad b. Ism49]l the Sdmdnid sends Saldm
to govern Tabaristan.

Ismal on his death was succeeded by his son Ahmad,
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in A.H. 294 (= A.D. go6—7). After two years and a few
months he dismissed Abw’l-“Abbds, whom he hated, from
the government of Tabaristdn, and in A.H. 297 (= A.D.
909—910) sent to succeed him a Turk named Salim. His
father’s officers, such as Abu Silih Mansiur and Fdris, were
disgusted at this, and wished to swear allegiance to Abu’l-
‘Abbds, who sought to retire to Gurgdn to effect a junction
with Fdris, but was stopped by Hurmazd-Kdma, the lord
of Tammisha, Rustam the son of Qdrin, and the Ispahbad
Shahriydr. He therefore returned to Amul, and tried to go
thence by Kaji and Ruydn to Ray, but the Ispahbad Shah-
riydir met him at Injir and persuaded him to refrain from
any act of rebellion. At this juncture Muhammad b. Hajar
arrived as an ambassador from Ahmad b. Ismd‘il the S4-
manid, bringing a robe of honour and conciliatory messages
(f. 1258), and conducted him to Bukhird, where the Simi-
nid nobles advised that he should be treated with honour
and sent at the head of 30,000 horsemen to ‘Irdq. In
Jumdda I, A. H. 297 (= January—February, A. D. g10)
Saldm the Turk came to Amul, on the first day of the old
Persian month of Adhar, and governed the country for g
months and 22 days, till one day Abu Ahmad Zanrds (B.
“Zanrdshan”) of Ndsirdbdd came before him to complain of
the exorbitant taxes which he was compelled to pay, and
was answered by blows; whereupon he rushed out and raised
the people.against the Turk, whom, after he had fired the
bdzir and repelled them for three days and nights, they
drove out of the city.

Ahmad b. Isma“l sends Ahmad b. Nih
to govern Tabaristdn.

Thereupon Abw’l-°“Abbds Ahmad was made governor of
Tabaristdn, and he was accompanied by the son of Dhu’r-
Riydsatayn.
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The Russians come over the sea to plunder
Tabaristdn.

This year 16 ships filled with Russians came to Abasgiin,
as they had already done in the time of Sayyid Hasan b.
Zayd, who defeated and slew them. This time they wasted
and looted Abasgin and the adjacent coasts, and carried
off or slew many Musulmdns. The governor of Sirf, Abu’d-
Darghdm Ahmad b. al-Q4sim, wrote news of this to Abu’l-
‘Abbds. Next year the Russians returned in greater force,
burned Sidrf and Panjih-hazdr, and carried off many pri-
soners. Then they sailed to Chashma-Ridd in Daylaman;
but, while some of them were on land, a number of the
people of Gilin descended to the sea-shore (f. 1264), burned
their ships, and slew those who had landed. Shirwdnshdh,
King of the Khazars, hearing of this, intercepted such of
their ships as had escaped and destroyed them and their
crews, and thenceforth the marauding raids of the Russians
were stopped. Abu’l-“Abbds Ahmad b. Nih died in Safar,
A.H. 298 (= October, A.D. g10).

Ahmad b. Ismdl sends Muhammad b.
Sa‘lik to Tabaristdn.

When news of the death of Abu’l-‘Abbds reached Ahmad
the Sdmdnid he made Muhammad b. Sa‘lik, who was then
at Ray, governor of Tabaristin, and sent his wazir Abu’l-
Fadl Muhammad b. ‘Abdu’llih al-Balami from Bukhdrd to
meet him. They met near Amul at a place called Bashfr,
and Muhammad b. Ilisa® was also there.

Rebellion of Sayyid Ndsiri-Kabir.

This Sayyid, whose name was Abd Muhammad al-Hasan
b. °Alf, had for some time been engaged in study and
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teaching in Gildn. On the return- of al-Bal®ami{ to'Bukhdr4,
and the arrival of Muhammad b. Salik at Amul, the
people of Fajam, Maraz, and all Gil and Daylam flocked
to him. He sent his son Abu’l-Husayn Ahmad to Riydn,
and thence -expelled the Sdmadnid governor Muhim. Ndsir-i-
Kabir then went to Kaldr, and there received the allegiance
of its Ispahbad Muhammad b. al-Hasan. Thence he pro-
ceeded to Gur-Shir and Jalus, sending on his cousin Hasan
b. al-Qdsim with the vanguard to take Jalis. Muhammad
b. Sa‘ldk had advanced to Birdbidd with 15,000 men. Then
a battle was fought (f. 1264), in which Ibn Sa‘lik was de-
feated, and many of his soldiers slain. On a Sunday in
Jumdda II, A.H. 301 (= January, A.D. gi4) Sayyid Ndsir
advanced to Jélds, captured Abu’l-Wafi Khalifa b. Niih,
slew the Khurdsini garrison, and razed the fortress to the
ground. Ibn Sa‘lik fled by way of Amul, Milika Dasht,
Sdrf and Gurgdn to Ray. Two days later Sayyid Nisir
came to Amul and established himself in the Palace formerly
occupied by Hasan b. Zayd. He treated all with the
utmost justice, pardoned such as had offended him, and
received the allegiance of the people of Amul and the
neighbourhood. Then °‘Abdw’lldh b. al-Hasan raised the
white standard at Sédri, and summoned the people to
support Sayyid Nasir.

Quarrel between the Ispahbad Shahriydr and
Ndsir, and arrival of an army from Bu-
khdra to subdue Sayyid Nasir.

‘Aqiqi joined Sayyid Ndsir, and, having been given an
army of Gilis and Daylamis, was sent to fight the Ispahbad
Shahriydr. Between Aram and Kiild, however, he fell into
an ambush prepared for him by Shahriydr, and was slain.
His troops fled, and his head was sent by Shahriydr to Ibn
Sa‘lik. When news of Sayyid Ndsir’s rising power reached
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Bukhdrd, Ahmad the Simdnid sent Muhammad b. ‘Abduv’l-
‘Aziz to Tabaristdn, but forty days after his arrival there
he was defeated by Sayyid Ndsir, whose power now be-
came paramount over Tabaristin. He wished to raise a tax
of one-tenth on all produce, but the people complained,
and he desisted from his intention. Ahmad the Sdmadnid
collected 30,000 of his own troops and sent to Turkistdn
for 10,000 more, intending to “transport the very earth of
Tabaristdn to Bukhdrd” (f. 1274), but when he had only
gone two stages on his journey, his attendants murdered
him at midnight as he slept, and Sayyid N4sir was for the
moment left unmolested. Soon afterwards the Caliph al-
Mugqtadir bi’lldh appointed Ahmad the Sdmdnid’s son Nasr
b. Ahmad b. Isma‘ll (Nasr I) regent of Khurdsin in place
of his father, and he, incited by the messengers of Hurmazd-
Kdma and Sharwin the son of Rustam, sent Ilyds b. Ilisa®
as-Sughdi{ at the head of 10,000 men to Tabaristin. When
these reached Tammisha, Abuw’l-Qdsim Ja‘far b. al-Hasan b.
“Ali an-Ndsir was at Sarf, with a thousand men. Entrenching
himself there, he wrote to his father informing him of the
Sdmdnid advance. Abv’l-Husayn Ahmad [b.] an-Ndsir went
to Gilin and Daylamdn, and spent much money in collecting
an army, while the Ispahbad Shahriydr pitched his camp
at Windbdd above Sdr{, still retaining the black standard
and draperies (of the “Abbdsids), though he sent reinforce-
ments to Sayyid Abu’l-Qdsim. An undecided battle took
place at Sdri between Sayyid Abu’l-Qdsim and Ilyis b.
Ilisa®, and the Sdmdnid troops at length retired, leaving
Tabaristdn to Sayyid Ndsir-i-Kabir. The Ispahbad Sharwin
also made peace with him, whilst Hurmazd-Kdma retired
to Astardbdd, and the Sayyid handed over most of the
administration to his cousin Abd Muhammad al-Hasan b,
al-Qdsim, whom he set over his own sons, who were
thereby filled with envy, as one of them, Sayyid Abu’l-
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Husayn Ahmad b. an-Ndsir, commonlyknown as Sdkibu’l-
Faysh (“the Commander in Chief”) says in a poem (f. 1274):
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He also reproaches his father, who was of the Imadmf
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Strife arises between -Hasan b. -Q4sim
and -Ndsir.

Ndsir-i-Kabir had sent -Hasan b. -Qdsim to Gildn, bidding
him bring the rulers of that province to Amul to swear
allegiance to him. He wrote to Nasir that he had persuaded
Hardsanddn the son of Tidd, Khusraw Firdz the son of
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Justdn, and Laythdm the son of Warddn, with all their
tribesmen, to come in. But these bore Ndsir a grudge, be-
cause he had not performed all that he promised them, so
they swore allegiance, not to him, but to -Hasan b. -Qdsim
(f. 1284). On reaching Amul, -Hasan alighted at Musalld
(the Oratory) and did not go before Ndsir, but came next
day with his guards and retainers to ask for provisions for
his army. Nisir was frightened, and fled from his quarters
on a mule towards Pa-yi-Dasht, but was pursued and cap-
tured by -Hasan, who brought him back to Amul, and thence
sent him to the castle of Ldrijin, while his allies looted the
Palace. Thereafter arose a great strife between the partisans
of Ndsir and of Hasan; and Layld b. Nu‘mdn came from
Sdri, and headed an attack on Hasan’s palace. They reviled
him, took from him his signet-ring, and brought him back
to Amul before Ndsir, of whom they asked pardon. When
Hasan, deserted by his followers, was brought before Ndsir,
the latter said without one reproach or bitter word, “I forgive
thee,” and bade him return to Gildn. But Abu’l-Husayn
Ahmad b. an-Ndsir interceded for him, got him recalled,
and gave him his daughter (who was afterwards the mother
of Abw’l-Fadl ad-D4%) in marriage; and he was given the
government of Gurgan.

-Hasan b. -Qdsim sets out for Gurgdn. He is
attacked by the Turks, and be-
sieged in the Citadel.

After -Hasan b. -Qdsim had set out for Gurgdn, Sayyid
Ndsir sent his son Abu’l-Qdsim Ja‘far after him to support
him (f. 1288). But the latter, having a grudge against him,
purposely lagged behind, and kept writing to his father,
saying, “This man cherishes enmity against thee.” And
when, on approaching Gurgdn, the Turks came out to give
battle to -Hasan, Abu’l-Qdsim abandoned him to his fate;
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and Hasan, being unable to withstand them, fell back on
Astardbdd, and withdrew into the castle of Kajin, which
had remained in good repair from the time of Shdpur
Dhu’l-Aktdf [the Sdsdnian] until the time of Ardashir b. al-
Hasan, who ordered it to be destroyed, lest it should fall
into the hands of Tukush b. Tl-Arslin. There Hasan re-
mained all the winter, besieged by the Turks, while his men
suffered much from the cold. At length, being in want of
food, he made a sortie with a few of his followers, at-
tacked the Turks and slew some of them, and made his
way safely to Amul, and thence to Gilin. Sayyid Ndsir
now retired from public life and devoted himself to study
and teaching, and the fame of his knowledge in Jurispru-
dence, Traditions, Philosophy, Poetry and Literature brought
him many visitors from distant lands. He finally died on
Sha‘bdn 5, A.H. 304 (January 31, A.D. g17), having sent
his son Abu’l-Husayn Ahmad to Gilin and made his son-
in-law -Hasan b. -Qdsim his successor.

-Hasan b. -Qdsim, called ad-D4% ila’l-Haqq.

Abu Muhammad al-Hasan b. al-Qdsim b. al-Hasan b. ‘Al{
b. “‘Abdu’r-Rahmidn ash-Shajar{ b. al-Qdsim b. al-Hasan b.
Zayd b. al-Hasan b. “Ali b. Ab{ T4lib now succeeded under
the title of ad-Dd% (f. 129a) ila’l-Hagq (“The Summoner
unto the Truth”), or, as he is called in the Kitdbiw’l-Ansdb,
ad-Dd‘i as-Saghir (“the Lesser Dd%”). He reached Amul
on Ramadin 12, A.H. 304 (= March g, A.D. g17), and
Sayyid Abu’l-Husayn Ahmad b. an-Ndsir surrendered the
sovereignty to him. The brother of the latter, Abu’l-Qdsim
Ja“far b. an-Ndsir, sent to him, saying, “The kingdom is
our father’s; why then dost thou surrender it to him?” but
he paid no heed, and an estrangement between the two
brothers resulted. Ja‘far went to Muhammad b. Sa‘lik at
Ray, and promised to adopt the black colour of the
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‘Abbidsids, to coin money in the name of the (Sdmdnid)
rulers of Khurdsdn, and to insert their names in the kkutba,
and help to recover Tabaristin for them.

Hasan governed justly and well, and made the people
contented and happy. When Ja“far came to Amul, Hasan
retired to Gfldn in A. H. 306 (= A.D. 918—919), and Ja“far
remained there seven months, extorting exorbitant taxes
from the people, till -Hasan returned in Jumdda II, A.H.
307 (November, A.D. 9ig), and again established justice,
so that all men prayed for long continuance of his life. He
had his palace at Musalld (“the Oratory’”) near Amul, and
built lofty dwellings for his officers round about him, so
that they should not dwell in the city, or vex and molest
the inhabitants. The Ispahbad Sharwin and Shahriydr the
son of Wandi-ummid agreed to pay him the tribute they
had paid in the time of Sayyid Hasan b. Zayd, but -Hasan
b. -Qdsim, not deeming this enough, marched against them,
defeated Shahriydr at Kawij, and made peace with Sharwin.

At this time the Sdmdnids were vainly endeavouring to
subdue Nishdpir, and Sayyid Hasan sent against it Layld b.
Nu‘médn (f. 1295), who took it. Then he proceeded to Tus,
where, being defeated by the Samdnid army, he fled to
Gurgdn. There a number of the Daylamite chiefs gave him
their allegiance, and conspired with him to kill Sayyid
Hasan by treachery, but, the plot being made known to the
Sayyid, he, without saying a word to any one, marched to
Gurgdn, seized the conspirators, and beheaded them. Amongst
them was Hardsanddn, the father of Siyih Gil, chief of
Gilin. So men’s hearts were filled with fear of Sayyid
Hasan, and thenceforth no one dared to plot against him.
Leaving Abu’l-Husayn [b.] Ndsir at Gurgidn, he then re-
turned to Amul. Shortly after this Abu’l-Qdsim b. an-Ndsir
collected a number of followers in Gildn, while Sayyid Abu-
’l-Husayn [b.] Ndsir also turned against Sayyid Hasan, and
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sent his general Abd Misi Hdrdin Isfdh-dist to Amul,
where, however, he was defeated and slain. On this event
‘Abdu’lldh b. Muhammad al-Kdtib has the following verse:

E  w ) - - - w3

AF R e s o am i

-

Sayyid Hasan, having concluded peace with Abu’l-Husayn
for a payment of 10,000 dirhams, sent “Alf b. Ja"far ar-Rdzf
against the Ispahbad Shahriydr, and Husayn b. Dindr against
the Ispahbad Sharwin. Both submitted and came in (f.
1302), but fled on being informed that Sayyid Hasan
thought to put an end to the trouble they were continually
causing by casting both of them into prison. Sayyid Hasan
was therefore compelled to pursue them, and finally had to
be content with taking their sons as hostages for their good
behaviour.

Sayyid Hasan next ordered llyds b. Ilisa® to evacuate
Gurgdn, but, as he paid no heed, he was attacked, his
army routed, and himself killed. When this news reached
Bukhdrd, the Sdmdnids sent Qara-takin the Turk with 30,000
horsemen to Gurgdn. Sayyid Hasan and Abu’l-Husayn re-
tired into Tammisha, knowing that they could not with-
stand so large a host, and Abuv’l-Husayn presently deserted
Sayyid Hasan, went to Gildn, and joined Abu’l-Qdsim Jafar,
while Sayyid Hasan took refuge with the Ispahbad Muham-
mad b. Shahriydr, who, however, put him in fetters and
sent him to Alf b. Wah-siddn, governor for the Caliph
al-Muqtadir at Ray. Tdhir b. Muhammad the scribe was
sent to ‘Al b. Wehsiddn bidding him not to forward his
prisoner to Baghdad, but to imprison him in his fathers’
castle at (f. 1305) Alamit, where he remained a prisoner until
Mubammad b. Musdfir defeated ‘Alf b. Wehsiddn at Qazwin,
when Khusraw Firdz released him and sent him to Gilin.

Meanwhile Sayyid Abu’l-Hasan and his brother Aby’l-
Qdsim Ja"far succeeded conjointly in expelling Qar4-takin
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from Tabaristin, which was rendered the easier by troubles
in Khurdsin which required his presence. The brothers then
remained in Gurgdn until Ahmad Tawil was sent against
them from Bukhdrd, but him also they defeated, and he fled
alone to Bistdm, while most of his army dispersed to Jdjarm
and Isfard’in.

Sayyid Hasan, on his release, came to Gildn, sent to
Tabaristdn for his hidden treasures and moneys, and there-
with collected an army, with which he invaded Tabaristdn,
and advanced to Amul and Siri. Abuv’l-Husayn and Abu’l-
Qdsim sent Abu Bakr az-Zifri to Amul to obtain news,
but at Astaribid he heard that Sayyid Hasan had already
reached Lamrisk, whereupon he'at once returned to make
his report. Abu’l-Husayn, Abu’l-Qdsim and [the son of]
Harusanddn ! held a council of war (f. 1314), and it was
agreed that the first should march on Astaribdd and give
battle to Sayyid Hasan, while the two others remained in
Gurgdn. Next morning these last went out from the city
to the D4%’s Tomb to await news from Astardbid. A ghu-
ldm of “Alf Qumi Darzi came out from Gurgin, however,
with the news that Layld’s men were plundering their
houses and stealing their treasures. Thereupon they went
back to the city, and Abu’l-Qdsim found the very mats
stripped from his house, and learned that there were only
ten of his followers left in it, whereupon he cast himself
on the ground and burst into tears. Layld denied any
complicity in this robbery, but told Abu’l-Qdsim that he
could not remain in Gurgdn; and as he feared to go alone,
he gave him an escort of 30 men under Lashkar-sitdin. The
Daylamites had shut the gates, but he got out by the new

! [Hardsanddn has already been beheaded; see p. 205 supra. Should we
not perhaps read “the son of Hardsanddn ()"‘”‘3 having dropped out in the
MSS.) i.e. Siyh Gl (cf. p. 205)? A little lower down this same person

appears to be designated Siy° u.a &= and L;‘" Sy A G E]
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road of Kaldta, having only three dindrs in his possession
with which to buy bread (f. 1318). On advancing a little
further he met three men, who informed him that Sayyid
Hasan had defeated his confederate Abu’l-Husayn. Abu’l-
Q4sim and Darz{ Qum{ were now left alone in despair and
bewilderment. The former bought an ass in a neighbouring
village, and went by Bistim to Ddmghdn, and thence to
Ray and Gildn. )

Sayyid Hasan, having defeated Abu’l-Husayn, sent him a
kindly message, saying, “I am thy servant, and the king-
dom is thine, having been thy father’s before.” So these
two were reconciled.

When the House of Simjur began to cause trouble in
Khurdsdn, [Abi] “Alf b. Simjir came to Gurgdn, and invited
the Sayyids, as men of peace and religion, to abandon
the country quietly to him. They refused, and fought a
battle with him at the village of Jaldyin. Surkhdb the son of
Weh-siddn attacked and routed him, while Abu’l-Husayn
scattered his right wing. His men fled into the plain, but
when they had gone some distance, the Turks turned at
bay, alighted from (f. 1324) their horses, and fired a volley
of arrows, completely routing their assaillants, so that the
Sayyids Hasan and Abu’l-Husayn fled, accompanied only by
one ghuldm, and by °Ali b. Buwayh [i. e. ‘Imddu’d-Dawla],
Midkan b. Kdki, and Jakdw the sipaksdlér, while the Turks
pursued them to Abasgin. In Tammisha they halted and began
to fortify themselves, while Sayyid Hasan, leaving M4dkdn there,
went on to Amul to gather fresh troops. Abu’l-Husayn then
again attacked the Turks, repulsed them, and re-occupied
Gurgdn. This victory was at the end of Dhv’l-Hijja, A. H.
310 (= April 20, A.D. 923). For some time after this
Sayyid Hasan and Abu’l-Husayn held Tabaristdn thus, the
former residing at Amul, the latter at Gurgdn. Sayyid
Hasan built mosques and colleges, encouraged and patronized
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men of learning and poets, and governed the people wisely
and beneficently. After a while Abu’l-Husayn again quar-
relled with and attacked him, but was defeated, and'ﬂed
to join his brother Abu’l-Qdsim.

These two then allied themselves with Mdkdn b. Kiki,
‘Ali b. Khurshid, Asfdr b. Shiriya and Rashdmdj, and de-
termined to seize Sayyid Hasan, who, being informed of
their designs, marched from Amul to Sdri with Rustam b.
Sharwin. The brothers Abuw’l-Husayn and Abu’l-Qdsim
marched along the coast to Mishkawd, meaning to fight him
next day at Sdrf, but Sayyid Hasan fled that night, none
knew whither. Abu’l-Husayn nominated his own governors
and lieutenants, and on Thursday (f. 1324), the 8th of Ju-
mdda I (A.H. 311 = Aug. 24, A.D. 923), came to Amul,
but behaved so exorbitantly and tyrannically towards the’
people that they longed with all their souls for the former
government. And on Tuesday, Rajab 29, A. H. 311 (= Nov.
13, A.D. 923) Abu’l-Husayn died.

On his death, Abu’l-Qdsim, his brother, was left in undis-
puted possession of Tabaristdn, for Sayyid Hasan had fled
to the mountains, where many of those who loved his rule
joined him. On hearing of Abu’l-Husayn's death, he ap-
proached Amul, halting at a place known as Gdzar-gd# (the
Washing-place) to fight Abu’l-Qdsim; but in Ramaddn, A.
H. 311 (= Dec. A.D. g23—]Jan.,, A.D. 924), most of his
men having deserted to the enemy, he again fled to the
mountains. About the same date Sayyid Abu’l-Q4sim ordered
Khalil b. Kdj{ to kill ‘Abdu’lldh [b.] Mubdrak the scribe,
stick his head on a pole, and parade it, with an ink-stand
set before it in mockery, through the bdzirs. But Abu’l-
Qé4sim himself died soon afterwards on Tuesday, Dhu’l-
Qada 10, A. H. 312 (= Febr. 7, A.D. g25).

All Gil and Daylam now swore allegiance to Abv’l-Qdsim’s
nephew [Abu ‘Alf] Muhammad b. Ahmad [b.] al-Hasan, who

14
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was beloved for his justice and beneficence as much as he
was feared for his courage.

Abv’l-Qdsim had made Mdkdn b. Kik{ governor of Gurgan (f.
133a), and he, with Hasan [b.] Firizdn and Abu “Ali b. Isfahdn,
agreed to swear allegiance to Abu’l-Qdsim’s little son (by Diky,
daughter of Isfahdn) Ismdl and make him king ; which design,
however, they kept secret, until Sayyid Abi “Ali summoned
them to his presence, when they marched from Gurgan to Sarf,
Abt “Ali having gone with only a few retainers to Mdmtir.
M4ékdn then sent his army to seize him, bidding them drag
him from his horse, and snatch off his Awldéki, which was
done. Then Mikdn sent him to Gurgdn to the Amir Kid,
son of Warddsf, who came to Amul and crowned Isma‘l.
Mdkdn wrote news of this to Sayyid Hasan, and sent his
brother Abu’l-Husayn b. Kéki with the insignia of royalty
to Jdjarm and Khurdsdn, whither also he despatched an
army. ‘Ali b. Buwayh, the paternal uncle of Adudu’d-Dawla
Fandkhusraw, was the Sayyids’ governor of that place, and
he, with his 400 men, was defeated and captured by Abu-
’l-Husayn b. Kéki, who slew all the Khurdsdni soldiers who
fell into his hands. Soon afterwards Mdkdn wrote to his
brother to return to Gurgin and take over the government
of it from the Amir Kd; and he sent a confidential mes-
sage to his brother bidding him kill Sayyid Abua “Ali, who
was lodging in the house of Radf, and send him his head.
As the two sat drinking together, Abu’l-Husayn b. Kdki
began to quarrel with the Sayyid, who, divining his object,
made some pretext for leaving the room, and borrowed
from one of his servants a small knife (f. 1338) which he
concealed in his dress. Then he returned, and when Abu’l-
Husayn b. Kdki, waxing more quarrelsome, seized him by
the throat, he threw him down and ripped up his belly.
To escape, the Sayyid was obliged to leap from the roof
thirty yards down into the moat. He then sent his ring to
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‘Alf b. Khurshfd and Asfir b. Shirdya, who were in revolt
against Mdkdn and were plundering on the high roads of
Gurgdn, and they at once joined him and swore allegiance
to him. Soon he had an army round him, and was in
possession of Gurgin.

As soon as Mdkdn heard of his brother’s death, he col-
lected an army and marched on Gurgédn, but the Sayyid,
by bribing Rashdmij the son of Shir-Marddn to desert to
his side was able to discomfit and rout him. Mdkdn fled
to Lamrdsk (f. 134¢) without halting, left the Amir Ka,
son of Warddsf, there with a regiment, and continued his
flight to Sdri. Sayyid Abd °Ali, having left “Ali b. Khur-
sh{d in charge of Gurgdn, pushed on to Lamrdsk, where the
vanguard of his army had already defeated Amir Kai.
Without halting he marched on to Sdri and defeated Mdkan,
who fled into the city, after slaying Abd Jafar Kurankfj,
who tried to seize him. He was pursued by the soldiers
from quarter to quarter and repeatedly wounded, but struck
down a soldier who tried to arrest him and escaped. In
trying to cross the river he was thrown from his horse,
which he then abandoned, together with his coat of mail,
and fled through a garden to a house belonging to a poor
man, whose help he implored, and who hid him in the
branches of a mulberry-tree. The soldiers arrived there and
threatened the poor man, who, however, would not betray
Mdkan’s hiding-place. When they had gone, he brought
Midkdn out, bound up his wounds, and, when he was strong
enough, set him on his way, so that he escaped to the
highlands of Sdrf. When afterwards Makdn became powerful
and prosperous, he richly rewarded his deliverer, whose name
was Kaydn Bij, raised him to a high position and conferred
honour on his family. Sayyid Abu ‘Ali came to Amul and
took possession of Tabaristin. He ruled firmly and wisely, but
ere long was killed by a fall from his horse whilst playing polo.
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When the mourning for his death was concluded, the
people (f. 1348) swore allegiance to his brother Abu Jafar.
His accession was soon followed by a serious riot, caused
by the injustice of his minister Abu’l-Hasan [b.] Abi Yisuf,
in which disturbance many persons were killed, even in the
chief Mosque, where the soldiers massacred numbers of the
congregation as they came from public prayer on Friday, till
at length the people rose and expelled the troops from the city.

Mikdn b. Kdki kept writing from his highland retreat to
the D49 urging him to revolt and promising him his sup-
port, but he would not stir until Mdkdn had collected 500
men at a place above Nitil still known as “Mdkdn’s camp”.
When Sayyid Abi Ja“far learned this, he marched from
Amul to Nitil, and encamped opposite Mdkin. Many of
the notables of Amul, such as Sayyid Abu Jafar Mdnk-dim,
Abu °‘Abdi’llih Muhammad b. al-Hasan, Abt Jafar Muham-
mad b. ‘Ali, the head-man of Amul and nephew of Husayn
b. °Alf Faqih, and “Abbds b. Q4bisdn, wrote letters to
Mdkdn promising to help him. He bade them remain quietly
in the city, but they disobeyed him, and, gathering a great
rabble of the townsfolk, made manifest their intentions (f.
135a). Sayyid Abud Jafar, learning this, sent against them
1200 picked soldiers, who utterly routed these undisciplined
levies, killing many of them. Next day Sayyid Abt Ja‘far
Ndsir entered Amul, where Abu’l-Hasan the minister had
exacted large sums of money from the people.

Mékdn again urged the D4 to revolt, but he still refused,
until Asfir the son of Shiriya and Mutrif, his minister,
having exacted vast sums of money from the people, retired
to"Gurgdn and openly cast off their allegiance to Abd Jafar,
who sent “Alf b. Khurshid to Sdr{ as governor. After a
month or so, Asfir came from Gurgdn and attacked him,
defeated him, imprisoned him in the caravanseray of Hasan
b. Bahrim, seized the city, and proclaimed himself king.
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Meanwhile Mdkdn’s strength continued to increase, and
he determined to attack Sayyid Abu Ja‘far, who, on his
approach, fled from Amul to Wanddd-Hurmazd Kih. Mdkan
occupied the city, and at once sent messengers to the D4‘i
to bring him from Gilin. When he arrived, amidst the re-
joicings of the people, he advanced with Mdkdn from Amul
to Sdri. Asfir fled at their approach (f. 1358), while the
Ispahbad Sharwin retired into his highlands. At this junc-
ture Nasr b. Ahmad the Sdmadinid marched from Bukhara
with an army of 30,000 men to subdue Tabaristin and ‘Irdq,
and entered the highlands of Tabaristin. Abu Nasr was
Sayyid Hasan’s governor in Shahriyar-kih, and he blocked
the roads, broke down the bridges, and so entangled Nasr
b. Ahmad in the highlands that he was unable to get out,
and was reduced to great straits for food and fodder, so
that finally he sent an ambassador to Sayyid Hasan asking
him on what terms he would let him depart. The Sayyid sent
‘Abdu’lldh b. Saldm and Abu’l-“Abbds [b.] Dhu ’r-Riydsatayn
to him, and concluded peace, on the understanding that he
should pay an idemnity of 20,000 dindrs and depart to
Khurdsdn.

When the Simdnid had departed, Mdkin began to be-
have arrogantly towards the Sayyid, who left him, and
went to Gfildn with the Ispahbad Sharwin b. Rustam. Mai-
kdn sent messengers to make apologies, but the Sayyid
would not listen to them. Then Asfir collected an army
of 7000 Turks, Gilis, and Daylamites and came to Amul,
where he fought with Makdn for three days and nights at
the gate known as Dar-i-F4r. Rashimij had promised to
help Mdkdn, and actually joined him on the fourth day.
All the people were watching the fray from the roofs of
the various buildings. Mdkdn looked back, saw them, and
said, “Why do ye not take down these dogs?” Then
Mdkdn’s troops dashed at Asfir's and routed them, and
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pursued them to Sdri. Asfir came to Gurgdn, releasing ‘Al{
b. Khurshid, whom he had kept in bonds (f. 136a), and
who was brought to Mdkdn, and by him restored to liberty.
Mikdn then marched on to Astaribad, while Asfir went
to Abd Bakr b. Ilisa, Nasr b. Ahmad’s commander-in-chief,
who turned back to Sdrf, and in A.H. 315 (A.D. 927—8)
despatched Hasan [b.] Firizdn to the highlands to seek out
Sayyid Abud Ja‘far, whom he brought in to Sdri, bare-
headed and bare-footed, and imprisoned in the Palace of
Abu’l-°Abbds [b.] Dhu’r-Riydsatayn. Then the DA% wrote to
Madkdn, reproaching him bitterly for what he had done to
Sayyid Abu Ja“far, notwithstanding all his protestations of
friendship and promises of support to himself; and there-
upon M4dkén released Abu Ja‘far and sent him to the Ddf.
Then the latter, supported by Gil and Daylam, and accom-
panied by the Ispahbad Sharwin, came to Amul, where
Mdkdn came out to meet him. Soon after this Mdkdn slew
Abu Nasr, who had come to Sdr{, with a blow from his
mace, while he was riding with him, and restored the go-
vernment of Shahriyar-kidh to the Ispahbad Sharwin, whom
he dismissed with presents and robes of honour. Asfir
joined Abid Bakr [b.] Ilisa® and on his death, which occurred
shortly afterwards, the army swore allegiance to him. Abud
Bakr had a ghuldm named Tl;Tughdi, who, fearing Nasr b.
Ahmad, joined Asfir, and secured for him the kingdom of
Khurdsin. Nasr b. Ahmad, hearing this, sent S$dlih b.
Sayyar (f. 1366), with the insignia of royalty, to conciliate
him, and Asfir waxed bold and tyrannical, so that the
people of Khurdsdn conceived a great_ hatred for him.
Madkan and the D4 being now reconciled, a great army
gathered round them, and they marched on Ray, expelled
its governor, Muhammad b. $a‘lik, and annexed it. Asfir,
hearing of their absence, marched on Tabaristin with the
army of Khurdsin, and Abw’l-Hajjdj Mardawij b. Ziyir, the
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elder brother of Washmgir, who was with Qard-takin the
Sdmdnid, asked permission to join this expedition.

News of this invasion reached the D4 and Mdkdn at
Ray, and the latter begged the former to remain there
while he marched back to fight the invaders. But the Da
would not listen, and, with 500 men, marched to Amul
The people of Amul, on account of Abu’l-“Abbds al-Faqih
al-‘Alaqi, refrained from helping the D4%; and Asfir, who
was at Sdri, hearing of his weakness at Amul, and of Ma-
kin’s absence at Ray, marched to Amul and attacked the
D&, who came out to meet him in battle, but was slain
by Marddwij with a blow of his mace at Ali-dbidd as he
was endeavouring to recross the river and regain the city.
On the same day Abu Ja“far Mdnk-dim and another, a
descendant of °Aqil b. Abi Talib, were slain, and Tabar-
istdn passed into the possession of Asfir, who appointed his
own governors, and, being reinforced by a Turk named
Agish{ and his tribe, marched on Ray and defeated Mdkan,
who fled to Tabaristin, while Asfir remained at Ray to
enrich himself and his army (f. 1374). Then, leaving Agushi{
at Ray, Asfir returned to Tabaristdn. Mdkdn thereupon
fled to Daylamdn. Asfar swore allegiance to Abu Jaf‘ar, who,
however, he shortly afterwards seized, together with Abv’l-
Husayn Shajari and Zayd b. Sdlih, and sent them in chains
to Bukhdrd, while Sayyid Abu’l-Husayn fled. These three
remained in captivity at Bukhard till the death of Abu
Bakr Zakariyyd, when they were released, and returned to
Tabaristin. Amul was ceded to Mdkdn on condition that
he should not interfere with the rest of Tabaristdan. Agushi
the Turk behaved so tyrannically at Ray that Asfir resolved
to kill him, but he fled to Qum, pursued by Mardiwij,
whom Asfdr sent after him, but without success.

At this juncture the Caliph al-Mugtadir sent his cousin
Harin b. al-Gharib against Ray, but he was defeated by



216

Asfir. Mdkdn, not regarding his treaty, strove to bring all
Tabaristdin under his control, made Hasan [b.] Firtzin his
deputy at Amul, and himself marched to Gurgdn and thence
to Nishdpir, accompanied by the Ispahbad Sharwin and
Shahriydr of Wand4dd-Hurmazd-Kudh. There he fought many
battles and gained many victories, but a report arose in
Tabaristdn that he was dead, and Hasan [b.] Firizdn assumed
the control of affairs and placed the crown on the head of
Isma‘fl the Alawi, who was his half-brother, giving him
Fétima, the daughter of Ahmad, who had been the wife of
the D4d%, as his wife. But Khadija, the mother of Abu
Ja‘far, bribed two of Dikd’s handmaidens with 400 dindrs
to poison Isma®l with a poisoned lancet while he was being
bled. Later, when these handmaidens quarrelled and di-
vulged the secret, both were hanged at Shdlis by Diku.
Hasan [b.] Firizdn came to Amul, but was expelled by Abu
°Ali of Isfahdn and Abd Misd, two of Mdkdn’s officers, and
retreated to Daylamdn. Asfir went from Ray to Qazwin,
and slew many of its inhabitants, because they had, in a
riot, slain his lieutenant, and burned the édzdrs, and many
of the people fled into exile. Mardawij b. Ziydr quarrelled
with him, gathered a number of followers, and retired to
Zangdn, whence he made an attack on Qazwin, and drove
Asfir to Ray, and thence to Qiimish, where he was joined
by Abu’l-‘Abbds b. Kdlanjir. With him Asfir fell back by
way of Quhistdn on Tabas, whither he was pursued by M4-
kan. Thence he endeavoured to reach the castle of Alamiit,
but Marddwij stopped the way (f. 138), and finally captured
him in Tdlagin and beheaded him. All this happened in
A.H. 319 (A.D. g31). Marddwij, being now quit of Asfdr,
slew many of the rabble who had supported him, including
Ahmad b. Rastl and Abu’l-“Abbds “Assdri, and established
himself at Ray. Mdkdn advanced from Khurdsin to Tabar-
istdn and made peace with Marddwij, who sent messengers
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to Gilin by way of Qazwin and brought Ndsir to Ray.
Maikdn had tortured Abu’l-Fadl Shagird, a relative of
Mutrif, to make him disgorge money; and Mutrif induced
Marddw{j to march on Tabaristin. Mdkdn, learning this,
came to Amul. Marddwij sent Ndsir by way of Ldrijdn
and Damdwand, but Mdkidn met him near Wild-rid and
slew him and many of his followers. Marddwij retreated
by way of Damdwand to Ray. At this period the sons of
Buwayh had seized the provinces of Fars and Kirmdn, and
Marddwij went to Isfahdn to arrange his plans, but while
there he was assassinated in the bath.!

On the death of Marddwij, the army of Ray swore alle-
giance to his brother Washmgir b. Ziydr, who, having set
in order the affairs -of ‘Irdq, sent Shiraj b. Layld, Lashkar{
and Abu’l-Qdsim to expel M4kdn from Tabaristdn. Mdkan
fled thence to Gurgdn, on a Tuesday in Ramadin, A. H.
323 (= August, A.D. 935). Abd Bakr and Abu’l-Mudhaffar,
who were both there, allied themselves with Abu’l-Qdsim,
and left him in possession of Gurgin when they had ex-
pelled Makdn (f. 1384). But in Ramaddn, A. H. 324 (=
July—August, A.D. ¢36) Abu’l-Qdsim was killed by a fall
from his horse whilst playing polo, and buried at Sdri. His
army swore allegiance to Ibrdhim b. Gushydr. The Amir
Abu Télib Washmgir came from Ray to Amul and thence
to Sirf, and Ibrdhim b. Gushydr came from Gurgdn to meet
him, but was dismissed from his command and degraded to
his former rank. Washmgir then remained for some while
at Sdri, until Abu °Ali Khalifa and Langarcha Pir were
murdered at Amul. In Muharram, A. H. 325 (= Nov.—Dec.,
A.D. 936) he sent to Nishdpir and brought back Mikdn,
to whom he gave Gurgdn. The command of the army of
Tabaristin he conferred on Abi D4&d and Isfdhi b. Ur-
mazdydr, bidding them make war on Abti Misd b. Bahrim,

1 See ¥. R.A.S. for 1901, pp. 687—8.
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who had rebelled in Daylamdn. Abd Ja*far Muhammad,
who was at Amul, was joined by Abd D#ud, and these,
accompanied by Abu Ja‘far Nisir, went to attack Abu
Misd, whom they defeated and expelled from that country.
Daylamdn, Jdlis and the regions on that side of Amul were
conferred by Abud Tdhir Washmgir on Ahmad b. Saldr,
while Muhammad b. Ahmad an-Ndsir ruled at Amul, giving
audience every Monday and Thursday, and holding religious
discussions with the doctors of Islim every Wednesday.
Abu D#ud was at Sdri, which suffered greatly this year
from floods, so that the people fled into the highlands.
Abu D#id summoned all the ministers and officials, and
warned them that any exaction of which they might be
guilty would be severely punished (f. 139a).

In Muharram, A.H. 328 (= Oct.—Nov., A.D. 939) Nasr
b. Ahmad the Sdmdnid sent Abd °Alf b. Ahmad b. Mu-
hammad al-Mudhaffari to Gurgdn. Mikdn appealed for help
to Washmgir, who sent Isfihf, with numerous levies from
Gil and Daylam. For seven months there was war in Gur-
gin, and at length Mdkin and his allies were defeated,
though reinforced by Shiraj b. Layld. Finally, driven out
of Gurgdn by the army of Khurdsin, Mdkdn fell back on
Tabaristdn and halted at Amul. At this juncture news ar-
rived that Hasan the Buwayhid had come from Kirmin to
Ray, seeking to conquer ‘Irdq. Washmgir marched at the
head of an army to a place two stages distance from Ray
called Mushkd, where a battle was fought, and the army
of Hasan the Buwayhid was defeated, and fell back on
Isfahdn. In this battle the chamberlain Ibn Sh&’tGshti was
slain, and Hasan the Buwayhid captured the Giid-giir, but
Washmgir’s men recovered him and brought him in his
bonds to Washmgir, who set him free. Some days later,
Washmgir came from Ray to Damdwand and summoned
Makin b. Kdki before him. He arrived on the “Ashurd
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(Muharram 10) A.H. 329 (= October 15, A.D. 940), and
was received with the utmost honour and sent to Sarf. As
he was returning thither from Damdwand, the commander-
in-chief Abu °Ali came to Ddmghdn, marching on ‘Irdq.
Washmgir turned back from Ray to Wima near Damd-
wand, and sent to Mdkdn to join him. Madkdn, leaving his
cousin Hasan [b.] Firdzan at Sdri, went to Washmgfr, and they
met at Ishdq-dbdd. On Saturday, the 2z1st of Rabf® I, A.
H. 329 (= December 24, A.D. 940) they drew up in
battle-array against the commander-in-chief [of the Sdmd-
nids]. At the first attack of the Khurdsanfs {f. 13946) Washm-
gir fled; but Mdkdn stood firm, till, 1400 of his Gili and
Daylamite guards having been slain, twenty Turkish cham-
pions hurled themselves upon him, dragged him from his
horse, and slew him. His head, with a number of notable
Daylamites who had been taken prisoners, was sent to Bu-
khard !. His waszir, the father of Ustdd Ibnuw’l-’Amid Mu-
hammad Qumi, al-Husayn b. Muhammad, known as 4ala,
one of the finest scholars of the age, was also slain, and
his head sent to Bukhdrd. Thither also was sent his secret-
ary, who, because of his accomplishments, was received with
honour at the Sdmanid court, where he remained for the rest
of his days.

Washmgir, meanwhile, fled to Ldrijdn, whence, ten days
later, he came to Musalld of Amul. There, on Wednesday,
the 28th of Rabi® II, A. H. 329 (= December 31, A. D. 940)
he received the news of Mdkdn’s death. Hasan [b.] Firdzin,
Mdkdn’s cousin, and his clansmen agreed that Washmgir
had purposely deserted their kinsman, and so rebelled
against the latter, who sent Shiraj b. Layld to fight them.
He drove them out of Sdri, and they fell back on Astard-
bdd. Shiraj came to Amul, and advanced on Astaribdd,

1 For the celebrated despatch written on this occasion by Iskafi, see
Anecdote I1I of the Chakdr Magdla, pp. 28—30 of my translation.
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while Hasan [b.] Firizdn fled to “Irdq and joined the Sdmdnid
commander-in-chief, whom he induced to invade Tabaristén.
Washmgir then retired from Gurgdn to Séri, where, at a
place called Walajuy, a battle took place, wherein Washm-
gir stood firm; and even in the midst of it (f. 150@) news
arrived of the death of Nasr b. Ahmad and the succession
of his son Nuah. Thereupon the Sdmdnid general made
peace with Washmgir, and set out for Bukhdrd, accompanied
by Hasan [b.] Firdz4dn, who, on the way thither, treacherously
slew his chamberlain Mushawwiq, and, with the plunder
which he had seized, returned to Gurgdn, while the Sdam-
anid general proceded on his way to join Nih b. Nasr the
new sovereign. All this happened in the year A.H. 331
(= A. D. 942—0943). Washmgir made Isfihi governor of
Tabaristdin and himself went to Ray.

At the end of Ramaddn, A.H. 331 (beginning of June,
A.D. 943) Hasan the Buwayhid advanced from Isfahdn by
way of Qazwin, and Washmgir came forth from Ray to
give him battle. Shir Mardi and Gurigir deserted him and
went over to his enemy, and Washmgir, filled with appre-
hension, was defeated, and fled to Musalld near Amul
Hasan the Buwayhid seized Abu °Alf the scribe, Ahmad b.
Muhammad al-°Umari and Abd “‘Umar the wazé», and bade
them disclose Washmgir’s treasures. They indicated to him
as the treasurer Abu’l-Hasan Maéamtir{, who, under torture,
gave up all his own wealth, but not a grain of his master’s.
On reaching Amul, Washmgir sent Bindn b. al-Hasan as an
ambassador to Hasan [b.] Firizdn, who, however, imprisoned
him in the castle of Jahina, and again came to Sdri, where
Washmgir then was. A battle ensued, and Muhammad b.
Dabiri and Ismal b. Mardichin deserted to Hasan [b.] Fird-
zan’s side. Thereupon Washmgir again fled to the Ispahbad
Shahriydr b. Sharwin in the highlands, and, taking all his
kinsmen and women-folk with him (f. 1404), made his way
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to Bukhdrd, where Nuh b. Nasr the Sdmdnid came out to
meet him and received him with honour. Washmgir's
lieutenant Isfihi came to Amul, whence, learning that
Washmgir had fled, he moved to the castle of Kuhrid. A
riot ensued in Amul, wherein many officers and myrmidons
of the government were slain, and Ja“far b. Alanbdn was
hanged, and the people of Qum who were there were mal-
treated, till Hasan [b.] Firizdn came to Amul and encamped at
Sha‘bid-Dasht, whence he went to Ldrijin and captured the
castle and slew Isfdhf{ b. Akharydr, and seized all his pro-
perty, and sent the spoils to his own castle in Daylaman.
Then Ndh b. Nasr the Sdmdnid sent Qaritakin at the head
of 30,000 horsemen with Washmgir to Tabaristan. When he
reached Gurgdn, Hasan b. Firdzdn pretended that he was
going to attack him, but suddenly slipped past him from
Astardbid to Amul, destroying the roads and bridges, by
way of Mdmtir and Taricha. He was pursued by Washmgir
to Sdr{, whence, by way of Amul, he made good his escape
to Daylamdn. Washmgir advanced to Jdlis, and Qaratakin
demanded money of him, so that he was obliged to turn
back to Amul and give him a share of his possessions, be-
sides presenting all the men of learning and position to him
in the mosque, in order that they also might he laid
under contribution. Meanwhile Hasan b. Firizdn remained in
his castle o =l e s, and encamped his men at
a place called Dildddr. Washmgir marched thither, while
Hasan [b.] Firizin encamped on the sea-shore beyond Dar-
band. Washmgir put his horse into the sea and attacked
them, and captured Abu’l-Qdsim b. al-Hasan ash-Sha‘rén{,
whom he at once beheaded. Hasan [b.] Firdzin then took
refuge with Mdzydr b. Justdn, while Washmgir came to Amul
and there abode. [Hasan] b. Firdzdn then retired to Ruyédn
and took refuge with the Ustunddr. Washmglr, learning this,
suddenly attacked (f. 1414) them and dispersed their troops.
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Hasan [b.] Firizdn next fled to Ldrijin, whence, by way of
Damdwand, he went to Astaribid and took up his abode
in the castle of Kachin. Washmgir came from Amul to
Gurgdn, but no sooner had he arrived there than Hasan the
Buwayhid came from Ray by Amul to Astaribid, where
he was joined by Hasan [b.] Firizdn. They then proceeded to
Gurgdn and fought and defeated Washmgir, who retired to
Nishdpir. The Ispabhad Shahriyar came to Hasan the Bu-
wayhid, who was now in possession of Tabaristin, where
he left ‘Alf b. Nikdma, and himself returned to “Iriq and
settled at Ray. The Ustunddr brought forth Abuw’l-Fadl
ath-Th#’ir al-“‘Alawi{ (the grand-nephew of an-Ndsir al-
Kabir) and established him at Jdlis. The people collected
round him. Hasan the Buwayhid, on hearing this, sent an
army under Abu’l-Fadl Muhammad b. al-Husayn, known as
Ibnu’l-‘Amid, to Amul to help °‘Ali b. Nikama, but Abu’l-
Fadl ath-Th#’ir deserted the Buwayhid force at Taman-
jaddiya, and came to Amul, where he established himself
in the Sayyid’s palace, while the Ustunddr took up his
abode at Kharmazar above Amul. After some time, these
two quarrelled, and ath-Th#’ir al-‘Alawi went to Gilan.
Hasan the Buwayhid gave an army to Hasan [b.] Firtzdn, and
sent him to Tabaristin. At this juncture Hasan the Ba-
wayhid’s mother died at Ray, and was buried with great
pomp at Jalis near Amul, and all Tabaristin passed under
the sway of Hasan [b.] Firtzdn, who discovered Abi Ja“far
the brother of Mdkdn at Siri. Washmgir sent to Nidh the
Sdmdnid to ask his help, and received in response to his
appeal several thousand troops, with whom he suddenly
attacked Gurgén, and surprised and defeated Hasan [b.] Firtzdn,
whose army joined Washmgir (f. 1418), while their late
captain fled by night to the castle of Kachin. Washmgir
then obtained control of the country.

At this date the Buwayhids had over-run the two ‘Irdgs,
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al-Hijdz and Syria, as is fully set forth by Abu Ishaq Ibra-
him b. Hildl as-S4bi in his Kitdbu’t-Tdji fi dthdri °d-Daw-
lati *d-Daylamiyya, and had made Baghdad their capital.
Hasan the Buwayhid, the father of “Adudu’d-Dawla Fana-
khusraw, made his brother Mu‘izzu’d-Dawla governor of Ray,
while he himself held sway over ‘Irdq. As soon as he heard
of the return of Washmgir, he set out with a large army
of Persians and Arabs to attack Tabaristin. Washmgir fled
to Daylamdn, but its people refused to shelter him for fear
of the Buwayhids. Ruknu’d-Dawla Hasan the Buwayhid
advanced as far as Jdlds, and Washmgir took refuge with
Abu °I-Fadl ath-Th#ir, but for whose protection the Dayla-
mites would have surrendered Washmgir to his foes. Ruknu
’d-Dawla the Buwayhid retired to Amul and remained there
a month, till news of the death of his brother “Ali reached
him, whereupon he left Tabaristdn and returned to ‘Irdq.
Thereupon Washmgir and ath-Th&ir al-“Alaw{, accompanied
by a host of Gilfs and Daylamfs, came to Amul and ap-
pointed their own governors. Leaving the Sayyid at Amul,
Washmgir himself marched to Gurgdn. Shiraj b. Layld,
Warddnshiah and Abu’l-Hasan the brother of Ndsir conspired
together and slew the chief supporters of ath-Th#’ir, while
Muhammad b. Wahri, one of his chief intimates, joined
them, so that the Sayyid was left alone, and fled by night
to Daylamdn, while the conspirators plundered and looted
Amul (f. 1424).

When Ruknu’d-Dawla had concluded the mourning for
his brother, he collected a large army, marched on Gur-
gdn, attacked Washmgir, and drove him by way of Nasd
and Bdward to Merv, which was then governed for Nih
the Sdmdnid by Mansir Qaratakin. Nishdpir had been
seized by Muhammad b. ‘Abdu’r-Razzdq, who had revolted
against Nuh. Washmgir and Qaritakin made a combined
attack on him, and he, unable to withstand them, retired



224

to Gurgdn, where he joined Ruknu’d-Dawla’s governor,
Hasan [b.] Firtzdn. In Shawwil, A.H. 337 (= April, A.D.
049) Qardtakin and Washmgir entered Gurgdn, and Mu-
hammad b. “Abduv’r-Razzdiq fled to Ray and took refuge
with Ruknu’d-Dawla. Qardtakin returned to Nishdpur and
there died. Amir Nuh thereupon appointed Abu “Alf Mus-
lim commander in chief in Khurdsin, and sent him against
Ruknuw’d-Dawla. He reached Ray in A.H. 342 (= A.D.
353—4), besieged Ruknu’d-Dawla in the citadel, and finally
made peace with him on the condition that he should pay
to the Court of Bukhdrd a yearly tribute of 200,000 dindrs.
Thereupon Abd “Alf Muslim retired, to the great vexation
of Washmgir, who wrote to the Amir Nudh saying that, if
he had pressed his advantage, he might have taken Ruknu’d-
Dawla captive. Amir Nuh, incensed at this, dismissed Abi
‘Alf Muslim from his office of commander in chief, and
gave it to Abid Sa“d Bakr b. Malik. Abud °Ali Muslim,
being informed of his dismissal, revolted against Amir Nuh,
omitted his name from the Akutba, and seized Nishdpdr.
And about the same time, as it chanced, in A.H. 343 (=
A.D. 954—5) Amir Nah died, and was succeeded by his
son ‘Abdu’l-Malik. Thus Abid ‘Ali Muslim’s power became
greater, and he concluded (f. 1425) an offensive and defen-
sive alliance with Ruknu’d-Dawla. They agreed to invade
Tabaristdn, the former by way of Shahriydr-Kuh, the latter
by Hurmazd-Kdh; but soon after they had effected a junc-
tion, Abd “Ali Muslim died, and his Khurdsdn{ soldiers dis-
persed, whereupon Ruknu’d-Dawla retired to Ray, and
Washmgir remained unmolested, though enmity continued
to exist between the two, until, when Manstr b. Nih the
Sdmdnid came to the throne, he sent a large army under
Muhammad b. Ibrdhim Simjir to help Washmgir against
the Buwayhid. Thereupon Ruknu’d-Dawla, being alarmed,
sought for help from Baghdad and Fars, from his brother
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Mu‘izzu’d-Dawla and from the sons of ‘Adudu’-Dawla. In
the year A. H. 356 (= A.D. 967) [Abu’l-Hasan] Muhammad
b. Ibrihim Simjur joined Washmgir outside Gurgin.

One day about this time Washmgir wished to go for a
ride, but was advised by his astrologer not to do so. He
waited till the afternoon prayer, at which time some horses
were brought for him to see. Amongst these was a very
fine black horse from Bukhdrd. He ordered it to be sadd-
led, mounted it, and rode forth a little way, when he re-
membered with vexation the astrologer’s advice. Thereupon
he turned back, when suddenly he was attacked by a wild
boar, which gored his horse, while he fell to the ground
with blood pouring from his nose, eyes and ears, and
shortly afterwards expired. This was in Muharram, A. H.
357 (= December, A.D. ¢67).

Washmgir left two sons (f. 143«), Bahistin and Qdbus, of
whom the former was at this juncture in Tabaristdn and the
latter with his father. The nobles swore allegiance to Qdbus,
to whom [Abuv’l-Hasan] Muhammad b. Ibrédhim Simjir also
gave his support. Bahistin, greatly disappointed, thereupon
made overtures to Ruknu’d-Dawla, and went to him at Ray,
while his brother Qdbis continued to strengthen his hold
on Tabaristin and Gurgdn, and to conciliate the nobles by
gifts of lands and money. Amongst others he was joined
by his maternal uncle the Ispahbad Rustam b. Sharwin b.
Shahriydr Bdwand. And on Mubarram 25, A.H. 366 (=
November 28, A.D. g70) Ruknu’d-Dawla died.

‘Adudu’d-Dawla Abd Shujd® Fandkhusraw, the son of
Ruknu’d-Dawla, was in Fars with his brother Mu’ayyidu’d-
Dawla. The mother of both of these was the daughter of
Hasan [b.] Firdzdn, the cousin on the father’s side of Mdkdn
Kiki. Fakhru’d-Dawla, the third brother, was in Hamaddn.
Him the other two attacked, and he fled before them to
Shamsu’l-Madli Qdbis in Tabaristain, who received him

Is
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with honour. His two brothers (f. 1436) offered Qdbis the
revenues of Ray for a year if he would surrender Fakhru’d-
Dawla to them, threatening him with war in case of refusal;
and on his rejecting their proposals with scorn, “Adudu’d-
Dawla collected a great army of Kurds, Lurs, Arabs, Day-
lamites and Turks, and sent them under the command of
his brother Mu’ayyidu’d-Dawla to invade Tabaristin. They
met and defeated Qdbus at Astardbdd, and he fled with
Fakhru’d-Dawla, bearing with him his treasures, to Nisha-
pur, where he placed himself under the protection of Tdsh,
who was ordered by Amir Nuh the Sdmdnid to help him
to recover his kingdom. Tdsh thereupon marched on Gurgan,
sending F#’iq by way of Qumish, and, aided by Qdbus, be-
sieged Mvu’ayyidw’d-Dawla in Gurgdn for two months. In
spite of the scarcity of provisions to which the garrison
was reduced, Mu’ayyidu’d-Dawla, at the advice of the
astrologer Abu’l-Fadl of Herdt, waited till Mars, the planet
fortunate to the Turks, had begun to decline. At this
juncture news of the death of “Adudu’d-Dawla reached him,
and he secretly bribed F&’iq and other captains of the be-
sieging army to flee when battle should be joined, which
happened on Wednesday, Ramadan 22, A. H. 371 (= March
21, A.D. 982). In consequence of the desertion of these
faithless officers, Tdsh and Qdbids were defeated and com-
pelled to retire to Nishdpiar. At this time Firizdn b. Hasan
[b.] Firdzdn ruled over Daylamdn, his brother Nasr b. Hasan
[b.] Firdzan over Qumish, and the Ispahbad Sharwin Biwand
over Tabaristdn.

On the death of ‘Adudu’d-Dawla (f. 1444) quarrels arose
between his sons, and Fakhru’d-Dawla proceeded to ‘Irdq,
but shortly afterwards died at Ray. Qdbids meanwhile re-
turned to Gurgdn, and, by gifts and promises, tried to con-
ciliate the chiefs of that country. Nih b. Mansir the Si-
mdnid died, and was succeeded by Amir Radi. Abu “Ali b.
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Hasan Simjir rebelled against him, and Khurdsin was
plunged in confusion. Amir Radi fled to Ghazna, and ap-
pealed for help to Sabuktagin, who had succeeded Alptagin
as ruler of that place. Sabuktagin collected an army and
marched on Nishdpir against Abu “Ali Simjir and F#’iq,
whom he met in battle at a place called Tafsir. Qdbus,
though at heart sympathizing with the Sdmdnids, had been
compelled to place his son D4rd as a hostage in the hands
of Abu “Ali. During the battle Ddrd escaped and joined
the Sdmdnid Amir Radi. Abu ‘Al was defeated, and Sul-
tan Mahmdd b. Sabuktagin, to whose efforts the victory
was largely due, was appointed by Amir Radi commander
in chief of Khurdsin, and given the title of Sayfu’d-Dawla,
while his father, Sabuktagin, received Balkh as his reward,
and withdrew to Herdt. Amir Radi retired to Bukhdrd,
where he shortly afterwards died.

Sultdin Mahmid, now in secure possession of Khurdsdn,
allied himself with Tlak Khdn, and the two came to Bu-
khdrd, seized Amir Radi’s son, Ibrdhim al-Muntasir, and put
to death some other Sdmdnid princes. Muntasir, however
(f. 1448), succeeded in effecting his escape to Nishdpur, and,
being pursued thither by Mahmud, fled to Gurgin, where
he was well received and generously treated by Qdbis, to-
gether with Abu’l-Qdsim b. Simjir and Arslin Bdld, who
were with him. Qabis further advised them, having regard
to the strength of Mahmud and Tlak Khdn, to abandon for
the present all hopes of recovering Khurdsdn, and rather to
turn their attention to Ray, which was ruled by the boy-
king Majdu’d-Dawla b. Fakhru’d-Dawla. Thither, accordingly,
they marched, accompanied by the two sons of Qdbiis, Ddrd
and Minuchihr, but Abuv’l-Qdsim and Arsldn Bdlg, bribed
by the.nobles of Ray, induced them to retire without mo-
lesting the city. The sons of Qabis left them and returned
to their father, while Muntasir made another attempt to
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recover Nishdptr, whence he was driven back by Sultdn
Mahmid to Gurgdn. This time, however, Qdbis, seeing that
Muntasir could effect nothing, sent 2000 men to oppose his
entrance, and thenceforth (f. 1452) concerned himself no
further with the fortunes of the House of Sdmdn. He sent
the Ispahbad Shahriyir b. Sharwin to subdue the district
of Shahriydr, which was held by Rustam b. al-Marzubdn,
the maternal uncle of Majdu’d-Dawla Abd Télib Rustam b.
Fakhru’d-Dawla, whom he defeated, and proclaimed Qdbus
ruler of that country.

Bdti b. Sa‘td was dwelling amongst a section of the Jil-i-
Isfanddri, but, though outwardly their ally, his heart was with
Qabds. Nasr b. Hasan [b.] Firtizdn, driven by famine from
Daylam, attacked and defeated them, and took prisoner the
Ispahbad Abu’l-Fadl, who shortly afterwards died. Batf
fraternized with Nasr, and the two agreed to attack Amul,
whence they drove out the governor, Abu’l-“Abbds the
chamberlain. Having occupied Amul, Biti wrote a letter to
Qdbas, informing him of the victory, and tendering his al-
legiance. Leaving Nagr, he then proceeded to Astaribdd and
easily persuaded its inhabitants to accept the rule of Qdbiis,
who sent the Ispahbad Shahriydr to support him (f. 1454) .
Firdzdn b. al-Hasan [b. Firdzdn], hearing of this, marched from
Gurgdn to attack them, and had almost succeeded in de-
feating Bat{ outside Astardbid when a number of the Kurds
and Arabs in his army suddenly raised the battle-cry of
Qdbus, and deserted to his enemy. In consequence of this
Biti not only put his army to flight, but captured him and
a score of his chief officers. The fugitives were opposed
and turned aside from Gurgdn by the Sdlir Khargdsh, a

! [From the beginning of this page as far as 1. 21 of p. 234 is entirely
extracted from al-‘Utbi’s Z'a’rikh al-Yamini (Delhi ed. of A.H. 1263, pp.
YA—T4 and Mol —1"11; Buléq ed. of A.H. 1286, vol I, pp. M to end,

and Vol. II, pp. l—lv and MW'—I¥) A.G.E.].
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kinsman of Qdbus; and the latter was soon afterwards
crowned at Gurgdn in Sha‘bdn, A. H. 388 (= August,
A.D. g98).

The fugitives were received at Ray with reproaches,
and the minister Abd ‘Alf Hamiila?! at once proceeded to
collect an army of Turks, Arabs and Daylamites ten thou-
sand strong, with which he set out for Gurgdn, accompanied
by Mandichihr? b. Qdbis, Asfir b. Kurdiya, Abu’l-“Abbds b.
J&1, ‘Abdu’l-Malik Mdkdn, Muasd H4&jib, Bisitin b. Tijdsaf,
Kindr b. Firizdn, and Rashidmuj, all leading men of Day-
lam. When they reached the district of Shahriydr, Qdbus
resolved to oppose them. Abu “Alf Hamila sent messengers
to try to win over to his side Nasr b. Hasan [b.] Firtzdn,
of whose attitude he felt doubtful, urging him, out of
regard for the bond of kinship between' him and Majdu’d-
Dawla (f. 146a), to espouse his cause, and promising to re-
ward him with the district of Qumish. Nasr, deceived by
these promises, came to Siri, and, taking the right hand
one of the two roads to Gurgin, advanced to within a short
distance of Qumish. Here he made known to his soldiers the
real reason why he had espoused the cause of Majdu’d-
Dawla. Thereupon they differed in opinion, some being for
Gurgdn and others for Ustunddr, while Nasr, with the rem-

1 For this correction of the reading “Hamawayh” (auj?) of the MS. I am
indebted to Mr. Ellis, who has looked it up in the Yamini (Delhi ed., p.
Mi; Add. 7310 of the Museum, dated A.H. 696, f. r124, and Or. 1513,
dated A.H. 767, f. 1082. “In all these texts,” he adds, “the full name of
this personage appears as JJ_,? oy Al o U"“g (}c _,.}5. The same
is the case in the Bodleian MS. of the MuSamu’l-Udabd of Yiqit. (Bodl.
Or. 753, f. 174), as I am informed by Mr. Amedroz. The Delhi ed. of the

- )
Yamint vocalizes the name as JJ_,‘.>, whilst the Buldq ed. (Vol. II, p. 2)
and Add. 7310, f. 1124, agree with Ibn Isfandiyir in reading &34 Cﬁ"”

2 Ibn Isfandiydr has “Mansir b. Qdbds”, but, as Mr. Ellis informs me,
&Mindchihr” is the reading of all texts of the Yamini (Delhi ed. p. n".; Buldq

ed., Vol. 11, p. I'; Add. 7310, f. 11245 Or. 1513, f. 108a.
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nant which clave to him, advanced to Qumish, and requested
Abi °Alf Hamdla to put him in possession of the citadel.
They assigned to him the castle of Jumand, where he placed
his family and his baggage and stores.

Abid ‘Ali Hamila, leaving Nasr b. Firizdn at Qumish,
returned by Sdr{ to Gurgdn, where he encamped outside
the city by the Mausoleum of the Dd. For two months
fighting continued between him and the allies of Qdbus, till
famine prevailed in Gurgdn, and food became hardly ob-
tainable. Rain, floods and storms presently combined with
dearth to render the position of the besiegers more and
more difficult. Thereupon the soldiers of Qdbus made a
sortie, and a fierce fight ensued in which some 1300 men
were” slain. The Daylamites were defeated, and many of
their chiefs, including Sipahsildr b. Kirdngij, Zarhawajastdn
b. Ashkali, Haydar b. Sdlir, and Muhammad b. Wahstdan
were taken captive, while Abu °Ali Hamdila retreated to
Qumish, where he urgently summoned Nasr b. al-Hasan [b.]
Firdzin to assist him. Fearing the advance of Qdbus, how-
ever, he dared not remain in Qumish, but retreated to Ray,
while Nasr marched to Samndn. Here he halted and de-
manded re-inforcements from Majdu’d-Dawla, who sent (f.
147a) the son of his chamberlain Baktakin with six hundred
Turkish horsemen. Qdbus, on the other hand, despatched
B4ti b. Sa‘id, and subsequently the Ispahbad Shahriydr, against
the Daylamites. Bdtf, however, suffered a serious defeat at
the hands of Nasr, and his army was annihilated.

Majduw’d-Dawla, greatly encouraged by this victory, sent
his maternal uncle, Rustam b. al-Marzubdn, with 3000 men
to re-inforce Abu ‘Alf Hamila, appointing him Ispahbad
of Shahriydr. Nasr came out to meet Rustam as far as
Damdawand, and helped him to take effective possession of
the district assigned to him. The Ispahbad Shahriyir fell back
on Sdrf ‘to seek aid from Prince Minuchihr, the son of
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Qdbiis, and watched his opportunity, until, Rustam having
been separated from Nasr, he attacked him and drove him
out of the country back to Ray, and established himself in
his place.

After this Majdu’d-Dawla made peace with Qdbus, and
the two agreed to make an end of Nasr b. Hasan [b.] Firuzan,
who, notwithstanding his ancient and noble lineage, was
generally hated for his exactions and oppressions (f. 1478).
Nasr discovered their intention, and, hearing that Sultin
Mahmid’s governor of Quhistdn, Arsldn Hindd-bacha, had
attacked and driven back Abu’l-Qdsim [b.] Simjir, he went to
the latter, and, eager to avenge himself on Majduw’d-Dawla,
persuaded him to attack Ray. He was, however, easily
repulsed; and, while retiring in disappointment, was at-
tacked and routed by the troops of Q4bus, whereupon he
and his confederate Abu’l-Qdsim offered their services to
Sultdn Mahmud of Ghazna. Abv’l-Qdsim, for reasons set
forth in al-‘Utb{’s T@’rikh-i-Vamini, was soon compelled (f.
148a) to flee from the Sultdn’s court, but Nasr remained in
the Sultdn’s service, and was finally given in fief Biydr
and Jumand. These, however, did not satisfy him, and he
suffered himself to be beguiled by specious promises to
Ray, where he was put in chains and sent as a prisoner to
the castle of Ustindwand, while Qdbus subdued all the sur-
rounding strongholds, and bestowed them on his chief offi-
cers and nobles.

About this time the Ispahbad Shahriyar, having collected a
large army, began to shew signs of restiveness, and Rustam
b. Marzubdn was sent against him from Ray, followed by
Bisitan b. Tijdsf, who defeated and took him prisoner.
Rustam, being a partisan of Qdbus and ill-disposed towards
the ruler of Ray, proclaimed Qdbus king, with the acquies-
cence and approval of Bisitin. Q4bis conferred Gildn on
his son Minidchihr, and shortly afterwards reduced the dis-
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tricts of Ustunddriyya, Rdiydn and Jilds, so that his domi-
nions now included, besides these regions, Gurgdn, Tabar-
istin and Daylam to the shores of the Caspian Sea (f. 1485).
He also entered into friendly relations with Sultdin Mahmud.

For all his noble qualities, his learning, piety, munificence,
magnanimity, wisdom, prudence and intelligence, Qdbis was,
however, arrogant, harsh, and sometimes cruel. No one was
secure against his occasional acts of violence, and many
men of condition suffered death at his hands, so that a
growing discontent became apparent. Now he had a cham-
berlain called Na‘fm, a simple and guiltless man, whom he
had made governor of Astardbid; and him, on the mere
suspicion of his inclining to the Mu‘azilite heresy, he con-
demned to death. Na“ifm craved a respite, that he might
establish his innocence (p. 149a), but his request was re-
fused, and he was put to death by Qdbus. This so exas-
perated the nobles and officers that they determined to
depose Qdbus, who had gone for change of air to Jandshk,
and knew nothing of their disaffection until one night they
surrounded and attacked his camp and plundered his bag-
gage, but were driven off by his retainers. They then went
to Gurgdn, seized the city, and brought thither Prince
Mintchihr, the son of Qdbuis, from Tabaristdn, threatening
him that, unless he would consent to depose his father and
accept the crown at their hands, they would find another
ruler and cast off their allegiance to his house. Minuchihr,
being unable to oppose them, deemed it best to agree to
their demands.

Meanwhile Qabus, with his retainers and baggage, came
to Bistdm, there to await the upshot of the affair (f. 1498),
and his son Minuchihr was compelled by the rebels to
march against him. Qdbds summoned Minichihr into his
presence, which he entered with every mark of respect and
with tears in his eyes. After bewailing the untoward events
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which had forced him in appearance to oppose his father,
Mintchihr offered, if Q4dbids wished it, openly to espouse his
cause; but the latter, recognizing the hopelessness of his
own position, gave Mindchihr his blessing and handed over
to him his signet-ring and the keys of his treasuries, and
retired to Jandshk, there to end his days in prayer and
pious exercises. The rebels, however, could feel no security
as long as Qdbis was alive, and soon found on opportunity
to put him to death secretly (f. 1502)'. He was buried be-
neath a dome outside Gurgin on the road to Khurdsdn.

After mourning for three days, according to the fashion
of the Daylamites, Mindchihr ascended the throne and as-
sumed the reins of government, while Qablis was soon for-
gotten:

A 8K sy (35 e Gl e o o 3 ¥
Letters of condoleance from the Caliph al-Qddir Bflldh,
conferring on him the title of Falaku’l-Ma‘4li, soon reached
Minudchihr, who made it his first business to conciliate, with
presents and professions of loyalty, the powerful Sultin
Mahmud of Ghazna, who recognized his sovereignty in
Gurgdn, Tabaristdn and Qumish, and sent Abiu Muhammad
b. Mihrdn as an ambassador to confer on him a robe of
honour and other marks of his favour; while he on his part
agreed to pay a yearly tribute of 50,000 dindrs, and, on
the occasion of the campaign against Ndrdin, supplied a
contingent of a thousand picked soldiers of Daylam (f. 1505).
Later Mintdchihr sent Abd Sa‘d Sawdk, the greatest noble
of Gurgdn, to Sultdn Mahmid to pray that he would be-
stow on him, for the confirming of the alliance, the hand
of one of his daughters. To this request a favourable an-
swer was brought back by the ambassador, who was then

1 See Dawlatshdh, pp. 48—49 of my edition.
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sent to Ghazna a second time accompanied by the Qadi of
Gurgdn to drew up the marriage-contract and bring back
the bride (f. 151a).

Having thus secured his position, Mintchihr prepared to
take vengeance on his father’s murderers, which he had
hitherto feared to do, and did not rest until he had put
most of them to death, save the son of Khargdsh, who fled
into exile, and none knows what fate overtook him. Abu’l-
Qésim Ja’di, who had been in command of the army of
Qdbiis, long evaded capture, and finally (f. 1514) took refuge
with the Sultdn at Nishdpir, who, however, handed him
over to Mintdchihr, from whom he met with his deserts.

To return ﬁow to Mintchihr’s brother Ddrd, who, as we
saw (p. 227 supra), escaped from the custody of Abu °Alf
b. ' Simjir and joined the Sdmdnid Amir Radi. When his
father Qdbus had established his rule, Ddrd continued for a
time in his service, but presently, his fears and suspicious
being aroused, he again fled secretly into Khurdsin, where
he was at first well received (f. 1524) by the Sultdn, but
presently, falling under suspicion, he escaped to Shah Shar
of Ghars, between whom and himself an ancient friendship
existed, but who dared not persist in refusing his surrender
to the Sultin. He was imprisoned by the Sultin for some
time — more rigorously after he had once succeeded in
escaping —, but was finally received back into favour, and
sent with Arsldn Jddhib' to assume the government of Ta-
baristin and Gurgin, whence, however, owing to the wis-
dom of his brother Minuchihr in conciliating Sultdn Mahmud,
he was speedily recalled, and attached to the Sultdn’s per-
sonal service. At this juncture (f. 1526) Amir Abu’l-Fawdris,

! The India Office MS. (A) has “Hérib”, but the British Museum MS.
Add. 7633 (B.), f. 1825, “Jidhib”, which is, as Mr. Ellis points out, cer-
tainly correct, as it is confirmed by all texts of the Yamini (Delhi ed., p.
P45 Buldq ed., Vol. 1I, p. %.; Add. 7310, f. 177a; Or. 1513, f. 170a.
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son of “Adudu’d-Dawla the Buwayhid, came from Kirmin
to the Sultdn to complain of the wrongs which he had
suffered at his brother’s hands, and a dispute occurred be-
tween him and Ddrd as to the nobility and antiquity of their
respective families in the course of which the latter made
use of expressions so insulting and improper that he was
again disgraced and imprisoned till Muharram, A. H. 409
(= May-June, A.D. 1018), when, at the intercession of the
Prime Minister, he was released, and his estates were
restored to his stewards.

In A.H. 424 (= A.D. 1033) Mindchihr died, and was suc-
ceeded by his son [Abid] Kdlanjdr, who was the comtemporary
of Sultdn Ma‘sid b. Mahmidd of Ghazna. In A.H. 425 (=
A.D. 1033—4) the latter, in spite of the urgent dissuasion
of his ministers and nobles, decided to visit the former in
Gurgdn and Tabaristin. Abd Kalanjdr answered (f. 153a),
“I am thy servant: the king does but visit his own house;”
but he retired to one of his castles, and even ventured a
remonstrance at the exactions and irregularities committed
by Mas%d’s troops. Finally, as summer advanced and the
weather grew warm, Mas%id retired to Gurgdn, where, on
the very day of his arrival, he learned that two thousand
Seljiq Turkmdns had reached Merv, and had been joined
by two of the sons of Seljuq, Yaghmur and Biqa. This
was the first revolt of the Seljigs, and their power conti-
nued to increase until Jaghri' Beg Dd’id seized Khwdrazm,
and thence marched to Tabaristdn and Ray, occupying and
annexing most of the realms of the House of Washmgir (or
Ziydrids) except the mountains. And in A.H. 441 (= A.
D. 1049—1050) Abu Kdlanjir died 2

1 Add. 7633, f. 1835, has Cﬂu )i.'?, “Jaghar Beg", but on the authority
of ar-Réwandi’s History of the Seljugs (N°. 1314 Suppl. Persan of the Biblio-
théque Nationale, f. 375), transcribed in A.H. 635, I prefer this form. See

F.R.A.S. for 1902, p. 585.
3 Ibnu’l-Athir places his death in A. H. 440.



236

He was succeeded by his cousin Kay-Kd’4s b. Iskandar
b. Qdbus, chiefly celebrated as the author of the Qdbus-
nima!, who was contemporary with Rustam b. Shahriydr,
and ruled in the mountain districts until A. H. 462 (= A.
D. 1069—1070), when he died, and was succeeded by his
son [Gilinshdh], to whom there remained but a shadow of
power. For Tughril the Seljiq had traversed Tabaristdn and
Gilan, levying taxes and appointing governors (f. 1536),
and thence had passed on to Ray [and Baghdad], restored
the authority of the Caliph al-Q#’im bi-amr’lldh and put
down the agents of the Fitimid Anti-Caliph al-Mustansir,
and in return for all his services received the title of Sul-
tin. Gilinshdh died, and was succeeded by his cousin Ani-
shirwdn b. Minuchihr b. Qdbis, in A. H. 471 (= A.D.
1078—0q) 2.

[Here follows some account of Alp Arsldn’s conquests,
and in particular of a wonderful march which he made
with 100,000 men from Baldsighin to the Euphrates to
relieve the Caliph al-Qa’im, who was hard pressed by the
Byzantines. This march he is said to have accomplished in
sixteen days. The author now turns back to trace the
history of the Ispahbads of the House of Bdw from the
earliest times down to the period which he has now
reached.]

(F. 1544). To the Ispahbads of this ancient and noble
house was given the title “King of the Mountains” (Ma/iku’.-
Fibdl). Their ancestor Baw was a vassal of Khusraw Par-
wiz, whom he aided in his wars with the “Romans” and

1 An excellent edition of this interesting book of counsels was lithographed
at Tihrdn in A, H. 1285,

2 The chronology here seems very confused, this same date being given
for the death of Tughril, who really died in A.H. 455 (A.D. 1063). A
little further on, however, the date of Alp Arsldn's death is correctly given
as A.H. 465 (A.D. 1072), but on f. 1582 the same erroneous date is
repeated.
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with his rebellious subject Bahrdm Chiibina, and for whom
he successively governed Istakhr, Adharbayjin, ‘Irdq and
Tabaristdn. Over the latter province he maintained his
sway for 15 years after the Arabs had overrun the rest of
Persia, but was at last treacherously slain by Waldsh, who
struck him from behind with a brick, and usurped his
authority, driving his son Suhrdb into exile. The latter,
however, aided by the men of Kiild, Khirzdd, Khusraw-
isfaihi and Qdrin-kih, attacked Waldsh at Panjdh-hazdr and
slew him, and was crowned at Farim. From that time
until the death of Fakhru’d-Dawla, though they were par-
tially subdued at different times by the ‘Alaw{ Sayyids, the
House of Gawbdra, the Qdrinwands, the Buwayhids and the
‘Ziyérids, no king or ruler was able to destroy or extirpate
them, or (f. 1544) to take undivided possession of their
domains.

Suhrdb was succeeded by his son Mihr-marddn, and he,
after a brief reign, by his grandson Sharwin b. Surkhdb,
who was the contemporary of Wanddd-Hurmazd, and first
took the title of “King of the Mountains”. He and Wanddd-
Hurmazd united to drive the Arabs out of Tabaristin. The
sons of these two, Shahriydr b. Sharwin and Qdrin b.
Wandad-Hurmazd were contemporaries of Hdrinu’r-Rashid,
to whom the former had been given as a hostage by
his father.

Shahriydr was followed successively by his two sons
Jafar and Qdrin. The latter, in the Caliphate of al-Mu‘tasim,
in the year A.H. 227 (= A.D. 841—2) abandoned the
Zoroastrian religion and embraced Isldm. He was the con-
temporary of the D&¥l-Kabir, who sent the Ustundir Pa-
dhdsbdn to ravage his lands until he submitted to the
Sayyid, and committed to him his sons Mdzydr and Sur-
khdb in the year A.H. 252 (= A.D. 866). The latter died
young, and was succeeded by his son Rustam. When the
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D4, who was still reigning, punished the Daylamites for
their disobedience by cutting off the hands and feet of
about a thousand of them, the remainder of them fled to
this Rustam, who led them to Qumish, captured it, and
banished the Dd’s viceroy, Sayyid Qdsim, to Shah Dizh in
Hazar Jarib.

Rustam, being on bad terms with the Sayyid Muhammad
b. Zayd (f. 155a) joined Rafi° b. Harthama, the governor
of Khurdsdn, and with him ravaged Mdzandardn, Daylam and
Riydn. After a while R4fi° returned to Khurdsdn, and,
being routed by “Amr b. Layth, fled to Gurgdn and made
peace with the Sayyid, but sent a message to Rustam
informing him that this truce was only a stratagem, and
inviting him to meet him at Astaribdd. On his arrival,
however, Rustam was treacherously seized by Rd&fi° as he
sat at meat, and was cast into prison, where he died in
Ramaddn, A. H. 282 (== October—November, A.D. 8gs).

He was succeeded by his son Sharwin, who made peace
with Sayyid Ndsir-i-Kabir, and was contemporary with
Mdkdn b. Kdki. Sharwin was in turn succeeded by his son
Shahriyar, who was contemporary with Ruknu’d-Dawla the
Buwayhid and Washmgir b. Ziyar. His son, who predeceased
him, bore the name of his grandfather, Sharwin. Shahriyir
survived till the time of Qdbus b. Washmgir and Sultdn
Mahmid of Ghazna.

[Here the author cites from the Chahdr Magdla the ac-
count of Firdawsf, and how he took refuge from Sultdn
Mahmid with this prince, given in-that work by Nidhdmi-
i-°Aridi-i-Samarqandi; which account has been published
with a German translation by Dr. Ethé at pp. 89—g4 of
the Z.D. M. G. for 1894, Vol. XLVIII, and criticised by
Noldeke in his Jranische Nationalepos, pp. 21—30 of the tirvage-
a-part. A full English translation of this passage, which
extends from f. 1§55, . 17 to f. 1574, 1. 12, will be found
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at pp. 77—84 of my translation of the Chakdr Magdla, so
that it may be passed over in this place.]

(F. 1576). The Ispahbad Shahriydr was succeeded by
Ddra, who reigned but a short time, and was followed by
his son Shahriydr, who accompanied Qdbis b. Washmgir
in his 18 years’ exile, conquered Shahriydr-kih and expelled
its governor Rustam b. Marzubdn, and, assisted by Biti b.
Sa‘id, in A.H. 387 (= A.D. 997) defeated Firdzin b. al-
Hasan, and afterwards Nasr b. Hasan.' But towards the end
of the reign of Qabis (f. 1582) Shahriydr rebelled against
him, and, being defeated by Rustam b. Marzubdn, was im-
prisoned till his death. After this none of the House of
Biwand dared shew themselves or claim any power, until,
when the Seljugs conquered Khurdsdn, and the power of
the House of Washmgir was destroyed, the Ispahbad Hu-
simuw’d-Dawla Shahriydr b. Qdrin restored in some degree
the power and fortunes of his house.

[The author now returns to the history of the Seljigs at
the point where he left it to recount the history of the
Bdwands, namely the death of Tughril and the accession
of Alp Arsldn. Most of what follows belongs to the general
history of Persia from this to the Author’s own time (first
half of the thirteenth century of our era), while another
hand has carried on the chronicle to A.H. 750 = A.D.
1349—1350.]

(F. 1584). During the reign of Alp Arsldn, Tabaristin
suffered much from the constant passage of his troops, but
the Ispahbad Qdrin b. Surkhdb of the House of Biwand
succeeded in re-establishing his power to some extent in
the mountains, while the power of the House of Washmgir
continually grew less. Qdrin died in A.H. 486 (= A.D.

1 See above, pp. 228—231.
“This continuation,” observes Mr. Ellis, “is absent from Add. 7633,
f. 1885,
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1093), and was succeeded by Husdmu’d-Dawla. About this
time began the power of the Assassins. The ‘New Propa-
ganda’, begun by Hasan-i-Sabbdh in Ray, was soon extended
to Ddmghdn, Shahriyir-kdh, Damdwand and Qazwin, till
finally the mountain fastness of Alamit, “the Eagle’s Nest”,
was surrendered to them by its warden, “Alawi Mahd{, on
Wednesday, Rajab 6, A. H. 483 (= September 4, A. D.
1090), a date which, by a most curious coincidence, is re-
presented by the sum of the numerical values of the letters
composing its name !. ‘Alaw{ Mahdi received from Hasan-i-
Sabbdh an order for 3000 dindrs on the governor of Gird-i-
Kdh and Ddmghdn, Ra’is Mudhaffar, who, though ostensi-
bly subordinate to Amir Did Habash b. Altintdsh, had
secretly accepted the doctrine of, and sworn allegiance to,
Hasan-i-Sabbdh. It was a great surprise to Mahd{ when, on
his presenting this order, it was at once honoured. The
growing power (f. 1598) of Hasan-i-Sabbdh aroused the
alarm of the Nid_hé.mu’l-Mulk, who, however, was assassi-
nated on the eve of Friday, Ramaddn 12, A. H. 485 (=
October 16, A.D. 1092) at Sihna near Nahdwand by one
of Hasan-i-Sabbdh’s fidé’#s named Téhir-i-Arrdni, who had
disguised himself as a $ufi,

Very shortly after this, Malikshdh (f. 1604) died, and the
civil war which broke out between his sons Muhammad and
Barkiydruq permitted the Assassins to strengthen their po-
sition unmolested. On the death of Barkiydruq, Muhammad
sent his brother Sanjar to attack them in Khurdsin. He
began by capturing a stronghold named Qal‘a-i-Atash-Kugh

! This coincidence is remarked in the 7a'réikk-i-Guzida and many other
histories. The name of the castle must, however, to yield the correct sum,

be written in its full form u_,ﬁT &”, Aluh-dmiit. 1 believe that Ibow)-
Athir's explanation of the name as meaning “the Eagle’s Teaching” is cor-

rect, for d/uk occurs in Pahlawi meaning an eagle, and dm#/ certainly stands
for dmukhe (“taught”™).



241

(“the Castle of the Mountain of Fire”)' which they had
seized at the very gates of Isfahdn, and putting several
thousand of them to death there. He also ordered the Is-
pahbad Husimuv’d-Dawla Shahriydr b. Qdrin to co-operate
with him in extirpating the Assassins, under pain of dis-
missal, but he, displeased at the peremptory and minatory
tone of the message, refused to do so. Thereupon? the Sel-
juq monarch sent 5000 horsemen under the command of
Amir Sunqur of Bukhdrd to Mdzandardn, ordering his go-
vernors in Ldrijdn, Rdydn and Amul to join him and assist
him. At Amul, accordingly, he was met by a number of
local magnates (f. 1605), who proposed to accompany him
by the sea-shore to Sari. The Ispahbad Husimu’d-Dawla,
being informed of this, collected to himself Amir Mahdi of
Lafir, one of the Qdrinwands, and all the amirs and nota-
bles of Shahriydir Kuh, at a place called Aram, and to-
gether they marched on Sdri, of which they proceeded to
repair the fortifications. Sunqur encamped at a place called
Atrabin. The Ispahbad promised his black Persian Auldh,
round which he had wound a turban, to whichever of his
sons would attack and rout the enemy. Najmu’d-Dawla
Qdrin at once alighted from his horse, took a Gilf shield,
opened the gate and went out, followed by his son, Fakhru’l-
Mulk Rustam. Husdmu’d-Dawla had with him four hundred
Gilis, all with shields and white plumes (garckam), and these
he drew up in ranks before Sunqur’s army. Then Farimarz
b. Shirzdd came forth with his horsemen. 3
Now Husimu’d-Dawla had induced an Amir named Bek-
cheri to desert Sunqur as soon as battle was joined; this
he did, and was received with honour and sent to the Is-

1 See ¥ R.A.S. for 1902, pp. 606—609. The castle in question is gene-
rally named Dizkih or Shéh-Dizh. It fell on Sha’bén 6, A. H. 500 (=
April 2; A.D. 1107).

2 [“In A.H. 500 (= A.D. 1106—7)": so Add. 7633, f. 191a. A.G.E.]

16
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pahbad’s palace. Najmu’d-Dawla Qdrin then attacked Sunqur;
the noise of battle. scared all the water-fowl in the surround-
ing marshes (f. 161a) and they rose into the air with tu-
multuous cries, so that Sunqur thought that he was being
attacked by another force in the rear. His army gave way,
and fled, pursued by Najmu’d-Dawla, who killed and took
captive many of them, especially the foot-soldiers of Amul.
The people of Siri blackened the faces of the captive
Amulfs, branded on their foreheads the names of Muham-
mad and °Alf, and paraded them through the town, after
which they were released. Then the Ispahbad divided the
abundant spoils which had fallen to their lot, and dismissed
the marzubdns and other local chiefs who had helped him
with presents and robes of honour.

Sunqur meanwhile fell back on Gurgin, and thence re-
turned to Isfahdn, where he told the Sultin that by force
they could effect nothing in that wild country, but only by
political stratagems. So the Sultdn sent another embassy
to the Ispahbad, telling him that Sunqur had exceeded his
orders in making this attack, and asking him to send one
of his sons to the court at Isfahdn. To this proposal the
Ispahbad finally consented, on receiving the Sultdn’s solemn
promise, confirmed by an oath, that the son thus sent
should be treated with all honour; and, summoning his sons
before him, communicated to them the Sultdn’s proposal,
and asked which of them would go. Najmu’d-Dawla Qdrin,
having taken part in the attack on Sunqur, dared not
venture, but his brother ‘Ald’vw’d-Dawla “Ali b. (f. 16148)
Shahriydr volunteered to go, and was accordingly sent off
to Isfahdn with a pious Sayyid named Muntahi as his
tutor, and an escort of a thousand horse and two thousand
foot. His father accompanied him from Sdri as far as Fa-
rim, and sent him on his journey by way of Asrdn and
Samnén.
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At this time the castle of Ustindwand was in the hands
of the Assassins, and also the castle of Mansir-kih. Some
of the garrison of the latter had come to Ddmghdn, and
the Amir Qachghuz attacked them and slew many. Then
he joined ‘Ald’v’d-Dawla “Ali, and, being under obligations
to his father Husimu’d-Dawla the Ispahbad, took charge
of him and brought him to Isfahdn, where he was most
graciously received by the Sultdn, who was still more fa-
vourably impressed when he saw the young Prince’s pro-
wess in polo, hunting, and throwing the mace, which he
could throw as far as the Sultdn could shoot an arrow. The
Sultdn then offered him the hand of his sister in marriage,
but he, fearing the jealousy of Najmu’d-Dawla, suggested
that this honour should rather be accorded to his elder
brother. The Sultdn approved this suggestion; the marriage
contract was drawn up, and “Ald’v’d-Dawla was sent back
to Tabaristin with presents and robes of honour to convey
the news. At Amul he was magnificently received by all
the notables, and there he tarried ten days, when he was
joined by the chief men of Shahriydr-kdh, who accompanied
him to Sirf, His father, after congratulating him on his
success, sent him to his brother Najmu’d-Dawla Qdrip, who,
however, refused to receive him, and, being rebuked by
their father the Ispahbad, sought permission to go to Bagh-
dad, which he was suffered to do.

On reaching Baghdad, Najmu’d-Dawla, who was a brave
and skilful horseman, perfect in all knightly accomplish-
ments, was met by the Sultdn, who soon afterwards took
him with himself to Isfahin, where he married him to
his sister. Then he set out to return to Tabaristdn, on
hearing which his younger brother ‘Ald’w’d-Dawla craved
permission from their father the Ispahbad to retire into
seclusion, for he feared his brother (f. 1624). Husimu’d-
Dawla met his son Najmu’d-Dawla at Farim towards Sam-
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nin, and gave him the castle of Kiizi. This vexed ‘Ald’v’d-
Dawla, since it had been given to him, and, though his
father sent Amir Mahd{ of Lafiir to Zdrim, where he was,
to pacify him, he retired in anger to Gulpdyagdn, and took
up his abode in a village called Mirwand-4bdd, which was
his mother’s property. Najmu’d-Dawla came to Siri, and,
charging his father with being privy to his brother’s with-
drawal, threatened him, ill-used his servants, and desired to
claim for himself the symbols of authority; and his father,
being then 75 years of age, finally gave way to his violent
and unfilial conduct, abdicated, and retired to Amul. Thi-
ther Najmuw’d-Dawla, fearful of what men might say of him,
followed him, offered profuse apologies, and brought him
back to Sari; but, as his conduct did not greatly amend,
Husimu’d-Dawla again withdrew to Hisam into religious
seclusion. “I have heard from my father,’
“that when he reached Amul, he passed by the gate of a

’

says the author,

Mosque where was a school for children, and said (f. 163a),
‘O my children, when you grow up, say, ‘Shahriyar, aban-
doning his throne, fled to Daylamdn from the hands of his
own son Qdrin.’” All the people of Gil and Daylam rallied
round him at Hisam, but he, wearied of sovereignty, occu-
pied himself in building, farming and religious exercises.
After a while he fell ill, and his son Najmu’d-Dawla, again
repenting of his harshness, sent several notables to Amul to
bring his father thither. There he met him, fell at his feet
and apologized for his conduct, and brought him with him
to Siari, leaving the care of the estates of Hisam to an old
servant called Amir Hasan.

The Sultdin, Muhammad b. Malikshdh, had a young son
named Malik Ahmad, whom he entrusted to the care of an
Amir named Sunqur-i-Kichak, and sent to Ray, making him
governor of that town, together with Awa, Sdwa, Arrdn,
Khwdr, Samndn, Rdydn, Larijdn, Tabaristdn and Gurgdn.
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But every agent sent by Sunqur-i-Kichak to Amul was
expelled by Najmu’d-Dawla Qdrin. This continued for some
time, till at last Sunqur sent to “Ald’v’d-Dawla °Ali, Najmu’d-
Dawla’s brother, offering to appoint him governor of Amul
and Tabaristin, if he would come to Malik Ahmad. So
‘Al#v’d-Dawla (f. 1636) came to Ray, where he was well
received, and sent with Sunqur’s brother Jawal{ an army to
Amul. There the notables came out to meet him, with
Amir Hassin Bah#’v’d-Dawla the governor of the town, and
installed him in the palace called Kishk-i-Jdwalf, which in
the author’s time was razed to the ground by Shdh Arda-
shir. Husimu’d-Dawla, on hearing this, came with the army
of Shahriydr-kuh to Ldk-Abanddn, and made an agreement
with Jdwal, whom he sent with Shdh Ghdzi Rustam to
Aram, where he was entertained for a week, and then sent
back to ‘Irdq.

About this time a quarrel arose between the Ispahbad
and the Assassins, because they had killed a certain Abd
Ja‘far Bdwandi. One day the Ispahbad Shdh Ghdzi Rustam
was passing through the quarter of the Mosque of Zanaku
when an Assassin sprang out on him and tried to stab
him, but failed and was slain by the clubs of the companions
of his intended victim. To his father Shih Ghdzi made light
of this event, but a little later, while on his way from Sdri
to Amul, two Assassins attacked him while he was out
hunting in the plain of Walikdn, at a moment when he
had alighted to drink water, and inflicted a deep gash in
his side. One of these Assassins was killed by Husayn
Shirzfl; the other drew his knife (f. 1644), rushed amongst
the Ispahbad’s servants, and wounded several of them ere
he was himself slain. Shdh Ghdz{ recovered from his wound,
which, though deep, had not involved the intestines. His
father the Ispahbad came to Amul on hearing the news,
and wept bitterly over his son’s misfortune.
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About this time Sultin Sanjar commanded the Ispahbad
to wait on him, but he apologized on the ground of his
age, and offered to send his sons. Sanjar was angry at
this, and sent his nephew Sultdn Mas‘%d with an army to
Astardbdd to take Shahriydr-Kdh from the Ispahbad, who,
however, defeated him near Tammisha and slew many of his
men. He was joined by Kiyd Buzurg ad-D4 ila’l-Haqq [b. al-]
H4ddi with 5000 Daylamites, and soon afterwards by his son
Shdh-i-Ghdzi, who had recovered from his wound (f. 1644);
and with their aid inflicted a second still more severe de-
feat on Mas“id, who, having lost half his army, together
with the Amir Jdwali, fled to Gurgdn. This happened in
A.H. 521 (= A.D. 1127).

Sanjar, infuriated at this reverse, invited one of his amirs
to volunteer to avenge it. Bazghash offered his services,
which were accepted, and came to Ddmghdn, whence he
sent harsh messages to the Ispahbad, who was at the castle
of Kuzd, and who received his threats with derision. It was
then Ramaddn, but, as soon as the fast and ensuing festival
were over, he moved to Tammisha, while Bazghash came
to Astardbdd and besieged the castle of Rihin. The Ispah-
bad left his son Tdju’l-Mulik Marddwi{j in Tammfsha, and
came to Sdri. Marddw{j remained for eight months (f. 1654)
in Tammisha, so that Bazghash could not move, while
Qdrin b. Garshdsf continued to defend the castle of Rihin
successfully. Then news arrived that Qardja the cup-bearer
had gone to Baghdad with the army of ‘Irdq and was
acting as Atdbek, or guardian, to Seljuqshdh, and that Mas‘id
also had gone to them from Gurgdn; and Bazghash, being
recalled by the Sultdn, was compelled to retire.

The Ustunddr Kay-Ké&’is and Fakhru’d-Dawla Garshdsf
agreed together to rebel against the Ispahbad. When each
had returned to his own country, the latter first revolted
at Gulpayagdn, and ravaged the district of Astaribid. The
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Ispahbad retaliated by attacking Gulpdyagdn, plundering and
burning the neigbourhood, and killing several of Fakhru’d-
Dawla’s men. Meanwhile the Ustunddr Kay-Kd#’ds took
advantage of the Ispahbad’s absence to attack Amul, burn
the Ispahbad’s palace of Baqr4d-Kaldta, and expel his re-
tainers from the town. Fakhru’d-Dawla meanwhile, being
driven out of Gulpdyagdn, retired to the castle of Jahina.
The Ispahbad despatched his son “Ald’v’d-Dawla Hasan to
attack Kay-Ké#is, who, however, set an ambush for him
and defeated him, so that he fled, and, by the help of one
Dirgil, crossed over by boat into Gilin and betook himself
to the house of Sultin-Shdh-i-Gil. After a while he desired
to return to his father the Ispahbad, who, however, being
vexed at his defeat, refused to receive him, and ordered
that he should retire to Karkam, and that certain of his
officers, Amir °Alf Sibiqu’d-Dawla, Mudhaffar-i-“Alawi (f.
1656), Majdu’d-Din Dird and Abd Hashim-i-°Alawi, should
for a period of one year not ride on horseback, and should
each retire to a different place, which in each case he spe-
cified. But Amir ‘Al Sdbiqu’d-Dawla propitiated the Is-
pahbad with a gift of a thousand sheep, though he was
still kept out of his fief-holds for a year. Shortly afterwards
the Ispahbad succeeded in surprising and putting to flight
the Ustunddr Kay-Ka“s, and plundering his palace.

One of the Ispahbad’s vassals named Mindchihr had em-
bellished his estate of Kuhrid with all sorts of rare mer-
chandise from India, Asia Minor, Egypt and Syria. He had
several daughters and eighteen sons, of whom the eldest,
Abd Harb, was violent, undutiful, shameless, and without
fear of God. One day he fled from his father, who sent sol-
diers in pursuit of him. He had reached the dyke called
Dar-band-i-Shintih when they came up with him, and he, to
escape, leaped his horse into the river Hurmuz, which there
runs like a mill-race. The soldiers, supposing him to have
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perished, returned, but he reached the shore and made his
way to Amul, where he was furnished with clothes (f. 166a),
and sent to the court of the Ispahbad, who treated him
with kindness and sent him back to his father.

His father, meanwhile, had disinherited him in favour of
a younger brother, which so infuriated him that one night
in Ramaddn he invited his brothers to a banquet, and
caused each one to be murdered as he was leaving the
house. Then he came to his father, and, taking him un-
awares, smote him on the head with a mace and slew him
(f. 1666), while his followers cut down one or two servants
who offered resistance. He then announced to the people
that he had done this deed by order of the king of Md-
zandardn, and sent a message-to the Ispahbad, saying what
he had done, and promising to appear before him if sum-
moned. So the Ispahbad, who was just setting out for Amul
from Kajar, bade him come, and Abu Harb joined him
with 300 soldiers, horse and foot. The combined armies
marched by way of Daylamdn, Kaldr, and Gdrshirad to Kajd,
which they set on fire. Near this place they were met by
the Ustunddr Kay-Kd’ds, and a fierce fight ensued, in which
goo of the Ustunddr’s men were killed and 400 taken pri-
soners, though he himself escaped with a few retainers. The
Ispahbad (f. 16742) than returned to Amul, where he bound
the 400 unfortunate captives to the staircase of the Palace
which Kay-K#’is had burned, wrapped it in reeds and
matting, and burned them all. The Ispahbad then set out
for Daylamdn, but when he reached Banafsha-gin, Kay-
K#&’is came before him with a sword and a winding-sheet
to make his submission. lde was ordered to collect his
army and join the Ispahbad at Amul to help him in
dislodging Garshdsf from his castle of Juhfna. There he re-
ceived, at the Ispahbad’s command, 1000 gold dindrs of
Amul from the marzubdn of that city, whose exactions had,
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as he declared, driven him into rebellion, and a remission
of certain sums of money for which he was responsible....

(F. 1678). The Ispahbad Shah Ghdzi Rustam was now
sixty years old. On the first of Farwardin, the Persian
Nawriz, he reviewed his army at Séri, in the mayddin of
Atrabin, Sdbiq of Qazwin being on one side of him, and on
the -other Abi Harb of Lérijdn. He bade them bring him
a polo-stick and ball, and struck the ball, saying, “O six-
tieth year, I know not whether thou art come for sickness
or death!” Then he threw down the polo-stick and dis-
missed his army; and on that very day he fell sick. He
retired to the village of Zinwdn, distant one parasang from
Sari, and there died on the 17th of Farwardin, A. H. 558
(April, A.D. 1163), leaving two sons, Sharafu’l-Muldk Hasan
b. Rustam and ‘Ald’vw’d-Dawla, and a daughter, whom Shih
Ardashir gave in marriage to the Ispahbad Nasiru’d-Dawla
Ddra b. Bahman. ‘Ald’v’d-Dawla was put to death by Shdh
Ardashir near Taricha. On the death of Shih Ghdz{ Rustam
a poet has the following verses:
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The Ispahbad Shdh Ghdzi was buried by the notables of
Tabaristdn, such as the Ispahbad Majdu’d-Din Ddrd, king
of Daylamin, Amir ‘Al Sdbiqu’d-Dawla, Sayyid Hdshim the
‘Alawi and Amir Surkhdb, in the college where ‘Ald’uv’d-
Dawla had been buried. After the funeral these notables
met in the house of Shahrdsin b. Asdn, and (f. 168a) wrote
to Sharafw’l-Mulik Hasan to inform him of his father’s
death. He, though ill at the time, at once came to Sari,
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and despatched his boon-companion Kay-K#is with fifty
horsemen to Aba-sar to seize his brother N4siru’l-Mulk, who
enjoyed the fullest confidence of the late Ispahbad Shah
Ghdzi, and cut off his head.... The warden of the castle
of Tabarak sent to the Ispahbad offering to surrender it, as
he was a Turk, and could not hold it. “‘Irdq also,” he
added, “like Mdzandardn, is thine: send thy warden to
Tabarak, and take possession of Ray, for I have business
before me.” So, though it was bitter cold that year, the
Ispahbad sent 300 men and a warden-to take possession of
that country, and ordered the marzubdn of Lirijin and the
Ustunddr to keep a daily watch on the state of the castle
and the Amir Indnj.

When the Ispahbad used to sit late drinking wine, none
of his servants dared go to his home, for, if he wanted
one of them, and did nor find him, he would on such oc-
casions punish him with death. So only when he fell asleep
towards morning did they dare to depart to their homes
to rest. One night 300 of these servants conspired together
to kill him, and those who were on duty, watching their
opportunity, fell upon him, and so plied their swords and
maces that, when they left him dead, not one of his limbs
was whole. Then (f. 1684) they went out, saying that the
Ispahbad desired to be left alone, and bade all disperse,
which they did. Shdh Ardashir, learning what had hap-
pened, desired to pursue the murderers, but was dissuaded;
but such as were recognized were arrested wherever they
were found and sent to him, singly or in batches, and he
caused them to be hung up and shot with arrows, until in
the course of a year, all had been taken and killed.

The Ispahbad had four sons and one daughter. Two of
the sons, Yazdigird and °Ali, died before their father, while
Husdmu’d-Dawla Shdh Ardashir and Fakhru’l-Mulik Rustam
survived him. His daughter was noted for her piety, de-
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voutness and virtue. Ndsira’d Din Ridz-Bihdn composed the
following verses on the death of the Ispahbad:
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When the Ustundir Hazdrasp obtained control of his do-
minion, he ordered his son Zar-miwand Mdniwand and his
brother Shirwanshih to be put to death. Both fled for
protection to king Ardashir, who (f. 1694) sent a message
of remonstrance to the Ustunddr, saying:
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Admonition, however, availed nothing. The Ustunddr was
abandoned by “Aynu’d-Dawla Siydh, Arsldn, Tantiq and the
Turkish Amirs, who joined themselves to the King, and were
re-inforced by Arjdsf, who, having obtained king Ardashir’s
permission, raided the marches of Daylamdn, and brought
in all the inhabitants and the soldiers of that district into
Amul, on which Hazdrasp began to march. King Ardashir
collected an army of 14,000 Turks and Tdjiks, set out for
Riydn, and came as far as Ndtil, where he heard that Ha-
zdrasf was engaged in battle with Khwdjak. The King sent
on his standards and insignia, and as soon as these were
seen, Hazdrasp’s men took to flight, and many were taken
and killed, while he himself fell back on Kaji. The King
encamped at Siydh-rid, where he remained two days, till
the people of Rdydn came in to make their submission to
him. Then he marched on to Kaji, ravaging the country
as he went, and then returned to Qur-shirad and Kaldr

(f. 16g6).
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In this year Sultdn Tughril and the Atdbek Muhammad '
rebelled, and demanded help from the King, having already
received it from the Caliph, the Amirs of Aywa, and the
armies of Arrdn, Adharbayjin, Akhldt and Mardgha. The
Ispahbad Bah#’w’d-Din was accordingly sent to join them,
and he came to Lafir with so splendid an equipment of
weapons adorned with gold that he was nick-named “the
Golden Amir” (Amir-i-Zarrin). He aided in defeating the
Atdbek Darkala, and was dismissed to his country with
honour and presents, while the Ispahbad was thanked for
the aid which he had lent.

In this year a noble, brave and accomplished ‘Alawi
waited on the king, and was by him given rank and insignia,
and assigned the district of Daylamdn, which belonged to
Kiyd Buzurg ad-Di‘ ila’l-Haqq ar-Ridd b. al-Hadi. He at
once entered into possession, and ruled justly, and put to
death the Ispahbad Shahriydr and Rustam, and liberated
Bdrkala after he had been imprisoned for some years, and
imprisoned the governor of the city (skakr-ddr) for sixteen
years (f. 170a2) in the castle of Kuzd....

In this year also T4ju’d-Din Turdnshidh b. Zardastin died.
Arjasf obtained permission to go to Alexandria (sic!) and raise
an army wherewith to invade Gildn, but died there. King
Ardashir made his cousin Hizibru’d-Din Khurshid commander-
in-chief of his army, and made him governor of Amul and
viceroy of Ruydn. Hazdrasp and his brother went to Ha-
maddn to Sultdan Tughril and the Atdbek Muhammad, and
prayed these to intercede for them that they might be per-
mitted to return home. The Atdbek ‘Izzu’d-Din was there-

! That is, 1 suppose, the Atdbek Muhammad the son of Ilduguz, to
whose wise administration the prosperity of the first ten years of the reign
of Tughril b. Arsldn (reigned A.H. 573—590 = A.D. 1177—1194) was due,
according to the historian of the Seljiiqs, Najmu’d-Din Abt Bakr Muhammad
ar-Riwandi. See ¥. R. 4.S. for 1902, p. 876.
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fore sent as an ambassador to Amul to the king of Ma-
zandardn, who, however, declined to overlook Hazirasp’s
previous misdeeds. Hazdrasp was told that he must himself
go to the king and seek to conciliate him:
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(F. 1706). The following verses were also improvised on
Hazdrasp by other poets:
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He left a little son named Sanjar Shdh, born of Turkdn
Khdtin, and one of Tughdnshdh’s retainers named Mankli-
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tukuz undertook to be his guardian, or Atdbek. He put to
death the Qd4di Burhdn, and on this a poet says:
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Shih Ardashir soon afterwards (f. 1714) hanged Mankli-
tukuz for this deed. Sanjar Shah and his mother carried off
Qiwdm “Ali and other notables to Khwdrazm, and seized
the king of Khurdsdn, Qutbu’d-Din Khdn, who was his
eldest son, and cut off his head, which he sent to the king
at the Palace of Dawlatdbdd at Sdrf, on which a poet says:
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..... (f. 171) Verses on the untrustworthiness of women:
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Qizil Arslin was assassinated at Hamaddn by four men,
at the instigation of Zdhida Khdtin !, who plucked the ring
from his finger, gave it to the Atibek Abu Bakr, his ne-
phew, and said, “Go, assume control of Arrdn and Adhar-

bayjan.” This Abt Bakr did, and reigned in peace for
twenty years.

! This took place in A.H. 587 (= A.D. 1to1),
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At this time took place the accession and coronation of
the Ispahbad Shamsu’l-Mulik Rustam. Ruknu’d-Dawla Qdrin,
accompanied by the nobles of Tabaristin, came to make
him their offerings at the castle of Dird. The day fixed
for the coronation was declared by the astrologers to be
unlucky, but the Ispahbad paid no heed to their objections.
The coronation festivities lasted seven days, according to
the old Persian fashion, and included the usual feastings,
rejoicings, and giving of presents, while the notables and
Ispahbads and Bawands assembled from all the country-side.
When (f. 172a) these congratulations were finished, on the
eighth day the Ispahbad ascended the throne, and girded on
the royal girdle, and confirmed the governors in their ap-
pointments, and caused the Ispahbads and Amirs to cast
aside their mourning, and clad them in robes of honour.

Ruknu’d-Dawla Qdrin was dissatisfied with the Ispahbad
on account of the inheritance of his elder brother Sharafu’l-
Multk, and appealed to the Sultin, who sent °Ali Shdh,
governor of Ddmghdn and Bistdm, with some soldiers to
bid the Ispahbad, first with gentleness, and, if this failed,
with a show of force, to surrender Sharafu’l-Muldk’s inheri-
tance to his brother Ruknu’d-Dawla. He also ordered the
Amirs of Ray and Gurgdn to help him in this. So °Ali
Shih came by way of Firizkih to Larijdn, and encamped at
Rudbdr-pich, and sent his brother-in-law on with a message
by way of Mankul; but the people of Shaldb waylaid him and
killed him. There was a certain “Alaw{ named Musd, who,
before Tukush b. Tl-Arslin became king?, had fled from
Khwdrazm and taken refuge with king Ardashir, and had
long been a source of trouble and sedition in Tammisha.
He induced the Sultdn to appoint him wazir to “Alf Shéh,

! Till A.H. 607 (A.D. r210). See S. Lane-Poole’s Mokammadan Dy-

nasties, p. 171,
2 i.e, King of Khwérazm, which he did in A, H. §68 (= A.D. 1172).
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whom he tried to persuade (f. 1728) to seize the Ispahbad
and take from him the kingdom of Mdzandardn. Failing in
this attempt, he strove to provoke the Ispahbad against “Alf
Shah, who sent' his head to the Ispahbad, by whom it was
paraded for three days in the market. His sons, who were at
Amul, were also arrested and imprisoned for some time in
the castle of Kuhrid. Peace was then concluded between
the Ispahbad and °Ali Shdh, and the former restored to
Ruknu’d-Dawla the estates of his elder brother Sharafu’l-
Muldk. Ruknu’d-Dawla then surrendered the castle of Kuzd
to the Ispahbad’s warden Afrasiydb, and himself waited on
the Ispahbad, who received him with all honour.

Shortly after this the Assassins (f. 1732) treacherously
murdered Ruknu’d-Dawla, and obtained various signal suc-
cesses. Shamsu’l-Mulik had no son, but he gave his sister
in marriage to the Ispahbad Shahriyar b. Kinkhwir b,
Rustam b, Ddrd b. Shahriyir, who was “the Father of
kings” (Abw’l-Mulik). This sister bore a son named Kin-
khwidr, who was cousin on the father’s side to king Husdmu’d-
Dawla Ardashir b. Kinkhwdr. Husimu’d-Dawla Shahriydr
lived in the reign of Malikshdh the Seljiq, who used to
address him as his “father”, as witnessed by the verse of
the poet R4fil:
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while in another verse he says:
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At this period Sultin Jaldlu’d-Din Muhammad Khwirazm-
shdh, taking advantage of the growing weakness and dis-
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ruption of House of Bdwand, took possession of sundry
castles and lands outside Tammisha, and garrisoned them
with his own men. Abu Rid4d Husayn b. Muhammad Abu
’-°‘Alaw{ al-Mamtirf, on Shawwdl 21, A. H. 606 (= April 1,
A.D. 1210) treacherously murdered Nasfru’d-Dawla Shamsuv’l-
Muluk. This caused further confusion and disorganization,
and many of the nobles of Tabaristdn submitted to Mu-
hammad Khwirazmshdh. But in a little while this dynasty
in turn was brought to an end by the terrible Mongol In-
vasion (f. 1738). The destruction and devastation resulting
therefrom included Tabaristin as well as other provinces
of Persia, and for thirty years it was without a king or ruler,
while the armies of destroying Mongols traversed it to and fro.

At last, after- this period of anarchy, the people of Ma-
zandaran and Tabaristdn met in council at Sirf, and chose
as their ruler Malik Husimu’d-Dawla Ardashir b. Kinkhwdr
{or Kikhwaz) b. Rustam b. Ddard b. Shahriydr, who for
some time revived the glories of his ancient house and
kingdom. But soon he too was overtaken by misfortune,
even as Shamsu’l-Ma‘dli Qdbts b. Washmgir says in well-
known verses:?
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On his accession, Husdmu’d-Dawla Ardashir transferred the
capital from Séri, which the House of Bawand had always
hitherto made its metropolis, to Amul, where he made his
palace at Qard-Kaldta on the banks of the river Hurmuz.

Once, says the author, when he was walking through it, he

1 These verses are also cited at the end of the third volume of the Yati-
matw’d-Dakr (Damascus edition, p. 290). I have translated them at p. 470
of my Literary History of Persia.

17
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read, amongst the paintings on the wall a long bilingual
(mulamma®) gasida by Sirdju’d-Din Qumri, beginning as
follows:
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His father Kinkhwdr (or Kikhwdz) was the nephew of
Shah Ardashir b. al-Hasan, while he himself was the ne-
phew of Jaldlu’d-Din Hasan b. ‘Al#’v’d-Din Muhammad
[Khwdrazmshdh]. But in the year A.H. 647 (= A. D. 1249—
1250) he died, having reigned fifteen years.

(7t is not clear at what point the record written by Ibn
Isfandiydr ends, and the continuation supplied by another
kand and carried down to A.D. 750 (= A.D. 1349—1350)
begins, but it seems unlikely that Ién Isfandiydr continued the
history beyond this point].

At this time Mangu Qd’dn (the grandson of Chingiz Khan)
sat on the Mongol throne. Husimu’d-Dawla Ardashir was
succeeded by his elder son Shamsu’l-Mulik Muhammad (f.
1746). Mangi Q&’dn sent an army under the Amir Kat
Biigd to subdue the castles and strongholds of the Assassins.
Many of these he reduced, but Gird-i-Kih, Alamuit, Tan
und Q#’in still held out. Mangd than sent his brother, the
redoutable Huldgd, who first took Tin and Q&’in, and cap-
tured so many prisoners that Khurdsdn was filled with slaves.
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He then laid siege to Gird-i-Kiéh and Alamit. Kiyd Mu-
hammad b. al-Hasan, entitled by his followers al-Qd’im bi-
’amri’lldh, was at .that time Grand Master of the Assassins,
but he was killed by one of his sons, and his son Ruknu’d-
Din Khirshdh (or Khwarshdh), who was but an inexperienced
lad, succeeded him. The philosopher Nasiru’d-Din Thsi,
whom Kiyd Muhammad b. al-Hasan had forcibly detained
and compelled to act as his wazér, while professing friend-
ship for the heretics, was inwardly eager to compass their
destruction, and when Ruknu’d-Din Khirshdh asked his
advice as to how he should answer Hil4dgd Khdn, he
counselled him (f. 1752) not to give battle, for which the
stars were not propitious, but to surrender Alamdat, which
he accordingly did. He was at once put in chains and sent
off to Mangi Qd#’dn, who, however, on hearing what had
been done, sent a messenger to meet him and put him
to death. Alamut was destroyed, and its priceless treasures
and library delivered to the flames. But Nasiru’d-Din Tisi
was treated with honour, and retained in Huldgd Khdn’s
service.

Hildgi Khdn now marched on Baghdad, [sacked the city
and destroyed the last ‘Abbdsid Caliph, al-Mustasim bi’lldh,
as is well known]. As regards the remaining stronghold of
the Assassins, Gird-i-Kih, orders were issued to all the
princes, potentates and nobles of the district to besiege it
in turns; and after two or three years the turn came to
the King and the Ustunddr of Mazandardn. So the King
of Midzandardn, Shamsu’l-Mulik Muhammad b. Ardashir,
and the Ustunddr, Shahrdkim b. Namadwar, set out to con-
duct the siege; and a daughter of the latter had been be-
trothed to the former. It was spring, apd there was in
Riydn (f. 1756) a poet named Qutb-i-Rdydni who composed
a tarji--band in the dialect of Tabaristdn on the spring
season and the hunting in Riydn, as follows:
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[The following additional verses are omitted in A.]
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When Shamsuw’l-Mulik was killed, his brother <Ald’uv’d-
Dawla °Alf was made king, and he was aided by his bro-
ther-in-law the Ustunddr Shahrdkim, but a fresh inrush of
Mongols reduced his power to nothing and filled the land
with ruins. He died in A.H. 663 (= A.D. 1264—g5), in
the same year in which his brother had been killed, and
the devastation of Rustamddr, Mdzandardn and Rdyidn took
place at the same time.

(F. 176). Malik Tdju’d-Dawla Yazdigird next succeeded,
and in his time such order prevailed that a single officer,
armed only with an axe, Hasan Qddi Kal by name, used,
alone and on foot, to collect all the taxes of Mdzandardn
from Tammisha to Alisha-rid, and bring them to the capital.
Téju’d-Dawla maintained the most friendly relations with
the Ustundar Shah Ghazi. He reigned 30 years, overcoming
many difficulties in his relations with the Mongols, and
died in A.H. 701 (= A.D. 1301—2). He left a son named
Sikandar, who, however, died soon after him, and he was
succeeded by another son named Nasiru’d-Dawla Shahriyar.
In his days there were still seventy flourishing colleges in
Midzandardn.

1 Or? sm.
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Shahriyar, following the example of his predecessors, al-
lied himself by marriage with the Ustunddr Shdh Kay-
Khusraw. The Mongol dominion, however, left them but
little power or security, and Shahriydr, after a reign of
twelve years, died in A. H. 714 (= A.D. 1314—1315), and
(f. 1766) was succeeded by his brother Malik Ruknu’d-
Dawla Shdh Kay-Khusraw b. Tdju’d-Dawla Yazdigird. At
this juncture Amir M®min, Amire’l-Umara, represented the
Mongol government in Tabaristdn, and between him and
Ruknu’d-Dawla there was perpetual warfare. The latter en-
trusted his women and children to the care of the Ustunddr
Nasiru’'d-Dawla Shahriydr, who placed them at Twijan in
Kald-Rustdq; but could not prevail against Amfr M@’min,
who enjoyed the fullest confidence of the Mongol sovereign
I'Jljiytl'x Sultdin Muhammad Khudi-banda, and who, having
obtained authority to that effect from the Mongol camp
(urdi), sent his son Amir Qutlugh Shih to invade Madzan-
dardan. Several battles took place between him on the one
hand, and Shahriydr and the Ustunddr on the other. One
of the most celebrated of these battles, in which the latter
were victorious, and many Turkish amirs and notables of
Mdzandardn who were with Qutlugh Shih were killed, took
place at Lit-Kih on the road to Ydsam{n-Kaldta. At length
Amir M&min himself invaded Mdzandardn, and Shih Kay-
Khusraw, unable to withstand him (f. 1776), set out for the
[Mongol] camp (urd#%). By chance Amir Talish Chibdn had
been appointed Amir of Khurdsdn, and was proceeding thither.
Kay-Khusraw met him, courted his favour, and promised to
bring the Ustunddr Nasiru’d-Dawla Shahriydr to his presence.
They journeyed on together to Amul, and alighted in the
Maydan-i-Ridbdr Bdqali-pazdn. There Shdh Kay-Khusraw
brought the Ustunddr before Amir T4lish Chiibdn, who treated
them both with honour, and remained that winter at Amul.
Amir M#min’s power was thus checked. Kay-Khusraw, fearing
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the Mongol Amirs, who were constantly going and coming,
conveyed his women and children and baggage to the Us-
tunddr, from whom he bought for them the village of
Fimat near Ganjdwariz, and there abode; and there his
descendants dwell to this day. He died in A.H. 728 (= A.
D. 1327—8).

He was succeeded by his son Sharafu’l-Mulik, a handsome
and well-dispositioned youth, whose accession was hailed with
joy by all the notables of Mdzandardn. His reign was peaceful
and happy, but short, (f. 1774), for he died in A. H. 734
(= A.D. 1333—4).

He was succeeded by his brother Malik Fakhru’d-Dawla
Hasan b. Shih Kay-Khusraw, the last of the Bawand kings,
whose accession was nearly contemporary with Sultin Abu
Sa‘id’s death . This practically coincided with the end of
the Mongol Power in Persia, which lasted about 80 years
from the date of Hildgi Khdn’s capture of Baghdad in A. H.
656 (= A.D. 1258). The author speaks highly of the order
and good government which prevailed during this period,
especially during the reigns of Ghdzdn Khdn, ljljéytt’l Khuda-
banda, and Abu Sa‘id, which, says he, one might think that
the poet Dhahir-i-Fdrydbi was describing when he said:
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On Abu Sa‘id’s death anarchy supervened, each amiér striving

1 He died in A.H. 736 (= A.D. 1335—6).
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to seize what he could for himself out of the general wreckage.
Amongst those who thus rose to power was Amir Mas‘id
Sarbaddl [or Sar-ba-ddr), who rose up in Sabzawdr, killed
his brother Pahlawin ‘Abdu’r-Razzdq, gathered round him-
self a number of rogues and vagabonds, and established him-
self in a citadel which he made for himself in Sabzawdr.
Tughd-Timir was nominally Sultin of Khurdsin, but his
wazir, ‘“Al#wd-Din Muhammad, bad practically (f. 1786) got
possession of all the power, and used it most oppressively.
His tyranny, and that of a tribe of Turks called Jataz,
reduced the people of Khurdsdn to desperation. The disaffected
joined themselves to Amir Mas“d Sarbadal, whose power
thus rapidly increased, so that he defeated many of the
Mongol and Turkish amirs, and even Arghin-Shih and his
brothers, until he finally held possession of Khurdsin from
Jém and Bédkharz to Mdzandardn. His popularity largely
depended on the fact that all spoils of war were equitably
shared by him with his followers, and that he in no way
distinguished himself from them.

He now marched on Herdt and attacked Malik Mu‘inu’d-
Din Husayn-i-Kart. The battle lasted three days and nights,
and 7000 men are said to have perished in it, including
Amir Mas“d’s spiritual director Shaykh Hasan Juri; and
Amir Mas“dd was finally defeated and fell back on Mdzan-
dardn. At Baydri-kamand he had another battle with Tugha-
Timdr, whose brother, Shaykh ‘Ali Kiwdn, he killed. He
defeated Tughd-Timir and took captive Pishin Khatin and
other ladies of his house (f. 1794), and pursued, captured
and put to death his wazir ‘Al&°v’d-Din Muhammad at Qal‘a
Kamin. Tughd-Timdr fled from him to Ldr and Qasrdn,
where he was re-inforced by Malik Fakhru’d-Dawla and the
Ustundadr.

Amir Mas®d soon succeeded in re-establishing his power
in Khurdsdn, which, from Herdt to Gurgdn and Qumish, fell
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under his sway, and he placed his governors in each impor-
tant town. He then came to Astaribdd, intending to subju-
gate Tabaristdn, and sought by all means to win over to
him its kings and rulers. Kiyd Jamdlu’d-Din Ahmad Jdl, a
powerful, sagacious and experienced noble, obtained per-
mission from the King of Mdzandardn to go with his nephews
Kiyda Tdju’d-Din and Kiyd Jaldl, to Astardbdd, and try to
come to terms with Amir Mas“id, who received them well,
but forced them to accompany him on his onward march
to Sdrf, whence he sent to the kings at Amul (f. 1794)
desiring to see them. After prolonged consultation, Malik
Fakhru’d-Dawla of Madzandarin and Malik Jaldluw’d-Dawla
Iskandar the Ustunddr determined to resist Amir Mas®ud
by force, and sent him a harsh answer. Thereupon, leaving
some of his men at Sdr{, Amir Masdd marched on Amul.
The two armies met outside Amul on Dhv’l-Qa‘da 17, A. H.
743 (= April 13, A.D. 1343), in the plain of Birdn, where
the Mdzandardnis had constructed at Qard-Kaldta by their
King’s Palace a temporary stockade, which they prepared to
defend with the utmost stubbornness. Jamilu’d-Din Ahmad
J4l, seeing that battle was inevitable, and that Amir Mas“ud
would not hearken to his advice (f. 180a), sent repeated and
urgent messages to his friends and kinsmen to “defend the
honour of Mdzandardn”, and not to concern themselves about
his possible fate; “for,” said he, “I am an old man, who
have lived my life: if I perish and Mdzandarin continue in
honour it is better than that ye should submit to subjection
and abasement.” The Mdzandardnis responded to this heroic
advice, and all, from Tammisha to the frontiers of Gildn,
forgetting their private quarrels and jealousies, presented a
united face to the foe. Amir Mas®d, alarmed at their firm-
ness, requested Kiyd Jamdlu’d-Din Ahmad J4l and his nephews
to extricate him from Amul (f. 1808). Amir ‘Alf Hawdkhin
(? Mawdkhin) deserted him for the Mdzandardnis, which added
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to his alarm, and he gave Kiyd Ahmad J4l five kharwdrs
of dirkams to guide him out of the country. The Kiyd sent
this money to his kinsmen, and bade them construct earth-
works from the river Hurmuz to Siri and close the roads.
After ten days’ sojourn in Amul, Amir Mas%d quitted it
with his army. At Ydsamin-Kaldta, one parasang’s distance
from the city, he was confronted by the Ustunddr Jaldlu’d-
Dawla, while the soldiers of Madzandardn attacked him in
the rear. Mas®id, seeing that he was out-manceuvred, killed
Kiyd Jamdlu’d-Din Ahmad J4l and his nephews, and fled
towards Ldwich, making for the mountains. The woods and
thickets which he was compelled to traverse were swarming
with his foes, while the Kings closely pursued him, and one
vast battle raged from Ydsamin-Kaldta to Ridbar-i-Ntr; until
the Khurdsdnfs, after sustaining heavy losses, were finally
completely disorganized and scattered:
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Finally (f. 1814), after two days’ flight, Amir Masd, with
a few of his followers, reached the mountains by way of
Rudbdr-Bdlg, and began to ascend. The path was barred by
the scouts of Taju’d-Dawla, the Ustunddr’s brother, Malik-
i-Mu‘ad_h(&am Sharafu’d-Dawla Gustahm, and he was forced
to turn back by way of Rl’ldba'.r‘-Uz; but, losing his way,
was taken captive.

Amir Mas®id, wounded and captive, was brought before
Malik Fakhru’d-Dawla, who asked him as to the original
size of his army. He answered that provision had been made
for 4000 horses, 600 mules and 400 camels, from which
could he deduced the size of the army. He was then sent
on to the Ustunddr Jaldlu’d-Dawla, who, after two days’
consideration, put him to death. His body was buried on
the road to Kilijar under a mill on the east side of the stream.
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(F. 1818). His head was cut off, stuffed with straw, and
exhibited to all men at the very place where he had, a few
days before, encamped with so great and well-equipped
an army:.
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The people of Tabaristdn, except the learned and religious
classes, used to wear their hair long and hanging loose —
sometimes as much as a yard (gaez) in length; but, some
days after the execution of Amir Mas‘id-i-Sarbaddl, Malik
Jaldlw’d-Dawla, seeing that his late foe had his hair shaved,
adopted the same practice, together with the wearing of
the turban, and first his own kinsmen, and then the rest



268

of the people, imitated him, so that the new fashion became
general, and the long locks, called £e/dlak, and the head-dress
called kald-band, were finally abandoned.

It has been already described how, in the reign of Malik
Ruknu’d-Dawla Shdh Kay-Khusraw, Amir M&min and his
son Qutlugh-Shih caused dissension in Mdzandardn which
led to great disorganization, and how Malik Shamsu’l-Muluik
Muhammad treacherously slew his brother “Ald’vw’d-Dawla
°Ali, and assumed the reins of government!. Malik Ruknu’d-
Dawla Shih Kay-Khusraw went to the [Mongol] camp (urdi)
and brought back an order for the dismissal of Malik Sham-
su’l-Muldk, who retired to Gildn for a while, but was pre-
sently summoned thence by Ruknu’d-Dawla, who, at the advice
of Amir Qutlugh Shdh, put him to death, together with his
brother Malik Ardashir and “Ald’vw’d-Dawla ‘Alf (f. 1824) in
the summer-palace of Ardashir-dbad.

Thus Malik Shih Kay-Khusraw, being left alone, was
weakened, and Qutlugh Shdh strengthened; and the former,
gradually pushed back, conveyed his family and possessions
to the domain of the Ustundir, whose people helped and
supported him. There his sons, and those of Sharafu’l-Muldk,
Fakhru’d-Dawla, and the other brothers, grew up, honoured
and treated in every way like the princes of Ustunddr;
until, moved by false suspicions, he put to death Kiyd Jalal
b. Ahmad Jdl, which caused universal disgust and constern-
ation amongst the nobles who had hitherto supported him,
save the rival Kiyds of Chaldp, with whom he was now
compelled to ally himself. Of these, Kiyd Afrdsiydb of Chaldp
was his principal ally.

In M4dzandardn, thus distracted, there now appeared the
dervish orders, pirs, and murids, which had already appeared
in Khurdsdn. Afrdsiydb (f. 1834) and his kinsmen became

! This statement cannot he reconciled with that on p. 261 supra, 1. 9—10,
but the meaning of the text seems clear in both passages .
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enthusiastic for this doctrine, and desired to persuade Malik
Shdh Kay-Khusraw to it. The Kiyds of Jaldl attached them-
selves to the chief Ustunddr, Malik Jaldlu’d-Dawla Iskandar.
Malik-i-Mu‘adhdham marched on Amul and ravaged the
surrounding territory. Fakhru’d-Dawla came with two or three
thousand men to the camp of the king of Ustunddr to sue
for peace, which was granted; and the united forces then
expelled the Kiyds of Chaldp from Amul. These allied them-
selves with their former foes, the Kiyds of Jaldl. The king
of Mdzandardn tried to regain their confidence, but could
not overcome their mistrust. Amfr Sayyid Qiwimu’d-Din,
whom the Kiyds of Chaldp regarded as their saint and spi-
ritual director, disliked Malik Fakhru’d-Dawla on account of
his real or supposed heretical tendencies. Finally on Muharram
27, A. H. 750 (= April 17, A. D. 1349) Malik Fakhru’d-Dawla
was treacherously murdered in the bath at Amul by °‘Alf
Kiyd b. Afrdsiydb and his brother Muhammad Kiya (F. 1834).
His family, having no other place of safety, again took refuge
with the supreme Ustunddr Jaldlu’d-Dawla Iskandar, who
received them with all hospitality and kindness.

Malik Fakhru’d-Dawla left four sons, all of tender years,
Malik Sharafu’l-Muliuk, Shdah Ghdz{, and Malik K4%is!, of
whom the eldest was but ten years of age. Malik Jaldlu’d-
Dawla not only protected and cared for them while they
were young, but when they were grown up he undertook
several campaigns with a view to restoring them to their
kingdom. On one occasion he attacked Kiyd Afrasiydb, the
Kiyds of Jaldl and Sayyid Qiwdmu d-Din at Mardn-Dih near
Amul (f. 184a2), and killed the former, but finally, with his
men of Rustamddr, was out-numbered and driven back by
the Madzandardnis. In this battle 330 of the men of Rustamdir
were slain, and it was the last attempt of the kings of Biwand

! The name of one son is evidently omitted.
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to assert their power, which had endured in M4zandarin for
705 years; for the founder of the Dynasty, Baw-i-Shapur,
established his independence in A. H. 45 (= A.D. 665—6),
while the last of them, Malik Fakhru’d-Dawla Hasan, was
killed, as above stated, in A.H. 750 (= A.D. 1349).

Colopkon of India Office Manuscript.
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NOTES.

(The following notes by Mr. A. G. Ellis of the British
Museum comprise suck observations as he was kind enough
to send me on the proofs whick I submitted to him, and
which could not be incovporated in the text either as corvect-
ions or foot-notes.)

P. 9. “The setting of this anecdote is quite historical, for
the three persons concerned were all contemporaries. You
will find a notice of ‘Abdu’l-Malik b. Qurayb al-Asma‘i in
De Slane’s translation of Ibn Khallikan, vol. 11, p. 123, and
of al-‘Attdb{ in the Fikrist of al-Warrdq, vol. 1, p. 121.
See also De Slane, o0p. cit., vol. 11, p. 466 and vol. 111, p. 99.”

“With regard to the Shi‘a “rzd/” (notable men) all the
authorities that I quoted contain mueh the same matter;
but I could not tell which of them might be accessible to
you. Of -Najashi, I think, no MS. is at present recorded
in Europe. I have a Bombay lithograph, which can easily
be procured. The Fikrist of -Tusi (contemporary with -Na-
jash{) you have in the Bibliotheca Indica. Concerning -Astar-
dbddi and his Manhajuwl-Magdl, see Rieu’s Arabic Supple-
ment, N° 635. I have a Persian lithograph of the book.
The Muntahd’l-Magdél of Muhammad b. Isma‘il al-H#irf is
a quite recent work, compiled from all accessible older
authorities, and extremely useful, though somewhat con-
densed. Of this also 1 have a Persian lithograph. Another
book of which I possess a Bombay edition is the Jkiziydr
of Muhammad b. ‘Umar al-Kashshi (see Rieu’s Arabic Sup-
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plement, N° 833). It often contains useful information, but
is not very easy of reference. I have also a Persian edition
of the Nagdw’r-Rijdl of at-Tafrishi (Rieu's Arabic Supplement,
N°® 636); but it is rather meager, and does not add much
to the contents of the first-named works.”

“In the following notes 1 have quoted several times from
a book which you may perhaps know, namely ‘Umdati’t-
t4lib fi ansdbi Ali Abi T4lib (“the Student’s Mainstay for
the [verification of the] genealogies of the House of Abu
T4lib”). It was composed in Arabic under the Amir Timir
by Ibn ‘Utba (‘Ugba, ‘Inaba) Jamiluw’d-Din Ahmad b. “Alj,
who died in A.H. 828 (= A.D. 1424—3).”

P. 19. “Concerning Hasan b. Yahyd al-Alawi, called
Kichak, sece ‘Umdati’t-Tdlib, p. 68.”

P. 32. “°‘Abdu’r-Rahmidn b. Khiirzdd, author of a Kitdbu’l-
Masalik wa’l-Mamdlik is cited. May not this be intended for
Ibn Khurdddhbih? It is true the last is usually called
‘Ubaydu’lldh. Still there is some slight uncertainty with re-
gard to his name, and we know next to nothing about the
man. The remark about the excellence of Samarqand will
be found on p. 172 of De Goeje’s edition of his book, to-
gether with the saying of ar-Raqqdshi with some variation.
On p. 171 of the same edition Ibn Khurdddhbih says of
Tabaristin that it is x5, e U:a)'hSi ¢~ De Goeje omits
these words in his translation, and gives no explanation. In
his critical notes he says that al-Muqaddasi has sdoxa in
place of s8y8e. Al-Muqaddasi says that he got this rhyming

notice from a book which he found in the library of “Adu-

dwd-Dawla, and adds — &7 st ¥ Lo @59, “Abdu-

lldh b. Khurdddhbih, the father of “Ubaydu’lldh, was, I may
mention, according to -Tabarf (Series 111, pp. 1014—1013)
governor (wdli) of Tabaristdn.”

lbid. “Husayn b. Mundhir ar-Raqqdshi was the Imam
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‘Alf’s standard-bearer and an Ansiri. There are brief no-
tices of him in the Mankajuw’l-Magdl, p. 118, and the
Muntaha’l-Magdl, p. 115. There is nothing to show how he
came to know anything about either Samargand or Tabar-
istdin. He may, however, have been a Persian, as his 'kunya
is Abd Sdsdn.”

P. 36. “Concerning ‘the son of Amir Kd’, compare ‘Um-
dati’t-Tdlib, pp. 71, 72, where Amir Kd appears as —

e ol Gl 00 oy de p xniKiiy Gl il 6 el el
a descendant from Isma‘il Jalibu’l-Hijdra by eight generations.”

P. 37. ““A Jew named Sham‘in (Simon)’. Or. 7633 has
olIAS .y e=eit. This suggests a reminiscence of the Jew-
ish Maccabean hero Shim‘on ben Mattathyah. Mattathyah
= Gift of God == Khudddad.”

P. 39. “In the Akhbdr-i-Barmakiydn of Diyd’uw’d-Din Ba-
rani (Bombay ed., pp. 6—7) allusion is made to this talis-
man. Barani, however, speaks of it as an armlet, and does
not mention its origin. The anecdote connected with the
ring is as follows. The courtiers introduced Barmak into
the presence of ‘“Abdu’l-Malik, who, as soon as he saw him,
ordered him to be severely beaten and thrust out. After-
wards the courtiers prayed the Caliph to make known to
them Barmak’s offence. ‘Abdv’l-Malik replied that Barmak
carried poison upon his person, and that upon his own arm
were two jewels which, whenever anyone should come be-
fore him having poison upon him, would be attracted to-
wards one another. When Barmak entered, these two jewels
were so strongly drawn together as to cause pain to the
Caliph’s arm. Angered at this, “Abdu’l-Malik ordered Bar-
mak to be chastised.”

P. 47. “May not ‘Abv’l-“Amr’ perhaps be the same per-
son as Jeaewdl Ovrw M (o e il ( Yatimatu’d-Dahr, Da-

mascus ed., vol. III, p. 274) and wd o e pedt st Sl
18
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);.E.U o (Dumyatil-Qasr, Add. 9994, f. 806)? Unfortunately,

all that we seem to know about these three namgs is that
they all belonged to the same part of Persia.”

1bid. “There is a biographical notice of Muhammad b.
Zayd at pp. 71 el seqq. of the ‘Umdatu’t-1dli6.”

Ibid. “By ‘Tabdtabd al-‘Alawi’ must be meant Abd “Ab-
drlldh al-Husayn b, Muhammad b. Tabitiba al-Hasani, one
of the chief authorities of the author of the ‘Umdati’s-1dlib
for the pedigrees of the earlier Sayyids. He was the Shaykh
of Abu’l-Hasan °Alf b. Muhammad al-“‘Umari, another of
Ibn “Utba’s authorities, who was in al-Mawsil in A. H. 423
= A.D. 1032 (“Umda, p. 364) and in Amid in A.H. 430
= A.D. 1038-—9 (/bid., p. 60). For Ibrdhim Tabdtabd, the
genealogist’s ancestor, see ‘Umda, p. 158.”

P. 50 (also p. 46). “‘As-Sarwi’. As-Sam®n{ (Ansdb, Add.
23,355, f. 2976, gives u;,;; from ,}: in the district of Ar-
dabfl, but (o from %yl in Mdzandarin. Unfortunately

he does not mention anyone derived from the last named
place.”

Pp. 50 and 55. “Ibnu’l-Mahdi al-Mémgl’r{\ and Sayyid
Imim Bah#&’uw’d-Din al-Hasan b. Mahdi al-Mamtir{ are, I
suppose, the same person.”

P. 52. “The ascription of the authorship of the Kitdbu’l-
Faraj ba‘da’sh-Shidda to Qidi Abu’l-Q4sim at-Tandkhi is an
error. The real author was his son Muhassin b. °Alf, as is
clearly shewn by various allusions in the book itself.”

P. 54. “Abu’l-Faraj “Ali b. al-Husayn must be the poet
Ibn Hindd. He was a native of Ray, and one of the Kus-
tdbiw’l-Inshd of ‘Aduduw’d-Dawla the Buwayhid. He was in
Jurjdn about A. H. 410 = A. D. 1019—1020 (as-Safadf’s Wa4fs
62°l-Wafaydt), and died in A.H. 420 = A.D. 1029 (Hijji
Khalifa, vol. m, p. 252; vol. v1, p, 15).” ~

P. 59. “Concerning Zarrin Kamar, see the ‘Umdati’t-1dlib,
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p- 68, where he appears as Je . W5 2 il el 2
direct descendant of ‘Abdu’r-Rahmén ash-Shajar{.”

Ibid. “‘Imdd{ is, I suppose, identical with the homonymous
contemporary of Sand’{ of Ghazna mentioned by Dawlatshdh,
p- 98, and noticed by “Awfi in vol. 11 of the Lubdb, pp.
257 et seqq. The author of the Majma“s’l-Fusakd, vol. 1, p.
350, calls him ‘Imddi Shahriyéri, and says that he composed
poems in praise of ‘Imddu’d-Dawla ad-Daylami and Tughril
Beg the Seljuq. He admits, however, that some critics say
that there are more ‘Imddis than one. Taqiyyu’d-Din Kd-
shan{ in his Khuldsatu’'l-Ask’dr, (Or. 3506, ff. 4496—452a)
has a long notice of ‘Imddi. He distinguishes two poets of
this name, ‘Imddi-i-Ghaznaw{ and ‘Imddi-i-Shahriydri. The
latter was a native of Shahriydr, one of the dependencies
of Ray, and resided in the last-named city. In the latter
part of his life he was attached to the court of Tughril b.
Arslin. He died in his native place in A.H. 573 (=
1177—8).”

Sheet 9 (pp- 120—144). Owing to the vagaries of the
Post Office, this sheet was printed off before the corrections
indicated by Mr. Ellis had been made. These, therefore,
are included with the longer notes in this place.

P. 129, 1. 26. For “whom” read “whose”. ““Aéi Faysh
al-Hildli. Properly this kunya should be Abu’l-Faysk, not
Abie Faysh, but perhaps in a Persian MS. the absence of
the article may not be significant. Otherwise I had thought

of il oy mas Ui o, who was a Badaw{ poet of the
reign of al-Mahd{, and a friend of Bashshdr b. Burd (died
A.H. 167 or 168 — A.D. 783—4 or 784—5). See the Ki-
tébi’l-Aghdni, vol. 11, p. 60, vol. X1, p. 65, vol. XVviI, pp.
74—75. I have not, however, discovered his tribal zisba, and
there does not appear to be any evidence of his ever
having been in Tabaristin. Add. 7633 has distinctly s> 4.
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Pp. 130—131 (and also pp. 120, 124 and 125 supra). “For
“‘Amr b. “Ald read “Umar b. al-Alé. So Tabarf, Series 1II,
Pp- 136, 137, 493, 500, 520, and 521, and Add. 7633.”

P. 130, I. 26 ¢“The story to which reference is here made
is given in brief in the Murassa® of Ibnu’l-Athir, ed. Sey-
bold, 1896, p. 184.”

P. 132, ll. 16—23. “Either the India Office MS. or your-
self has jumped a few lines. I have inserted a translation
of these in their place on the proof, and enclose herewith
a copy of the passage from Add. 7633.” (The lines in
question are, I find, actually omitted in the -India Office
MS. The amended translation runs as follows. “Next came
Sa‘ld b. Salm (so Tabarf) b. Qutayba b. Muslim, who was
replaced after six months by Hammadl and “Abduv’lidh, the
sons of “Abdu’l-‘Az{z. Ten months later, in A. H. 177,
these were superseded by Muthannd b. al-Hajjdj, who ruled
for a year and four months, and was followed in A.H. 179
by °Abdv’l-Malik b. Qa‘qa®, who remained one year...”
“For Hdzim, Add. 7633, supported by Tabari, has Khdzim.”

Pp. 134 and 136. “Both these alternative motives for the
destruction of the Barmecides are recorded by Tabari (series
I, pp. 669 et seqq. and pp. 676 et seqq.).”

Pp. 134, 1. 16. “By -Nawfali “‘Ali b. Muhammad b. Su-
layman an-Nawfali is probably intended. See De Goeje’s
Index to Tabari, p. 400.”

P. 140, 1. 30. “Add. 7633 has Khalifa b. Sa? here, as
well as in 1. 19 above.”

1bid. “For Mihriya, De Goeje (Tabari, Series 111, pp.
650 et seqq.) has Mahruwayh.”

P. 141, 1. 12. “Farishi should at least be Furaysht, but
Furashi is the older and better form, and is the actual reading
of Add. 7633. This niséa is thus vocalized by as-Sam‘4n{
(Add. 23,355, f. 1274), who derives it from Juraysh, a Him-
yarite tribe. Tabar{ (Series 111, pp. 650 ¢/ segq.) has al- Harashi.”
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1bid., 1. 28. “Read Zufar for Zafr; and in 1. 29 read
‘Amira for ‘Umayra, which is always a woman’s name.”

P. 142, 1. 22, 25, 28. “Read Nuaym 6. Khdzim for Na‘im
b. Hdzim.”

P. 144, 1. 12. “Through” is, of course, a misprint for
“though”.

P. 147, 1. 2. Correct, as above on p. 141, Furayshi to
Furashi.

Ibid. ll. §—6. “For Bizist-i-Firizdn = Yahyda b. Abi
Mansur, see Fihrist, p. 275, al-Qifti’s Ta’rikhi’l-Hukamd,
pp. 357—359. He died in A. H. 215 or 217 (= A.D. 830
or 832): see Suter, Die Mathematiker und Astronomen der
Araber, N° 14.

P. 174, 6. The text has Tarchi for Taricha, but the
emendation, suggested by Mr. Ellis, seems pretty certain.

P. 180, . 4. “Here, as on the previous page, A. wrongly
reads al-Musta‘in for al-Mu‘taszz, which latter is not only
required by history, but is in every case the actual reading
of A. Tabar{ gives the name of this Caliph as Muhammad,
but in the Mafdtih’l-"Ulim of al-Khwirazmi and in the
Wifi of as-Safadi (Add. 23,858, f. 1122) he is called Zubayr.”

P. 187, Il. 14—15. “Abv’l-Husayn Ahmad b. Muhammad
was a Shajar{ Sayyid, a descendant of a different line from
Sayyid Hasan’s. See ‘Umdatu’t-t4lib, p. 71, 1. 18, where his
relationship to Sayyid Hasan is expressed by ug; P A,
This must, I think, imply ‘brother-in-law’. The word g
may be used of any relation through a woman, according
to the lexica.”

P. 190, l. 2. “Compare -Tabari, Series 111, pp. 2039—2201.”

P. 191, Il. 14—15. “Compare -Tabari, Series 111, pp.
1920—2159.”

P. 193. “Martyrdom of Sayyid Muhammad’. Abw’l-Fara-
ju’l-Isbahdnf, the author.of the Kitdbw'l-Aghdni, gives, in his
Magqdtilu’t-Télibiyyin (Tihrdn, A.H. 1307, p. 229), rather a
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different account of the death of Muhammad b. Zayd. He
relates that Isma‘il b. Ahmad, who had made himself master
of Khurdsdn, sent against him one of his officers named
Muhammad b. Hdrin with orders to attack him. An engage-
ment took place at Béb Jurjdn in which the Sayyid was
mortally wounded. After the battle he was found on the
field still breathing, and was carried to Jurjdn, where he
died. His funeral obsequies were performed by his adver-
sary Muhammad b. Hdrin. These events took place in
Ramaddn, A.H. 289 (sé&). Sayyid Muhammad’s son Zayd
was taken prisoner in the battle, and brought to Jurjan,
where he still is at the present time,” i.e. A.H. 313 (=
A.D. g25—6). Abv’l-Faraj was born in A. H. 284 (= A.D.
897), five (or three) years before the above mentioned
battle was fought.”

P. 194, I 15. “This Shajara-i-ansib-i- Talibiyya is most
probably identical with the Ansdbu ashrdfi’l-amsdr of Ibn
Tabdtabd, already mentioned on p. 47, L. 8.”

P. 195, Il 17—18. “Add. 7633 (= B.) has 0=y a9
ol Lall slyl. The vocalization and meaning of Lall are

obscure. The dictionaries do not give much help. #lae is

one of the nomina verbi of a0, and has amongst other
meanings that of ‘carrying an enterprise to its conclusion’.
I would suggest that a derivative %las should be read, but
unfortunately no such form is recorded in the lexica. ke
must, I think, be an error for slgi [this last is the reading
of A.], for no such form as L,)Lﬁ':’,’ although quite possible,
is recorded.”

P. 198, end. “The person usually known by the title of
Dhi’r-Riydsatayn was the famous wazir of the Caliphate
al-Fadl b. Sahl. As, however, he was murdered at Sarakhs
in A.H. 202 (= A.D. 817—818), he can hardly be the
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person intended here, unless ‘grandson’ could be substituted

2y

for ‘son’.

P. 199, I. 25. “Abu’l-Fadl Muhammad b. ‘Abdv’lldh al-
Bal‘am{ was the father of the Persian translator of -Tabari,
and died in A. H. 329 (= A.D. 940—941). See -Samnf{’s
Ansdb, Add. 23,355, f. go.”

P. 210, ll. 5—6. “The addition in parentheses (which is
found in B.) seems necessary, otherwise the personality of
Dikd on p. 216 is rather enigmatical.”

P. 210, 1. 18. “‘The Sayyids’ governor’. He was appointed
by olyeb; 2. e the family of an-Nésirusl-Kabir, not by Sayyid
Hasan.”

P. 215, 14. “Médnkdim was a descendant of Zaynu’l-*Abi-
din, not of “‘Aqil b. Abi Tilib.”

P. 219, ll. 24 et seqq. “The news was brought to Hasan
b. Firdzdn at Sdri, not to Washmgir at Amul.”

P. 227, . 3—4. “Add. 7310, f. 8, vocalizes the name of

Sultdn Mahmud’s father U\.(A& ‘Subuktigin’, not ‘Sabuk-

LR 2]

tagin’.

P. 229, l. 5 and note. As regards the vocalization Hum-
miula adopted by the Delhi edition, Mr. Ellis remarks that
if the name be Arabic, as it appears to be, such vocalization
is inadmissible, as giving no meaning. The same edition
incorrectly gives this person’s full name as Aéw’l-Husayn é.
Ahmad 6. Hummila, “‘Ali having dropped out after Abd.

P. 229, 1. 8. “As to the name Asfdr b. Kurdiya the
texts of the Yamini vary. Add. 7310 reads )Lw; the Delhi
ed. has )L;:a; Or. 1513 and the Buldq ed. concur in reading
oyl

P. 229, 1. 10. “The Yamini adds after the name Rashd-
myj the words adl adac u>f oil. See Delhi ed., p. .5
Buldq ed., vol. 11, p. ¥; Add. 7310, f. 1124. The MS. Or. 1513,
f. 108a, has incorrectly @ML;;; for GJ»L;:).”
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P. 245, l. 29. “Add. 7633 (= B.) reads )y spis. I take
Shirzil (or Shira-zil) to be a clan name. Compare Hamza
(T@’rikh, pp. 241—2), who mentions the Shirdhildwanddin
as the tribe or clan (*3) of °Alf b. Buwayh, and the
Wardaddwanddn as that of Asfir b. Shirawayh (Shird’é),
both these leaders being ‘Daylami’, as opposed to Marddwij,
who was a ‘Jili’. Also Shirzilwand are named in the original
Persian of Ibn Isfandiydr as forming part of the 400 prisoners
burnt by the Ispahbad.”



INDEX.
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This Index includes, besides a few general references to
matters of special interest, (1) names of persons, (2) names
of places, and (3) titles of books mentioned in the pre-
ceding pages. In the arrangement of the Muhammadan
names, the prefixes Aéi (“Father of ...”) and /én (“Son
of ...”) are disregarded, so that,efor example, the names
Abw’l-Fadl and Ién Khurdddhbik must be sought under the
letters F and K respectively, not under A and I. Between
two names the word 7én (,Son of ...”) is represented by
5., but in the case of Persian names, the Persian zddfaz (-z-)
is sometimes employed to indicate the same relation: ¢. g.
“‘Abdi’lldh b. Tdhiv and Qdrin-i-Shakriydr. A hyphen pre-
fixed to a name (generally a ziséa) means that the Arabic
definite article @/- should precede it: ¢.g. Hdrin-Rashid =
Hdrdn al-Rashid, or, according to the phonetic transcription
which I adopt, Hédrunu’r-Rashid. Each name is written in full
the first time it occurs, but some of the commonest names are
occasionally abbreviated as follows: 4. = Ahmad; /ér. =
Ibrahim; Zsm. — Isma‘ll; A = Hasan; Hus. = Husayn;
‘Ab. = ‘Abbds; ‘4l. = Abduv’lldh; ‘4. = “Ali; ‘U. = “‘Umar;
Q. = Qdsim; M. = Muhammad; Ya. — Yahyd. Persian
names I have thought it best always to write in full. Place-
names are distinguished by an asterisk, while titles of books
are ‘printed in italics. In the case of names of little-known
places in Tabaristin, where the vocalization is often ex-
tremely uncertain, I occasionally refer to Melgunof’s Das
sidliche Ufer des kaspischen Meeres (Leipzig, 1868) as “Mel.”,
and to Dorn’s four volumes of Muhammedanische Quellen
sur Geschichte dev sidlichen Kiistenlinder des kaspischen
Meeres as “Dorn [, “Dorn 11", etc. To facilitate identifi-
cation, I have occasionally indicated in brackets after a
name the century of the Christian era in which the owner
flourished, or, in the case of place-names, the district in
which the place is apparently situated. When it is desired
to indicate in which half of a century a person flourished,
a small (1) or (2) is added to the Roman figure: thus
(1xY) means the latter half of the ninth century of our era.
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Abv’l-Afazz M. b. Qays (1x?), 172.
*Aba-sar (Sdri), 250.
*Abasgin, 78, 199, 208.
Ibn ‘Abbid. See Isma'il b. “Abbdd, -Sihib.
‘Abbds, House of —, or ‘Abbdsid Caliphs, 10, 51, 99,
108, 110, 111, 125, 143, 144, 161, 177, 201, 205, 25Q.
See also under the names of individual Caliphs.
‘Abbds b. -“Aqili (1x2), 174.
‘Abbds, brother of the Masmughdn (1x2), 176.
‘Ab. b. M. -Hdshim{ (vii?), 12r.
‘Ab. b. Qdbusdn (x'), 212.
‘Ab. b. Zufar (not Zafr, see note on p. 277, L. 1; IXY), 141.
‘Abbdsa (sister of Hdrun-Rashfd), 134, 136, 130.
Abu’l-‘Abbds °Al. b. M. b. Nuh b. Asad -Sdmdni (x!),
195—199.
Abvwl-Ab. A. b. °Abd -Aziz b. Abi Dulaf -Ijlf (governor
of ‘Irdq, 1X3), 19I.
Abu’l-‘Ab.-Faqih -“Alaqf (x'), 215.
Abuv’l-‘Ab.-‘Assdri (x'), 216.
Abv’l-“Ab., the chamberlain (x?), 228.
Abu’l-‘Ab. b. Diu’r-Riydsatayn (XY), 213, 214.
Abu’l-“Ab.-Ghdnim{(minister of Qdbiis b. Washmgir (x*—x1'),92.
Abuw’l-°Ab. b. J&f (x?), 229.
Abu’l-“Ab. b. Kdlanjir (x!), 216.
Abu’l-°Ab.-Qassdb, Shaykh —, 8o. (See Jdmi's Nafajdt, Calc.
ed., 1859, pp. 323—6).
Abv’l-°Ab.-Riydn{, Qddi’l-quddt (x*—x1'), 76.
Abu'l-*Ab.-Saffih (Caliph, A.D. 750—754), 111.
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Abu’l-°‘Abbds, Sayyid — (x2—x11), 51, 54.
Abddl, The —, 109.
*Ab-Dara (near Kusdn), Castle of —, 61.
*Abd-‘Adhim, Shrine of —, near Ray, 70.
‘Abd -*Aziz -Tjli (1X), 47.
‘Abd -Hamid Madrib (governor of Tabaristdn, viIl?), 125.
‘Abd -Hamid (secretary of Marwidn II, A. D. 744—750), 111.
‘Abd -Jabb4r b. ‘Abd -Rahmdn (vi?), 118, rzr.
‘Abdu’lldh b. -‘Abbds (viI), 111, 112,
‘Al. b. “‘Abd -‘Aziz (viI), 132.
‘Al. b. ‘Aziz (officer of Tahirids, 1X2), 179.
‘Al. b. Ab{ Burda b. Abi Musi -Ashari, 6.
‘Al. [b.] Fadlawayh -Sarawi (not -Sarwi, as in text), 46.
“As-Sam‘ani, Ansdb, Add. 23,355 (Brit. Mus.), f. 2974,

gives L;,;, Sarwi from ,};, Sarw, in the district of
Ardabil, but LE»_);;» Sarawi from 3w, Sdriya (now

Sarf) in Mdzandardn. Unfortunately he does not mention
anyone derived from -the last-named place.” A. G. E.

‘Al. b. Hasan (adherent of Sayyid Ndsir-i-Kabir, x'), 200.

‘Al. b. Hdzim (viin?, 132.

‘Al. b. Husayn b. Sahl “T4j{ Duwayr”, 73.

‘Al. b.-Kawwd (Khdrijite leader, viI), 101.

‘Al. b.* Mahmid b. Ngh, Abu’l-°Abbds — (governor of
Tabaristdn), 38.

‘Al. b. Midlik (governor of Tabaristdn, viII>—IX'), 143.

‘Al. b. Mubdrak, the scribe (X'), 209.

‘Al. b. M. b. Nih -Sdmdni, Abu’l-°‘Abbds — (X'), 195.

‘Als b. M. -Kdtib (“the Scribe™), 206.

‘Al. b. -Muqaffa’. See /bn -Mugaffa°.

‘Al. b. Qahtaba (vin?—ix!'), 132.

‘Al. b. Qutayba. See Ién Qutayba.

‘Al. b. Said (1x?), 162, 163.

‘Al. b. Sa‘id -Jarishi (or -Jurayshi, IX'), 141, 143, 147.
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“ Farishi should at least be Furayshi, but Furashi is
the older and better form, and is the actual reading
of Add. 7633.” A. G. E. (See end of p. 276).
‘Abdu’lldh b. Saldm (x'), 213.

b.

b
b
b.
b
b
b.

Sayf (vir?), 123.

. -Tabar{ (1x?), 8o.
. Tdhir (governor of Khurdsin, I1X), 152—157.

‘Umar b. -Khattdb, 98.

. Wahb :=Rdsibi (Khdrijite leader vII?), 1o2.
. Wandd-ummid (1x%), 162.

Yahyd b. Khdqdn (minister of -Mutawakkil, 1x?), 158.

Abu “Abdi’lldh, Shaykh — (Imdmi divine, X?), 54.

Abu °Al. -Hasan b. “Ali b. Hishdm (contemporary of -Asma*,

vii?—1x?), 136.

Abud ¢Al. M. b, H. (of Amul, X!), 212.

Abu “Al. M. -Ridd b. Zayd b. M. b. Zayd (x'), 194

Abt °Al. M. -Utrush. See -Utrush.
‘Abdw’l-Malik [b.] Mékdn (x?), 229.
‘Abdw’l-Malik b. Marwédn (Umayyad Caliph, vi1?), 39, 105.
‘Abdu’l-Malik I b. Ndh -Simdni (A.D. 954—961), 224.
‘Abdv’l-Malik b. Qurayb -Asma‘ (1x!), 9.
‘Abduw’l-Q4dir (read -Qdhir) -Jurjdni, Imdm —, 78.
“Abdw’r-Rahmin Khirzdd (“probably Ibn Khurdddhbih”,

A.

G. E, 1xY), 32.

‘Abdu’r-Rahmin Tughd-Turk, Atibek — (son of Qut-
bu’d-Din M. Khwarazmshdh, x1r'), so.

Abi Abdi’r-Rahmdn M. b.-H.-Lamrdsaki, Qddi —, 30.
Abti ‘Abdi’r-Rahmdn Ziya’.d b. An‘am -Ifriqf (contemporary
of the Caliph-Mansir, viIi), 1o.

‘Abdu’s-Saldm (chamberlain of Qdbus, x!*—xX1!), g2.
‘Abd-Shams (ancestor of Umayyads), 48.
‘Abdw’l-Wéhid b. Isma‘il “fmdm-i-shahid” (murdered by
Assassins”, XI), 75.

*Abhar, 69, 178. .
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*Abkhama, 28.

Abw’l-Mulik, 147. See Qdrin 6. Shakriydr 6. Sharwin.

Abyssinians, 20, 74.

*Adharbayjdn, 14, 61, 68, 96, 237, 252, 254.

Adhar-valdsh (Sdsdnian governor of Tabaristdn, vi1'), g7, 98.

‘Adi b. ‘Abdw’lldh, 79.

‘Adudd’d-Dawla Fandkhusraw b. Ruknu’d-Dawla -Hasan b.
Buwayh (A.D. 949—982), 87—91, 158, 210, 223, 225,
226. See also Fandkhusraw.

‘Adudu’d-Dawla, Sayyid Abuw’l-Husayn-Mu’ayyad bi’lldh
— b. Hus. b. Hérin b. Hus. b. M. b.-Q. b. Hus. b.
Zayd b. H. b. “A. b. Abi Tdlib, 50, 51, 53, 54.

Afdalv’d-Din Mdhabdd{ (x11?), 69.

Afrdsiydb, 18—:zo.

Afrasiydb, Kiyd — of Chaldp (x1v'), 268, 269.

Afrisiydb (warden of Kuzd, xiir'), 236.

Afshin (1x'), 135, 156.

-Aghdnit, Kitabw’l. —, 103.

Aghush{, the Turk (x'), 215.

*Ahdr, 14.

*Ahlam (on coast, N. of Amul; Mel. 151, 208), 22, 28, 34, 191.

Ahmad b. “Abdu’l-Azfz b. Abf Dulaf -Ijlf (governor of
‘Irdq, 1XY), 19I1.

Ahmad b. “Abdlldh-Khujistini (governor of Nishdpir,

1X?), 18s.

. b. Hanbal (vii?), 125.

. b. Hasan (1x?), 170.

. Abv’l-Husayn (son of Sayyid Ndsir-i-Kabir, ¢.v.), 49.

. b. “Isd b. “Alf b. -Hasan (1x?), 178, 183, 184.

. b. Ismafil -Sdmdni (x!), 195—199, 201.

- J4l, Kiyd Jamdlv’d-Din — (x1v'), 265, 266.

b. M. b. Aws (governor of Jdlus, 1x!), 157, 158, 168.

. b. M. b. Ibr. -Q&’im,*“ Sdkibs’l-Faysh”, Sayyid — (1x?),

187—189, 200—205.

> >
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Ahmad b. M. b. Malikshdh, Malik — (x1?), 244, 243.
b. M. -Sikni (1x?), 179—181.
b. M.-“Umar{ (x!), 220.
b. Nah b. Diw’r-Riydsatayn (X'), 198, 199.
b. Q., Abw’d-Darghdm (governor of Siri, X'), 199.
b. Rasul (x"), 216.
~Sa‘df (servant of Qdbus, X2—XI'), 92.
A. b. Sdlar (agent of Washmgir, x'), 218.
A. b. &dlih -Dimishqf (authority cited by -Asma‘), 159.
A.-Tawil (x'), 207.
Abi A. Zanrds (or Zanrdshdn) of Nasirdbdd (x'), 198.
Abd A. (Q4di of Riydn, put to death by Mdzyar, (1X'"), 151.
Ahnaf (contemporary of ‘Alf b. Abi Tdlib, v1'), 180.
¢Ahush” = ¢Death”, 26.
*Ahwidz, 33.
*A’isha Kargili Dizh (near Aram, on the top of Darband-
i-Kuala), 121.
Ibn A’isha, 108.
Akharydr, father of Isfihi, ¢. ». (x'), 221.
*Akhldt, 252.
Akwidn Div, 35.
*Alamit, 206, 216, 240 (derivation), 258, 259.
Alanddy-i- [Qdrin-i-] Sukhrd, 43, 125.
-‘Alaqi, Abu’l-°Ab.-Faqih — (x!), 215.
*Aldrash (near shore of Caspian), 42.
“Al&v’d-Dawla “A. Qdrin b. Husimu’d-Dawla Shahriyar b.
Qdrin (XI*—XII"), 242—245.
‘Ald’v’d-Dawla ‘A. b. Husimu’d-Dawla Ardashir (x1m?),
261, 268.
‘Al@wd-Dawla Hasan b. Rustam b. “Ali (x11?), 67, 247.
‘Alé’v’d-Dawla b. Shih Ghdzi Rustam (X11'), 249.
‘Al#’v’d-Din Muhammad (wazir of Tughd-Timir (x1v'), 264.
‘Ald b. Sa‘id of Sind (1x!), 4.
Abu’l-‘Al4-Mihrawdn{ (jurisconsult and poet), 79.

> e PP
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Abuv’l-‘Ald—°Alf.

Abv’l-‘Ald -Sarw{ (or -Sarawi: see above, p. 284, under “Aé-

dw’lléh 6. Fadlawayk: 1X%), s50.

‘Alawi Mahdi (warden of Alamit, X1%), 240.

Alexander the Great, 35, 4I.

*Alexandria, 252.

*Alf-4bdd (S. of road between Bérfurdsh and Sdri), 80, 215.
‘Alf “Ald’v’d-Dawla b. Ardashir (x11?), 261, 268.

‘Alf ‘Al£v’d-Dawla b. Shahriydr (XI*—XI11'), 242—245.

‘A
‘A

A.
A.
°A.
€A.
‘A.
°A.
A.

A,

‘A

A.
A.

b. Aws (IX?), 162, 163.

b. Buwayh (X'), 210, 223. See “/mddi’d-Dawla.
b.-Faraj (1X?, 169.

Gilkhwérdn Sabiqu’d-Dawla (v1), 65.

b. Harb (1x), 167.

b. H. -Marwazf (1x?), 190.

Abv’l-Hasan of Ray (author of Firdawsiw’l-Hikmat), 35.
Hawakhin (? Mawdkhin: x1v?), 264.

b. Hus. b. ‘A. b. Ab{ Télib (the Fourth Imim of
the Shi‘ites, generally known as “Zaynu’l-‘Abidin”,
vnrl), 1r1.

b. Ibr. -Jili (1x?), 164.

b. “Isa (vir?), s, 138.

b. Ja“far -Rdzf (x'), 206.

b. Justin (or Fustdn; viI?), 123.

*Ali Kaldwa (quarter of Amul), 77.

°A.

Kdwdn, Shaykh ~— (x1v!), 264.

‘Ali b. Khurshfd (x'), 209—212, 214.

cA.
°A.
‘A.
A.
°A.
°A.
‘A.
°A.

Kiyd b. Afrdsiydb (x1v'), 269.

-Maghribf (1x?), 167.

b.-Mahdi b.-Manstr -‘Abbdsi, 51. See /én Sukkara.
b. Mansur (1x%), 172.

Mardawfj “T&ju’l-Muldk” (x11), 66.

Muhammad -H4d{ -‘Askarf, Imdm — (1x), 1358, 159.
M.-Kiff, 159.

M.-Nadim (IX), 150.

coeg
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‘A. b. Misd -Rid4, Imdm — (poisoned by -Ma’min, 1X!), 53,
55, 79, 144

‘A. b. Nagr (1x?), 163.

‘A. b. Nikdma (X), 222.

‘A. Pfriza, Ustdd — (Tabar{ poet, x3), 87, 88.

‘A. Qum{ Darzf b. Hardsanddn (X'}, 207.

‘A. Ridd (chamberlain of the Ispahbad Rustam, XIi1), 65.

‘A. Sébiqu’d-Dawla, Amir — (XII), 247, 249.

‘A. Shdh (governor of Ddmghdn, x11?), 255, 256.

‘A. b. Shih Ghdzf Rustam (x11), 250.

‘A. -ShdSir b. -Sayyid -Ndsir -Kabir (1x), 49.

‘A. b. Surkhdb (1x?), 188, 193.

‘A. -Tabari, Ustdid —, go.

‘Alf b. Abf Télib (vi), 12, 13, 36, 48, 50, 51, 52, 70,
100—103, 108, 109, III, 112, 144, 158, 161, 17§,
178, 180, 242.

‘A. b Wahsiddn (x'}, 206.

‘A. b. Zarrin-Kamar (x11'), 59.

‘A. b. Zayn (properly Rabban) -Kitib (1x'), 35, 43, 8o.

Abud ‘Ali b. Ahmad b. M. -Mudhaffari (x'), 218.

Abi “A.

Fdris (philologist, x%), go.

Abd ‘Ali Hamdla (x?), 229—230.

Abi “A.
Abu ‘A.
Abu ‘A.
Abu “A.
Abu ‘A.
Abu °A.

b. H. Simjur (x!'), 208, 227, 234.
b. Isfahdn (x!), 210, 216, 21q.
-Kidtib (x'), 2zo0.

-Khalifa (x!), 217.

M. b. A. b. H. (x!), 209—211.
Muslim (x?}, 224.

*Alisha-rud, 261.

Alp Arsldn (x1%), 236, 239.

Alptagin (x?), 227.

“Amatu’r-Rahmdn” (daughter of the Ispahbad Khurshid,
married to “Abbds b. Muhammad -Hdshimi, who thus
named her), 121.

19
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Ibnw’l“Amid Abu’l-Fadl M. b. -Hus. -Qumi (x'), 219, 222.

-Amin b. Hdrdn -Rashid (1X'), 143.

‘Amir b. Adam (vIII?), 123.

‘Amir b. ‘Abd Qays, 10.

Amir M&@min (X1v'), 262.

“ Amir-i-Zarrin” (“the Golden Amir”, the Ispahbad Bahd’v’d-
Din so named), 252.

‘Ammdr b. Ydsir (contemporary of ‘Ali b. Abi Tilib,
vir!), 12.

Abuwl-‘Ammdr -‘Atiqi (vII?), 122.

‘Amr (? ‘Umar) b. -‘Ald (viii®), 120, 124, 125, 130, I13L.

‘Amr b. Bahr -Jdhidh (1x), 6, 110.

*Amr (? ‘Umar) -dbdd and -kaldda, 125.

‘Amr b. Layth -Saffdri (1x?), 189, 191—193, 238.

Abi “Amr (“the poet of Tabaristin”, 1x3), 41, 47.

*Amul, 4, 19, 20, 25—29, 32—34, 37, 39, 49, 48, 49, 56,
70, 73, 75—77, 82, 83, 89, 95, .98, 99, 115, 120,
122—124, 128—130, 132, 141, 149—153, 164, 165,
167—171, 174, 176, 178, 179, 181—183, 187—190,
192, 194, 196—200, 202—219, 221—223, 228, 241—243,
247, 248, 251—253, 256—257, 262, 265, 266, 269.

Amula (legendary queen from whom the town of Amul
is supposed to derive its name), 25.

*Amuriya, 156.

‘Anitir b. Bakhtinshih (1x3), 169, 172.

*Anbdr, 134, 135.

Anbdrak (grandfather of Abuv’l-Hasan b. Hdrdn -Fagih,
converted to Isldm), 26.

Abv’l-‘Anbas -Damiri (parodist, 1x?), 160.

Ansdbu Ashrdf’l-Amsdr (by Tbn Tabdtabd al-“Alawi), 47.

*Anushaddadhdn, 196.

Anushirwdn (Khusraw or Kisrd — the Sdsdnian, vi). See
Nishirwdn.

Antshirwan Hazdr-mardi (1x?), 169.
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Antshirwdn b. Mindchihr b. Qdbus b. Washmglr (x1%), 236.

Anwari (the poet, x11), 66.

‘Aqil b. Abi T4lib, descendant of —, 215.

‘Aqil b. Mabruar (1x?), 163.

-Aqiqi, Sayyid Hasan b. Jafar — (1x2—x'), 174, 200.

*Arabia, 66, 69, 79.

Arabs, 5, 135, 27, 85, 93, 97, 98, 101, 104, 105, 106, 126,
155, 223, 226, 228, 237.

‘Arafa, Day of —, 353.

*Aram (Dorn I in Index, p. 568), 59, 121, 128, 200, 241, 245.

*Ararm, Arazm (probably scribe’s errors for Aram), 28.

*Arbanu (village one day’s march from Ray), 142

*Ardabil, 33, 59.

*Ardashir-dbdd, 268.

Ardashfrak Babliraj (cowherd, viii), 127.

Ardashir Bdbakdn (the founder of the Sasdnian Dynasty,
A. D. 226), 1, 4, 7.

Ardashir Husimu’d-Dawla b, Hasan °Aldf’w’d-Dawla b.
‘Alf, Ispahbad — (x11%), 3, 4, 17, 25, 55, 67—73,
115, 204, 246—251, 254, 255, 558.

Ardashir b. Kinkhwdr b. Rustam b. Diri b. Shahriyir,
Malik Husimu’d-Dawla — (x111), 256, 257, 258, 268.

Arghun Shih (x1v!), 264.

Arish (a legendary hero, celebrated for his skill in arch-
ery), 18—2o.

Arjasf (x11%), 251, 252.

*Armenia, 97.

*Arrdn, 45, 244, 252, 254.

Arsldn, Amir — (x1?), 251.

Arslan Bdla (x2), 227.

Arsldn Hindd-bacha (x1'), 231.

Arslin Jddhib (variants: Hajib and Hirib, x1!), 234.

*Artd (Mel. 204, 1. 19, 300), 123.

Asad b. Janddn (1x?), 157, 166, 167, 16



292 Asfadu’d-Din—Atrdbin.

1]

As‘adu’d-Din Husayn, called diwdna, “the madman’
(x11%), 65.

Asatakin the Turk (governor of Ray, 1x?), 189.

Ibn Abi’l-Asbagh (1x?), 192.

Asfir b. Kurdiya (x?), 229.

Asfiar b. Shirdya (x'), 209, 210, 212—216.

-Ashfarf, Abuv’l-Hasan — (allusion to doctrines of — in
an Arabic verse), 2I.

Ash‘th b. Qays (v11), 102.

*Ashild-Dasht (near Amul), 194.

Ashkdli (father of Zarhawdjastdn, x®*—X1'), 230.

*Ashtdd (or Ushtdd: see Mel. 201: name of a village
near Amul, and of its founder), 20, 21, 24, 163.

*Asia Minor, 247. See also Rim. -

*Asi Visha (4 parasangs from Amul), 37.

*Ask (mountain village in district of Ldrijdn: Mel. 24,
208), 36.

*‘Askar (place celebrated for locusts), 33.

-“Askari, Imdm -Hasan b. ‘Alf — (1x?), s0.

-Asma‘i (the philologist, 1x'), 136, 159.

*Asram, 122, 127, 128,

*Asrdn, 242.

*Asrdmil, 122.

“Ass”, “Year of the —”, 110.

Assassins, 64, 66, 75, 76, 240, 241, 243, 245, 256, 258, 259.

*Astdna-sardy (Amul), 25.

*Astardbdd, 28, 56, 77, 84, 86, 95, 167, 169, 170, 172,
177, 181, 186, 201, 204, 207, 214, 219, 221, 222, 226,
228, 232, 238, 246, 265. )

-Astardbddi (author of the Mankaju’l-Magdl), 11, 271.

Atdbek Qardja (guardian of Seljugshdh, x11'), 245.

*Atash-Kih, Castle of —, in Khurdsan, 240.

Ibnv’l-Athir (xn1'), 235, 240.

*Atrdbin (Mayddn of —, in Sdri), 241, 249.



“Attib—Baghdad. 293

‘Attdb b. Warqd -Shaybdni (1X), 157.
-“Attdb{ (poet, 1X), 9.
‘Attaf b. Abi’l-Attdf of Syria (1X), 169.
Atsiz Khwdrazmshadh (x11), 62.
Avicenna (Shaykh Abu °Ali b. Sind, x*—x1'), 86.
*Awa, 244.
*Awimma-kiy, 57, 81.
Awhadu’d-Dahr-Ddnishi (astronomer), 87.
*Awhar (Séri), 17.
Abl “Awn b. ‘Abdu’llah (vii), 120.
*Awrdrdbdd (above Paricha), 123.
*Awsarzin, 123. .
‘Aynu’d-Dawla Siydh (xi1), 251.
*Aywa, 252.
Abud Ayyib -Miriydn{ (wazi» of -Mansur, viII?), 113.
Azariga, 104. See Khidrijites.
Azarm{ Dukht (Sdsdnian Queen, vi1'), g6.
Azarmi Dukht “Girdn Gushwir”, daughter of the Ispah-
bad Farrukhdn, 116, 121.
+ Azbar b. Jandh (1xX?), 172.
*Azdara, 122.
Azhidahdka, 36. See Dahdk (Dahhdk).
‘Aziz b. ‘Abdv’lldh (1x), 169.
°Aziz -Tughrd’i (x1), 62.

Bédbak (1x'), 153, 155.

*Bdbil, Khatira-i- —, 156.

*Bdbul (or Bdwul) River, 16.

*Badakhshdn, gs.

*Badhandun, 152 ad calc.

*Baghdad, 3, 33, 49, 51, 71, 74,75, 79, 87,91, 117, 118, 122,
125, 126, 131, 133, 136, 138, 143, 147, 149, 150,
153, 156, 157, 161, 179, 194, 197, 206, 223, 224, 236,
243, 246, 259, 263.



294 Bd-Hamri—Baldsh.

*Bd-Hamrd, 353.
Bahd’v’d-Dawla, Amfr Hassin — (X1I), 245.
Bah#&’v’d-Din. See Hasan b. Mahdi -Mdmtiri.
Bah#’v’d-Din, lspahbad — (x11), 252.
Bahistun (or Bisutin) b. Washmgir (x2), 225.
Bahrdm Chubin (v1%), 35, 906, 237.
*Bahrdam Dih, 123.
Bahrim Gir (V'), 94.
Bahram-i-Firdz (vii?), 131.
Bahrdmshih of Ghazna (X11?), §8.
Bahrir (servant of -Mutawakkil, 1X), 159, 160.
Bajri’l-Fawd’id, by ‘Ali b. Zayn -Kidtib (1x'), 8o.
*Bdkharz, 264.
-Bdkbarzi, Abu’l-Hasan °Alf b.-H. b. ‘A. b. Abi’t-Tayyib
(author of the Dumyati’l-Qasr ; X1), 77, 78, 86.

Bakhtiyar Mu‘izzu’d-Dawla (x?), g1.
*Bakr-abad (in Gurgdn), 186.
Bakr b. ‘Abdv’l-‘Aziz -Ijli (1x?), 48, 192.
Bakr b. Malik, Abu Sa‘id — (x?), 224.

Abt Bakr Dirdzgush -Rdzf (x11%), 253.

Abiu Bakr b. Ilisa® (x'), 214, 217.

Abid Bakr -Khwdrazmi{ (x2), go.

Abd Bakr b. Muhammad “Jahdn-Pahlawdn” b. Tldigiz, Atd-

bek — (x11'—xi11?), 254.

Abu Bakr Zakariyyd (x'), 215.

Abu Bakr -Zifri (x'), 207.
Baktakin (chamberlain of Majdu’d-Dawla, X?), 230.
-Balddhuri’s Futihu’l-Bulddn, 27, 100.
*Béld’in, 168.
-Bal‘ami, Abuw’l-Fadl M. b. ‘Abdw’lldh — (1x3—x"), 199, 200.
*Béld-rdh, 123.
*Baldsaghun, 236.

Baldsh-i-Pirdz (Sdsinian King, v*), 94, 96, 99. See also
Valdsh.



Bali—Bdwanddn. 295§

Balf b. Farrukh-Adin, 37.

*Balikdn{ (near Amul), 164.

*Balkh, 21, 22, 25, 94, 138, 227.

*Balqa®, 54. :

Bdmddddn (father of Mazdak, vi), 93.

*Banafsh (between Amul and J4lus), 188.

*Banafsha-Gun, 248.

*Bd-Nasrdn (in Tammisha), 16.

*B4 Nasri Mash-had (in Sdr{), 144.

*Bdqili-pazdn, Mayddn-i-Ridbdr — (Amul), 262.

*Baqi‘v’l-Gharqad (cemetery at al-Madina), 71.

*Baqra-Kaldta, Ispahbad’s palace (Amul), 247.

Baraka (brother of Sadaqa, Amir of Hilla and “king of
the Arabs”; x11), 60.

Bdrbad-i-Jarid{ (Tabar{ poet, x11), 65.

Barbier de Meynard, 4.

*Barfurtish, 28.

Biri®i-Jurjdni, 79.

Barkala (x112?), 252.

Barmak, Al-i-—, or House of — (“Barmecides”, viII2—Ix'),
124, 133, 134, 140; History of — (Ia’rikh-i-Bard-
mika), 39.

Barkiydruq b. Malikshdh (Seljuq, x1*-—x11'), 240.

Bashdr (mother of Adhar-valdsh, vii), ¢8.

*Bdshir (near Amul), 199.

*Basra, 33, 100, 111, 180. .

B4t{ b. Sa‘fld (x*—xr1'), 228, 230, 239.

Baw (or Bdv), son of Shdpur, son of Kayis, and contem-
porary of Khusraw Parwfz and Bahrdm Chibin (vI2),
ancestor of the Biwands (Bdvands) or “House of Baw”,
17, 95, 96, 98, 99, 101, 236, 268.

Bdwands, House of Biw, 5, 34, 58 ¢f segq., 65, 91, 93, 95,
140, 145, 149, 225, 239, 255, 257, 263, 269—270.

*Biwanddn, Palace of —, 17.



296 Bawand—Burén.

Bdwand-ndma, 3.

*Bdv-awijdn, 17.

*Biward, 123, 223.

*Baydri-Kamand, 264.

Bdyazid -Bistdmi{ (Sufi saint, 1X), 10.

-Bayya“, Abu’l-Qdsim — Qddi’l-quddt, 77.

Bazghash (one of Sanjar’s amirs, Xi1'), 246.

Bekcheri (one of Sunqur’s amirs, Xi1'), 241.

*Bijari (var. Machurf), 28.
Abu Bildl, 103.

Bindn b.-Hasan (x), 220.

Bindi’¢ (uncle of Khusraw Parwiz, vi?), 3s.

-Birdni, Abd Rayhin — (x?), 14.

*Bisha-i-Ndr (Tammisha), 16.

Bisitin b. Tijdsaf (circ. A.D. 1000}, 229, 23I.

Bistim (= Gustahm), uncle of Khusraw Parwiz (vI%), 35.

*Bistam, 60, 66, 68, 81, 207, 208, 232, 255.

“Bi-Tawba” (“the Unrepentant”, nickname of M. Abu

Tawba, x11), 8I. !

Biwar-asp (title of Dahdk or Dahhdk, ¢.2.), 16, 36.

*Biydr, 231.

Bizhan, 39.

Bizist b. Firtizin (= Yahya b. -Mansr, 1x), 87, 147, 148, 149.

Brockelmann, 6.

*Buhayra, 134.

-Buhturi, Abu ‘Ubdda — (poet, 1X), 159—160.
Abu’l-Buhturi, Qddi — (1x!), 141, 142.

*Bukhdrd, 82, 91, 193, 194, 197——201, 206, 207, 213, 213,

219, 221, 224, 227, 241.

*Bulghar, 33.

Bundar b. Min{ (1x), 1356.

Biqd b. Seljiq (x1'), 235.

*Burabdd, 200.

*Burdn (plain of —, near Amul), 265.
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Burhdn, Qddi — (x11?), 254.

-Burqa®, Sayyid — (1x?), 180.

Buwayh, House of —, or Buwayhids, 5, 19, 90, 99, 158,
208, 210, 217, 218, 220, 222, 223, 225, 235, 237, 238.

Buzurjmihr (vi), 32, 8s.

Byzantines, or “Romans”, 145, 147, 150, 152, 156, 236.

Casar, 7.

Calf, Golden —, 9.

Chagdniydn. See Sighdniydin.

Chahdr Magdla (of Nidhdmi -‘Arid{ -Samarqandi, x11), I,
185, 219, 238, 23q.

*Chah-i-Vijan (“Bizhan’s Well”, near Ummidwdr-Kuh), 39.

*Chaldp, 15, 268, 269. See also Skaldb.

*Chamand, 123. See Famani, infra, and Mel. 57.

*Chashma-Rid (in Daylamadn), 19g.

-Chashmf, §3 ad calc.

’Ch'ina, 16.

Chingiz Khan (x111'), 258.

Christ, 91. See Masij.

Christians, 75, 91I.

Chibdn, Amir Tilish — (X1v!), 262.

*Cilicia, 152.

*Ctesiphon. See -Madd’in.

-Dabiri, M. b. — (x'), 220.

Dabuwdn (old family of Tabaristdn), 93.

Ddbiya-i-Gil-i-Firiz-i-Narsi-i-Jdmdsp (vir'), 98, go.

*Dadaqdn, Qasr-i- — (between Tammisha and Sir{), 114.

Dddawayh, called al-Mugaffa® (father of ‘Abdulldh b.
-Mugaffa®, vi), .

Did-Habash b. Altintdsh, Amir — (X1?), 240.

Dahdk (= Dahhdk or “Zohdk™), 15, 16, 36, 94. See also
Azhidahdka and Biwarasp.



298 Dahistan-—Dadran.

*Dahistdn (Dihiséén), 18.

-Ddf, Abw’l-Fadl — (x!), 203.

-D4% ila °l-Haqq b. -H4d{, Kiyd Buzurg — (VI'), 246, 251.

-D4i. This title was borne by three of the four ‘Alawi
Sayyids who ruled over Tabaristin from A.D. 864—
928. The first, Sayyid Hasan b. Zayd b. Isma‘il “ $4/i61°/-
Hijdra” b. -H. b. Zayd b. -H. b. “Ali b. Ab{ T4lib (A. D.
864—883), seems to have been entitled simply ad-Dd"%.
The second, M. b. Zayd, brother of him last mentioned,
was entitled ad-Dd% ila’l-Hagq (p. 195) or ad-Ddtl-
Kabir (p. 187). He was followed by Sayyid Ndsir-i-
Kabir, called atk-Th&ir (“the Avenger”, p. 195); and
he in turn by Sayyid Aba M. -H. b. -Q. b. -H. b. “A.
b. “‘Abduw’r-Rahmdn ash-Shajari b. Q. b. H. b. Zayd
b. -H. b. ‘A. b. Abi Talib, called also ad-Dd% ila’l-
Hagq, or ad-Dd‘€s-Saghir. See under these names,
and also pp. 47, 48, 158, 187—194, 195, 203, 204,
212—216, 237, 245, 252.

Dakiyya (the Daylamite, 1x2), 183.

*Damdwand, Mount — 15, 16, 29, 35, 36, 104, 165, 167,
217, 218, 219, 222, 230, 240, 249.

*Ddmghdn, 14, 60, 66, 68, 189, 208, 219, 240, 243,
246, 255.

-Damiri, Abuw’l-“Anbas — (parodist, IX), 160.

*Danaki (near Jamanu), 41.

-Danishi, Awhadu’d-Dahr — (astronomer), 87.

Daqiqi (X; reference uncertain), 8s.

Ddra (Darius, the last Achemenian king), 35.

Ddra b. Rahman, Ispahbad Nasiru’d-Dawla —- (x11), 249.

*Ddrd, Castle of — (Dizh-i-Ddrd), 255.

Déra, Ispahbad Majdw’d-Din — (x11%), 249.

Ddrd b. Qdbtis b. Washmgir (x?*—x1'), 227, 234, 235.

Ddrd b. Shahriyir b. Sharwin (x?), 239.

*Ddrdn, 101.



Déranjan—Daylami. 209

“Ddrdnjan kardan” (? to strew the ground with “crows’
feet” to check the advance of cavalry), 107, 221.

*Darband, 97, 221.

*Darband-i-Shinth, 247.

Abuv’d-Darghdm Ahmad b. Qdsim (governor of Sdri, X'), 199.

Dirgil (xu?), 247.

*Dar-i-Jur (one of the gates of Amul), 213.

*Dirim, 35. )

-Darir, Abi Mugétil — (poet, 1x?), 175, 176.

-Daris (vii), 106.

Ddristdn, Ispid —, 67.

Darkala, Atibek —, 252.

*Darlabash, Quarter of —, 8o.

Darmesteter, Professor James — 1, 6, 7, 14.

Ibn Darrdm (? Warram), Amir —, 79.

Darz{ Qumf{, or ‘Alf Qumi{ Darz{ (x'), 207, 208.

D#’4d b. Q.-Ja‘fari, Sayyid Abid Hdshim — (1x), 161.

Da’id -Yazdi (1X!), 4.

Abi D#4d (x'), 217, 218.

*Dawlatdbdd (palace near Sirf), 69, 254.

Dawlatshdh (xv), 79.

*Dawmatu’l-Jandal, 101.

*Daylam, 20, 23, 49, 50, §3, 54, 01, 97, 100, 106, 121,
164, 168, 169, 188, 190, 194—I196, 199, 201, 209,
214—216, 218, 221, 223, 226, 228, 229, 232, 238,
244, 248, 251, 252.

*Daylamdn, 49, 50, 53, 54, 61, 106, 164, 168, 169, 19O,
194, 195, 199, 201, 21§, 216, 218, 221, 223, 226,
244, 248, 251, 252. ,

Daylamites, 99, 107, 132, 149, 164, 166, 167, 169, 171,
172, 173, 177, 179, 181—18s, 187, 188, 190, 196,
200, 205, 207, 213, 219, 223, 226, 228—230, 232,
233, 238, 244, 246. See also Buwayh, House of —.

Daylami the son of Farrukhdn (IX?), 164.



300 Ddzamihr—Durayd.

Ddzamihr, Ispahbad — (vin), 46, 109, 169.
Dervish Orders, First appearance of — in Mdzandaran, 267.
Dhahirv’d-Din (“Sehir-ed-Din” of Dorn, xv?), 1, 14—21,
23—26, 28, 43, 44, 47.

Dhahirv’d-Din Fdrydbf (poet, x11), 71—73, 263.
Dhahiru’d-Din Nassdba, Sayyid — of Gurgdn, 357.
Dhakhira-i-Khwirazmshihi, 86.
Dhaylv’l-Mudhayyal (of -Tabari), 74.
Dhv’l-Mandqib (= Farrukhdn-i-Buzurg, ¢.7.), 99.
Dhu’r-Riydsatayn (I1X), 198, 213, 214.
*Dih-i-Fuldl (in Ldrijdn), 67, 68.
*Dihistan, 18, 181, 182, 193.
Dikd, daughter of Isfahdn, 210, 216.
“Dilam (near Kaldr), 39.
*Dindr-jari, Dindr-jay, Dindr-zdri, 14, 28, 57.
*Dindr-Kafshin, 17.
Dirdzgish, Abi Bakr — 253.
Diwain-i-Wasl, 69.
Diwarwaz Mastamard (Tabari poet, X), 87—8g.
*Diz (or Dizh)-i-Ddrd, 3s.
*Diz-(or Dizh-)Kih (near Isfahan), 241, ad calc.
*Diz-(or Dizh)-i-Rashkdn (near Ray), 19.
*Dizwan (in Panjdh-hazdr), 122.
*“Dome of the Cross-roads’ (Gunbudh-i-Chdr-si), 77.
Dorn, 1, 14, 17, 18. See also Z__)_/mhz’ru’d-Din.
Dragon, Contest between Sdm-i-Nariman and —, 41I.
*Di-db, 122, 172.
*Diddn (between Siri and Tarchi or Taricha), 166.
-Duhalf, Hammal b. ‘Umar — (vii), 126.
*Diildb, 166.
*Dalddar, z21.
*Dumyat’l-Qasr (of -Bdkharzi, ¢.v.), 78, 86.
*Dunbdwand, 29. See Damdwand.

Ibn Durayd (x'), 110.



Egypt—Fakhru’l-Mulik. 301

*Egypt, 33, 69, 91, 247.

Ethé, Dr. Hermann — 1, 238.
Ethiopian (Zanj), 180.
*Euphrates, 236.

Ezra, 110.

*Fadak (estate of Fatima), 108.
Fadl b. Ja'far (1x2?), 192.
Fadl b. Marzubdn (1x%), 179.
Fadl b. Rabf® (1x), 9, 136, 139.
Fadl-i-Rafiqf (1x?), 164, 173.
Fadl b. Yahyd -Barmak{ (1x), 133, 135.
Abv’l-Fadl b. ‘Amid, go.
Abv’l-Fadl-D4%, 203.
Abu’l-Fadl IsmaSl b. [-Hasan b. Ahmad b.] Muhammad
-Musawi -Jurjani (x11'), 86.
Abv’l-Fadl, Ispahbad — (x?), 228.
Abu’l-Fadl M. b. “Al.-Bal‘ami (g.7v.), 199.
Abv’l-Fadl M. b. Hus., known as Ibnuw’l-“Amid (¢.%.), go.
Abv’l-Fadl -Rdwandi (x11%), 69.
Abv’l-Fadl Shdgird (x'), 217.
Abv’l-Fadl -Th&’ir -‘Alawi, 222, 223.
Fahrdn (viy), 11s.
Fd’q, 226, 227.
*Fajam, 200.
*.Fakhkh, 53, 124.
Fakhr b. ‘Abduv’lldh -Khuzd{ (vIi?), iz2.
-Fakhri, 108, 109,
Fakhru’d-Dawla, the Buwayhid (x?), 19, 225, 226, 237.
Fakhru’d-Dawla Garshdsf (X11'), 246, 247.
Fakhru’d-Dawla H. b. Shih Kay-Khusraw (X1v!), 263—26g9.
Fakhro’l-Isldm. See “Aédu’l- Walid 6. Isma®il.
Fakhro’l-Muldk (or -Mulk) Rustam b. Shahriydr b. Qdrin
(x1%), 241.



302 Falaku’l-Ma‘dl{—Farshwddgar-Shdh.

Falakw’l-Ma“dli (1X'). See Minichikr b. Qdbis.

*Falds, 193. ‘

Filizbdn (1x?), 164.

Fandkhusraw (“Adudv’d-Dawla) b. Ruknu’d-Dawla Hasan
b. Buwayh (X), 9o, 158, 210, 223, 225. See also
‘Adudi’d-Dawla and Buwayh, House of —.

Fana-i-Wand4-ummid (1x), 165, 168—170.

Fanndq (or Fayydq), ‘Umar — (vii’—vir'), ror.

Faqih-i-Al-i-Muhammad (x1?, 69, 79.

Abu’l-Faraj “Ali b. Husayn b. Hindd (scholar and poet, x1'),
54, 77, 78, 110.

Abu’l-Faraj Mudhaffar b. Isma‘fl (jurisconsult and scholar), 79.

Abv’l-Faraj Rashid b. “Abdw’lldh -Astardbddi (physician, X?—
x1'), 86.

Fardmarz, Qiwdm — (x11%), 65.

Far‘in, Farghdn, or Farghdna, Devil of — (Sdlim, officer
of al-Mahdji, slain by Wanddd Hurmazd, vin?), 43, 126.

Farasha (or Firasha, but the first form is supported by
Tabar{, 111, 521, 1. 10: officer or client of al-Mahdjf,
nicknamed as above, VIII?}), 43, 44, 128, 129.

Farfburz (contemporary of the legendary king Kay-Khus-
raw), 17.

*Farim (or Parim, ¢.v., or Firim in Mel, p. 59), 29, 95,
123, 126, 148, 170, 237, 242, 243.

Fdris (governor of Gurgdn, x!), 197, 198.

Farrukh Adin, 37.

Farrukhdn-i-Buzurg (“the Great Farrukl;a’.n”, viil—vir'),
17, 27, 30, 45, 99, 100, 101, 104, 106, 10Q.

Farrukhdn-i-Gushnasp-i-Séruya.

*Farrukhdn-Firiz, Mountain of —, 114.

*Fdrs. See Pdrs.

*Farshwddgar (Patashkhwidr), 14, 35, 91, 97, 149, 161.

Farshwdd-Marzubdn, Khurshid — (vim), 113.

“Farshwddgar-Shah”, Gil-Gilan — (vir'), o7.
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Férydbi, Dhahirw’d-Din — (poem by, X11), 71—73.
*Fath Cduad, 123.
Abv’l-Fath b. Abi’l-Fadl (scholar), go.
Fitima (daughter of the Prophet, vir'), 108.
Fitima (daughter of Ahmad, wife of Isma‘il (~A.) -‘Alawi,
x'), 216.
Abv’l-Fawiris b. “Adudu’d-Dawla the Buwayhid (x1'), 234—235.
Fayyiq (or Fanndq), ‘Umar — (vII?), 101, 104.
Feridin, 15—18, 34, 60, 94.
Fikrist of -Tusi, 11, 12.
Fihrist of Ibnu’l-Warrdq, 26.
*Fimat, 263.
Abu Firds, Amir — (X, verses cited), 111.
Firdsha. See Fardsha.
Firdawsi (xt'), 1, 16, 18, 85, 238.
Firdawsi’l-Hikmat (by Ali b. Rabban al-Kitib), 35, 8o.
Firuz. See Piriz. -
Firdz (chamberlain of the Ispahbad Khurshid, vim?), 1i8.
Firdz (King of Balkh), 21, 27, 32.
*Firaz-abad, 27; Castle of —, gg.
Firdzdn (father of Hasan and grandfather of him next
mentioned, X'}, 196.
Firizdn b. Hasan b. Firizdn (x?), 228, 229, 230.
*F{riz-Kanda, 27.
*Firuz-Khusra, Castle of — (afterwards Firdz-dbid), 9g.
*Firaz-Kah (dyke), 40, 165, 255.
Firuz-i-Narsf (vi1), g7.
Forbes’ Persian Grammar, 76.
*Fuldl, Dih-i-— (in Ldrijdn), 67, 68.
Ibn Furak (preacher, of Amul, x3%), 76, 77.
-Furhddi, Khalfl b. Ahmad — (vin), s.
-Futih, Kitdbu’l-—, of -Baladhur{, 27, 1o0.

Gabr, 107, 142, 186. See Magian, Zoroastrian.
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Gabriel, Archangel —, 7, 52.

*Gandum-Kuib” (“the Corn-crusher”, nickname of Sultin
Mahmud the Seljuq, XI11'), 62.

*Ganjdwariz, 263.

*Ganjina, Plain of —, 67.

Garshah, or Jarshdh (“king of the Mountains”), 14, 126.

Garshdsf, Fakhru’d-Dawla — (x11'), 246, 248.

Gétds (the five additional days of the old Persian year
which are not included in the 12 months of thirty
days each), 167.

*Gawdzind, 128.

Gawbdra, 3, 96, 97, 99, 126, 237. See Gil-gildn Farshwdd-
gar-shdh.

Giw-Kaldda, 42.

Gaydmarth (the Persian Adam), 14.

*Gdzar-gdh (near Amul), 209.

-Ghdnimi, Abu’l-‘Abbds — (minister of Qdbids, X*—
x1'), g2.

*Ghars, 234.

-Ghazili, Muhammad — (XI1), 75.

Ghdzdn Khin (xur’—xivl), 263.

Ghdzi, Rustam Shdh-i-— (XII}, 59, 9O, 245, 246, 249, 250.

*Ghazna, and Sultdns of —, 5, 58, 59, 93, 227, 231, 233,
234, 235-

Ghurarid’d-Durar (of Sayyid Murtadd), 103.

*Gil, 5o, 58, 97, 196, 200, 209, 214, 218, 219, 223, 240,
244, 247. See also Gildn.

*Gilan, 14, 25, 49, 58, 61, 67, 97, 98, 106, 115, 168, 191,
193, 195, 197, 199, 200—208, 217, 222, 223, 23I,
236, 247, 252, 268.

Gildnshdh, g7, 122, 236.

Gil-gildin Farshwddgar-shdh, 97. See also Gawédra above.

Gild-gur (xY), 218.

*Gildna-jiy (canal), 1135.
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“Giran-Gishwar” (“She of the heavy ear-rings”, Azarmi-
Dukht, daughter of Farrukhdn, so called), 166.

*Girda-zamin (four parasangs from Sirif), 177.

*Gird-i-Kdh (Assassin stronghold), 240, 258, 259.

Gir-shdh (or Gar-shah, ¢.v.), 14 ad calc.

de Goeje, 26, 27, 32, 74, 100.

“Golden Amir” (Amir-i-Zarrin, 7. e. the Ispahbad Bahd’u’d-
Din, x11%), 252.

Greece, Greeks, 40, 9s.

. *Gulpayagin, 66, 244, 247.

Gunduya-Zima (aphrodisiac herb), 40.

Gurdiya (sister of Bahrdm Chibin, ¢.v.), 3s.

*Gurgdn, 14, 25—28, 54, 57, 60, 62, 89, 97, 105—108,
115, 120, 121, 131, 140, 177—184, 186—194, 197, 200,
203, 205—208, 210—214, 216—218, 220—223, 225—
229, 231—234, 237, 241, 244, 245, 254, 263, 264.

Gurgin-i-Mfldd (legendary hero), 28.

*Gur-i-Ddf (“The Tomb of the D4%”, i.e. Sayyid Mu-
hammad b. Zayd), 193.

Gurigir (x), 220.

*Giurishbard, 163.

“Gurivun” (Tabari equivalent of guribdn = Ar. jayb), 34.

*Gar-shir, 200.

*Gurshirad, 248. (This undoubtedly represents the same
name as Gurishbard above, and probably as Giirshir
and Qirshirad, but I cannot identify the place, and
have no means of deciding which form is correct).

Gir-tir (herb), 40.

Gushnasp b. Mds (1x?), 169, 172.

Gushnasp-shidh. See Fashnasf.

Gushydr (1x2—x!), 217.

Gushydr b. Lisan -Jili (astronomer), 87.

Gustahm, Malik-i-Mu‘adhdham Sharafu’d-Dawla —
(X1v), 265.

20
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-H4di (Caliph, vi1?) s3, 131, 132.

H4d{ b. Héni (governor of Tabaristdn, VIII®), 132.

Hdjib b. Zurdra -Tamimi (vI}, 130.

-Hajj4j b. Ydsuf (vI3), 13, 101, 104, 105.
Abuw’l-Hajjdj. See Marddwij b. Ziydr.

Hijji Khalifa, 3s5.

*Halawdn, 123.

*Hamaddn, 87, 225, 252, 254.

-Hamdsa (of Abi Tamam), 103.

Haml “A’isha (child of Ja‘far the Barmecide and ‘Abbdsa,

vir?), 134.

Hammadd (vin?), 128.

Hammil b. ‘Abdu’l-‘Aziz (viir?), 132.

Hammidl b. ‘Umar -Duhali (vii?), 126.

Hamila, Abd ‘Ali — (x?—x1'), 229, 230.

Abu Hamza (viI), 12.

Ibn Hanbal, Ahmad -— (vi?), 12s.

Abud Hanifa M. b. M. -Astardbdd{, 79.

Ibnu’l-Hanifiyya (vi1?), 8o.

Abt Harb b. Mintchihr (X11%), 247, 248, 249.
*Harsa-mal (3 parasangs from Amul), 128.
.Harthama b. A‘yan (1xX%), 142, 143.

Hdrdn b. “Ali Amuli, Abd $Sddiq — (X'), 74.

Hdrin b. Gharfb (cousin of the Caliph al-Mugtadir, x'), 215.

Hdrin Isfahdidst, Abu Mdsd — (x!), 206.

Harin b. Muhammad, Abv’l-Qdsim — (1x'), 153.

Héaranu’r-Rashid (viii’—ix!'), 17, 26, 43, 44, 45, 53, 132—
137, 142—144, 237.

Hirunw’l-Withiq (1x'), 155.

*Hardra, 102. )

Haridriyya sect (= Khawdrij, or Khdrijites), 102.

Hardsandan-i-Tida (x'), 202, 205, 207.

Hardya, Ramja — (vin?), r13—irs.

-Hasan b. ‘A. -“Askar{ (eleventh Imdm, 1x?), s0.
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H. b. ‘A. b. H. b. “A. b. “Amr b. ‘A. Zaynu’l-‘Abidin.
See Ndsir-i-Kabir.

-H. b. “A. b. Ab{ Télib (vi1), 27, 48, 70, 98, 1

-H. b. “A., Sayyld Abi M. — See Ndsir-i- Kabzr

-H., Amir — (servant of Najmu’d-Dawla, x11'), 244.

H. b. Bahrdm, Caravansaray of — (at Sari), 212.

H.-Basr{ (vi), 13.

H. b. Buwayh, Ruknu’d-Dawla — (X), 218, 220, 222, 223.
See Rukni’d-Dawla.

H. b. Firdzdn (X'), 196, 210, 214, 216, 219—222, 224, 225.

H. b. Hamza (X), 12 ad calc.

H. b. Hamza, Sayyid Abuw’l-Q. —, 55—357.

H. b. Hus. (brother of -Tdhir, 1X'), 154, 156, 157.

H. b. Ishdq. See Nidhdm’l-Mulk.

H. b. IsmaSil (officer of M. b. “Al. b. T4hir, 1x), 161.

H. b. Ja'far -“Aqlqf, Sayyid — (1x?), 174.

H.-Jarf, Shaykh — (spiritual director of Amir Masid,

X1vl), 264.

b. Mahd{ -Mamtir{, Sayyid — (x11), 55, 68.

. b. M.-Aqiqi (1x?), 174, 176, 177, 179, 181, 186. See

also Sdhibw’l-Faysh.

H. —, Sayyid Aba M. —, 49. See Ndsir-i-Kabir.

H. Qddi Kal (xu1?), 261.

H. b. Q. (x%), 200, 202—204, 206—209, 213. See ad-Dd‘i
ta’l-Haqq.

H. b. Rustam b. ‘A,, Ispahbad ‘Ald’v’d-Dawla — (x11%), 67.

H. b. Rustam, Sharafuw’l-Muldk — (x112), 249.

H. b. Sabbdh (the “Oid Man of the Mountain”, or founder
of the Assassins, XI2), 240.

"H. b. Yahyd -‘Alawi, called Kickatk, 19.

H. b. Zayd b. Isma‘l “Jdlibw’l-Hijdra” (1x?), 47, 161—
187, 189, 200, 205.

H. b. Zayd b. M. b. Zayd, Sayyid —, called ad-Dd% ila-
*l-Hagq (X'), 194

Borfes!
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Abwl-H. (brother of -Ndsir, X!), 223.

Abv’l-H. ‘Ali b. Mdsd, Imdm — (1X'), 70.

Abv’l-H. °A. (of Ray), 35 ad calc. '

Abuv’l-H. b. Hdrin -Faqih (his grandfather converted to Is-
ldm, vnr?), 26.

Abv’l-H. -Mdmtir{ (x'), 220.

Abuw’l-H. M. See Yazdddi.

Abv’l-H. Qébuis, See Qdbis 6. Washmgir.

Abw’l-H. b. Abi Yusuf (x!), 212,

Hdshim, House of —, 49, 178. See also ‘Ali 6. Abi Tdlib,

Sayyids etc.

Hédshim -‘Alawi, Sayyid — (X1I?), 249.

Héshim (gaoler of Ydsuf [b.] “‘Umar ath-Thaqafi, viir'), 6.
Abu Hashim D#’4d b. Qdsim -Jafar{, Sayyid — (1x), 161.
Abt Hashim Masrir. See Masrir.

Hassin Bah#’u’d-Dawla, Amir — (governor of Amul,

x1?), 243. '

Hitim -Asamm (Sdfi saint), 10.

Hawdkhin (? Mawdkhin), Amir ‘Al{ (x1v'), 265.

Hayatila (Huns), 94.

Haydar b. Kd’is (fellow-conspirator with Afshin and B4-

bak 1x'), 155.

Haydar b. Silér (Daylamite chief, x2), 230.

Hayyédn -Nabatf, Abi Ya“mar — (vir'), 10y.

Hazdrasp, Ustunddr — (X11?), 251—253.

*Hazdr-gari, Hazdr-jarib (Mel., p. 175, etc.), 23, 29, 178,

185, 238.

“Hazdr-mard” (title), 128 ad cal., 169.

*Hézima-Kdy (parish in Amul), 34.

*Herdt, 226, 227, 264.

*Hi{-H{-Kaydn, 128.

*-Hijdz, 58, g1, 124, 178, 223.

Ibn Hildl -Sdbf, Aba Ishaq Ibrdhim — (x2), go, 223.

*Hilla, 60, 79.
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*Hirhiz (river), 25, 194, 1. 5, 247, 257, 266. (In the last
three places the text has “Hurmuz”, but I have no
doubt that 7, is a mistake for PP This river runs
by the E. side of Amul. See Mel., 200, e#., and
s.v. “Heraz” in his Index).

Hishdm, Q4d{ — (author of macaronic verse), 81I.

Hittdn, ‘Imrdn b. — (Khdrijite poet, see Tabari, series I,
p. 3064), 103.

Hizibru’d-Din Khurshid (cousin of Shdh Ardashir, xi1%,
252, 253.

Hudhayfa of Yaman (vi1), g8.

Ibn Hujr, 78, 1. 4.

Hildgd (x1'), 258, 259, 263.

*Hulwan, 38.

Huns (Hayitila), 94.

*Har (3), 29.

Hurmazd (? 1v, Son of Anushirwdn, Sdsdnian king, v1%),
36, 95.

*Hurmazd-dbad, 127, 149, 152.

Hurmazd-Kdma-i-Yazddnkard (1x2?), 174, 198, 201I.

*Hurmazd-Kih, 224.

Hurmuz-i-Khurshid, 116, 118.

*Hurmuz (river), 194, L. 5, 247, 257, 266. See Hirkiz, for
which in all these passages I now believe Hurmuz to
be a scribe’s error.

Husdmu’d-Dawla. See Ardashir b. Hasan.
Husimu’d-Dawla Ardashir b. Kinkhwir (or Kikhwaz) b.
Rustam b. Dara b. Shahriydr (x111'), 256, z57.
Husdmu’d-Dawla Shahriydr b. Qdrin (X1), 239—245. See

also Skahripdr b. Qdrin.

Husdmw’d-Din. See Nusratw’d-Din Rustam b. ‘Ald*w d-Dawla
“Ali b. Shahriyir b. Qdrin (X11), 62.

*Hisam (‘.M)Q), 14, 244. -

Husayn b. Ahmad, Sayyid — (IX), 164.
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Husayn b. “A. b. Ab{ Télib (the Third Imdm, vii), 48,
70, 108, 111, 158,

Hus. b. ‘Ali -Fdgik (x), 212.

Hus. b. °Ali, Sayyid — “Sdhibu’l-Fakhkh” (vii?), 124.
Hus. b. “Ali of Sarakhs (1x), 167.

Hus. b. Dindr (x!), 206.

Hus. b. Hamza -Laythi, 12 and ad calc.

Hus. b. Hdrun, Sayyid —, s50.

Hus. Kart, Malik Mu‘inu’d-Din — (X1v'), 263.

Hus. b. M. -Hanafi (1x?), 163.

Hus. b. M. “Kala” (x'), 210.

Hus. b. M. -‘Alaw{ -Mdmtirf, Abu Ridd — (x1r1'), 257.

Husayn b. Mundhir -Raqqashf{, 32.

Hus. “the Poet”, 58.

Hus. Shirzil (xir'), 245.

Hus. b. Zayd, 167.
Abv’l-Hus. -Mv’ayyad Billih “Adudu’d-Dawla, Sayyid —

(x*—xr'), 50—54.

Abu’l-Hus. A. b. M. b. Ibr. called “al-Q#’im” (1x?), 187—189.
Abu’l-Hus. b. M. b. Zayd, Sayyid — (1x?), 193.
Abv’l-Hus. A. b. Abf M. H. b. “Ali, Sayyid — (x!), 200—209.
Abu’l-Hus. ‘A. b. “Al. b. “Abbds (viIr?), 112.
Abu’l-Hus. b. Kdkf (brother of Mdkdn, x'), 210.
Abuv’l-Hus. -Shajari (x!), 215.

Hushang (brother of Kayus, vi'), g2.

Ibrdhim b. Abla (1X), 149.
Ibr. b. Gushyidr (x!), 217.

Ibr. b. Hildl -$abf, Abu Ishag — (x?), 9o, 223.
Ibr. b. Ishdq -Fagih (x!), 195,

Ibr. b. Ishdq -Shdmi (vin?), rz22.

Ibr. b. Khalil (1x?), 164, 165, 170, 195.

Ibr. b. Mihrdn (Xx!), 19s.

Ibr. b. Mu‘ddh (1x?), 174.
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Ibrdhim b. M. Ndsihi (teacher of M. b. H. b. Isfandiyar,
author of this book, xI1?), 76.

Ibr. Mufini (Tabari poet), 86.

Ibr. -Muntasir -Sdmdni (x?), 227.

Ibr. -Mu‘tasim. See -Mu‘tasim.

Ibr. b. “‘Uthmdn b. Nahik (vir?), 26.

-1dah <Adudi (of “Abdv’l -Qddir -Jurjdni, ¢.2.), 78, 9o.

=“Ijli, “Abdu’l-‘Aziz — (1X'), 47, 48. See also Abw’l-Abbds
Abmad, and Bakr b. “Abdi’l-*Aztz.

Tlak Khdn (x*—x1'), 227.

TI-Arsldin Khwidrazmshdh (x11), 67.

Tlduguz, Atibek — (x11), 67, 72, 252.

T-Tughdi (x'), 214.

Ilyds b. Ilisa® -Sughdi (x'), 201.

‘Imdd Kujaj (X11>—X111'), 79. See also Fagihu Ali Mu-
hammad.

‘Imdd{ (the poet, x11'), 50.

‘Imddu’d-Dawla ‘Ali b. Buwayh (x'), 208, z10.

Imdmi{ sect, 49, 54, 58, 68, 202.

Imdmt-i-shahid (“the martyred Imdm”), 75. See also °4é-
dil-Wahid 6. Ismatil.

Imdms, Tombs of — destroyed by -Mutawakkil (1x?), 48.

‘Imrdn -Hittdn (Khdrijite, vi1), 103, 104.

‘Indnj, Amir — (x11%), 250.

*India, 33, 35, 40, 68, 93, 156, 246.

Indian servants, 156.

*Injir, 198.

Traj (son of the legendary Feridin), 17, 18, 19.

‘Irdq, 3, 14, 16, 33, 49, 59, 61, 62, 63, 66, 67, 68, 91,
96, 104, 107, 127, 131, 141, 147, 154, 161, 174, 178,
179, 196, 198, 213, 217, 218, 219, 220, 222, 223, 226,
236, 244, 245, 249

“Isi b. ‘Abdv’l-Hamid, 170.

°Isd b. Mdhdn (vii®), 13i1.



312 *Isfahdn—Tzzu’d-Din.

*Isfahdn, 16, 69, 217, 218, 241, 243.

Isfih-dist, Abt Musd Hdrin — (X'), 206.

Isfahi b. Akharyar (x), 221.

Isfdhi b. Urmazdydr (x'), 217, 218, 220, 221I.

Isfanddri, J{l-i-—, 228.

*Isfandiyar, 123.

Ibn Isfandiyir (Muhammad b. -Hasan, author of this work,
xir'), 3—4, 258.

*Isfard’in, 57, 76, 183, 207. )

Ishdq (of Gurgdn, 1x?), 183, 184.

Ishdq b. Shaykhi (1x?), 167.

Abu Ishdq Ibréahim b. Hildl -Sdb{ (author of al-Kitdbu °t- Tdji,
x%), 9o, 92, 223.

Abd Ishdq Ibrdhim b. Marzubdn, 73.

Abt Ishdq -Isfard’ini (philosopher, X2), 76.

*Ishiq-4bdd, 219.

-Iskéfi (scribe, X'), 219 ad calc.

Iskandar, Malik Jaldluw’d-Dawla — Ustunddr (X1v'); 265—269.

Isma®l b. “‘Abb4d, the Sidhib — (X), 19, 76, 78, go—g2.

IsmaSl b. Ahmad -Sdménf (1X*—X'), 193—197. '

Isma‘l b. Marddchin (x2?), 220.

Isma’fl b. Nuh -Sdméni (1x*—Xx!'), 190. (I think, however,
that the passage should read “Nasr and Isma‘il, the
sons of Akmad”, whose brother Nih was their uncle.)

Isma®il'b. Sayyid Abw’l-Qdsim (x!), 210, 216.

Isma‘l b. Zayd, Abi ‘Alf — (X), 194.

Isma‘ili sect. See Assassins.

*Ispahbadédn, 116.

*Ispid Dadristdn, 67.

*Ispid-juy, 172.

Israel, Children of —, 13. See Fews.

*Istakhr, 18, g6. 237.

*Iwdjan (in Kald Rustdq), 261.

‘Izzv’d-Din, Atdbek — (x11?), 252.
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‘Izzv’d-Din Yahyd (x11?), 68, 69.

*Jdbardn, 123.
Jabir b. ‘Abdw’llah -Ansdr{ (vi1Y), 7.
-Jadi, Abv’l-Qdsim — (x1'), 234.
Ja‘far b. Alanbdn (x!), 221.
Ja‘far b. Hérdn (1X"), 141.
Jafar b. Hasan b. °Alf -Ndsir, Abuw’l-Qdsim — (x1), 49,
201, 204—206, 218.
Ja‘far b. Muhammad (1x?), 176.
Ja‘far -Mutawakkil. See -Mutawakkil.
Ja®far b. Rustam (governor of Kaldr, 1x?), 165, 171.
Jaffar b. Shahriydr b. Qdrin (1X%), 163, 169, 237.
Ja“far b. Yahyd -Barmaki (1X'), 133—140.
Abu Ja'far -Bdwandi (killed by Assassins, XII'}, 245.
Abu Ja‘far -Haniti, 8o.
Abu Jafar Kirank{j (x!),-211.
Abu Jafar (brother of Mdkadn, x'), 222.
Abu Jafar Mdnkdim, Sayyid — (x!), 212—216.
Abu Ja‘far -Mansdr. See -Mansir.
Abi Ja‘far M. b. ‘A. of Amul (x!), 212, 218.
Abu Jafar M. -Bdqir, Imdm — (ViiI), 12. See also Mukam-
mad -Bdgir.
Jaghri Beg Dd’id, Abu Sulaymdn — -Seljiqi (x1'), 2335.
Jahdam b. Khabdb (governor of Tabaristin 1x!'), 140.
-Jdhidh (1x), 6 ad calc., 110.
*Jahfna (Castle of —, more correctly Fuhina or Fihina,
g.v.), 66, 220, 247, 248.
Abu’l-Jahm -Kalbi (viii), 106.
*Jahrum, 33, 1. 23.
J&1 (or Jali)-i-Lashkar-sitdn (1x2), 168, 174.
*Jdjarm, 14, 60, 66, 193, 207, 210.
Jakdw (the sipaksdlir, X'), 208.
J4l, Kiyd Jamdlw’d-Din Ahmad — (x1v'), 265, 266.
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Jaldl, Kiya — (nephew of above), 265.

*Jaldl, Kiyds of —, 260.

Jaldlu’d-Dawla Iskandar (Ustunddr, x1v!), 265—267, 269.

Jaldlw’d-Din Hasan b. “‘Al4°v’d-Din Muhammad Khwdrazm-
shah (xm1'), 256—a258.

*Jaldyin, 208.

Jalibw’l-Hijara (1X?), 47, 162. See Hasan b. Zayd b. Isma©il,
Sayyid —.

*Jdlus (Mel., 47, where it is called Skdlis or Chd?zﬁs), 28,
29, 40, 132, 149, 151, 157, 163, 165, 168, 169, 172,
179, 181, 188, 190—192, 200, 218, 221—223, 232.

Jalwdndn (foster-brother of the Ispahbad Khurshid), 114.

Jalwandn (son of Wand4-ummid, 1x2), 171.

Jalwanin (of Tarfcha, circéd A.D. goo), 195.

*Jdm, 264.

Jamal Bdzargha, 77 (last two lines).

*Jdmanuy, 41, 123, 165, 167, 160—172.

Jamasp-i-Piriz (Sdsdnian, v3*—v1'), g4—97.

Jamshid, 15.

Jamshid, Ispahbad —, 29.

*Jandshk, castle of —, 232.

Jarshdh. See Garshdih.

*Jdshk, 33.

Jasnasf-shdh (King of Tabaristdn, 111'), 1, 4, 6, 7, 92.

Jastdn, 123, 195. See Fustdn.

Jataz (Turkish tribe), 264.

Jathim. See Faysham.

Jawali, Amir — (XI1'), 245, 246.

*Jawn, 194, L .

*Jayhuin, river. See Oxus.

Abi Jaysh—Hildli (vin?), 129.

-Jaysham, Hakim -—, 53.

-Jaytham. See above, -Yayskam.

Jews, 37, 75, 158.
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Jibril, Jibrd’(l. See Gabriel.

*J{ldb, 15. See Chaldb, for which it appears to be a
scribe’s error.

*J{ldn, 58. See Gildn.

*Jildnabdd, 123.

Jllanshdh, See Gildnshdh.

Fildwi-Absdr, 53, and note ad calc.

Jil-i-Isfanddri, 228.

Jili b. Sa‘d -Marwazi (vili®), 12z.

Joseph, g7.

-Joshemi, 53.

-Jufi, M. b. Abf Surra (viit'), 106.

*Jihina, 186, 190, 248. See Fakina, above.

*Julka-Kuy, 77, . 2 a. f.

*Jimand, Castle of —, 230, 23I.

Jumhur b. Mardr (vinr?), 117, 118.

*Japarm, 123.

*Jurishjird (Sa‘{d-dbdd), 123.

*Jurjdn, 25, 57. See Gurgdn.

*Jurjunbdni, or Jurkhiyani, r17.

Ibn. Jurmiz, ‘Umar — (1x?), 48.

Jusnas b. Siriya b.. Farrukhdn (vii?), 115. See also Gusk-
nasp, Fasnasf.

Justdn-i-Wahsiddn (1x?), 178, 179, 190, 191, 196, 203.

Justi, 14.

Juthaym. See Fayskam.

*Juwayn, 75.

Kd, Amfr — (x?—xI1), 36, 95, 210, 211, 273.
Ka‘b b. Zuhayr (vi), 110.

Kabid-jama, 9s.

*Kdbul, 40.

*({ Kachin, Castle of —, 222.

* | Kajin, Castle of —, 204.



316 *Kaju—Kadshdn.

*Kajd, 100, 132, 181, 190, 198, 248, 251.

*Kajir (Mel., 47), 163, 248.

*Kajiya, 28.

*Kajwihi (Qasabatu’r-Riydn), 123.

Kiki, the father of Mdkdn. See Mdkdn.

“Kala”, Husayn b. Muhammad (x!), 219.

Kaliband (head-dress worn by Tabaris), 268.

Kalalak (long locks of hair worn by Tabaris), 268.

Kilanjir, Abuw’l-‘Abbds b. — (x!), 216.

Abi Kilanjir b. Mindchihr b. Q4bus (x1'), 23s.

*Kaldr (Mel, 56, 213), 28, 39, 123, 132, 157, 163—165,
168, 171, 181, 182, 195, 200, 248, 251.

*Kala-Rustiq (Mel., 213, “Keldrestak”), 262.

*Kaldta (near Bistdm; Mel, “Kelite” and “Kelat{”, 8o,
138, 139, 148), 208.

*Kdlbadraja, 149.

Kalij (a herb used medicinally), 20.

*Kilijar, 266.

Kalila and Dimna, Book of —, 86.

-Kalimatw’r-Rihdniyya fi hikamd’l-YVinaniyya (by Abu’l-
Faraj ‘Ali b. -Husayn b. Hindu), 77.

Kamdlw’l-Baldgha (by Abu’l-H. “A. b. M. -Yazdadi), g2.

Kdmil (of -Mubarrad), 103.

Kdmili's-Sand‘at (by Abu “A. Firis; ¢f. my translation
of the Chakdr Magdla, p. 124), go.

*Kamimndm, 128.

*Kandasdn, 100, 182.

*Kandi-Ab, 149.

*Kanz-girdib (near Jamanu), 41.

*Karkam, 247.

Karshasf (legendary hero of Persia), 16.

Kart (Dynasty), 264. l

*Kaskarid, 123.

*Kdshdn, 33, 68.



*Kat Buqd—Ibn Khdqan. 317

Kat I.Btiqé, Amir (x1r'), 258.
K#’4s, Malik — b. Fakhru’d-Din (x1v'), 269.
Kdwa (the blacksmith), 19, 94.
Kawddh (Sdsdnian king, v2—v1'), 7. See also Qubdd-i- Piriz.
Kdwdn, Shaykh “Alf — (x1v!), 264.
*Kawfij, 20s.
Kawkaban (1x*—x!), 181, 196.
Kawwd, ‘Abduv’lldh b. — (Khdrijite leader, vii?), 1o1.
Kayan Bgj (x!), 211.
Kay-K#is b. Iskandar b. Qdbds (x12), 236.
Kay-K#’is (Ustunddr, Xx11'), 54, 60, 246—248, 250.
Kay-Khusraw (legendary king of Persia), 17.
Kay-Khusraw b. Tdju’d-Dawla Yazdigird (X1v'), 262, 268.
Kay-Khusraw, Ustunddr Shah — (x1v!), 262, 263.
Kayuds (vi—v1'), 7, 92, 93, 95, 98.
*Kdzar, Plain of —, 196.
*Kerbeld, 70, 158.
Khadfja (mother of Abd Ja‘far Mdnk-dim, x!), 216.
Khalaf b. “Abdw’lldh (vii3), 122.
Khadlid b. Barmak (VII?), 124, 126, 128, 130.
Abid Khdlid (vir?), 103.
*Khdlida-Sardy, 124.
Khalifa, Abu ‘Ali — (x!), 217.
Khalifa b. Bahrim (vin?), 123, 129?
Khalifa b. Hilya (vii?), 123.
Khalifa b. Mihrdn (x!), 129, 195.
Khalifa b. Nuh, Abv’l-Wafd — (x), 200.
Khalifa b. Sa‘d (?Sa‘{d) b. Harun -Jawhar{ (viii*—Iix!), i40.
Khalil b. Ahmad. See Furkiidi.
Khalil b. Kdji (x'), 209.
Khalfl b. Wanddsafin (1x'), 150, 151.
Ibn Khallikdn (x111), 5, 6, 51, 106,
Khiqédn, the — of the Turks, 93, 94, 138.
Ibn Khdgdn, “Abdu’lldh b Yahyd — (1x), 158.



318 Khargdsh—Khurzdd.

Khargdsh, Sdldr — (x3?), 228, 234.

Kharijites, 101—104.

*Kharagdn, 69.

*Kharmazar (near Amul), 222,

Khatfb, Sayyid Imdm —, 58.

*Khatira of Babil, 156.
Ibnv’l-Khayr, the Ndsibf (1x), 52.

Khazars, 97, 199.

Khiddsh b. Mughfra b. -Muhallab b. Ab{ Sufra (vir'), 106.
Khiydn (or? Khaydn: 1Xx?), 164, 170, 171, 195. See Mu-

hammad b. Rustam b. Wandd-ummid.

Khud4-banda, Sultdn Muhammad — (x1v), 262, 263.

“Khuddwand-i-Kaldlak” (= Wandd-ummid 6. Wanddd Hur-

mazd, ¢.v.: VI, 127.
Abuv’l-Khudayb Marziq -Sadf (VIII%), 120, 12
Khujand (x11%), 68.
-Khujistdnf, A. b. ‘Al. — (1x?), 185, 186.
*Khurdsdn, 7, 33, 35, 46, 62, 65, 66, 93, 9
107, 112, 118, 121, 122, 123, 138,
154, 157, 167, 168, 177, 180, 181,
190, 194, 201, 205, 207, 208, 210,
218, 224, 227, 232, 234, 238, 239,
262, 264, 268.
Ibn Khburdddhbih, 32 ad calc., 272.
*Khurramdbdd, 123.
Khirshdh, Ruknuw’d-Din — (x1v), 250.
Khurshid b. Ddzamihr (VIII®), 46.
Khurshid Gdvbén, 17, 101.

2.

4, 96, 99,
139, 143,
183, 184,
213, 214,
240, 254,

105,
152,
188,
216,
258,

Khursh{d-i-Gushnasp-i-Nidrand (1x?), 164, 168, 170, 171, 172.

Khurshid, Hizibru’d-Din — {(x1), 252, 233.

Khurshid, Ispahbad — (vii?), r13—r117, 121, 122.
Khurshid b. Abv’l-Qdsim -Médmtir{ (1x), 60.
Khurzdd, ‘Abdu’r-Rahmén — (? Ibn Khurdddhbih, ¢. v.), 32.

*Khurzid, 237.



Khushk—Kitab. 310

Khushk Khayin, 195.

*Khushrid, 194.

Khushnawdz (v), 94.

*Khusraw-4bdd (near Amul), 19.

Khusraw-Firiz-i-Justdn (x'), 202—203, 206.

Khusraw-i-Firiz (king of Balkh), 2s.

Khusraw-isfahi (1x'), 237.

Khusraw Parwiz (Sdsanian king, viI'), 35, 36, 60, 95, 236.

Khusraw Shidh (Magian astrologer of Shdh Ghdzi Rustam,
XII), go.

Abid Khuzayma (VIII®), 122, 123.

*Khwijak, 168, 170, 188, 25I.

*Khwidr, 189, 244.

*Khwdrazm, 4, 13, 67, 93, 96, 109, 190, 193, 235,
254, 255.

-Khwdrazmi{, Abd Bakr — (X), go.

Khwidrazmshdhs, 59, 62, 67, 204, 255, 256, 257, 253.

Kikhwdz (or Kinkhwar, x1r'), 258.

*Kilankur, 37.

*Kfildrjin, 193.

*Kilis, Darband-i—, 59.

*Kimndn, 169.

Kindr b. Firdzdn (x?), 229.

“King of the Mountains”, Sharwin b. Surkhdb first so en-
titled (1x2?), 237.

Kinkhwdr (or Kikhwdz, x1r'), 258.

Kinkhwdr b. Shahriydr b. Kinkhwdr (x11'), 256.

*Kirmdn, 217, 218, 235.

Kirmdn -Bukhdri (vin?), izz.

*Kisa, 113.

Kisrd, 7, 20, 130, 155, 258. See Aniushirwdn, Nishirwdn,
Khusraw, Sdsdnians.

Kitéb -Aghrdd (by Sayyid Abu’l-Fadl Isma‘il -Musaw{
-Jurjdnf{), 86.
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Kitib—Kit4b.

Amthdl -Muwallada (by Abu’l-Faraj °A. b. Hus. b.
Hindu), 77.

. -Ansdb, 204.

-Bayin wa -Tabyin (by -Jahidh), 6, 110.

. Bulgha (by Sayyid Abu’l-Hus. -Mv’ayyad Bi’lldh “Adu-

duv’d-Dawla), so.

Bulgha (by Abuw’l-Faraj ‘A. b. -Hus. b. Hindd), 77.
-Dimd‘a (by Sayyid Abu Tilib Yahya), 535.

-Faraj ba‘d -Shidda (by Abu’l-Q. A, b. M. -Tanikh), 52.

. Humayra (by Ibn Durayd), rio.
. -Iddh-“Adudi (by Abu °Ali Firis), go.

-1d44-*Adudi, Comm. on — (by Abdw’l-Q4dir -Jurj4ni), 78.
[This name, as Mr. Ellis has pointed out to me,
should be “Abédi’{-Qdhir, the author of the well-known
Mrat “dmil, who died in A.D. 1078. See Brockel-
mann’s Gesck. d. arab. Litt., Vol. 1, pp. 287—288].
-Ifdda (by Sayyid Abu’l-Hus. -Mv’ayyad Bi’lldh), so.
-Fumal (by ‘Abdu’l-Qdhir -Jurjdni), 78. See above.
“Khudhi'n-nal” (by M. b. Jarir b. Rustam -Sarawi), 79.

. -Masdka (by Abu’l-Faraj ‘A. b. -Hus. b. Hindd), 77.
. -Masdlik (by ‘Abdu’r-Rahman Khirzadd), 32, and #id.,

ad calc.
Miftah -Tibb (by Abv’l-Faraj ‘A. b. Hus. b. Hindu), 77.
-Mudhakkar wa -Muannath (by the above Abu’l-
Faraj), 77.

. ~Mujzt (by Sayyid Abd Tdlib Yahyd), s55.
. -Mustarshid (by M. b. Jarir b. Rustam -Sarawi), 79.

-Nawddir (by -Asmaff), 136, 159.

-Nuzha (by the above Abu’l-Faraj), 77.

-Tabsira (by Sayyid Abu’l-Hus. -Mu’ayyad Bi’llih), so.
-Takrir (by Sayyid Abu T4lib Yahyd), ss.

-T4j (by Abt Ishdq Ibr. b. Hildl -$4bi), go, 223.

. ~Tajrid (by the above Sayyid Abv’l-Hus.), so0.
. -Tanbih wa -Ishrdf (by -Mas‘di), 26.



Kitdb—Kurdzad. 321

K. -Tibb Al (by Sayyid Av’l-Fadl Ism4‘l), 86.

K. -Wasdta bayn -Zind wa -Liwdta (by the above Abu’l-
Faraj), 77.

K. Yddgdr (by Sayyid Abw’l-Fadl Isma‘il), 86.

“Kiya” (= “House”), 35. .

Kiyd Afrdsiydb (x1v'), 268, 269.

Kiyd Buzurg -D49 ila’l-Haqq -Ridd b. Had{ (x11'), 246, 252.

Kiy4 Jaldl, nephew of Jamdlu’d-Din Ahmad Jdl (x1v"), 265, 268.

Kiyd Jamdlu’d-Din Ahmad J4l (x1v'), 265.

Kiya M. b. H. (Grand Master of Alamit, XIII), 259. -

*Kiya Salydn, 3s.

Kiyd Td4ju’d-Din (nephew of Jamdlu’d-Din Ahmad Jél;
XIv'), 265.

Kiyds of Chaldp, 268, 269.

Kiyds of Jaldl, 269.

*Kicha-i-Gézardn (“Street of the Washerman” or “Bleach-
ers” in Amul), 25.

*Kufa, 79, 100, 161.

*Kih-i-Qdrin, 16, g95.

*Kuah-pdya, 182, 191.

*Kuhrid, Castle of —, 221, 247, 256. See also Quirid.

Kujaj, Imim ‘Imdd —, called Faqz’h-i—ALi-Mulzammad
(xm*—x1r'), 79.

Kikbdn-i-Bakhmi (1x?), 169.

*Kul4, g9, 121, 123, 128, 200, 237.

Kild Khurzdd Khusraw Ispdhf (VII), 99.

*Kulahwar (River), 191.

Kald%j, gs.

Kurankij, or Kurankiz, Abi Jafar b. — b. Rizbihdn, 170,
211, 230.

*Kurd-4db4dd, 182.

Kurds, 226, 228.

Kurdf-zdd, brother of Pddhuisbdn (1x?), 171.

Kurdz4d, father of Pddhusbidn, 164.

21



322 Kisin—Luman.

*Kisan, 61, 98, 122.

*Kshk-i-Jdwali, Palace of —, 245.

Kustaj (old Persian script), 26.

*Kiz, Castle of —, gg.

*Kuzd, Castle of —, 142, 244, 246, 252, 256.

*Lafir (or Lapur, S. of Barfurish, on the river Bibul;
Mel. 47, 151, 195), 15, 17, 27, 29, 95, 123, 142, 153,
164, 167, 241, 244, 252.

“Lafiraj” (a kind of gold-embroidered garment), 118.

*L4k-Abanddn, 245.

*Lamrask, 28(?), 30, 207, 211.

Lane-Poole, S. —, 58, 2355.

Langarcha-Pir (X'), 217.

*Lankd, s4.

*Lankdur-khdn, 173.

*Lipich (River), 169.

*Lir, 14, 68, 264.

*Lérijdn, .15, 19, 29, 67, 74, 95, 121, 167, 183, 184, 190,
196, 203, 217, 222, 241, 244, 249, 250, 255.

Lashkarf (x!), 217.

Lashkarsitdn (1X'), 164, 168, 174, 177, 207.

*Latrd, 162.

*Ldwich (Mel. 208, 210, 211), 266.

*Lawrd, 82, 1. 87

Layld b. Nu‘mdn (x!), 203, 203, 207.

Layth-i-Fana (1x?), 170, 171, 176, 177, 181, 183, 184.

Laythdm b. Warddn of Daylam, 188, 189, 203.

*Laythim, Bridge of —, 192.

*Licham, 168.

*Likan{ (Plain of —, near Amul), 194.

*Likash, 35, 61.

*Lit-Kdah, 262.

*Liman Dun, 17.



Lunbur—Malik. 323

“Lunbur” (Tabar{ word for “skirt”), 34.
Lurs (tribesmen), 226.

Abu’l-Madlf of Juwayn, 75.
*Machiri (or Bfjir{), 28.
“Macaronic verse”, 81 ef seqq.
*-Mad#’in, 70, 93—96.
Ma‘dan -Ayddi (Khdrijite leader, VII), 10I.
*-Madfna, 11, 12, 71, 96, 111, 124, 144.
*Madu, 29.
Magians, 5, 150, 152, 153, 157, 158. See also Gabdrs, Zo-
voastrianism.
Maihabdd{, Afdalv’d-Din — (x11%), 69.
Mahardja (x11%), 68.
*Mahastiya (or Quhsibah), 28.
-Mahdi (Caliph, vim?), r18—i1z2o, 124—126, 129, 131.
Mahdi of Lafar, Amir — (X1%), 241, 244.
Mahd{ b. Mukhayyas (1x?), 188, 192.
Ibn -Mahdi -Mdmt{r{ (ix), so, 76.
Mdhiya-sar (legendary king), 37—39.
*M4dhiya-sari Dizh, 38.
Mahmid b. Subuktigin (see p. 279: X*—xi1'), 227, 231,
232, 233, 234, 235, 238.
Mahmud (Seljiq, x11'), 59, 61, 62.
M4h@’i-i-Séri (murderer of Yazdigird III; vir'), 8.
Majdni’l-Adab, 7 ad calc.
Majdu’d-Dawla Abi Talib Rustam b. Fakhru’d-Dawla (x?),
227—230. '
Majdu’d-Din Ddr4, Ispahbad — (x11%), 249.
Abuv’l-Majd b. Mudhaffar b. Ibrdhim, 79.
Mdkdn b. Kdki (x'), 41, 196, 208—219, 222, 225, 238.
Maldhida. See Assassins.
Malihim (apocalyptic writings), 180..
*Maldt (between Dindr-jirf and Husam), 14, 28.
Midlik b. Ashtar -Nakha® (vir'), 27, 98.



324 Milika-Dasht—Abud Mansur.

*Milika-Dasht (near Amul), 98, 200.

Midlik Dindr (Sdff saint), 10.

Malik Mu‘adhdham Sharafu’d-Dawla Gustahm (x1v), 266.

Malikshdh (Seljdq, XxI1?), 240, 256.

“Maliku’l-Jibal” (“King of the Mountains”), Title of —, 237.

*Mdmtir (= the modern Bdrfurish: see Mel. 30, 47, 57,
etc.), 27—28 (etymology), 29, 56, 76, 123, 165, 167,
171, 172, 196, 210, 22I.

*Mdimwand, 29.

-Ma’mun (Caliph, 1x"), 36, 43, 53, 74, 87, 132, 136, 142—
145, 147—152.

*Mdnahar (in Riydn), 19.

*Mandir (near Natil), 40.

Mangd Q#’4n (Xmi?), 258, 259.

Manhdj’l-Magdl (by -Astardbddi), 11, 12 ad cale., 271, 273.

Midniwand, Zar-miwand —, son of the Ustunddr Hazair-
asp, 251 (X11%).

Mink-dfm, Sayyid Abd Ja®far — (x!), 212, 215. See also
Abie Fafcar, Sayyid —.

Mankli-Tukuz (Atdbek; x11?), 253—254.

*Mankail, 255s.

-Mangir (Caliph, VII%), 1o, §3, 111, 112, 117—I1Q, 124.

*Mansir-kih, Castle of —, 243.

Mangir [b.] -Mahdi (vi112), 1og.

Mangir I b. Nuh -Sdmani (x?), 224.

Mangir b. Qdbus (= Mindchihr b. Qdbus, ¢.v.), 229, n.
2 ad cale.

Mansir Qardtakin (governor of Merv for Sdmdnids; x!),
223. See Qardtakin.

Mansir of Taricha (x'), 195.

Mangir b. Yahyd (minister of Sulaymdn b. ‘Abdu’lldh,
1x%), 157.

Abu Mansir Mahdf b. Mukhayyas (1x?), 188, 192.
Abl Mansir. See -Tha"dlibi.



Man‘dr-kih—Masidi. 325

*Man‘ir-kah, 64.

*Magsiira, 59.

*Marigha, 252.

*Mardn-Dih (near Amul), 260.

*Maraz, 200.

“Mardan-kuldh” (= M. b. Tamim, 1x?), 182.

Marddwij b. Ziydr, Abuv’l-Hajjdj — (x!), 214, 216, 217.

Mardaw{j, Taj@’l-Mulik — (x11'), 246.

Midrigiyya (a name of the Khdrijite sect), 102.

Mars, Planet — propitious to Turks, 226.

Marwdn, House of —, 254, 1. 3. See Umayyads.

Marwadn II, called “the Ass” (viir'), 110, III.

Marwan b. Abi Hafsa (1x%), 159, L. 5.

Marzubdn, Farshwdd — Khurshid (vIiIi?), 113, 149.

Marzubdn, House of —, 9s5.

Marzubdn b. Rustam b. Sharwin Parim (author of Mar-
subdn-ndme), 86.

*Mashhad, s55.

*Mashhad ‘Ali (Tomb of °Alf at Kdfa), 158.

*Mashhad-i-Sar, 58.

Masth (Christ), 83, 1. 6, g1, 1. 16.

*Masjid-i-Sdldr (Amul), 76, 77.

*Masla Zarrin Kiil, 123.

Mas-mughdn Waldsh (vir?), o1, 126.

Mas-mughdn-i-Wanda-ummid (1x3), 164, 165, 168, 170—
174, 176, 178, 184.

Masqala b. Hubayra -Shaybani (vir?), 100, 107.

Masrir (executioner of Hdrin -Rashid, vii?), 13s.

Mastamard, Diwarwaz — (x3), 87—8q.

Mas‘id, Amir — Sarbaddl (x1v!), 264—267.

Mas“id b. Mahmdd b. Subuktigin (X1'), 23s.

MasGd b. Muhammad (Seljiq; XI11!), 59, 66, 246.

-Mas“qdi (the historian, X!}, 26 ad calc.

-Masidi (postal officer in reign of Hdrtn -Rashid; vii?), 138.



326 Midita—Mirdds.

*Midta (in Amul), 25s.

Mawdkhin (or Hawdkhin, ¢. 2.), Amir ‘Ali — (X1v'), 265.

*M4 ward’uw’n-Nahr (Transoxiana), 103.

*Mdwjakih, 15.

“Mawld Amir’l-M&minin” (title of — offered to Qdrin b.
Wanddd Hurmazd, ¢.v.; 1X!), 146.

*Maydndardd (Mel., 238), 101, 116, 126.

*Maydin-i-Ridbdr (Amul), 262.

*Maydd4n-i-Tdpdn, 61.

*Mdzandardn, 1, 4, 14, 65, 70, 104, 238, 241, 248, 249,
253, 256, 259, 261—263, 265, 266, 268, 269.

Mazdak (v1'), 93.

Mdzyar-i-Justdn (X'), 221.

M4zydr-i-Qdrin  (IX'), 17, 26, 28, 29, 42, 43, 80, 132,
146—157.

M4zydr-i-Qdrin-i-Shahriydr (1x?), 173, 174, 178, 237.

*Mecca, 34, 41, 58, 70, 71, 73, 74, 111.

Melgunof, 33, 43, 46.

*Merv, 20, 66, 81, 110, 157, 223, 235.

Mihr-Firiz, 22—24.

Mihrajdn, Festival of —, 176.

*Mihrawan, 28, 56, 61, 122, 167, 172, 174, IQI.

*Mihrin, Castle of —, 64.

Mihr-marddan b. Suhrdb (1x?), 237.

Mihraya, (VII2), 124, 140—I14I.

Mikhrdq, Silih [b.] — (Khdrijite leader, vi1?), 101.

Mildd (legendary hero), 28.

Mintchihr (legendary king of Persia), 14, 17, 18—20, 34, 60.

Mindchihr (vassal of the Ispahbad Shah Ghdzi Rustam;
XI1Y), 247.

Mintchihr b. Qdbis b. Washmgir, Falakv’l-Ma‘ali — (x1'),
227, 230—235.

Abti Mirdh (= Muhammad b. Khdlid; 1x?), 171.
Mirdds (Khdrijite, viI?), 1o4.



Mirwand-abid—Muhammad. 327

*Mirwand-dbdd, 244.

*Mishkawd, 209. -

Miskin b. Ghazdl -Shdmi (vi?), 123.

Mongols, 257, 258, 261—263, 268.

Mu‘dwiya (Umayyad Caliph, VIi?), 48, 100, 110.
-Mu’ayyad bi’lldh b. -Mutawakkil (1x?), 8o.
-Mv’ayydd bi’lldh, Sayyid Abw’l-Husayn — (x?), 50, 54.
Mu’ayyid-Ayi Aba (x1%), 61.

Mv’ayyidi, Skdkndma of —, 18.
Mv’ayyidw’d-Dawla (Buwayhid, x?), 225, 226.
Mubarak (Arabicjzed form of Anbdrak, vii?), 26.
-Mubarrad, -Kdmil of —, 103.

Mudhaffar b. Ibrdhim, Abu Sa‘d — (x?), 78.
Mudhaffar b. Isma‘l, Abu’l-Faraj — (x3), 79.

[As these two are described as brothers, it is evi-
dent that we must either read Ibrdhim or Ismafil in
both cases].

Mudhaffar, Ra’is — (1x?), 240.
Abu’l-Mudhaffar (x'), 217.
Mudhaffari, Aba ‘Ali b. Ahmad b. Muhammad — (x'), 218.
Mudhaffar{ -Khurdsinf (poet; X11), 65.
-Muffd, Imdm — Abd Tilib (1x?), 47.
Muflih (1x3?), 179—180.
Muhallab b. Abi Sufra (vIII'), 1o4.
-Muhdzim.
Muhammad (the Prophet), 7, 47, 52, 53, 75, 96, 109, 110,
137, 144, 159, 175, 242.
b. ‘Abbds (1x?), 163, 165, 172.
b. “Abbds -Salm{ (vi?), 123.
b. “Abd -‘Aziz (governor of Riydn; 1x?), 165, 20I.
b. ‘Abd -Karim (1x2), 162, 163.
b. “Abdv’lldh (governor of Jdbardn, viir?), 123.
b. ‘Al. (ambassador of -Mu‘tasim to Mdzydr; IX'), 152.
b. ‘Al, Q4di — (1x?), 172.

EREEERER
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Muhammad.

b. °Al. -Baldmi, Abv’l-Fadl —, wazir of Ahmad b.
Isma‘il -Sdmdni, x'), 199, 200.
: b. “Al. b. Tdhir (1x), 29, 157, 161, 169, 18I.
. b. “‘Abd -Razziq (x?), 223, 224.
. b. “Afal (vii?), 123.
. b. Ahmad b. -Hasan, Sayyid Abu ‘Al{ — (x'), 209—211.
. b. A. -Khurdsdn{ (1x?), 182.
. b. A. -Ndsir (x!), 218.
. b. A. Wandawayh (1x?), 1g90.
, ‘Al#0’d-Din — (wazir of Tughd-Timir, X1v'), 264.
“Alawi (1x%), 163, 164.
b. ‘A. -Sh#’r, 49. See Utrish.
b. Ardashfr, Shamsw’l-Mulik — (X111), 258, 268.
. Aws (1X?), 157, 158, 162—1635, 168.
-Ba’.qir, Imdm — (virt), r2.
b. -Dabiri (x!), 220.
b. Fadl (1x'), 141.
. b. Fadl (of Ldrijdn; 1x3), 171.
. b. -Fagih (X!), 195.
. -Firis (fathe'; of Sayyid Abu Tdlib -Thd’ir), 58.
. -Ghazdli (x1), 75, L. 18
b. -Hajar (ambassador of Ahmad b. Isma‘l -Simdni;
x1), 198
Hamza, Sayyid — (1x?), 164, 167, 172.
-Hanafiyya. See /é6ni’l-Hanafiyya.
Hérin (governor of Jdlds, 1x%), 190—197.
Hasdn b. Isfandiydr. See 76n Isfandiydr.
H. (Ispahbad of Kaldr; %'}, 200.
H., Kiya —, entitled -Q&’im bi-amri’lldh; x11), 259.
. Ibr. (general of -Mu‘tasim; 1X), 154, 157.
b. Ibr. b. ‘A. b. ‘Abdv’r-Rahmdn b. -Qdsim b. H. b.
Zayd b. H. b. “A. b. Ab{ Tdlib (1x?), 162, 163, 165,
167, 174, 177, 178, 183, 18s.
b. Ibr. Simjur (x2), 224—225.
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Muhammad. 329

Ikhshid (1x?), 164

Ildigiz (or Ilduguz; xu?), 67, 252 ad. cale.

Ilfsa® (x'), 199.

‘Is4 (1x?), 157; — b. ‘Abdw’l-Ham(d (1x?), 170.

. Ismafl (1x?), 171.

Khwarazmshah Jaldlw’d-Din — (XIII‘), 50, 256, 257.

. b. Jarir b. Rustdm -Saraw{ (IX), 79; ¢f. 274.
-Juwayni (x1), 75, I. 18

b. Kathir (1x%), 172.

b. Khdlid (vi*—ix?), 28, 147.

b. Khdlid, Abd Mirdh — (1x3), 171.

Kiy4 b. Afrdsiydb (x1v), 269.

b. Mahdi b. Nirak (1x?), 18

b. Malikshdh (x11'), 59, 240—244.

b. Abi Mansir (1X?), 170.

b. Mikdl (1x?), 167.

b. Mughira of Ruydn (x!), 195.

b. M. -Astaribdad{ Bdri, 79. “According to the Dum-
yatw’l-Qasr, Add. ggo4, ff. 83a and 79a”, writes Mr.
Mr. A. G. Ellis, “Abd Hanffa -Astardbddi and Bari*-
i-Jurjin{ are two distinct persons.”

b. Misd b. Abdu’r-Rahmdn (1x?), 157.

b. Muisd b. Hafs (1x), 73, 148, 150—152.

b. Musifir (x'), 206.
b
b

cTTgvT

FEEEEEEREEEEREEEAS

. N&b (vir?), 123.

. -Nasir -Kabir (1x?), 49.

» Nidhdm — (v1), 65.

. b. N6h (1x?), 174, 176, 177.

b. Qays, Abu’l-Afazz — (1x%), 172.

M. -Qumi, Ibnd’l-“Amid — (x!), 219.

M. -Rid4d b. M. b. Zayd, Sayyid — (X'), 194.

M. b. Rustam b. Wandd-ummid (1x?), 163, 170, 171.
M. b. Sa%id (1x!), 151.

M. b. Saluk (x'), 199, 200, 204, 214.

RRREEREESR



330 Muhammad—Muntaha’l-Magal.

Shahriyar (x'), 206.

-Sirrf (X'), 195.

Abf Surra -Jufi (viir'), 1o6.
Tdhir (1x?), 179.

. Tamim (1x?), 18=2.

Taqf (or Jawdd), Imim — (IX), 144.
b. Wahr{ (x), 223.

b. Wahsiddn (1x?), 193, 230.

b

b

coggy

. -Walid (1x?), 172.
. Yahyd b. Khdlid -Barmak{ (viiri*—ix'), 133.

-Yazddd{, Abv’l-Hasan —. ‘See -Yazdddi.

. b. Yazid, 46.

., brother of Zarrin-Kamar (x11%), sg.

. b. Zayd, Abu ‘Abdw’lldh — (called ad-Dd‘t ila’l-Hagg,
or ad-DdFl-Kabir, ¢.v.; 1X'), 47, 48, 158, 182, 183,
185—195, 238.

M. b. Zubayda, called -Makhli® (,the Deposed ; viiI*—Ix).
See -Amin.

Abda M. H. b. ‘A. See -Ndsir -Kabir.

Abu M. H. b. Qdsim (x!), 201.

Abi M. H. b. Zayd b. M. b. Zayd (x!), 194.

Abé M. b. Mihrdn (x1Y), 233.

Muharram observed, 158.

Muhim (Sdmdnid governor, X!), 200.

Mu‘inw’d-Din Hus. Kart (x1v?), 264.

Mu‘ini, Ibrdhim — (Tabari poet), 86.

Mufizzu[? “IzzuPd-Dawla, Bakhtiyir — (x?), g1, 223.

Muktafi (“Ali) b. -Mu‘tadid (Caliph; x'), 191.
Abu’l-Mulik -Arba‘in b. “Abdu’lldh b. -‘Abbds (viI), 112.
Abv’l-Muldk, Ispahbad Shahriydr b. Kinkhwdr b. Rustam b.

Déra b. Shahriydr (x111!), 256.

Mi&’'min, Amir — (X1v!), 262, 268.

Muni (1X), 156.

Muntaha’l-Magdl (by M. b. Isma‘ll -H&iri), 11, 12, 271.
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Muntahi—Muslim. 331

Muntahi, Sayyid — (x11?), 242.
-Muntasir (Caliph, 1x?), 158, 161.
-Muntasir, Ibrdhim — -Sdmdn{ (x3), 227, 228.
Ibn -Muqaffa® (vII1?), 1, 4—6.
*Miqdn, 27, 33, 60.
Mugdtil-i-Daylam{ (1x?), 164, 195.
Abu Mugqatil -Darfr (poet; 1x), 175.
-Mugqtadir (Caliph; x?), 201, 206, 215.
Murdd b. Muslim (viir?), r3r.
-Mdriydn{, Abd Ayyub (wazir of -Mansir; vIII?), 113.
Murtadd Kdshdn{, Sayyid — (x11%), 69, 103.
Musi b. ‘Al. b. H. b. H. b. ‘A. b. Abi Tdlib (vi?),
124, 125.
Misd “-Alawi (x112), 255.
Misd b. Bughd (1x2%), 179, 180.
Misa -Hdd{ (Caliph; vin?), 131, 132.
Misd b. Hafs (1x), 148.
Musa Hijib (x?), 229.

Misd b. “Isé (VIII?), 124.

Misd b. “Isd -Sarw{ (or -Sarawi), 36.

Miisd b. Ja‘far -Kddhim, Imdm — (viir®), 124, 12s.
Misd b. -Katib (1x?), 172.

Musd b. Yahyd b. Khdlid -Barmak{ (viii*—ix'), 133.
Muslim b. -Walfd (vin?—ix’), 45.
Abd Musd b. Bahrim (x!), 216—218.
Abu Musd Hadrdn Isfihdist (x'), 206.
Mus‘ab b. -Zubayr (vi1%), 48, 49.
*Musalld (“the Oratory”, at Amul), 203, 205, 219, 220.
-Musawwida. See ‘Aébds, House of —.
*Mushkid (two stages from Ray), 218.
Mushkhwdsh (a kind of sweet rushes), 41.
Muslim b. Khdlid (vir?), 123.
Abd Muslim (vii), 11o—r113, 117—118.
Muslim, Abu Ali — (x?), 224.



332 Musta‘in—Naqib.

-Musta®in (Caliph; 1x3), 161.

-Mustansir (Fdtimid Caliph; XI1), 236.
-Mustarshid (Caliph; xi1'), so.

-Musta‘sim (last “Abbdsid Caliph; x111), 2509.
-Mu‘tadid bi’lldh (Caliph; 1x?), 191, 196.
-Mutanabbi (poet, X}, 87, go.

-Mu‘tasim (Caliph; 1x'), 80, 152—158, 237.
-Mutawakkil (Caliph; 1x), 48, 80, 108, 155, 158—1I161I.
-Mu‘tazilites, 232.

-Mu‘tazz (Caliph; 1x?), 179, 180.

*Muthannd b. -Hajjdj (vin3), 1zo, 123, 132.
*Muthla, 28.

Mutrif (x!), 212, 217.

*Miz (mountain), 14.

-Muzdhim (vi), 2.

-Nabatf, Hayydn — (vini!), 1o7.
Nifi® (cousin and deputy-governor of Khalifa b. Sa‘ld,
1x'), 140.
Nahapets (Nahdbidha), 106, 108, 113, I14.
*Nahdwand, 93.
*Nahrawila, 93.
*Nahruwén, Battle of — (vi1), 102, 104.
Na‘im b. Hézim (1x'"), 142.
Na‘im (chamberlain of Qdibus; xI'), 232.
Abud Na‘im, Shaykh —, 8o.
-Najdshi, 11, 12, 271.
Bant Nijiya, 100.
Najmu’d-Dawla Qdrin b. Shahriydr b. Qdrin (x1%), 241—245.
-Nakha®, Milik [b.] -Ashtar — (vi1'), 27, 98.
*Namadr, 28.
Ndmdardn (apparently a mistake for Bimddddn), 93.
*Ndmina, 56, 1. 21, 186.
-Naqib, Abd M. -H. b. A. b. M. b. Zayd —, 49.



Nardin—Nassdba. 333

*Ndrdin, 233.
Narfman (legendary hero of Persia), 16.
Narsf b. Jdmdsp (v?), 97.
*Nasd (or Nis4, in Khurdsdn), 123, 223.
“Nasibi” (a term of disparagement applied to the Sunnfs
by their opponents the “Réfidis”, or Shites), 52, 158.
Nasihi, Ibrédhim b. M. —, 76.
Ndsir (x"), 217.
*Ndsir-dbdd, 198.
-Ndsir -Kabir, Abd M. H. b. “A b. H. b. ‘A. b. ‘Amr b.
‘A. Zaynw’l-‘Abidin — (x'), 49, 57, 58, 89, 178, 195,
196, 1g9—204, 210, 222, 238.
-Ndsir 1i-Dini’lldh (Caliph; x11%), 79.
Nasfru’d-Dawla, Ispahbad Ddrd b. Bahman — (x11%), 249.
Nasiru’d-Dawla Shahriydr b. Tdju’d-Dawla Yazdigird (x1v'),
261—263.
Nasfru’d-Dawla Shamsu’l-Mulik (x1m'), 257.
Nasiru’d-Din, M. Abi Tawba, called Bi-Tawba (minister
of Sinjar; xi1'), 8o..
Nasiru’d-Din Ruiz-Bihdn (x11%), 251.
Nasirw’d-Din -Tusi (x111'), 259.
Nasire’l-Mulk (brother of Sharafu’l-Mulk Hasan; x112), 250.
Nasr b. Ahmad b. Isma‘l -Sdmdni (X), 201, 213, 214,
218, 220.
Nasr b. -H. b. Firtzdn (x?), 226, 228—231.
Nasr b. ‘Imrdn (VIN?), 123.
Nasr b. Nub -Sdmdni (1x?), 190.
Nasr b. Wabrd (of Syria; 1x?), 167.
Abu Nasr (governor of Shahriydr-Kih; x'), 213, 214.
Abt Nasr -Tabari (1X?), 192.
Abt Nasr -“Utb{ (author of -T@rikhi’l-Yamini, q.v.; X1'),
92 ad calc.
"Nasrfn b. Sunqur (VIIZ), 123.
Nassdba, Sayyid Dhahiru’d-Din — of Gurgdn, s57.



334 Nitil—Nushfrwdn,

*Nitil, 40, 123, 163, 182, 192, 212, 251I.

-Natig-bi’l-Haqq, Sayyid Abd Télib Yahyd — (x*~—Xx1'),
50, 54, §5.

Ndtis the Byzantine, lord of “Amuriya (1x'), 156.

-Nawddir, Kitéb’'n- — (by -Asmafi; VIII?), 159.

-Nawfali, 134.

*Nawrizdbdd, 165, 166.

Nidhdmi{-i-‘Arid{-i-Samarqand{ (x1%), 1, 238. See also Cka-
hdr Magdla.

Nidhimu’d-Din -Sam®n{ (x111'), 109.

Nic_i_!_lému{l-Mulk (x1), 75, 91, 93, 240.

*Nigdristan (near Nitil), g40.

Nikdma, ‘Al b. — (%), 222.

Niki-ndma (by the Ispahbad Marzubdn b. Rustam), 86.

*Nirds, 163.

*Nisd (or Nasd, in Khurdsdn), 123, 223. See also Nasd.

*Nishdpur, 9o, g9, 123, 181, 185, 186, 190o—192, 203,
216, 217, 222—224, 226, 227, 234.

*Nishdpiriyya, 123.

*Nisibin, 33.

Noldeke, Professor Th. —, , 7, 46, 238.

Ibn Nubdta -Sa‘df (poet), go.

Nddhar (legendary hero of Persia), 16, 17.

Nih (Noah), 63, 1. 21.

Nth (? b. Asad b. Simén; Ix!), 190.

Ndh b. Nagr -Simdnf (Nuh I; x), 221—224.

Ndh b. Mangir -Sdmdni (Ndh II; x?), 91, 226.

Ndh b. -Sasif (? vii?), 122.

-Nukhayla, Yawmu’n- —, 104, 1. 1.

Nu‘mdn (1x?), 188.

*Nur, 266.

Nirw’d-Din Sabbdgh (x11%), 68.

Nushirwdn (Kisrd, the Sdsinian king; Vi), 7, 8, 20, 32
36, 37, 85, 93—95.

2



Nushirwdn—Qdbiisdn. T 335

Nishfrwdn b. Mindchihr b. Q4bds (x1'), §.
Nusratu’d-Din (x11'), 60, 64. See also Rustam b. Al b.
Skakriydr.

Omayyads. See Umayyads.
Ouseley’s Travels, 1.

*Oxus, 91, 93, 94.

Pidhisbdn, Ispahbad — 46, 73, 98.

Pddhisbdn, Ustunddr — (1x'), 237.

Padhisban-i-Kurdzdd, Ispahbad of Lafir (1x%), 164, 167—
171, 179, 181, 187.

Pahlawdn °Abdu’r-Razzdq “Sar-ba-dér” (X11%), 264.

*P4’iza-(or Pdnira-)-Kuh, 4o0.

*Piliz, 82, 1. 8.

*Pdnira-(or P#’iza-)-Kuh, 40.

*Panjah-hazdr, 99, 116, 122, 186, 199, 237.

*Paricha, 123, 1. 2.

*Parfm, g9, 128. See Farim.

*Pars (or Férs), 4, 18, 217, 224, 225.

Parwiz, Khusraw — (Sdsdnian king; vII'), 35, 36, 60, 236.

Parwiz (of Ldrijdn; 1x2?), 183, 196.

Pashang (son of the legendary Afrdsiyab), 18.

*Patashkhwir, 14 ad calc. See also Farshwddgar.

*Pi-yi-Dasht, 24, 123, 163, 164, 168, 203.

Philosopher’s Stone, 36.

Pigeons, Carrier —, 155.

Pirtiz-i-Yazdigird (Sdsdnian king, v?), 7.

Piriiz Mihrjin, Book of —, 36.

Pirdza, Ustdd ‘Ali — (poet, X), 87, 88.

Pishin Khdtin (XIII), 264.

*Pdtam, 165.

Qébisdn, ‘Abbds b. — (x'), 212.



336 Qdbis—Qdrin.

Qdbis b. Washmgir (x2—x1!), 20, 36, 76, 78, 86, 89, 90,
02, 225—234, 238, 257.

Qdbis-ndma (by Kay-K&us b. Iskandar b. Qdbis;
x1%), 236.

Qachghuz, Amir — (X1%), 243.

-Qadir bi’lldh (Caliph; x*—xT1'), 233.

*Qddisiyya, Battle of — (viI'), 96.

Ibn Qahtaba, “Abdu’lldh — (viI?), 132.

-Q4&’im bi-amri’lldh (Caliph; XI), 235.

-Q#im bi-amri’lldh (title given by his followers to Kiyd
M. b. -H., ¢.#; XIII), 259.

*Q4%n, 258.

*Qal‘a Kamin, 264.

Qdnin (of Avicenna), 86.

Qar&inu Shams?’l Ma‘dli (by -Yazdddf), g2.

Qardja (the cup-bearer; XII), 246.

*Qar4d-Kaldta, 265.

Qardtakin the Turk (x!), 206, 215, 221, 223 (Mansir —).

Qard-Tughdn (vii?), 123.

Qé4rin son of Sukhrd (v?), ancestor of the Qdrinwands,
or House, or Sons of Qdrin, q.v., 94, 95.

Qdrin, Alu — (“House of —”), Band — (“Sons of —"),
63, 1. 21; 64, 1. 18; 153, L. 11.

Qdrin (general of the Ispahbad Khurshid; viii?) 116,

Qdrin b. Garshdsf (X11'), 246.

Qarin-i-Gdwa (legendary), 18, 19.

Qdrin, Ruknu’d-Dawla — (XiI1?), 255.

Qdrin b. Shahriydr, Ispahbad — (1x?), 173.

Qédrin b. Shahriydr b. Qdrin, Najmu’d-Dawla — (x11'),
241, 242.

Qérin b. Shahriydr b. Sharwin, Ispahbad — of House of
Biwand, called “Abu’l-Muldk”.(I1X), 147, 148, 157,
166, 168, 169, 171, 173, 176, 178, 195, 237.

Qdrin b. Surkhdb (of the House of Biwand; x1%), 239.



Qdrin—Qiwam. 337
Qdrin b. Wanddd-Hurmazd (ViiI?—IX'), 129, 143, 145—
147, 237-
*Qdrin-4bdd, 116.
*Qdrin, Kdh-i- —, 16, 99.
*Qdrin-Kih, 237.
Qdrinwands, g1, 95, 237, 241.
Qdsim b. ‘Ali b. H. b. Zayd, Sayyid (1x?¥, 174, 178,
179, 185.
Qdsim b. Muslim -Khurdsdn{ (1x?), 181.
Qdsim, Sayyid — (1x?), 238.
Abu’l-Qdsim (general of Washmgir, x!), 217.
Abuv’l-Qdsim ‘Abdu’l-‘Aziz b. Yusuf, go.
Abv’l-Qdsim -Bayyd, Qddi’l-quddt, 77.
Abu’l-Qdsim Hdrin b. Mubhammad (1x'), 153.
Abv’l-Qdsim’ -H. b. Hamza -‘Alawi (x1'), 55.
Abv’l-Qdsim b. H. -Sha‘rdni (x'), 221.
Abv’l-Qdsim Ja’df (x1'), 234.
Abv’l-Qdsim Ja*far b. -H. b. ‘A. -Ndsir (x!), 201, 203—-210.
Abv’l-Qdsim -Kitib -Balkh{ (1x?), 47.
Abv’l-Qdsim b. Simjir (x3), 227, 231.
*Qasrdn, 14, 167, 264.
*Qasr-i-Dddaqdn (between Tammisha and Sarf), 114.
*Qasr-i-Tas (near Sdri), 35.
Qagsdb, Shaykh Abu’l-‘Abbds —, 8o.

-Qatarf{ [b. -Fujd’at -Mdzinf], the Khdrijite (vI*), 101,
102, 104.
*Qatari-Kaldda, 104.

*Qatifa, 112.
Qatirmish (x11'), 6o0.
*Qaydim, 152.
*Qazwin, 68, 69, 178, 179, 191, 216, 217, 220, 240, 249.
“Qazz-dgand” (quilted armour), 145.
Qiwdm °Alf (x11%), 254.
Qiwdm Fardmarz (x11), 65.

22



338 Qiwimuwd-Din—R4fidi

Qiwdmu’d-Din, Amir Sayyid — (X1v), 269.

Qizil Arsldn (x11%), 67, 68, 72, 73, 254.

Qubdd-i-Piriz (Sdsdnian king; v?), 7, 92—q6.

Qubdd-i-Kdwa (or Gdwa, legendary hero of Persia), 18.

*Qﬁhistén, 216, 231.

*Quhsibah (reading uncertain), 28.

Qihyér (vit'), 127.

Quhydr-i-Qdrin (brother of Mdzydr; IX), 15I.

*Qulzum, Sea of — (= Caspian Sea), 35.

*Qum, 68, 77, 215, 22I.

*Qumis (or Qumish), 14, 28, 178, 179, 182, 185, 216, 226,
229, 230, 233, 238, 264.

Qumri, Sirdju’d-Din — (poet; XiI1), 258.

Qur’dn, 5, 10, 11, 13, 75, 80, 102, 108.

Quraysh (man; 1X?), 157.

Quraysh (tribe), 70, 1350.

*Qur-shirad, 251. It is probably identical with Gu#r-
shirvad, q. v.

Qutayba (virl), 1os.

Ibn Qutayba, “Abdv’lldh — (1x3), 32.

Qutb-i-Chalusf (x11), 80.

Qutb-i-Riyédn{ (Tabar{ poet; XIII), 259.

Qutbu’d-Din Khdn (XI11%), 254.

Qutham b. -‘Abbds (vi1), 98, 111.

Qutlugh Shdh, Amir — (X1v'), 262, 268.

Qutquti of Sar{ (x!), 195.

Rabi® b. “‘Urwdn (vii?), 12z.

Radi (x'), 210.

Radi, Amir — -Sdmdni (x?), 226, 227, 234.

-Radi, -Sharif — (x*—x1'), 109.

R4 b. Harthama (1x2), 188—193, 238.

Réfi’l (poet; xI), 256.

“Rédfidf” (the name given to the Shi‘ites by their oppo-
nents the Sunnfs or “Ndsibfs™), 52 ad calc.



Ra’{s—Ruh. 339

Ra’fs Mudhaffar (x1?), 240.
Abu Rakdz (minstrel; VIII3), 134, 135.

Ramja Hardya (viir?), riz—irs, 12r.

*Rédn-Hidl, 29.

*Rdn-Kuh, 123.

-Raqqdshf, Husayn b. Mundhir —, 32.

Rashdmij-i-Shir-Marddn (x!), 209—211, 213, 229.

Rash{d b. “Abdv’lldh, Abw’l-Faraj — (x*—x1'), 86.

Rashidu’d-Din Watwiét (poet; xi1), 62—65.

-Rdsibf, ‘Abdv’lldh, b. Wahb — (Khdrijite; vi1?), 1o2.

*Rawi, 123.

-Rdwandi, Abu’l-Fadl — (x11%), 69.

-Rdwand{, Najmu’d-Din Abu Bakr M. (Xin1), 252 ad calc.

*Ray, 3, 14, 18, 19, 28, 34, 43, 44, 61, 62, 67, 68, 70,
76, 82, 04, 95, 98, 104, 112, 117, 118, 119, 120, 126,
128, 140—143, 149, 151, 162, 165, 178, 179, 182—
184, 189—I9I, 197—200, 204, 2006, 214—218, 220,
223—227, 229, 231, 235, 236, 245, 250, 253, 255.

*Ribdt-i-Hafs, 185, 188. :

-Ridd, Imdm °Ali — (1X'), §3, 55, 79, 144.

Abid Ridd Hus. b. M. Abw’l-“Alawi -Mdmtiri (x1*—xiir'), 2g7.

Rieu, Professor —, 1.

Risdlatw’l-Hunid fi ijdbati da‘wati Dhaw?’ I-“Anid (by Sayyid
Bahd’vw’d-Din -Hasan b. -Mahdi -Mdmtiri; X11?), 68.

“Romans”, 236. See Byzantines.

*Riadbdr, 41, 122.

*Radbdr-Bdlu, 266.

*Ridbdr, Mayddn-i- —, 262.

*Ridbdr-i-Nir, 266.

*Ridbdr-Pich, 253.

*Ridbir-Uz, 266.

*Rubast, 28.

*Rud-bast, 82, 1. 8; 152.

Rih b. Hétim b. Qaysar b. Muhallab (vur’), 124, i29.



340 Rihin—Rustamddr.

*Ruhin, Castle of —, 246."

Ruknu’d-Dawla Hasan b. Buwayh (. v.; x), 223—225, 238.

Ruknu’d-Dawla Qdrin (X1I—XII1'), és 5—256.,

Ruknu’d-Dawla Shih Kay-Khusraw b. Tdju’d-Dawla Yaz-
digird (x1v'), 262, 268. )

Ruknu’d-Din ilse (Shaykho’l-Isldm; x11%), 69.

Ruknu’d-Din Khirshdh (x111'), 2s9.

Ruknu’d-Din, Sayyid — of Siri (xi11), 57.

*Rim, 35.

Russians, 199. :

Rustam b. °Alf, Shdh-i-Ghdz{ — (x11'), 59, 9O, 245, 246,
249, 250.

Rustam b. Ardashir b. Hasan b. Rustam (ruler of Tabar-
istdn; xI'), 3.

Rustam Fakhrw’d-Dawla (x1'), 228. See Majdu’d-Dawla
Abte Talib.

Rustam, Fakhru’l-Mulik — (x11%), 250, 2522

Rustam-i-Farrukhzad (general in command of Persian army
at battle of Q4disiyya), g6.

Rustam-i-Marzubdn (x1!), 228, 230, 231, 239.

Rustam-i-Qdrin, Ispahbad — (1x3), 184—187, 189, 190, 192,
193, 198.

Rustam b. Shahriydr, Ispahbad Nusratu’d-Din — (XI1I),
60—65, 236?

Rustam b. Shahriydr, Shdhinshdh —, 3.

Rustam b. Shahriyir b. Qdrin, Fakhruw’l-Mulk —(x11'), 241.

Rustam, Ispahbad Shamsu’l-Mulik — (x11%), 255.

Rustam b. Sharwin [b. Shahriydr b.] Bdwand (maternal
uncle of Qdbus b. Washmgir; x*—x1'), 92, 209, 225.

Rustam b. Surkhdb b. Qdrin b. Shahriydr (1x?), 237, 238.

Rustam b. Zabarqdn (1x2), 174.

Rustam-i-Zal (legendary hero of Persia), 14, 17, 35, 43,
97, 249 {in Persian verse).

*Rustamddr (Mel, 47, 50, 52, 54, 57, 60), 132, 261, 269.



Riydn—Safir. 341

*Riyin (Mel., 47, 50, 55, 56, 58, 59), I, 17, 19, 20, 28,
29, 35, 39, 60, 73, 97, 121, 123, 140, 149—I151, 157,
162, 181, 182, 192, 195, 198, 200, 221, 232, 238, 241,
244, 251, 259, 261.

Ruydnf, Qutb-i- — (Tabar{ poet, x111), 259.

Ruydni (fabric), 118.

Riz (daughter of Khurshid and mother of the legendary
M4dhiya-sar), 37.

Ruz-Bihdn, Nasfru’d-Din — (x11%), 251.

Sabbdgh, Néru’d-Din — (ambassador of Tukush b. T1l-Ar-
slin Khwdrazmshdh, x11%), 68.
-Sdbi, Abd Ishdq Ibrdhim b. Hildl — (x?), 9o, 92, 223.
Sdbiq of Qazwin (athlete in service of Sultin Mas‘d the
Seljiq; x11'), 66, 249.
Sabiqu’d-Dawla, Amir — (X11), 65.
Sébiqu’d-Dawla, Amir ‘Ali — (X1I), 247, 249
Sabuktagin (more correctly Subuktigin; see p. 279; X), 227.
*Sabzawdr, 264.
Sa‘d b. Maymin (VIi?), 123.
Sa‘d b. Sa‘d -Ahwas -Ashari (viir'); 12, and n. 2 ad calc.
Sa‘d b. Tarif -Handhalf (vii); 12, and n. 2 ad cale.
Sa‘d b. Abi Waqqds (viI), 96.
Abt Sa‘d Sawidk (x1f), 233.
Abid Sa‘d -Saydaldni, 79:
Sadaqa “King of the Arabs” (x1%), 60. .
Sa‘di, Ahmad — (retainer of Qdbis b. Washmgir; x2), 92.
-Sa’di, Abuw’l-Khudayb Marziq (vi?), 1zo. ‘
-Sa‘di, Ibn Nubdta — (poet), go.
Abt Siddiq Hardn b. ‘Ali -Amuli (1x!), 74.
“Sids”, ,The two —” (7. e. as-Sdbi and the Sdhib Isma‘il
b. ‘Abbdd), go.
-Saffah, Abuw’l-“Abbas — (Caliph; vir?), rrr.
-Safir {or -Sayfar), Family of —, 195.



342 Safjiyya---Salmadn.

*Safjiyya (or Safajiyya), 29.
*Safih (near Amul), 150.
Saghdniydn (or Sighdniydn, or Chaghdniydn), o4.
-Sahib. See Isma‘il b. “Abbdd. -
Sahibu’l-Jaysh, Sayyid Abuw’l-Hus. A. b. -Ndsir — (X), 49,
201—202.
S4hibuw’l-Qalansuwa, Abd Jafar M. b. A. b. -Ndsir (X), 49.
Sahl b. -Marzubdn, 74.
Sa‘id b. Da'laj (vi?), 1z4.
Sa%id b. Jibréil (1x?), 172.
Sa‘id b. Salma b. Qutayba b. Muslim (vIiiI?), 132.
Sa‘id b. ‘Umar b. -“Ald (vi?), 123.
Abu Sa‘id Bakr b. Malik (X), 224.
Abd Sa®td H. b. M. -Chashmi, 53 ad calc.
Abi Sa®id Khwdr (Sudfi saint), 10.
Abi Sa‘id Mudhaffar b. Ibr. (x), 78.
Abi Sa‘ld, Sultdn — (x1V!), 263.
*Sa‘id-dbdd, 39, 123, 133, 163.
*-Saldi, 123.
Sa‘idihd (family or tribe), gs.
Sakhr the Jinnf, 36.
Saldim (Sdmdnid governor of Tabaristan; X!), 197, 198.
Saldm b. Quddma (vii?), 123.
Saldm “Siydh-mard” (vii?), 13z.
Sdlih [b.] Mikhrdq (vir?), 1or, 104.
Sédlih b. Sayydr (x'), 214.
Sdlih b. Shaykh “Umayra (1x'), 141.
Abd Sdlih Mansir (Sdmdnid officer; X'), 198.
Sdlim “the Devil of Farghdna” (vii?), 126—i28.
*Saliyan (near Lafur), 123.
Salm (son of the legendary Feridin), 17.
Ibn Salma -Q4&’id of Nishdpur (VIIP), 123.
Salmdn -Daylami (vii!), 106.
Salmdn -Fdrsi (vi'), 7o.



Ibn-Sa‘lik—Saydaldni. 343

Ibn Satlik (x!), 204, 214.

*Salds, 28, 29. See also Fdlis, Chdlis and Shdlis.

Salydn (a king contemporary with the Sdsdnians), 35.

*Simta, 122.

Sdm-i-Narfiman (legendary hero), 41, 42.

-Sam‘ni, Nidhdimw’d-Din — (x1u1'), 109.

Sémdnid Dynasty (1x>—x?), 9, 193—197, 218—224, 226—
228, 234.

*Samarqand, 32, 82.

*Sdmarrd. See Swurra-man-ra’a.

-Sdmiri (opponent of Moses and maker of the Golden
Calf), q.

*Samndn, 104, 189, 196, 230, 243—244.

Sanjar (Seljuq; XI1) 59, 61, 66, 80, 81, 240, 246. See also
Sinjar.

Sanjar Shah b. Hazdrasp (X11?), 253, 254.

*Sagsin, 33, 1. 26; 34, 1. 1.

*Sarakhs, 167.

-Saraw{, or -Sarw{ (nisbas from Sdri or Sdriya in Mdzan-
dardn, and Sarw near Ardabil respectively: see Mr.
Ellis’s note on p. 274), 36, 46, 50, 79, 274.

Sarbaddrs, or Sarbadils (X1v), 264, 267.

*Sdri, 16, 17, 28—31, 35, 56, 57, 59, 61, 69, 84, 98, 106,
107, 114, 122, 123, 130, 132, 140, 141, 144, 150,
152, 165—167, 160—172, 174, 176, 178, 1-79, 181,
182, .186, 189, 194, 195, 199—203, 207, 209, 210—21§,
217—222, 229, 230, 241—246, 249, 254, 257, 265, 266.

*Sarmam, 28.

Sdsdnian Dynasty (111—vi1), 4, 35, 36, 68, 85, 96, 118,
155, 204.

*Sdwa, 61, 244.

*Sawdd, 180.

*Sawat-Kidh, 149.

-Saydaldnf, Abu Sa‘d —, 79.



344 Sayfar—Shahriydr,

-Sayfar (or -Safir), Family of —, 195.

Sayfu’d-Dawla, title of Sultdn Makmid b. Subuktigin, ¢.v.

“Sayyid-i-Barqa®i”’ (“the Veiled Sayyid”, better known as
Sdhibu’z-Zang ; 1X%), 180.

Sayyids of Tabaristin (1X>—X!), 158 ¢z segq., 237. See
also under -Dd5%.

Schefer, M. Ch. —, 1, 86.

Sclavs. See Slavs, Russians.

Sehir-ud-Din. See Dkakiri’d-Din.

Seljiq, ancestor of the Seljugs or Seljuqfs (x*—x1'), 235.

Seljiq, House of —, or Seljugs (Xx1—XxI1), 5, 61, 66, 68,
235, 239, 240, 241, 252, 256.

Seljugshdh (x11%), 246.

*Sha‘bu-Dasht, 221.

Shafarwah (poet, of Isfahdn; x1*—xir!), 6g.

$.Shidfi1”, “the second —” (XI), 75.

Shdgird, Abv’l-Fadl — (x"), 217.

*Shdh-Dizh, Castle of —, in Hazdr-garf{ (-jarib), 185, 238.
*Shah-Dizh (also called Dizkidh, or Qal-i-Atash-Kih, an
Assassin stronghold, near Isfahdn), 241 ad calc.

Shih Ghdz{ b. Fakhrv’d-Dawla (x1v), 269.

Shih Ghdz{ Rustam (x1'), 24%.

Shah Ghdzi, Ustundir — (x11%), 261.

*Shidh-Kdah, 120.

Shdhnima (of Firdawsi; XI1'), 96, 98. See also Firdawst
and Miayyidi.

Shahrdkim b. Namawar, Ustunddr — (X111), 259, 261.

Shahrdsan b. Asdn (XI1%), 249.

*Shahristdna-marz, 25.

*Shahristdn-i-Tusdn, 22,

Shahriydr, Ispahbad — (x11?), 252.

Shahriydr4i-Andiydn (1x?), 166.

Shahriydr b. Ddrd b. Shahriyir, Ispahbad — (x*—
X1'), 239.



Shahriydr—Shdpir-i-Shahriyar. 345

Shahriydr b. Kfnkhwér b. Rustam b. Ddrd b. Shahriydr
(xm2—xnr'), 256.°

Shahriydr (relative of M4zydr, hardly his grandfather;
probably his brother and fellow-hostage, who, how-
ever, is called Surkkdd on p. 173; 1x?), 178.

Shahriydr b. Pddhisbdn, Ispahbad — (1x*—X!), 190, 196,
198, 200, 201, 216.

Shahriydr b. Qdrin, Ispahbad Husimuw’d-Dawla — (x*—
x'), 3, 58, 230—244, 256.

Shahriydr b. Sharwin (X1'), 143, 145—147.

Shahriyar b. Sharwin (x?), 220, 222, 228, 230, 231, 237—239.

Shahriydr b. Wandd-ummid (x!), 205, 206.

Shahriydr-i-Yazdigird (the son of the last Sdsdnian king;
vir?), gb.

Shahriydr (Nasiru’d-Ddwla —; x1v') b. Malik T&ju’d-
Dawla Yazdigird, 261, 262. -

*Shahriydr-Kih, 41, 126, 213, 214, 224, 228, 229, 239—
241, 243, 245, 246.

Shahr-Khwastan (vir*—vin'), 3o, 31.

*Shaldb (or Gildb, or Chaldb, or Chaldp, ¢.v.), 15, 255.

*Shalanba, 28.

*Shalmiyya.

*Shdlis, 40, 216. See also Falis, Chdlis and Sdlis.

Shams-i-Al-i-Muhammad, 81.

Shamsu Ali °r-Rasdl, Sayyid — (apparently identical with
the above), 57.

Shamsu’l-Ma‘dli. See Qdbis b, Washmgir.

Shamsu’l-Mulik M. b. Ardashir (x1?), 258, 259, 268.

Shamsw’l-Mulik Nasfru’d-Dawla Rustam (x11?—xir?), 255,
256, 257, 261, 268?

Sham®n b. Khuddddd, 37.

Shdpir Dhu’l-Aktdf (Sdsdnian, 1v!), 204.

Shdpur-i-Kayus (1v), gs.

Shépdr-i-Shahriydr (1x'), 147, 148.



346 Shdr—Abit Shujad Fanakhusraw.

Shdr, Shih — of Ghars (x1'), 234.

Sharafu’d-Dawla Gustahm (x1v), 266.

Sharafu’d-Din, Sayyid —, s58.

Sharafu’l-Ma‘4li, 77 last line.

Sharafu’l-Mulik (x11%), 255, 256.

Sharafu’l-Mulik b. Shahriyar (X1v'), 263, 268, 269.

Sharafu’l-Mulik Hasan b. Rustam (X11%), 61, 249.

Sha‘rdni, Abv’l-Qdsim b. -Hasan — (x!), 221.

Shidri (officer of the Tdahirids, 1x3?), 183, 184.

Sharwin, Ispahbad — Bdwand (1x!), 43, 99, 126, 128,
129, 140—143, 145, 166, 226,

Sharwin-i-Rustam (x'), 196, 201, 205, 206, 213, 214, 216, 237.

Sharwin-i-Surkhdb-i-Mihr-marddn (1x'), 237.

Sharwin-i-Shahriydr-i-Sharwin (1X2), 238.

Sharzil (or Shirzil, or Shirazil), Husayn — (x11'), 245.

Shdti-mdz{-bun (a kind of tree), 20.

Ibn Shd’dshti (x'), 218.

-Shaybdni, Masqala b. Hubayra — (vi1), 100.

Shaykh-i-Z4hid, 8o.

*Shih-dila (or Si-dila), 115.

Shfites, 143, 144, 175. See also [mdms, Zaydi sect, Rdfi-
dis, etc.

*Shindh, Darband-i- —, 247.

*Shirdbdd, 37.

*Shfraj b. Layld (X'), 217—219, 223.

*Shirdsaf, 57, 1. 10.

*Shirdz, 33.

Shir Mardi (x2), 220.

*Shird, 181.

Shiriya (the Sdsdnian; vir'), g6.

Shirwdnshdh, king of the Khazars (x!), 199.

Shirwdnshih (brother of Ustundir Hazdrasp; x11?), 2so.

Shirzdd b. Mas‘dd (1II) of Ghazna (x11'), 58.

Al‘{‘fl Shuja® Fanakhusraw. See ‘Adudw’d-Dawla.



Abu-Shuji—Sufyan. 347

Abt Shujd® (brother of Zarrin-Kamar; x11), 59.
*Shura, 182.
Shurdt, 103, 104, 1. 1. See Khdrijites.
*Si-dila (or Shih-dila), 115.
Siffin, Battle of — (v1I%), 101, 104.
Sighdniydn, 94. .
*Sihna (near Nahdwand), 240.
Sikandar b. Malik Tdju’d-Dawla Yazdigird (x1v'), 261.
Sikni (1X?), 181. See Akmad b. Muhammad.
Simjir, House of — (x), 208, 225, 227, 231, 234.
Simon (or Sham‘in), 37.
Ibn Sind, Abd “Alf — (Avicenna; x2—x1i), 86.
Sindbdd the Magian (vii?), 112, 117, 118.
Sindi b. Shdhak (Shi‘ite leader; IX), 144.
Sinjar (or Sanjar), the Seljiq (x11'), 59, 61, 66, 80, 81,
240, 246.
Sipahsdldr b. Kurdngij (x>—x1!), 230.
Sirdju’d-Din Qumri (poet; XIn), 258.
Sirr{ b. ‘Abdu’lldh -‘Abbdsi (VilI?), 124, 125.
*Sistdn, 33, 181, 182.
Siydh, ‘Aynu’d-Dawla — (x11%), 251.
Siydh-Gil b. Hartisanddn (X!), 205, 207 and n. 1 ad calc.
“Siydh Mard” Saldm (vii®), r3z.
Siydh-rid (near ];manﬁ), 41, 25I.
Siyarw’l-Mulike (= Siydsat-ndma) of the Nidhimu’l-Mulk
(x1?), 91, 93.
Siydsat-ndma, 91, 93.
de Slane, 5, 6, 51, 106 ad calc.
Slavs, 40, 97. See also Russians.
Solomon, 36.
Spiegel, 1.
Suddm (a judge so named), 133.
Sifis, 10, 240.
Sufydn b. Abi’l-Abrad -Kalbi (vii?), 104, 105.



348 Sufydn-Thawri—Ibnu *t-Tabari.

Sufydn -Thawri, 10.
Suhrab-i-Bdw (v11®), 98, 237.
Suhrdb-i-Rustam (legendary hero), 35s.
Sukhrad (v?), 14, 94, 95, 125.
Ibn Sukkara -Hdshimi{ (x>—x!), 51 and n. 1 ad calc.
Sual, Nahapets of —, 106 and n. 1 ad cale., 108.
*Sulaymadn-dbdd, 177, 184.
Sulaymdn b. ‘Abdv’lldh b. Tdhir (1X23), 157, 164—173, 177.
Sulaymdn b. ‘Abdv’l-Malik (Umayyad ‘(/:aliph; vir'), 10,
108, 109.
Sulaymén -‘Alawi (1x?), 166.
Sulaymadn b. Musd (virt), 132
Sulaymdnshdh (Seljiq; x11%), 61, 62, 66.
Sultdn-Shdh-i-Gil (x11'), 247.
Sultin Shdh Mahmid Khwidrazmshdh (x11%), 67.
Sunqur, Amir — (X11'), 241, 242.
Sunqur-i-Kdchak (x11%), 244, 2435.
Surhdnwands, 95.
Surkhdb, Amir — (x11?), 249.
Surkhdb-i-Jastdn (or Justin; Xx!), 195.
Surkhdb-i-Qdrin (brother of Mdzyadr; 1x?), 173, 174, 237.
Surkhdb-i-Rustam (1x?), 165.
Surkhdb-i-Wahsiddn (or Wehsuddn; x'), 208.
*Surra-man-ra’a (or Sdmarrd), 26, 43, 70, 80, 161.
*Syria, 33, 69, 75, 91, 104, 108, 109, 178, 223, 247.

*Tabarak, Castle of —, 19, 20, 250.
Ibn Tabdtabd -‘Alawi, 47.
*Tdbardn, 123.
Tabari dialect, 24, 34, 35, 41, 60, 61, 65, 77, 84—385, 86,
87, 88, 89.
-Tabarf, M. b. Jarir — (1X>—X'), 74, 192; Annals of —,
26, n. 1 ad calc.
Ibnu ’t-Tabari, “Abdu’llih — (1x), 8o.



Tabas—]Janparast. 349

*Tabas, 216.

*Tafsir, 227,

Tdhir b. “Abdu’lldh b. T4hir (1X), 157, 180, 181.

Tahir, House of —, or T4hirids (1x), 29, 30.

Tahir-i-Arrdnf (assassin of Nidhdmu’l-Mulk, X1%), 239.

Téhir b. Husayn (general of -Ma’min, 1X!), 143.

T4hir b. Ibrdhim b. Khalil (1x?), 186.

Tdhir b. M. -Kdtib (x'), 206.

*Tif, 111,

-T&ir bi-ta’yidi’lldh, Sayyid Husayn — (X), 54.

T4j{ Duwayr ("Abdu’lldh b. -Hus. b. Sahl), 73.

Tajtks, 251.

*T4ji-wd, Mountain of —, 35, 1. 16.

Tédju’d-Dawla Yazdigird (XI111?), 261, 262, 266.

T4juw’d-Din Kiyd (x1v!), 26s.

T4juw’d-Din Tirdnshdh b. Zardastdn (x11%), 252.

Tdju’l-Mulik “Ali b. Marddwij (x11?), 66.

T4juw’l-Mulik Mardawij (X11'), 246.

*T4dldniydn, 168.

*T4dlaqdn, 191, 216.

Abu Tilib (vit'), 48, 49, 52, 53, 124, 158, 194, 215.

Abu Tilib, Imdm-i-Mufid. See Mufid.

Abid Tdlib Hérin -Thd’ir, Sayyid — (x), 58, 78.

Abu Tilib Yahyd, Sayyid — (x2—x1'), 50, 54, 55.

Tiélish Chubdn, Amir — (XIV!), 262.

-Talkkis, by “Abdu’l-Qadhir (not -Qddir) -Jurjdni (x1), 78.

*Talpdr, g9.

*Tamashki{ Dasht, 168.

*Tamanjdda, or Tamanjidiya, 196, 222.

Abu Tammdm (compiler of -Hamdsa; 1X'), 103.

*Tammisha (Mel, 47, 55, 216), 16, 28—30, 56, 66, 67,
95, 106, 107, 110, 114, 122, 140, 149, 154, 179, 185,
190, 198, 201, 206, 208, 246, 255, 257, 261, 265.

*Tanparast, 101.



350 Tansar—Transoxiana.

Tansar (contemporary of Ardashir Bdbakdn, 111'), 1, 4, 6.
Tantiq, Amir — (X11), 251.
-Tamikhi, Qddi Abu’l-Qdsim °Alf b. M. —, s52.
*Tdpdn, Maydan-i- —, 61.
*Tardawini, roi.
*Tarfcha (or Zuricka, ¢.v.) 123, 165, 174, 176, 195,
221, 249.
Ta’rikh-i-Bardmika, 39.
Tarikh-i-Guzida (by Hamdu’lldh Mustawfi -Qazwinf; X1v),
240 ad calc.
-Tartkh -Yamint (by -“Utb{; X1'), 228, 229, 231, 234.
*Tarji, 166.
*Tarsus (Tarasis), 152 ad cale.
Tdsh (x?), 226.
Tatdrs, 71, g6. See Mongols.
Abu Tawba, Nasiru’d-Din M. — (x11), 81.
Taym b. Sindn (vii?), izg.
Abu Tayyib -Mutanabb{ (x?). See -Mutanabbi.
*Tayzana-rid (or Maydndarad), 101.
-Tha®dlibf, Abd Mangir —, author of Yatimati’d-Dahr
(x1'), 7, 50, 92.
-Thdbit b. Abi Safilyya Dindr (= Abt Hamza -Thumdli;
vii?), 11 ad cale.
-Th#&’ir, Sayyid Abud Télib -‘Alawi — (x?), 58, 78, 222, 223.
-Th&’ir, Ndsir-i-Kabir (g. v.) so called, 195. See Ndsir-
i-Kabir.
Ibn Tha‘laba of Syria (1x%), 167.
-Thaqafl. See Y#suf b. Umar.
-Thumdli, 11. See above, s. v. Thdbiz.
Tid4, 202.
*Tihrdn, 19.
Tijasaf, 229.
*Tis, 28.
“*Transoxiana (= M4 wardw’n-Nakhr, g. v.), 10s.



Tughanshih—Ufar. 351

Tughdnshdh (x11?), 253.

Tugh4-Timir (X1VY), 264.

Tughd-Turk (x11'), 59.

-Tughrd’f, “Az{z-i- — (x11), 62.

Tughril Beg b. Mikd’l b. Seljiq; x1'), 236, 230.

Tughril I (Seljiq of ‘Irdq; xu'), 59.

Tughril II b. Arslin (Seljiq of ‘Irdq; x1u1?), 67, 68, 252.

*Tukhdristdn, 42.

Tukush b. Ti-Arsldin Khwdrazmshih (X11%), 67, 69, 204, 255.

*Tin, 258.

Tir (son of the legendary Feridun), 17.

Abt Turdb, Shaykh —, 8o.

*Tirdn, 35.

*Turdn-char, 27.

*Turicha, 27, 28, 29, 123. See also T7aricka.

Turk-i-Riumi (1x?), 186. The same person is probably
intended on p. 184, and therefore the article “the”
should probably be deleted before “Turk” in lines
13 and 20.

Turks, 7, 27, 93, 94, 95, 97, 98, 99, 118, 161, 182, 204,
208, 213, 215, 219, 226, 229, 250, 251, 264.

Turkdn Khdtin (x11%), 253.

*Turkistdn, 93, 96, 105, 107, 138, 20I.

Turki-takin (1x?), 161.

*Tds, 56, 143, 2035.

Tus (cousin of the Ispahbad Khurshid; vin?), 117.

Ths-i-Nddhar (legendary hero and warrior), 16.

*Tdsdn (near Sérf), 16, 22, 24.

Tusi’s Fikrist, 11 ad calc., 271.

Abi ‘Ubdda -Buhtur{ (1x3), 159.
‘Ubayd b. Yazid -Khdzin (1x?), 169.
‘Ubaydu’lldh, r11.

’I'Jfar, 168.



352 Uldn-mihin—Uthmén.

Ulin-mihdn (tribe or family), 9s.

Uljdytd (Sultdin Muhammad Khud4banda; x1v'), 262, 263.

*Umdn, 33.

‘Umar b. ‘Abdwv’l-°Aziz (viir!), 12, 108, 109.

‘Umar (or ‘Amr) b. “Ald (the traitor; vmi?), 120, 123,
124, 130, 131. See “Amr b. “Ald.

‘Umar b. Bahrdm [b.] “Isd (viI®), 123.

‘Umar Fanndq (or Fayyaq; vII?), 101, 104.

‘Umar b. Jurmuz (VII?), 48.

‘Umar b. -Khattdb (vi1), 27, 58, 96, 98, 109.

“Umar b. Safd (vi?), 122.

Abi ‘Umar (x'), 220.

*Umar-4bdd, 125, 179.

*Umar-(or ‘Amr-)Kaldda, 125.

‘Umayr (servant of -Ndsir-i-Kabir’s daughter), 8.

Umayyads (vii*—vut'), 7, 10, 12, 108—111, 254, L. 3.

Ummidwdr b. Lashkar-sitdn (1x?), 164.

*Ummidwir-Kih, 16, 39, 40, 126.

Umm Ja*far (ViII2—Ix!'), 4s.

Ummu’l-Fadl bint -Ma’min (1X), 144.

*Umiramdud (?), 29, 1. 20.

*Umyir-Kih, 29.

‘Ugidi’s-Sthr wa Qald’idi’d-Durar (by Abu’l-H. M. -Yaz-
déadi), 3.

Urmazdyidr (x!), 217.

‘Urwa b. Udayya (vii*—viil'), 1oz.

*Ustuniwand, Castle of —, 4, 231, 243.

Ustundir (title), 54, 60, 95, 221, 222, 229, 237, 246—249,
251, 259—265, 268, 269.

*Ustunddriyya, 232.

©Utbf, Abd Nasr — (x*—xI1'), 91, 92, 231. See also
-Tarikhi’l-Yamini.

‘Uthmdn b. ‘Affin (Caliph; viI), 102, 110, 254, l. 4.

“Uthmdn b. Nahik (vir?), 13z2.



Utrish—Wandd-ummid-kih. 353

Ugrﬁsh, Abt ‘Abdi’lldh M. — (x'), 49, 50.
*Uz, Ridbdr- —, 266.

y

Valdsh (or Baldsh, or Waldsh, ¢. v. = “Vologeses™),

99, 101, 237.
Vijan, Chdh-i- — (= “Bizhan’s Well”), 30.

*Vilir, 37, 38.
Wabdd (or Wamdd), 28.

Abv’l-Wadddh (1x!'), 142.

Abv’l-Wafi Khalifa b. Nah (x'), 200.
*Wah-rddhdn (near Ray), 1g90.
Wabhri, 223.
Wahriz (Persian general in time of Nushirwdn, vi), 20,

and n. 3 ad cale.
Wah-siddn (or Wih-siiddn; 1x?), 169, 178.
*Walajiy, 220.
Waldsdn (family or tribe), gs.
Waldsh (vi1), 237. See Valdsk and Baldsh.
Waldsh, Masmughdn —, Reference lost.
*Waldshgird, 123.
Walid b. ‘Abdv’l-Malik (Umayyad Caliph; vint'), ros.
Walfd b. Maysara (ViII?), rz3.
*Walikdn, Plain of —, 245.
*Wamadd (or Wabdd), 28.
*Wana-Bun, 1235
Wandidd-Hurmazd b. Alanddy (VilI?), 43, 44, 125—132,
140—145, 147, 237.

Wandarand (vir'), 11s.
Wandarand b. Wand4d-Hurmazd, Masmughdn — (1x?), 178.
Wandésafén (VIII?), 131, 132, 141, 146.
Wandasafin-i-Mdhyér (1x?), 165.
Wanda-ummid (vii®), 127, 128, 146, 171.
*Wandi-ummid-kah, 25, 95.
Wandawayh (1x), 1go.



354 Wandawayh—Yahy4.

*Waraka (in Larijén), 1.
Warddn-shdh (x?%), 223.
Wardasf (x'), 210, 211.
Ward-i-Asfar (vin?), 128.
*Wirfd, 162.
Ibn Warrdm (? Darrdm), Amir —, 70.
Washmgir [b. Ziyér] (x'), 5, 20, 90, 91, 99, 21§, 217—225,
235, 238, 239.
*Wisit, 180.
-Withiq (Caliph; 1x!), 155.
Watwidt, Rashidu’d-Din — (poet; xIr'), 62—65.
Wihin b. Sahl (1x3), 164, 171.
Wih-stiddn (or Wah-stdan; 1Xx?), 169, 178.
Wijan-i-Rustam (1x?), 164, 170, 171.
*Wima (near Damdwand), 28, 142, 191, 219.
*Windbdd (near Sdri), 172, 201I.

Vddigdr, Kitdb-i — (by Sayyid Abu’l-Fadl Ismafil b. M.
-Misawi{ of Jurjdn; x11'), 86.

Yaghmir b. Seljiq (x1'), 23s.

Yahyd b. -Aktham (1x'), 149, 150.

Yahyd b. -Husayn, Sayyid Abu Tdlib —, 50, 54, 5.

Yahya b. Ibrdhim b. Mus%ab (1x!), 153.

Yahyd b. Khalid -Barmak{ (viiri*—ix?), 13s.

Yahyad b. Abi Mansar (= Bizist b. Firuzin; 1x!), 87, 147.

Yahyd b. Mikhndq (vili?), 1zs.

Yahyéd -Ndtiq bil-Haqq, Sayyid Abu Talib — b. Husayn
(see above), 50, 54, 55.

Yahyd b. Rizbihdn (1x'), 149.

Yahyd b. ‘Umar b. Hus. b. ‘A. b. Hus. b. ‘A. b. Abf{
Télib (1x'), 161.

Yahyd b. Yahyd, Amir — (Vilr*—iIx'), 17.

Yahyd b. Zayd -‘Alaw{ (vin*—Ix'), 136—138.

Yiédkand (= “Hyacinth”), 116.



Yakand—Zahra. 355

*Yaman, 91, 111.
Abd Ya‘mar (viri'), 107. See also Hayydn -Nabati.

-Yamini, Tarikhi’l- —, by -“Utb{ (x*—x1'), 91, 92, 231
See also -‘Utbi and Ta’rikk.

Ya‘qib b. Layth -Saffdr{ (1x?), 180—182.

Yaquat (x1m), 152, n, 1 ad cale.

*Ydsamin-Kaldta, 262, 266.

Yathrib (afterwards called al-Madina), 3.

Yatimatw'd-Dahr (of Abi Mansir- Tha‘ilibi; X1, 50, 257
ad cale.

“Yawmu’l-Ghadfr”, 158.

-Yazdddi, Abvw’l-H. ‘A. b. M. — (x1), 3, 25, 27, 30, 33,
36, 39, 40, 76, 92.

Yazdin, 24.

*Yazddndbdd, 21, 115, 123.

Yazddnkard (1x!), 174.

Yazdigird I (called “aql-Athim”, “the Wicked”, Sasdnian
king; V'), 94.

Yazdigird III (last Sdsdnian king; viI'), g6—qg8.

Yazdigird (son of the Ispahbad Shah Ghdz{ Rustam ; x11%), 250.

Yazdigird, Malik Tdju’d-Dawla — (x111?), 261.,

Yazid b. Mu‘dwiya (Umayyad Caliph; vii?), 48.

Yazid b. -Muhallab (viir'), 105—1I0g.

Yazid b. Murthad (read Mazyad; viII*—IX'), 44, 45, 129, 131.

Yisuf b. “‘Abdu’r-Rahmdn (viII?), 123.

Yisuf b. ‘Umar -Thaqafi (vir'), 6.

*Zibulistdn, 35, 95.

Zabarqin (1x!), 174.

Zzhid, Shaykh-i- —, 8o.

Zihida Khdtin (x11%), 254.

-Zahrd (4. . Fdtima, the Prophet’s daughter), 49.
Zakariyyd, Abd Bakr — (x'), 215.

Zanaki, Mosque of —, 245.



356 Zakariyyd—Ztma.

*Zangidn, 178, 216.

Zanj (Ethiopians), 180.

Zanras (or Zanrdshan), Abé Ahmad —; Xx'), 198.

Zardastdn (x11%), 30, 252.

Zarhawdjastin-i-Ashkdl{ (x2—x1)!, 230.

*Z4rim, 120, 244.

Zarmihr-i-Sukhrd (v1), 9.

*Zarmikhwist, 165.

Zarmiwand Mdniwand b. Ustunddr Hazdrasp (x11%), 251.

*Zawin, 188.

Zayd, Sayyid —, 53, . 1, 136.

Zayd b. M. b. Zayd (1x?), 190, 194.

Zayd b. Sdlih (x1), 215.

Zaydi sect, 54, 58, 202.

Zaynuw’l-‘Abidin, Imdm °Ali b. Hus. b. “A. b. Abi Tilib
— (vI?), 1I.

#Zaynu’sh-Sharaf, College of —, 5.

-Zifrf, Abu Bakr — (x!), 207.

Zij-i-Kdmil (by Awhaduw’d-Dahr -Ddnishi), 87.

Zij-i-Ma’mtni (by Bizist b. Firdzdn; 1x'), 87.

*Zinddna-Kiy, 8o.

*Zinwdn (near Sirf), 249.

Ziyad b. Abfhi (viI), 102.

Ziyid b. An%am -Ifriqi, 10.

Ziyid b. Hézim (viu?), rzz.

Ziydr, House of — (x'—xI1'), 20, 91, 217, 236. See also
Washmgiv, Qdbis, etc.

Zohak, Zuhak. See Dakdk.

Zoroastrianism, 150, 237. See Gabr, Magians,” Mdzydr,
Sindbdd etc.

Zotenberg, 7.

Zubayr (vII), 48.

Zubayr b. -Mutawakkil. See -Mutazz.

Zima, Gunduya — (aphrodisiac herb), 4o.
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